Homological mirror symmetry for a Calabi-Yau hypersurface in projective space

by

Nicholas Sheridan, Bachelor of Science (Degree with Honours) University of Melbourne, 2006

Submitted to the Department of Mathematics in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

June 2012

© Massachusetts Institute of Technology 2012. All rights reserved.

Author	Department of Mathematics April 19, 2012
Certified by	Paul Seidel Professor Thesis Supervisor
^	
Accepted by	Bjorn Poonen Pepartment Committee on Graduate Theses



HIN 15 2862

LIBRARIES

Homological mirror symmetry for a Calabi-Yau hypersurface in projective space

by

Nicholas Sheridan, Bachelor of Science (Degree with Honours)

University of Melbourne, 2006

Submitted to the Department of Mathematics on April 19, 2012, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abstract

This thesis is concerned with Kontsevich's Homological Mirror Symmetry conjecture. In Chapter 1, which is based on [1], we consider the *n*-dimensional pair of pants, which is defined to be the complement of n + 2 generic hyperplanes in \mathbb{CP}^n . The pair of pants is conjectured to be mirror to the Landau-Ginzburg model (\mathbb{C}^{n+2} , W), where $W = z_1...z_{n+2}$. We construct an immersed Lagrangian sphere in the pair of pants, and show that its endomorphism A_{∞} algebra in the Fukaya category is quasi-isomorphic to the endomorphism dg algebra of the structure sheaf of the origin in the mirror, giving some evidence for the Homological Mirror Symmetry conjecture in this case. In Chapter 2, which is based on [2], we build on these results to prove Homological Mirror Symmetry for a smooth *d*-dimensional Calabi-Yau hypersurface in projective space, for any $d \geq 3$.

Thesis Supervisor: Paul Seidel Title: Professor

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my advisor, Paul Seidel, for all of his help. He has been generous with his time, with his mathematical ideas, and with his advice, and he's always aimed at teaching me to be a better mathematician. All this has helped make grad school an exciting and happy time for me.

I also owe a special debt of thanks to Mohammed Abouzaid, who has been extremely generous with his time and mathematical ideas. I would also like to thank the many people who have taught me maths or helped me with my work along the way, in particular: Denis Auroux, Sheel Ganatra, Mark McLean, Grisha Mikhalkin, James Pascaleff, Toly Preygel, and Katrin Wehrheim.

Finally, thanks to my family, and to all of the friends I've made while in grad school. Good times.

6

•

Contents

1	On	homological mirror symmetry for pairs of pants		13
	1.1	Introd	uction	13
		1.1.1	Homological Mirror Symmetry context	13
		1.1.2	The A-model on the pair of pants	14
		1.1.3	The B -model on the mirror $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	16
		1.1.4	Motivation: the A -model on the one-dimensional pair of pants \ldots	19
		1.1.5	Outline of the chapter	22
	1.2	The L	agrangian immersion $L^n: S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	23
		1.2.1	Topology of \mathcal{P}^n and coamoebae $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	24
		1.2.2	Construction of the Lagrangian immersion $L^n: S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n \dots$	28
	1.3	The A	\mathcal{A}_{∞} algebra $\mathcal{A} := CF^*(L^n, L^n)$	41
		1.3.1	Including L^n as an 'extra' object of $\mathcal{F}uk(\mathcal{P}^n)$	41

	1.3.2	Weights in M	48
	1.3.3	Grading	50
	1.3.4	Signs	57
1.4	A Mo	rse-Bott definition of the Fukaya category	60
	1.4.1	The domain: pearly trees	60
	1.4.2	Floer data and morphism spaces	69
	1.4.3	Perturbation data for fixed moduli	72
	1.4.4	Perturbation data for families	77
	1.4.5	Consistency and compactness	84
	1.4.6	Transversality	87
	1.4.7	A_{∞} structure maps \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	91
	1.4.8	Compatibility with other definitions	93
1.5	Comp	utation of $\mathcal A$	95
	1.5.1	Flipping pearly trees	97
	1.5.2	Properties of the A_{∞} algebra $\mathcal{A}' := CF^*(L', L')$	13
	1.5.3	Computation of \mathcal{A}'	20
	1.5.4	Versality of \mathcal{A}'	26
1.6	Matrix	x factorizations	29

2	Hon tive	space	cal mirror symmetry for Calabi- rau hypersurfaces in project	135
	2.1	Introd	uction \ldots	136
		2.1.1	Mirror symmetry context	136
		2.1.2	Statement of the main result	137
		2.1.3	Affine and relative Fukaya categories	141
		2.1.4	The B -model mirror to the affine, relative and full Fukaya categorie	s147
		2.1.5	Behaviour of the Fukaya category under branched covers $\ . \ . \ .$	154
		2.1.6	The Fukaya category of M^n	157
	2.2	Grade	ed and equivariant categories	165
		2.2.1	Grading data	165
		2.2.2	Graded vector spaces	170
		2.2.3	G -graded A_{∞} algebras and Hochschild cohomology $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	174
		2.2.4	Deformations of A_{∞} algebras $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	189
		2.2.5	Computations	197
		2.2.6	First-order deformations	222
	2.3	The a	ffine Fukaya category	224
		2.3.1	Grading data from the Lagrangian Grassmannian	224

al mirror symmetry for Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces in projec 2 Homologica

2.3.2Anchored branes 2282.3.32302.3.42352.3.5The relative case 2362.42.4.1Moduli spaces of holomorphic spheres and disks 2442.4.22.4.32.4.4Indices and orientations 2582.4.52622.4.62762.5The relative Fukaya category 2792.5.1The definition 2792.5.2Behaviour with respect to ramified covers 2832.6Morse-Bott computations in the Fukaya category 291The Lagrangian immersion $L^n: S^{n-2} \to M \setminus D$ 2.6.12942.6.2Flipping Pearly trees 298

A	Sign	ıs		355
		2.8.2	Split-generation	350
		2.8.1	Relating the full and relative Fukaya categories	347
	2.8	The fu	ll Fukaya category	347
		2.7.5	Coherent sheaves	341
		2.7.4	Equivariant matrix factorizations	340
		2.7.3	G -Graded matrix factorizations	337
		2.7.2	Matrix factorization computations	332
		2.7.1	Homological perturbation lemma	329
	2.7	The B	-model	329
		2.6.5	Morse-Bott model for the first-order Fukaya category	321
		2.6.4	Transversality and compactness	317

\mathbf{B}	B Strict group actions on Fukaya categories	361
--------------	--	-----

Chapter 1

On homological mirror symmetry for pairs of pants

1.1 Introduction

1.1.1 Homological Mirror Symmetry context

In its original version, Kontsevich's Homological Mirror Symmetry conjecture [3] proposed that, if X and X^{\vee} are 'mirror' Calabi-Yau varieties, then the Fukaya category of X (A-model) should be equivalent, on the derived level, to the category of coherent sheaves on X^{\vee} (B-model), and vice-versa. Complete or partial results in this case are known for elliptic curves [4, 5], abelian varieties [6] (see [7] for the case of the four-torus), Strominger-Yau-Zaslow dual torus fibrations [8], and K3 surfaces [9].

Kontsevich later proposed an extension of the conjecture to cover some Fano varieties [10]. The mirror of a Fano variety X is a Landau-Ginzburg model (X^{\vee}, W) , i.e., a variety X^{\vee} equipped with a holomorphic function W (called the superpotential). The definitions

of the A- and B-models on X are (roughly) the same as in the Calabi-Yau case, but the definitions on (X^{\vee}, W) must be altered. In particular, the A-model of (X^{\vee}, W) is the Fukaya-Seidel category, see [11]. The B-model of (X^{\vee}, W) is Orlov's triangulated category of singularities of W, see [12]. Complete or partial results in the Fano case are known for toric varieties [13, 14, 15], del Pezzo surfaces [16], and weighted projective planes [17].

More recently, Katzarkov and others have proposed another extension of the conjecture to cover some varieties of general type, see [18, 19]. The mirror of a variety X of general type is again a Landau-Ginzburg model (X^{\vee}, W) . The definition of the *B*-model on (X^{\vee}, W) is as above (the definition of the *A*-model in this case is problematic, but does not concern us). One direction of this conjecture has been verified for X a curve of genus $g \ge 2$, see [20, 21]. Namely, the *A*-model of the genus g curve is shown to be equivalent to the *B*-model of a Landau-Ginzburg mirror. Our main result (Theorem 2) gives evidence for the same direction of the conjecture in the case that X is a 'pair of pants' of arbitrary dimension.

1.1.2 The A-model on the pair of pants

Consider the smooth complex affine algebraic variety

$$\left\{\sum_{j=1}^{n+2} z_j = 0\right\} \subset \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^{n+1} \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{n+2} \{z_j = 0\}.$$

This is called the (*n*-dimensional) **pair of pants** \mathcal{P}^n (see [22]). We equip it with an exact Kähler form by pulling back the Fubini-Study form on \mathbb{CP}^{n+1} , and with a complex volume form η . Observe that \mathcal{P}^1 is just $\mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus \{3 \text{ points}\}$, i.e., the standard pair of pants.

We will consider the A-model on \mathcal{P}^n , i.e., Fukaya's A_{∞} category $\mathcal{F}uk(\mathcal{P}^n)$ (see [23, 24]). Recall that the objects of $\mathcal{F}uk(\mathcal{P}^n)$ are compact oriented Lagrangian submanifolds

of \mathcal{P}^n , and the morphism space between transversely intersecting Lagrangians L_1, L_2 is defined as

$$CF^*(L_1, L_2) := \bigoplus_{x \in L_1 \cap L_2} \mathbb{K} \langle x \rangle,$$

where K is an appropriate coefficient ring. The A_{∞} structure maps are

$$\mu^d : CF^*(L_{d-1}, L_d) \otimes \ldots \otimes CF^*(L_0, L_1) \to CF^*(L_0, L_d)[2-d],$$

for $d \ge 1$, and their coefficients are defined by counts of rigid boundary-punctured holomorphic disks with boundary conditions on the Lagrangians L_0, \ldots, L_d . Observe that, because the symplectic form on \mathcal{P}^n is exact, the Fukaya category of exact Lagrangians is unobstructed (i.e., there is no μ^0).

In general, K must be a Novikov field of characteristic 2, and the morphism spaces of the Fukaya category are \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded. If we require that the objects of our category be exact embedded Lagrangians, we remove the need for a Novikov parameter. If we furthermore require that our Lagrangians come equipped with a 'brane' structure (a grading relative to the volume form η , and a spin structure), we can assign signs to the rigid disks whose count defines a structure coefficient of the Fukaya category, and therefore remove the need for our coefficient ring to have characteristic 2. The grading of Lagrangians also allows us to define a \mathbb{Z} -grading on the morphism spaces of the Fukaya category. Thus, by restricting the objects of the Fukaya category to be exact Lagrangian branes, we can define the category with coefficients in \mathbb{C} , and with a \mathbb{Z} -grading. For more details, see [24] or [11].

We construct an exact immersed Lagrangian sphere $L^n: S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$ with transverse self-intersections, and a brane structure. In the case n = 1, we obtain an immersed circle with three self-intersections in \mathcal{P}^1 , illustrated in Figure 1.1.2.1 (ignore the additional labels for now). This immersed circle also appeared in [20].

We point out that L^n is not an object of the Fukaya category as just defined, because



Figure 1.1.2.1: The immersed Lagrangian $L^1: S^1 \to \mathcal{P}^1$. The image has been distorted for clarity – for L^1 to be exact, the front and back triangles should have the same area.

it is not embedded. However, we will show (in Section 1.3.1) that one can nevertheless include L^n as an 'extra' object of the Fukaya category in a sensible way.

We compute the Floer cohomology algebra of L^n :

Theorem 1.

$$HF^*(L^n,L^n)\cong \Lambda^*\mathbb{C}^{n+2}$$

as \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded associative \mathbb{C} -algebras.

Remark 1.1.2.1. Although both $HF^*(L^n, L^n)$ and $\Lambda^*\mathbb{C}^{n+2}$ carry \mathbb{Z} -gradings, these gradings only agree modulo 2.

1.1.3 The *B*-model on the mirror

The mirror of \mathcal{P}^n is conjectured to be the Landau-Ginzburg model (\mathbb{C}^{n+2}, W) , where

$$W=z_1z_2\ldots z_{n+2}.$$

This paper is concerned with relating the *B*-model on (\mathbb{C}^{n+2}, W) to the *A*-model on \mathcal{P}^n .

Recall that the *B*-model of (\mathbb{C}^{n+2}, W) is described by Orlov's triangulated category of singularities $D^b_{\text{Sing}}(W^{-1}(0))$ (see [12]). Note that 0 is the only non-regular value of *W*. The triangulated category of singularities is defined as the quotient of the bounded derived category of coherent sheaves, $D^bCoh(W^{-1}(0))$, by the full triangulated subcategory of perfect complexes $\text{Perf}(W^{-1}(0))$. It is a differential \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded category over \mathbb{C} .

Because $\mathbb{C}^{n+2} = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ is affine (where $R := \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_{n+2}]$), the triangulated category of singularities of $W^{-1}(0)$ admits an alternative description, which is more amenable to explicit computations. Namely, it is quasi-equivalent to the category MF(R, W) of 'matrix factorizations' of W, by [12, Theorem 3.9].

An object of MF(R, W) is a finite-rank free \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded R-module $P = P^0 \oplus P^1$, together with an R-linear endomorphism $d_P : P \to P$ of odd degree, satisfying $d_P^2 = W \cdot \mathrm{id}_P$. The space of morphisms from P to Q is the differential \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded R-module of R-linear homomorphisms $f : P \to Q$, with the differential defined by

$$d(f) := d_Q \circ f + (-1)^{|f|} f \circ d_P,$$

and composition defined in the obvious way. This makes MF(R, W) into a differential \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded category over \mathbb{C} .

Under Homological Mirror Symmetry, our immersed Lagrangian sphere L^n should correspond to \mathcal{O}_0 , the structure sheaf of the origin in the triangulated category of singularities of $W^{-1}(0)$. This corresponds, under the above-described equivalence, to a matrix factorization of W, which by abuse of notation we will also denote \mathcal{O}_0 .

It follows from the computations of [25, Section 2] that, on the level of cohomology,

$$H^*\left(\operatorname{Hom}^*_{MF(R,W)}(\mathcal{O}_0,\mathcal{O}_0)\right) \cong \Lambda^*\mathbb{C}^{n+2}$$

as \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded associative \mathbb{C} -algebras. Combining this with Theorem 1 establishes an isomorphism between the endomorphism algebras of the alleged mirror objects on the level of cohomology.

The Homological Mirror Symmetry conjecture predicts more: this isomorphism of cohomology algebras should extend to a quasi-isomorphism of A_{∞} algebras. Namely,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{MF(R,W)}^{*}(\mathcal{O}_{0},\mathcal{O}_{0})$$

inherits the structure of a differential \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded \mathbb{C} -algebra from MF(R, W), and a differential graded algebra is a special case of an A_{∞} algebra.

Our main result (proved by studying the A_{∞} deformations of the cohomology algebra) is that such a quasi-isomorphism does exist:

Theorem 2. There is a quasi-isomorphism

$$CF^*(L^n, L^n) \cong \operatorname{Hom}^*_{MF(R,W)}(\mathcal{O}_0, \mathcal{O}_0)$$

as \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded A_∞ -algebras over \mathbb{C} .

Remark 1.1.3.1. Of course the *B*-model $D^b_{\text{Sing}}(\mathbb{C}^{n+2}, W)$ cannot be equivalent, in any sense, to the *A*-model $\mathcal{F}uk(\mathcal{P}^n)$ as we define it, because the morphism spaces in the *B*model can be infinite-dimensional (even on the cohomology level) whereas the morphism space between two compact Lagrangians is always finite-dimensional. To get an *A*-model which has a hope of being equivalent to the *B*-model in some sense, we must consider the 'wrapped' Fukaya category (see [26]), which also includes non-compact Lagrangians.

1.1.4 Motivation: the A-model on the one-dimensional pair of pants

In this section, we consider the 1-dimensional case. We hope that this will aid the reader's intuition for the subsequent arguments, and provide a link with computations that have previously appeared in the literature (in [20, Section 10]), but this section could be skipped without serious harm.

Consider the immersed Lagrangian $L^1: S^1 \to \mathcal{P}^1$ shown in Figure 1.1.2.1. We outline a description of the A_{∞} algebra $\mathcal{A} = CF^*(L^1, L^1)$ up to quasi-isomorphism.

 \mathcal{A} has generators u, q corresponding respectively to the identity and top class in the Morse cohomology $CM^*(S^1)$, and two generators for each self-intersection point, which we label $x_1, \bar{x}_1, x_2, \bar{x}_2, x_3, \bar{x}_3$ as in Figure 1.1.2.1.

Because the homology class of L^1 is trivial in $H_1(\mathcal{P}^1)$, the generators of \mathcal{A} come labeled by weights which are elements of the lattice

$$H_1\left(\mathcal{P}^1\right)\cong\mathbb{Z}\langle e_1,e_2,e_3\rangle/\langle e_1+e_2+e_3\rangle,$$

so that the A_{∞} structure maps are homogeneous with respect to these weights. This is just because the disk contributing to such a product lifts to the universal cover, so its boundary must lift to a closed loop. See Definition 1.3.2.1 and Proposition 1.3.2.4 for the precise definition and argument. Explicitly, the weight of u, q is 0, of x_i is e_i and of \bar{x}_i is $-e_i$. It follows that $\mu^1 = 0$.

The A_{∞} structure maps count rigid holomorphic disks, which in this case is purely combinatorial. Our first step is to determine the cohomology algebra of \mathcal{A} , which has

the (associative) product defined by

$$a \cdot b := (-1)^{|a|} \mu^2(a, b)$$

(using the sign conventions of [11]).

We have the following result:

Lemma 1.1.4.1. The cohomology algebra of \mathcal{A} is isomorphic (as \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded associative \mathbb{C} -algebra) to the exterior algebra

$$\Lambda^* \mathbb{C} \langle e_1, e_2, e_3 \rangle$$

via the identification

$$\begin{array}{rcl} u & \mapsto & \mathbb{1} \\ x_i & \mapsto & (-1)^i e_i \\ \bar{x}_i & \mapsto & (-1)^{i+1} * e_i \ (Hodge \ star \ with \ respect \ to \ volume \ form \ e_1 \wedge e_2 \wedge e_3) \\ q & \mapsto & -e_1 \wedge e_2 \wedge e_3. \end{array}$$

Proof. (sketch – see [20] for a more detailed proof) The contributions of constant disks give all products involving u and q. The other products come from the two triangles on the front and back of Figure 1.1.2.1. For example, the triangle with vertices in cyclic order x_1, x_2, x_3 gives the product

$$\mu^2(x_1, x_2) = \bar{x}_3$$

corresponding to

$$e_1 \cdot e_2 = *e_3 = e_1 \wedge e_2.$$

We will not explain how to determine the signs here – see Section 1.3.4 (or [20]) for more

detail.

Furthermore, we have

$$\mu^3(x_1, x_2, x_3) = -u,$$

but the corresponding product is 0 for any other permutation of the inputs. This comes from the degenerate 4-gon with vertices at u, x_1, x_2, x_3 . Observe that, if we put the marked point u somewhere else on L^1 , this product would again be equal to u, but possibly for a different permutation of the inputs (and would be 0 on all other permutations).

By choosing a complex volume form η on \mathcal{P}^1 and computing grading of the generators, one can lift the \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading of \mathcal{A} (defined by the sign of the intersection point corresponding to the generator) to a \mathbb{Z} -grading. See [20] for a formula for the grading that holds in the 1-dimensional case. The choice of volume form is not canonical, and hence the choice of \mathbb{Z} -grading is not canonical.

We have now shown that \mathcal{A} lies in the set \mathfrak{A} of A_{∞} algebras satisfying the following conditions:

- $\mu^1 = 0;$
- The cohomology algebra is isomorphic to $\Lambda^* \mathbb{C}\langle e_1, e_2, e_3 \rangle$ as \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded associative C-algebra;
- The A_{∞} structure maps are homogeneous with respect to the weights as defined above;
- The \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading lifts to a \mathbb{Z} -grading as defined above.

One can show that \mathfrak{A} has a one-dimensional deformation space, in the sense of [9, Lemma

21

3.2]. Furthermore, the deformation class of \mathcal{A} in this deformation space is given by

$$\sum_{i,j,k=1}^{3} \mu^{3}(x_{i}, x_{j}, x_{k}) = \mu^{3}(x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}) = -u$$

by our previous computations. In particular, it is non-zero, so \mathcal{A} is versal. This determines \mathcal{A} up to quasi-isomorphism, in the sense that any A_{∞} algebra lying in \mathfrak{A} , with non-zero deformation class, is quasi-isomorphic to \mathcal{A} .

1.1.5 Outline of the chapter

In Section 1.2 we introduce some standing notation, and discuss the topology of the pair of pants \mathcal{P}^n . In particular, we introduce the coamoeba, which encodes topological information about \mathcal{P}^n and is the starting point for understanding the Lagrangian immersion L^n . We give the details of the construction of the Lagrangian immersion $L^n: S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$, and some of its properties.

In Section 1.3, we explain how to include the Lagrangian immersion L^n as an 'extra' object of the Fukaya category of embedded Lagrangians in \mathcal{P}^n . We define the A_{∞} algebra $\mathcal{A} := CF^*(L^n, L^n)$, and establish some of its properties – namely, that it is homogeneous with respect to a certain weighting of its generators, that its \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading lifts to a \mathbb{Z} -grading, and that it has a certain 'super-commutativity' property.

In Section 1.4, we give an alternative, Morse-Bott definition of the Fukaya category of embedded Lagrangians. We define the A_{∞} structure coefficients by counts of objects called 'holomorphic pearly trees', which are Morse-Bott versions of the holomorphic disks usually used (and closely related to the 'clusters' of [27]). The technical parts of this section could be skipped at a first reading, but the concept of a pearly tree is important because it is the basis of our main computational technique, which is introduced in Section 1.5. This section could be read independently of the rest of the paper. In Section 1.5, we introduce a Morse-Bott model \mathcal{A}' for the A_{∞} algebra \mathcal{A} , in which the A_{∞} structure coefficients are defined by counts of objects called 'flipping holomorphic pearly trees'. We show that \mathcal{A}' is quasi-isomorphic to \mathcal{A} . We can compute the A_{∞} structure maps of \mathcal{A}' by explicitly identifying the relevant moduli spaces of flipping holomorphic pearly trees. In particular, we compute that the cohomology algebra of \mathcal{A}' (hence of \mathcal{A}) is an exterior algebra, as well as some of the higher structure maps. We use our computation of higher structure maps to show that \mathcal{A}' is versal in the class of A_{∞} algebras with cohomology algebra the exterior algebra, and the homogeneity and grading properties described in Section 1.3 (compare Section 1.1.4). Thus, applying deformation theory of A_{∞} algebras, \mathcal{A}' (and hence \mathcal{A}) is completely determined up to quasi-isomorphism by the coefficients and properties that we have established.

In Section 1.6, we describe the *B*-model of the mirror. We use the techniques of [25, Section 4] to construct a minimal A_{∞} model \mathcal{B}' for the differential \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra $\mathcal{B} := \operatorname{Hom}_{MF(R,W)}^*(\mathcal{O}_0, \mathcal{O}_0)$. We find that its cohomology algebra is an exterior algebra, and that it has the same grading and equivariance properties as \mathcal{A} . We compute higher products to show that \mathcal{B}' is versal in the same class of A_{∞} algebras as \mathcal{A}' , and hence that it is quasi-isomorphic to \mathcal{A}' . This completes the proof of Theorem 2.

1.2 The Lagrangian immersion $L^n: S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$

The aim of this section is to describe the immersed Lagrangian sphere $L^n : S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$. In Section 1.2.1 we introduce some standing notation, and describe the topology of the pair of pants \mathcal{P}^n . We introduce the notion of the **coamoeba** of the pair of pants, which is the starting point for visualising the Lagrangian immersion L^n .

In Section 1.2.2 we construct the Lagrangian immersion $L^n: S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$ and establish some of its properties.

1.2.1 Topology of \mathcal{P}^n and coamoebae

Let [k] denote the set $\{1, 2, \ldots, k\}$. For a subset $K \subset [k]$, let |K| be its number of elements and $\overline{K} \subset [k]$ its complement. Let \widetilde{M} be the (n+2)-dimensional lattice

$$\widetilde{M} := \mathbb{Z} \langle e_1, \dots, e_{n+2} \rangle.$$

For $K \subset [n+2]$, let e_K denote the element

$$e_K := \sum_{j \in K} e_j \in \widetilde{M}.$$

Let M be the (n + 1)-dimensional lattice

$$M := \widetilde{M} / \langle e_{[n+2]} \rangle.$$

We will use the notation

$$M_P := M \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} P$$

for any Z-module P. We will not distinguish notationally between a lattice element $e_K \in \widetilde{M}$ and its image in M. We define maps

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Log}}: \widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{C}^{\star}} \to \widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{R}},$$

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Log}}(z_1, \dots, z_{n+2}) := (\log |z_1|, \dots, \log |z_{n+2}|)$$

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Arg}}: \widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{C}^{\star}} \to \widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{R}}/2\pi \widetilde{M},$$

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Arg}}(z_1, \dots, z_{n+2}) := (\arg(z_1), \dots, \arg(z_{n+2})).$$

These descend to maps

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{Log}: M_{\mathbb{C}^*} &\to M_{\mathbb{R}}, \\ \mathrm{Arg}: M_{\mathbb{C}^*} &\to M_{\mathbb{R}}/2\pi M. \end{aligned}$$

We can identify

$$\widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{C}^{\star}} = \mathbb{C}^{n+2} \setminus \bigcup_{j} \{ z_j = 0 \}$$

and the quotient by the diagonal \mathbb{C}^* action,

$$M_{\mathbb{C}^*} = \mathbb{CP}^{n+1} \setminus D$$

where we denote the divisors $D_j := \{z_j = 0\}$ for j = 1, ..., n + 2, and D is the union of all D_j . Thus we have

$$\mathcal{P}^n = \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{n+2} z_j = 0 \right\} \subset M_{\mathbb{C}^*}.$$

Definition 1.2.1.1. The closure of the image $\operatorname{Arg}(\mathcal{P}^n)$ is called the **coamoeba** (also, sometimes, the **alga**) of \mathcal{P}^n , and we will denote it \mathcal{C}^n (see, e.g., [28, 29]).

Now we will give a description of the coamoeba \mathcal{C}^n for all n. It will be described in terms of a certain polytope, which we first describe.

Definition 1.2.1.2. Let Z_n be the zonotope generated by the vectors e_j in $M_{\mathbb{R}}$, i.e.,

$$Z_n = \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{n+2} \theta_j e_j : \theta_j \in [0,1] \right\} \subset M_{\mathbb{R}}$$

(this is the projection of the cube $[0,1]^{n+2}$ in $\widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{R}}$).

Definition 1.2.1.3. The cells of ∂Z_n are indexed by triples of subsets $J, K, L \subset [n+2]$ such that

- $J \sqcup K \sqcup L = [n+2];$
- $J \neq \phi$ and $K \neq \phi$.

Namely, we define the cell

$$U_{JKL} := \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n+2} \theta_i e_i : \theta_j = 0 \text{ for } j \in J, \ \theta_k = 1 \text{ for } k \in K, \ \theta_l \in [0,1] \text{ for } l \in L \right\}$$
$$\subset \quad \partial Z_n.$$

We note that

$$\dim\left(U_{JKL}\right) = |L|,$$

and $U_{J'K'L'}$ is part of the boundary of U_{JKL} if and only if

$$J \subseteq J', K \subseteq K'$$
, and $L \supsetneq L'$.

In particular, the vertices of Z_n are the 0-cells $U_{\bar{K},K,\phi} = \{e_K\}$, and are indexed by proper, non-empty subsets $K \subset [n+2]$.

Proposition 1.2.1.4. $C^n \subset M_{\mathbb{R}}/2\pi M$ is the complement of the image of the interior of πZ_n .

Proof. \mathcal{C}^n is the closure of the set of those

$$oldsymbol{ heta} = \sum_j heta_j e_j$$

such that there exist r_j satisfying

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n+2} \exp(r_j + i\theta_j) = 0.$$

In other words, the convex cone spanned by the vectors $\exp(i\theta_j)$ contains 0.

Therefore the complement of \mathcal{C}^n consists of exactly those θ such that the coordinates $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{n+2}$ are contained in an interval of length $< \pi$. By adding a common constant we may assume all θ_j lie in $[0, \pi)$. Thus the complement of \mathcal{C}^n is exactly the image of the interior of πZ_n .

Remark 1.2.1.5. As we saw in Definition 1.2.1.3, the vertices of $\partial(\pi Z_n)$ are the points πe_K where $K \subset [n+2]$ is proper and non-empty. Observe that the vertices $\pi e_K, \pi e_{\bar{K}}$ get identified because

$$\pi e_K - \pi e_{\bar{K}} \in 2\pi M.$$

We can draw pictures in the lower-dimensional cases (see Figure 1.2.1.1).

Proposition 1.2.1.6. The map $\operatorname{Arg} : \mathcal{P}^n \to \mathcal{C}^n$ is a homotopy equivalence. In particular, \mathcal{P}^n has the homotopy type of an (n+1)-torus with a point removed.

Proof. We choose to work in affine coordinates

$$\tilde{z}_j := \frac{z_j}{z_{n+2}}$$
 for $j = 1, \dots, n+1$

on $\mathbb{CP}^{n+1} \setminus D$. So

$$\mathcal{P}^n \cong \{1+\tilde{z}_1+\ldots+\tilde{z}_{n+1}=0\} \subset (\mathbb{C}^*)^{n+1}.$$

It is shown in [30] that there exists a subset $W \subset \mathcal{P}^n$, such that the inclusion $W \hookrightarrow \mathcal{P}^n$ is a homotopy equivalence, and the projection

$$\operatorname{Arg}: W \to M_{\mathbb{R}}/2\pi M$$

is a homotopy equivalence onto its image, which is

$$\operatorname{Arg}(W) = \left\{ (\tilde{\theta}_1, \dots, \tilde{\theta}_{n+1}) : \text{ at least one } \tilde{\theta}_j = \pi \right\} \subset M_{\mathbb{R}}/2\pi M.$$

It is easy to see that the inclusion

$$\operatorname{Arg}(W) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}^n$$

is a homotopy equivalence (both are strong deformation retracts of $(M_{\mathbb{R}}/2\pi M)\setminus(0,0,\ldots,0)$). Hence, we have a commutative diagram



in which all arrows but the one labeled 'Arg' are known to be homotopy equivalences. It follows that $\operatorname{Arg} : \mathcal{P}^n \to \mathcal{C}^n$ is also a homotopy equivalence.

Corollary 1.2.1.7. For n > 1, there are natural isomorphisms

$$\pi_1(\mathcal{P}^n)\cong H_1(\mathcal{P}^n)\cong M.$$

When n = 1, we still have a natural isomorphism $H_1(\mathcal{P}^1) \cong M$, but the fundamental group is no longer abelian. Instead, there is a natural isomorphism

$$\pi_1(\mathcal{P}^1) \cong \langle a, b, c | abc \rangle.$$

1.2.2 Construction of the Lagrangian immersion $L^n: S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$

We observe that the Lagrangian $L^1: S^1 \to \mathcal{P}^1$ can be seen rather simply in the coamoeba. It corresponds to traversing the hexagon which forms the boundary of the coamoeba (see Figure 1.2.2.1). The two triangles that make up the coamoeba correspond to the holomorphic triangles that give the product structure on Floer cohomology.

We will show that a similar picture exists for higher dimensions. Namely, by Propo-



(a) The coamoeba of \mathcal{P}^1 .



(b) The coamoeba of \mathcal{P}^2 . This picture lives in $(S^1)^3$, drawn as a cube with opposite faces identified, and we are removing the zonotope illustrated, which looks somewhat like a crystal.

Figure 1.2.1.1: C^1 and C^2 .



Figure 1.2.2.1: The projection of L^1 to \mathcal{C}^1 .

sition 1.2.1.4, we know that the boundary of \mathcal{C}^n is a polyhedral *n*-sphere that intersects itself at its vertices. In this section, we will explain how to lift this immersed polyhedral *n*-sphere to an immersed Lagrangian *n*-sphere in \mathcal{P}^n .

Remark 1.2.2.1. This is not the first time that the coamoeba has been used to study Floer cohomology. It appeared in [28] (with the name 'alga'), where it was used as motivation to construct Landau-Ginzburg mirrors to some toric surfaces. It was conjectured in [31] that this picture generalizes to higher dimensions. There is a connection between the 'tropical coamoeba' of the Landau-Ginzburg mirror (X, w) of projective space, introduced in [31], and our construction, but we will not go into it.

Consider the real projective space

$$\mathbb{RP}^n = \left\{ \sum_j z_j = 0, z_j \in \mathbb{R} \right\} \subset \left\{ \sum_j z_j = 0 \right\} \subset \mathbb{CP}^{n+1}.$$

Clearly it is Lagrangian and invariant with respect to the $S_{n+2} \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ action, so by an equivariant version of the Weinstein Lagrangian neighbourhood theorem, there is an $S_{n+2} \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ -equivariant symplectic embedding of the radius- η disk cotangent bundle

$$D_{\eta}^{*}\mathbb{RP}^{n} \hookrightarrow \left\{ \sum_{j} z_{j} = 0 \right\} \subset \mathbb{CP}^{n+1}$$

for some sufficiently small $\eta > 0$. We may choose this embedding to be *J*-holomorphic along the zero section with respect to the almost-complex structure induced by the standard symplectic form and metric on $D_{\eta}^* \mathbb{RP}^n$. The \mathbb{Z}_2 -invariance says that complex conjugation acts on $D_{\eta}^* \mathbb{RP}^n$ by -1 on the covector.

Our immersed sphere L^n will land inside this neighbourhood. Now consider the double cover of \mathbb{RP}^n by S^n . Think of S^n as

$$S^{n} = \left\{ \sum_{j} x_{j}^{2} = 1 \right\} \bigcap \left\{ \sum_{j} x_{j} = 0 \right\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+2},$$

and denote the real hypersurfaces

$$D_j^{\mathbb{R}} := \{x_j = 0\} \subset S^n.$$

Then the double cover just sends $(x_1, \ldots, x_{n+2}) \mapsto [x_1 : \ldots : x_{n+2}]$. This extends to a double cover $D^*_{\eta}S^n \to D^*_{\eta}\mathbb{RP}^n$. Composing this with the inclusion $D^*_{\eta}\mathbb{RP}^n \to \mathbb{CP}^n$ gives a map $i: D^*_{\eta}S^n \to \mathbb{CP}^n$.

Lemma 1.2.2.2. Suppose that $f: S^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a smooth function whose gradient vector field (with respect to the round metric on S^n) is transverse to the real hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$. Then for sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$, the image of the graph $\Gamma(\epsilon df) \subset T^*S^n$ lies inside $D_{\eta}^*S^n$, and its image under the map i into \mathbb{CP}^n avoids the divisors D_j .

Proof. Note that the graph of ϵdf in $D_{\eta}^*S^n$ is the time- ϵ flow of the zero-section by the Hamiltonian vector field corresponding to f, which is exactly $J(\nabla f)$, where J is the standard complex structure on \mathbb{CP}^n (we observe that the round metric on S^n is exactly the metric induced by the Fubini-Study form and standard complex structure). Given a point $q \in D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, we can holomorphically identify a neighbourhood of its image in \mathbb{CP}^n with a neighbourhood of 0 in \mathbb{C}^n , in such a way that a neighbourhood of q in S^n gets identified with a neighbourhood of 0 in $\mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{C}^n$. We can furthermore arrange that the divisor D^j corresponds to the first coordinate being 0.

When we flow \mathbb{R}^n by $J(\nabla f)$, the imaginary part of the first coordinate will be strictly positive (respectively negative) because ∇f is transverse to $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, in the positive (respectively negative) direction. Therefore the first component can not be zero, so the image avoids D_j .

Definition 1.2.2.3. Let $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a smooth function so that

- 1. g'(x) > 0;
- 2. g(-x) = -g(x);



Figure 1.2.2.2: The function g.

- 3. g(x) = x for $|x| < \delta$;
- 4. g'(x) is a strictly decreasing function of |x| for $|x| > \delta$;
- 5. $g'(x) < \delta$ for $|x| > 2\delta$,

where $0 < \delta \ll 1$ (see Figure 1.2.2.2). We define $f: S^n \to \mathbb{R}$ by restricting the function

$$\tilde{f}: \mathbb{R}^{n+2} \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

 $\tilde{f}(x_1, \dots, x_{n+2}) = \sum_{j=1}^{n+2} g(x_j),$

recalling that S^n sits inside \mathbb{R}^{n+2} as above.

Lemma 1.2.2.4. ∇f is transverse to all of the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ in a positive sense.

Proof. One can compute that ∇f is the projection of the vector

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n+2} f_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \in T\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$$

to TS^n , where $\mathbb{R}^{n+1} = \{\sum_j x_j = 0\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+2}$ and

$$f_j := g'(x_j) - \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{n+2} g'(x_k)}{n+2}.$$

By the construction of g, one can check that $f_j > 0$ whenever $|x_j| < \delta$. The result follows.

Definition 1.2.2.5. Let $L^n_{\epsilon}: S^n \to \mathbb{CP}^n$ be the graph of ϵdf in \mathbb{CP}^n , for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. Note that it lies in \mathcal{P}^n by Lemmas 1.2.2.2 and 1.2.2.4, and is Lagrangian because it is the graph of an exact one-form. We will frequently fix an ϵ and write L^n .

Remark 1.2.2.6. L^n is S_{n+2} -invariant (because f and our Weinstein neighbourhood are). Furthermore, because f(-x) = -f(x), df is invariant under the \mathbb{Z}_2 -action

$$(x, \alpha) \mapsto (a(x), -a^*\alpha)$$

where $a: S^n \to S^n$ is the antipodal map. Recall that complex conjugation $\tau: \mathcal{P}^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$ induces the \mathbb{Z}_2 -action $(x, \alpha) \mapsto (x, -\alpha)$ in $D^*_{\eta}S^n$, so $\tau \circ L^n = L^n \circ a$. In other words, the image of L^n is preserved by complex conjugation, but it acts via the antipodal map on the domain S^n .

Proposition 1.2.2.7. Define the maps

$$\iota_{\epsilon} : S^{n} \to M_{\mathbb{R}}/2\pi M,$$
$$\iota_{\epsilon} := \operatorname{Arg} \circ L^{n}_{\epsilon},$$

and

$$q: \partial Z_n \to M_{\mathbb{R}}/2\pi M$$

(the standard inclusion). Then there exist homotopy equivalences $p_{\epsilon}: S^n \to \partial Z_n$, defined for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, such that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\iota_{\epsilon} - q \circ p_{\epsilon}\|_{C^0} = 0.$$

In other words, ι_{ϵ} converges absolutely, modulo reparametrisation, to ∂Z_n .

Proof. We consider a cellular decomposition of S^n which is dual to the cellular decompo-

sition induced by the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, and is isomorphic to the cellular decomposition of ∂Z_n defined in Definition 1.2.1.3. We will show that the image of each cell in the decomposition, under ι_{ϵ} , converges to the corresponding cell in ∂Z_n .

Definition 1.2.2.8. We define a cellular decomposition of S^n whose cells are indexed by triples of subsets $J, K, L \subset [n+2]$ such that

- $J \sqcup K \sqcup L = [n+2];$
- $J \neq \phi$ and $K \neq \phi$.

Namely, we define the cell

$$V_{JKL} := \left\{ (x_1, \dots, x_{n+2}) \in S^n : x_j = \max_i \{x_i\} \text{ for all } j \in J, x_k = \min_i \{x_i\} \text{ for all } k \in K \right\}$$

(this is dual to the cellular decomposition with cells

$$W_{JKL} := \{x_j \ge 0 \text{ for } j \in J, x_k \le 0 \text{ for } k \in K, \text{ and } x_l = 0 \text{ for } l \in L\},\$$

induced by the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$).

We now have

$$\dim(V_{JKL}) = |L|,$$

and $V_{J'K'L'}$ is part of the boundary of V_{JKL} if and only if

$$J \subseteq J', K \subseteq K'$$
, and $L \supseteq L'$.

Thus, this cellular decomposition is isomorphic to that of ∂Z_n by cells U_{JKL} , described in Definition 1.2.1.3. See Figure 1.2.2.3 for the picture in the case n = 2.

Our Lagrangian is obtained from the immersion $S^n \to \mathbb{CP}^n$ by pushing off with the vector field $J(\nabla f)$. Thus, by Lemma 1.2.2.4, it is approximately equal (to order ϵ^2) to

the composition of the map

$$S^{n} \rightarrow \left\{ \sum_{j} z_{j} = 0, z_{j} \neq 0 \right\} \subset \mathbb{C}^{n+2}$$
$$(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n+2}) \mapsto (x_{1}, \dots, x_{n+2}) + i\epsilon(f_{1}, \dots, f_{n+2})$$

with the projection to $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus D = \mathcal{P}^n$. Thus we have

$$\iota_{\epsilon}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = (\arg(x_1+i\epsilon f_1),\ldots,\arg(x_{n+2}+i\epsilon f_{n+2})) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2).$$

Now, when $|x_l|$ is sufficiently large, we have

$$\arg(x_l + i\epsilon f_l + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)) \approx \arg(x_l) = 0 \text{ or } \pi.$$

When $|x_l|$ is sufficiently small, we have

$$\arg(x_l + i\epsilon f_l + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)) \in (0, \pi)$$

because $f_l > 0$ (by Lemma 1.2.2.4). More precisely, we have the following:

Lemma 1.2.2.9. If we choose $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, then we have:

- If $|x_l| \ge \sqrt{\epsilon}$, then $\arg(x_l + i\epsilon f_l + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)) = \arg(x_l) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\epsilon})$, where $\arg(x_l) = 0$ or π ;
- If $|x_l| \leq \sqrt{\epsilon}$, then $\arg(x_l + i\epsilon f_l + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)) \in (0, \pi)$, because f_l is strictly positive for $|x_l|$ sufficiently small (by Lemma 1.2.2.4).

Observe that, on the cell V_{JKL} , we have

$$x_j \ge \sqrt{\epsilon} \text{ for } j \in J, \text{ and } x_k \le -\sqrt{\epsilon} \text{ for } k \in K,$$

because $\sum_{l} x_{l}^{2} = 1$ and $\sum_{l} x_{l} = 0$. Therefore, by Lemma 1.2.2.9,

$$\arg(x_j + i\epsilon f_j) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) = \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\epsilon}) \text{ for } j \in J,$$

$$\arg(x_k + i\epsilon f_k) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) = \pi + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\epsilon}) \text{ for } k \in K, \text{ and}$$

$$\arg(x_l + i\epsilon f_l) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) \in (0, \pi) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\epsilon}) \text{ for } l \in L.$$

It follows that $\iota_{\epsilon}(V_{JKL})$ lies in an $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\epsilon})$ -neighbourhood of U_{JKL} .

We are now able to define the map

$$p_{\epsilon}: S^n \to \partial Z_n$$

to be a cellular map which identifies the cellular decompositions V_{JKL} and U_{JKL} (hence is a homotopy equivalence), and such that

$$\|\iota_{\epsilon} - q \circ p_{\epsilon}\|_{C^0} = \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\epsilon}).$$

We assume inductively that a map with these properties has been defined on all cells of dimension < d, then extend it to the cells of dimension d relative to their boundaries. \Box

Now observe that, because f(-x) = -f(x), df(-x) = -df(x) (identifying tangent spaces by the antipodal map), so the only points where L^n has a self-intersection are where df = 0, i.e., critical points of f. A self-intersection point looks locally like the intersection of the graph of df with the graph of -df, which is transverse because f - (-f) = 2f is Morse. We will now describe the critical points and Morse flow of f.

Lemma 1.2.2.10. If $x_j > x_k \ge 0$, then

$$\left(\nabla f\right)\left(\frac{x_k}{x_j}\right) > 0.$$
Similarly, if $x_j < x_k \leq 0$, then

$$\left(\nabla f\right)\left(\frac{x_k}{x_j}\right) < 0.$$

Proof. We prove the first statement. If $x_j > x_k \ge 0$ then, by the construction of g, $g'(x_j) < g'(x_k)$. It follows that $f_j < f_k$, and hence that $f_j x_k < f_k x_j$, using the notation from the proof of Lemma 1.2.2.4. Thus,

$$(\nabla f) \left(\frac{x_k}{x_j}\right) = \sum_{l=1}^{n+2} f_l \frac{\partial}{\partial x_l} \left(\frac{x_k}{x_j}\right) \text{ (since } x_k/x_j \text{ is constant in the radial direction)} = \frac{1}{x_j^2} (f_k x_j - f_j x_k) > 0.$$

The proof of the second statement is similar.

Corollary 1.2.2.11. There is one critical point p_K of f for each proper, non-empty subset $K \subset [n+2]$, defined by

$$V_{\bar{K},K,\phi} = \{p_K\}.$$

Explicitly, p_K has coordinates (recalling $\sum_j x_j = 0$)

$$x_j = \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{|K|} & j \in K, \\ +\frac{1}{|K|} & j \in \bar{K}, \end{cases}$$

up to a positive rescaling so that $\sum_j x_j^2 = 1$. Observe that Arg maps p_K to the vertex πe_K of ∂Z_n .

Proof. Critical points of f cannot lie on the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, since ∇f is transverse to the hypersurfaces. Suppose that $x_j > x_k > 0$. Then by Lemma 1.2.2.10,

$$(\nabla f)\left(\frac{x_k}{x_j}\right) > 0,$$

so $\nabla f \neq 0$. Hence, at a critical point of f, all positive coordinates x_j are equal. By a

similar argument, all negative coordinates are equal. It follows that the points p_K are the only possiblities for critical points of f.

To prove that each p_K is indeed a critical point, observe that by S_{n+2} symmetry, the Morse flow of f must preserve the equalities

$$x_k = x_l$$
 for all $k, l \in K$, and
 $x_k = x_l$ for all $k, l \in \bar{K}$.

The set of points satisfying these equalities is exactly $\{p_K, p_{\bar{K}}\}$, hence the Morse flow preserves these points. Thus each p_K is a critical point of f.

Lemma 1.2.2.12. Let $\phi : \mathbb{R} \times S^n \to S^n$ denote the flow of ∇f with respect to the round metric on S^n , so that $\phi(0, \cdot) = id$. Given a proper, non-empty subset $K \subset [n+2]$, we define

$$\mathcal{S}(p_K) := \left\{ q \in S^n : \lim_{t \to \infty} \phi(t, q) = p_K \right\} \subset S^n,$$

the stable manifold of p_K , and

$$\mathcal{U}(p_K) := \left\{ q \in S^n : \lim_{t \to -\infty} \phi(t, q) = p_K \right\} \subset S^n,$$

the unstable manifold of p_K . Then

$$\mathcal{S}(p_K) = \{(x_1, \dots, x_{n+2}) \in S^n : \{k \in [n+2] : x_k = \min_l \{x_l\}\} = K\}$$

and

$$\mathcal{U}(p_K) = \{ (x_1, \dots, x_{n+2}) \in S^n : \{ k \in [n+2] : x_k = \max_l \{ x_l \} \} = \bar{K} \}.$$

Proof. We prove the first statement. Suppose we are given $q = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n+2}) \in S^n$. Let

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}\phi(t,q):=p_K,$$

and

$$K' := \{k \in [n+2] : x_k = \min_l \{x_l\}\}.$$

We will show that K = K'.

First observe that, by S_{n+2} symmetry, any equality of the form $x_j = x_k$ is preserved under the forward and backward flow of ∇f . Consequently any inequality of the form $x_j > x_k$ is also preserved under the (finite-time) flow. It follows that $K' \subset K$.

We prove that $K \subset K'$ by contradiction: suppose that $j \notin K'$ but $j \in K$. After flowing for some time, x_j would have to be negative (in order to converge to p_K). Then for any $k \in K'$ we would have $x_k < x_j < 0$, so by Lemma 1.2.2.10 we have

$$(\nabla f)\left(\frac{x_j}{x_k}\right) < 0.$$

Thus, the ratio x_j/x_k is bounded above away from 1, so even in the limit $t \to \infty$, x_j can not approach the minimum value $x_k = \min_l \{x_l\}$. This is a contradiction, hence $K \subset K'$.

Therefore K = K'. This completes the proof of the first statement. The proof of the second statement is analogous.

Corollary 1.2.2.13. The critical point p_K of f has Morse index

$$\mu_{\text{Morse}}(p_K) = n + 1 - |K|.$$

Proof. The Morse index of p_K is the dimension of the stable manifold of p_K , which by Lemma 1.2.2.12 is n + 1 - |K|.

Remark 1.2.2.14. Observe that, as a consequence of Lemma 1.2.2.12,

$$V_{JKL} = \overline{\mathcal{U}(\bar{J}) \cap \mathcal{S}(K)}$$

(see Figure 1.2.2.3).



Figure 1.2.2.3: The dual cell decompositions for n = 2. The dashed circles represent the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ as labeled. Each region is labeled with the list of coordinates that are negative in that region (e.g., the label '124' means that $x_1 < 0, x_2 < 0, x_3 > 0, x_4 < 0$ in that region). The arrows represent the index-1 Morse flow lines of ∇f . The dots represent critical points of f. The picture really lives on a sphere, and the three points labeled '4' should be identified (at infinity). Observe that the flowlines correspond to the edges of the polyhedron ∂Z_2 , illustrated in Figure 1-1(b).

1.3 The A_{∞} algebra $\mathcal{A} := CF^*(L^n, L^n)$

This section is concerned with the definition and properties of the A_{∞} algebra $\mathcal{A}^n := CF^*(L^n, L^n)$. We will simply write ' \mathcal{A} ' rather than ' \mathcal{A}^n ' unless we wish to draw attention to the dimension.

In Section 1.3.1, we will explain why L^n , despite being an immersion rather than an embedding, can be regarded as an 'extra' object of the Fukaya category of \mathcal{P}^n , as defined in [11, Chapters 8 – 12]. This section can **not** be read independently of that reference. In Sections 1.3.2 – 1.3.4, we establish certain properties of \mathcal{A} .

1.3.1 Including L^n as an 'extra' object of $\mathcal{F}uk(\mathcal{P}^n)$

In [11, Chapters 8 – 12], it is shown how to define the Fukaya category of a symplectic manifold (X, ω) with the following properties and structures:

- $\omega = d\theta$ is exact;
- X is equipped with an almost-complex structure J₀ in a neighbourhood of infinity, compatible with ω;
- X is convex at infinity, in the sense that there is a bounded below, proper function
 h: X → ℝ such that

$$\theta = -dh \circ J_0.$$

These assumptions are actually not quite the same as those in [11], but the arguments and definitions work in the same way.

In particular, $X = \mathcal{P}^n$ has these properties: we equip it with the standard (integrable) complex structure J_0 , then the restriction of the Fubini-Study form to \mathcal{P}^n is given by $\omega = d\theta$, where $\theta = -dh \circ J_0$, and

$$h: \mathcal{P}^n \to \mathbb{R},$$

 $h([z_1:\ldots:z_{n+2}]) = \log\left(\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n+2} |z_j|^2}{\left(\prod_{j=1}^{n+2} |z_j|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{n+2}}}\right)$

is proper and bounded below.

With this data, the Fukaya category of compact, exact, embedded, oriented Lagrangians L can be defined over a field of characteristic 2, and with \mathbb{Z}_2 gradings (the 'preliminary' Fukaya category of [11, Chapters 8, 9]). If X is furthermore equipped with a complex volume form η (note: we will not take a quadratic complex volume form as in [11], because we assume our Lagrangians to be oriented), then the Fukaya category of compact, exact, embedded, oriented Lagrangian branes $L^{\#}$ can be defined over \mathbb{C} , and the \mathbb{Z}_2 grading can be lifted to a \mathbb{Z} grading.

We define the Fukaya category of \mathcal{P}^n to include an 'extra' object corresponding to the Lagrangian immersion $L^n: S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$.

Remark 1.3.1.1. A theory of Lagrangian Floer cohomology for immersed Lagrangians has been worked out in [32] using Kuranishi structures, but we will give a definition that is compatible with the definition of [11] using explicit perturbations, with the aim of using it to make computations in Section 1.5.

First, we note that $H^1(S^n) = 0$ for n > 1, so L^n is automatically exact (this is an additional restriction in the case n = 1 – see the caption to Figure 1.1.2.1).

Now we explain the modifications necessary to the definition of the (preliminary) Fukaya category given in [11, Chapters 8, 9], to include the object L^n .

Remark 1.3.1.2. We will not mention brane structures, orientations and gradings for the purposes of this Section 1.3.1, because they work exactly the same as in [11, Chapters

11, 12]. We observe that $H^1(S^n) = 0$ for n > 1, so L^n admits a grading (the case n = 1 is easily checked). S^n is also spin, so L^n admits a brane structure. These observations, together with the modifications described in this section that show we can include L^n as an extra object of the preliminary Fukaya category, allow us to include L^n as an extra object in the 'full' (\mathbb{Z} -graded, with \mathbb{C} coefficients) Fukaya category of \mathcal{P}^n .

Definition 1.3.1.3. We define an object L of the (preliminary) Fukaya category to be an exact Lagrangian immersion

$$L: N \to \mathcal{P}^n$$

of some closed, oriented *n*-manifold N into \mathcal{P}^n , which is **either** an embedding **or** the Lagrangian immersion $L^n: S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$.

Definition 1.3.1.4. We define

$$\mathcal{H} := C^{\infty}_{c}(\mathcal{P}^{n}, \mathbb{R}),$$

the space of smooth, compactly supported functions on \mathcal{P}^n (the space of Hamiltonians), and \mathcal{J} , the space of smooth almost-complex structures on \mathcal{P}^n compatible with ω , and equal to the standard complex structure J_0 outside of some compact set.

Definition 1.3.1.5. For each pair of objects (L_0, L_1) , we define a Floer datum (H_{01}, J_{01}) consisting of

$$H_{01} \in C^{\infty}([0,1], \mathcal{H}) \text{ and } J_{01} \in C^{\infty}([0,1], \mathcal{J})$$

satisfying the following property: if ϕ^t denotes the flow of the Hamiltonian vector field of the (time-dependent) Hamiltonian H_{01} , then the image of the time-1 flow $\phi^1 \circ L_0$ is transverse to L_1 . One then defines a **generator** of $CF^*(L_0, L_1)$ to be a path $y : [0, 1] \rightarrow \mathcal{P}^n$ which is a flowline of the Hamiltonian vector field of H_{01} , together with a pair of points $(\tilde{y}_0, \tilde{y}_1) \in N_0 \times N_1$ such that $L_0(\tilde{y}_0) = y(0)$ and $L_1(\tilde{y}_1) = y(1)$. One defines $CF^*(L_0, L_1)$ to be the \mathbb{C} -vector space generated by its generators. The definition of a perturbation datum on a boundary-punctured disk with Lagrangian labels is the same as in [11, Section 9h].

Definition 1.3.1.6. Given a perturbation datum on a boundary-punctured disk S with Lagrangian boundary labels (L_0, \ldots, L_k) , some of which may be immersed, we define an **inhomogeneous pseudo-holomorphic disk** to be a smooth map $u : S \to \mathcal{P}^n$ such that

- $u(C) \in im(L_C)$ for each boundary component C with label L_C , and
- u satisfies the perturbed holomorphic curve equation [11, Equation (8.9)] with respect to the perturbation datum,

together with a continuous lift \tilde{u}_C of the map $u|_C : C \to im(L_C)$ to N_C :



for each boundary component C with label $L_C: N_C \to \mathcal{P}^n$.

Remark 1.3.1.7. Note that the lift \tilde{u}_C exists automatically if L_C is an embedding. When L_C is an immersion, the existence of \tilde{u}_C tells us that the boundary map $u|_C$ does not 'switch sheets' of the immersion along C.

Definition 1.3.1.8. Given generators

$$y_j \in CF^*(L_{j-1}, L_j)$$
 for $j = 1, ..., k, ,$

and

$$y_0 \in CF^*(L_0, L_k),$$

we say that an inhomogeneous pseudo-holomorphic disk has asymptotic conditions given by (y_0, \ldots, y_k) if, on the strip-like end ϵ_j corresponding to the *j*th puncture, we have

$$\lim_{s \to +\infty} u(\epsilon_j(s,t)) = y_j(t),$$

$$\lim_{s \to +\infty} \tilde{u}(\epsilon_j(s,0)) = (\tilde{y}_j)_0, \text{ and}$$

$$\lim_{s \to +\infty} \tilde{u}(\epsilon_j(s,1)) = (\tilde{y}_j)_1.$$

(and the analogous condition with $s \to -\infty$ when j = 0). We define the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_S(y_0, \ldots, y_k)$ to be the set of inhomogeneous pseudo-holomorphic disks with asymptotic conditions given by the generators (y_0, \ldots, y_k) .

To show that $\mathcal{M}_S(y_0, \ldots, y_k)$ is a smooth manifold, we must modify the functional analytic framework of [11, Section 8i] slightly. Namely, we fix p > 2, and define a Banach manifold $\mathcal{B}_S(y_0, \ldots, y_k)$ as follows.

A point in \mathcal{B}_S consists of:

- a map $u \in W^{1,p}_{loc}(S, \mathcal{P}^n)$, satisfying $u(C) \in \operatorname{im}(L_C)$;
- continuous lifts \tilde{u}_C of the continuous maps $u|_C : C \to \operatorname{im}(L_C)$ to N_C , for each boundary component C of S,

such that u and \tilde{u}_C are asymptotic to the generators y_j along the strip-like ends, in the sense of Definition 1.3.1.8. Observe that $W^{1,p}$ functions are continuous at the boundary, so the lifting condition makes sense.

Let $\boldsymbol{u} = (u, (\tilde{u}_C)) \in \mathcal{B}_S$ be represented by a smooth map. We define charts for the Banach manifold structure in a neighbourhood of \boldsymbol{u} . For each boundary component Cof S, we have a continuous Lagrangian embedding of vector bundles,

$$TN_C \xrightarrow{(L_C)_*} (L_C)^* T\mathcal{P}^n.$$

Thus, we have a continuous Lagrangian embedding

$$(\tilde{u}_C)^*TN_C \hookrightarrow (\tilde{u}_C)^*(L_C)^*T\mathcal{P}^n \cong (u^*T\mathcal{P}^n)|_C.$$

We define the tangent space to $\mathcal{B}_S(y_0, \ldots, y_k)$ at \boldsymbol{u} to be the Banach space

$$T_{\boldsymbol{u}}\mathcal{B}_S(y_0,\ldots,y_k) := W^{1,p}(S, u^*T\mathcal{P}^n, \tilde{u}_C^*TN_C)$$

(with the $W^{1,p}$ -norm). We choose an exponential map $\exp: T\mathcal{P}^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$ that makes the Lagrangian labels totally geodesic, and denote by $\widetilde{\exp}_N : TN \to N$ the corresponding exponential map on each Lagrangian label. We then define a map

$$\phi_{\boldsymbol{u}}: T_{\boldsymbol{u}}\mathcal{B}_S \to \mathcal{B}_S$$

so that $\phi_{\boldsymbol{u}}(\boldsymbol{\xi})$ consists of the map $\exp(u, \boldsymbol{\xi}(u))$, together with boundary lifts $\widetilde{\exp}_{N_C}(\tilde{u}_C, \boldsymbol{\xi}(\tilde{u}_C))$. This defines a chart of the Banach manifold structure in a neighbourhood of \boldsymbol{u} .

Remark 1.3.1.9. Note that we can **not** define a Banach manifold of locally $W^{1,p}$ maps from S to \mathcal{P}^n , sending boundary component C to $\operatorname{im}(L_C)$, then impose the lifting condition separately – this would not define a Banach manifold because the image of L_C may be singular (if $L_C = L^n$).

We now define a Banach bundle \mathcal{E}_S over \mathcal{B}_S , and a smooth section given by the perturbed $\bar{\partial}$ -operator, as in [11, Section 8i]. The section is Fredholm, because its linearization is a Cauchy-Riemann operator with totally real boundary conditions given by $\tilde{u}_C^*TN_C$. Thus, assuming regularity, the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_S(y_0,\ldots,y_k)$ is a smooth manifold with dimension equal to the Fredholm index. We can extend these arguments to show that the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{S^{k+1}}(y_0,\ldots,y_k)$ of inhomogeneous pseudo-holomorphic disks with arbitrary modulus is also a smooth manifold. Finally, we must check that Gromov compactness holds. The author is not aware of a proof of Gromov compactness with immersed Lagrangian boundary conditions in the literature, but we can give an ad hoc proof in our special case by passing to a cover of \mathcal{P}^n . Namely, by Corollary 1.3.2.3, there is a cover $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^n$ of \mathcal{P}^n in which every lift \widetilde{L}^n of L^n is embedded, so all of our lifted boundary conditions are embedded Lagrangians. Any family of inhomogeneous pseudo-holomorphic disks in \mathcal{P}^n lifts to a family in $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^n$. Standard Gromov compactness for the family of lifted disks in $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^n$, with boundary on the embedded lifts of Lagrangians, implies compactness for the family in \mathcal{P}^n .

Everything else works as in [11], so this allows us to define the Fukaya category of \mathcal{P}^n with the extra object L^n , and show that the A_{∞} associativity relations hold.

We now consider the A_{∞} algebra $\mathcal{A} = CF^*(L^n, L^n)$. We would like to choose the Floer datum for the pair (L^n, L^n) so that the underlying vector space of \mathcal{A} is as small as possible.

Lemma 1.3.1.10. There exists a Hamiltonian $H \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $(L^n)^*H$ is a Morse function on S^n with exactly two critical points, and $X_H|_{im(L^n)}$ vanishes only at those critical points.

Proof. First define H in a neighbourhood of the self-intersections of $\operatorname{im}(L^n)$, in such a way that X_H is transverse to both branches of the image. This defines $(L^n)^*H$ on a neighbourhood of the critical points p_K of f (see Corollary 1.2.2.11). This function can easily be extended to a Morse function on S^n with the desired properties, then extended to a neighbourhood of $\operatorname{im}(L^n)$, then to all of \mathcal{P}^n using a cutoff function.

Corollary 1.3.1.11. For an appropriate choice of Floer datum, $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ has generators p_K indexed by all subsets $K \subset [n+2]$.

Proof. We scale the *H* of Lemma 1.3.1.10 so that it is $\ll \epsilon$ (the parameter in the definition of $L^n = L^n_{\epsilon}$), and use it as the Hamiltonian part of our Floer datum for (L^n, L^n) . Let

 X_H denote the corresponding Hamiltonian vector field. Now if ϕ^1 is the time-1 flow of X_H , we can arrange that $\phi^1(L^n(p)) = L^n(q)$ if and only if **either**

$$p = q$$
 and $X_H(L^n(p)) = 0$,

or

(p,q) corresponds to a pair (p',q') such that $p'\neq q'$ and $L^n(p')=L^n(q')$

(note that the assumption that $H \ll \epsilon$ ensures that the transverse self-intersections $L^n(p') = L^n(q')$ persist under the flow of one branch of L^n by X_H).

In the first case, we get generators corresponding to the critical points of the Morse function $(L^n)^*H$. We denote the generator corresponding to the minimum, respectively maximum, by p_{ϕ} , respectively $p_{[n+2]}$. In the second case, we get generators corresponding to pairs $(p',q') = (p_K, p_{\bar{K}})$ where $K \subset [n+2]$ is proper and non-empty, by Corollary 1.2.2.11. We denote the generator corresponding to $(p_K, p_{\bar{K}})$ by p_K , by slight abuse of notation.

1.3.2 Weights in M

Definition 1.3.2.1. (Compare [9, Section 8b]) Whenever we have an immersed Lagrangian $L: N \to X$ (such that the image of $H_1(N)$ in $H_1(X)$ is trivial), we can assign a weight $w(y) \in H_1(X)$ to each generator y of $CF^*(L, L)$. Namely, choose a path from \tilde{y}_1 to \tilde{y}_0 in N, and define w(y) be the homology class obtained by composing the image of this path in X with the path y (see Definition 1.3.1.5).

Proposition 1.3.2.2. In our case, we have

$$w(p_K) = e_K \in M \cong H_1(\mathcal{P}^n).$$

Proof. By Proposition 1.2.1.6 and Proposition 1.2.2.7, Arg induces a homotopy equivalence between (\mathcal{P}^n, L^n) and $(\mathcal{C}^n, \partial(\pi Z_n))$. Thus, when K is proper and non-empty, $w(p_K)$ is the class of a path from $\pi e_{\bar{K}}$ to πe_K in $H_1(\mathcal{C}^n) \cong M$, which is exactly e_K . When $K = \phi$ or [n+2] it is clear that $w(p_K) = 0$.

Corollary 1.3.2.3. There exists a finite cover $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$ in which every lift \widetilde{L}^n of L^n is embedded.

Proof. Recall that $\pi_1(\mathcal{P}^n) \cong M$ by Corollary 1.2.1.7. Consider the group homomorphism

$$\rho: M \to \mathbb{Z}_{n+2}$$
$$\rho(u) = e_{[n+2]} \cdot u$$

(this is well defined because $\rho(e_{[n+2]}) \equiv 0 \pmod{(n+2)}$. There is a corresponding (n+2)-fold cover of \mathcal{P}^n , and we have

$$\rho(w(p_K)) = \rho(e_K) = |K| \neq 0 \pmod{(n+2)}$$

for all proper non-empty $K \subset [n+2]$, so the two lifts of L^n coming together at an intersection point are distinct.

Proposition 1.3.2.4. The A_{∞} structure maps μ^k are homogeneous with respect to the weight w. In other words, the coefficient of p_{K_0} in $\mu^k(p_{K_1}, \ldots, p_{K_k})$ is non-zero only if

$$\sum_{j=1}^k e_{K_j} = e_{K_0}.$$

Proof. If the coefficient of p_{K_0} in $\mu^k(p_{K_1}, \ldots, p_{K_k})$ is non-zero, then there is a topological disk in \mathcal{P}^n with boundary on the image of L^n ,

$$u: (D, \partial D) \to (\mathcal{P}^n, \operatorname{im}(L^n)),$$

whose boundary changes 'sheets' of L^n exactly at the self-intersection points $p_{K_0}, p_{K_1}, \ldots, p_{K_k}$ in that order (ignoring any appearance p_{ϕ} or $p_{[n+2]}$ on the list). This disk must lift to the universal cover, hence its boundary lifts to a loop in the universal cover.

The boundary always lies on lifts of L^n , which are indexed by the fundamental group M (think of the homotopy-equivalent picture of $M_{\mathbb{R}} \setminus \{\pi Z_n + 2\pi M\}$, with the lifts of L^n being $\partial(\pi Z_n) + 2\pi M$). When the boundary changes sheets at a point p_K , the index of the sheet in M changes by $w(p_K)$ (observe that the points p_{ϕ} and $p_{[n+2]}$, at which no sheet-changing occurs, have weight 0).

Therefore, if the boundary of our disc changes sheets at $p_{K_0}, p_{K_1}, \ldots, p_{K_k}$, and comes back to the sheet it started on, we must have

$$-w(p_{K_0}) + \sum_{j=1}^k w(p_{K_j}) = 0.$$

Corollary 1.3.2.5. The character group of M,

$$\mathbb{T} := \operatorname{Hom}(M, \mathbb{C}^*),$$

acts on \mathcal{A} via

$$\alpha \cdot p := \alpha(w(p))p.$$

The A_{∞} structure on \mathcal{A} is equivariant with respect to this action.

1.3.3 Grading

Recall that, to lift the \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading on the Fukaya category to a \mathbb{Z} -grading, we must equip \mathcal{P}^n with a complex volume form η . We assume that:

- η is compatible with complex conjugation $\tau : \mathcal{P}^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$, in the sense that $\tau^* \eta = \bar{\eta}$;
- η extends to a meromorphic (n, 0)-form on \mathbb{CP}^n , with a pole of order n_j along the divisor D_j (with the usual convention that a zero of order k is a pole of order -k).

We set

$$\boldsymbol{n} := \sum_{j=1}^{n+2} n_j e_j \in \widetilde{M}.$$

Observe that

$$n \cdot e_{[n+2]} = \sum_{j=1}^{n+2} n_j$$
$$= \deg(K_{\mathbb{CP}^n})$$
$$= n+1.$$

Observe that there is no canonical choice for η , so our \mathbb{Z} -grading will not be canonical.

Proposition 1.3.3.1. The \mathbb{Z} -grading on \mathcal{A} defined by η is

$$i(p_K) = (2\boldsymbol{n} - e_{[\boldsymbol{n+2}]}) \cdot e_K.$$

In other words, the coefficient of p_{K_0} in $\mu^k(p_{K_1}, \ldots, p_{K_k})$ is non-zero only if

$$i(p_{K_0}) = 2 - k + \sum_{j=1}^k i(p_{K_j}).$$

Proof. Recall that the volume form η defines a function

$$\psi: \operatorname{Gr}(T\mathcal{P}^n) \to S^1,$$

where $\operatorname{Gr}(T\mathcal{P}^n)$ is the Lagrangian Grassmannian of \mathcal{P}^n (i.e., the fibre bundle over \mathcal{P}^n whose fibre over a point p is the set of Lagrangian subspaces of $T_p\mathcal{P}^n$). If $V \subset T_p\mathcal{P}^n$ is a Lagrangian subspace, then $\psi(V)$ is defined by choosing a real basis v_1, \ldots, v_n for V and defining

$$\psi(V) := \arg(\eta(v_1, \dots, v_n)).$$

A grading on L^n is a function $\alpha^{\#}: S^n \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\pi \alpha^{\#}(x) = \psi(L_*^n(T_x S^n))$$

(see [33]). Recall from the construction of L^n that, away from the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, the immersion $L^n: S^n \to \mathbb{CP}^n$ is close to the double cover of the real locus, $\iota: S^n \to \mathbb{CP}^n$. So away from the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$,

$$\psi(L_*^n(T_xS^n)) \approx \psi(\iota_*(T_xS^n)) = 0 \text{ or } \pi,$$

because we assumed η was invariant under complex conjugation, so $\psi(T\mathbb{RP}^n)$ is real. Therefore, away from the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, $\alpha^{\#}$ is approximately an integer.

The hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ split S^n into regions S_K^n indexed by proper non-empty subsets $K \subset [n+2]$. Namely, S_K^n is the region where $x_j < 0$ for $j \in K$ and $x_j > 0$ for $j \notin K$, and contains the unique critical point p_K of f. Suppose that $\alpha^{\#} \approx \alpha_K^{\#} \in \mathbb{Z}$ in the region S_K^n .

How does $\alpha_K^{\#}$ change as we cross a hypersurface $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$? Let p be a point on $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, away from the other hypersurfaces $D_k^{\mathbb{R}}$. Let us choose a holomorphic function q in a neighbourhood of $\iota(p)$ in \mathbb{CP}^n , compatible with complex conjugation (i.e., $q(\tau(z)) = \overline{q(z)}$), and such that $D_j = \{q = 0\}$. Because η has a pole of order n_j along D_j , we have

$$\eta = q^{-n_j} \eta',$$

where η' is a holomorphic volume form compatible with complex conjugation.

In the same way that η defines the function ψ , η' defines a function

$$\psi': \operatorname{Gr}(T\mathbb{CP}^n) \to S^1$$

in a neighbourhood of $\iota(p)$. Whereas ψ is not defined on D_j , because η has a pole there, the function ψ' is defined and continuous on D_j , because η' is holomorphic.

We have

$$\psi = \psi' + \arg(q^{-n_j})$$

away from D_j . We can define real functions $\beta_{\epsilon}^{\#}$ on a neighbourhood of p in S^n , for $\epsilon \geq 0$ sufficiently small, so that

$$\pi\beta^{\#}_{\epsilon}(x) = \psi'((L^n_{\epsilon})_*(T_xS^n)).$$

Because $L_0^n = \iota$, and η' is compatible with complex conjugation, $\beta_0^{\#}$ is a constant integer. Furthermore, away from $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, $L_{\epsilon}^n \approx \iota$, so $\beta_{\epsilon}^{\#} \approx \beta_0^{\#}$. It follows that $\beta_{\epsilon}^{\#}$ approximately does not change as we cross $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$. So the change in $\alpha_K^{\#}$ as we cross the hypersurface $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ comes only from the term $\arg(q^{-n_j})$.

We saw in Proposition 1.2.2.7 that $\operatorname{Arg} \circ L^n$ approximates the boundary of the zonotope Z^n . Thus, as we cross $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, moving from S_K^n to $S_{K \sqcup \{j\}}^n$, $\operatorname{Arg} \circ L^n$ changes from πe_K to $\pi e_{K \sqcup \{j\}}$, changing by πe_j . It follows that $\operatorname{arg}(q^{-n_j})$ decreases by πn_j . Therefore, $\alpha^{\#}$ approximately decreases by n_j . So we may assume that

$$\alpha_K^{\#} = -\boldsymbol{n} \cdot \boldsymbol{e}_K.$$

To calculate the index of the generator p_K , we observe that the two sheets of L^n that meet at p_K are locally the graphs of the exact 1-forms df and -df. It follows by [33, 2d(v)] that the obvious path connecting the tangent spaces of the two sheets in the

Lagrangian Grassmannian has Maslov index equal to the Morse index

$$\mu_{\text{Morse}}(p_K) = n + 1 - |K|$$
 (see Corollary 1.2.2.13).

We also need to take into account the grading shift of $\alpha_K^{\#} - \alpha_{\bar{K}}^{\#}$ between the two sheets. Using [33, 2d(ii)], we have

$$i(p_{K}) = \mu_{\text{Morse}}(p_{K}) - \alpha_{K}^{\#} + \alpha_{\bar{K}}^{\#}$$

= $n + 1 - |K| + n \cdot e_{K} - n \cdot e_{\bar{K}}$
= $n + 1 - e_{[n+2]} \cdot e_{K} + n \cdot (e_{K} - e_{[n+2]} + e_{K})$
= $(2n - e_{[n+2]}) \cdot e_{K}$ (since $n \cdot e_{[n+2]} = n + 1$).

We also note that this equation works for p_{ϕ} and $p_{[n+2]}$, which have their usual gradings of 0 and n respectively.

The dimension formula for moduli spaces of holomorphic polygons now says that the dimension of the moduli space of (k+1)-gons with boundary on L^n , a positive puncture at p_{K_0} , and negative punctures at p_{K_1}, \ldots, p_{K_k} is

$$\dim(\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}}(p_{K_0},\ldots,p_{K_k})) = k - 2 + i(p_{K_0}) - \sum_{j=1}^k i(p_{K_j}).$$

Since we are counting the 0-dimensional component of the moduli space to determine our A_{∞} structure coefficients, this dimension should be 0. This proves the stated formula, i.e., that *i* defines a valid Z-grading on \mathcal{A} .

We also observe that *i* lifts the \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading: the two sheets of L^n that meet at p_K are locally the graphs of the exact 1-forms df and -df, hence the sign of the intersection is

$$n+1+\mu_{\text{Morse}}(p_K) \equiv |K| \equiv (2n-e_{[n+2]}) \cdot e_K \pmod{2}.$$

Corollary 1.3.3.2. The A_{∞} structure on \mathcal{A} admits the fractional grading

$$|p_K| := \frac{n}{n+2}|K| \in \mathbb{Q},$$

in the sense that the coefficient of p_{K_0} in $\mu^k(p_{K_1}, \ldots, p_{K_k})$ is non-zero only if

$$2 - k + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \frac{n}{n+2} |K_j| = \frac{n}{n+2} |K_0|.$$

Proof. For any such non-zero product, we have

$$-e_{K_0} + \sum_{j=1}^k e_{K_j} = q e_{[n+2]}$$

for some $q \in \mathbb{Z}$ (Proposition 1.3.2.4 says that the image of this sum in M is 0, hence it is a multiple of $e_{[n+2]}$ in \widetilde{M}). It then follows from Proposition 1.3.3.1 that

$$i(p_{K_0}) = 2 - k + \sum_{j=1}^k i(p_{K_j}).$$

Hence, we ought to have

$$k-2 = (2n - e_{[n+2]}) \cdot \left(-e_{K_0} + \sum_{j=1}^k e_{K_j}\right)$$

= $(2n - e_{[n+2]}) \cdot qe_{[n+2]}$
= $nq \text{ (since } n \cdot e_{[n+2]} = n+1)$
= $\frac{n}{n+2}e_{[n+2]} \cdot qe_{[n+2]}$
= $\frac{n}{n+2}e_{[n+2]} \cdot \left(-e_{K_0} + \sum_{j=1}^k e_{K_j}\right)$

from which the result follows.

Corollary 1.3.3.3. The A_{∞} products μ^k are non-zero only when k = 2 + nq (where $q \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$).

Proof. This follows from the final set of equations in the proof of Corollary 1.3.3.2. \Box

Remark 1.3.3.4. We observe that, when k = 2 + nq, we must also have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{2+nq} e_{K_j} = e_{K_0} + q e_{[n+2]}$$

(note: this is an equation in \widetilde{M} , not M).

Corollary 1.3.3.5. μ^1 is trivial, and

$$\mu^{2}(p_{K_{1}}, p_{K_{2}}) = \begin{cases} a(K_{1}, K_{2})p_{K_{1} \cup K_{2}} & \text{if } K_{1} \cap K_{2} = \phi \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where $a(K_1, K_2)$ are some integers.

Proof. The fact that $\mu^1 = 0$ follows immediately from Corollary 1.3.3.3.

For the second part of the Proposition, suppose that the coefficient of p_{K_0} in $\mu^2(p_{K_1}, p_{K_2})$ is non-zero. It follows from Proposition 1.3.2.4 that

$$e_{K_1} + e_{K_2} = e_{K_0}$$

in M, and from Corollary 1.3.3.2 that

$$|K_1| + |K_2| = |K_0|.$$

Therefore $K_0 = K_1 \sqcup K_2$, and the result is proven.

1.3.4 Signs

The main aim of this section is to prove that the cohomology algebra of \mathcal{A} is graded commutative. The basic reason for this is that complex conjugation $\tau : \mathcal{P}^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$ maps L^n to itself. Given a holomorphic disk $u : S \to \mathcal{P}^n$ contributing to the product $a \cdot b$, the corresponding disk $\bar{u} := \tau \circ u : \bar{S} \to \mathcal{P}^n$ (where \bar{S} denotes the disk S with the conjugate complex structure) contributes to the product $b \cdot a$ with the appropriate relative Koszul sign.

Throughout this section, we use the sign conventions of [11].

Definition 1.3.4.1. Given an A_{∞} category C, we define its **opposite category** C^{op} to be the category with the same objects, the 'opposite' morphisms

$$\hom_{\mathcal{C}^{op}}(A,B) := \hom_{\mathcal{C}}(B,A),$$

and compositions defined by

$$\mu_{op}^{k}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{k}):=(-1)^{*}\mu^{k}(x_{k},\ldots,x_{1}),$$

where

$$* = 1 + \frac{k(k-1)}{2} + (k+1)\left(\sum_{j=1}^{k} i(x_j)\right) + \sum_{j < l} i(x_j)i(x_l).$$

It is an exercise to check that \mathcal{C}^{op} is an A_{∞} -category.

The following proposition is due to [34]:

Proposition 1.3.4.2. Let $X = (X, \omega, \eta)$ be an exact symplectic manifold with boundary with symplectic form ω , and complex volume form η . Define $X^{op} := (X, -\omega, \overline{\eta})$. Then there is a quasi-isomorphism of A_{∞} -categories

$$\mathcal{G}: \mathcal{F}uk(X)^{op} \to \mathcal{F}uk(X^{op}).$$

Lemma 1.3.4.3. We denote by \mathcal{A}^{op} the endomorphism algebra of L^n in $\mathcal{F}uk(\mathcal{P}^n)^{op}$. Suppose that k = 2 + nq and K_0, \ldots, K_k are subsets of [n+2] such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} e_{K_j} = e_{K_0} + q e_{[n+2]}$$

in \widetilde{M} (see Remark 1.3.3.4). Then, in \mathcal{A}^{op} , we have

$$\mu_{op}^{k}(p_{K_{1}},\ldots,p_{K_{k}})=(-1)^{*}\mu^{k}(p_{K_{k}},\ldots,p_{K_{1}})$$

where

$$* = \frac{nq(nq-1)}{2} + (1+nq)|K_0| + \sum_{1 \le j < l} |K_j||K_l|.$$

Proof. Recall from Proposition 1.3.3.1 that the \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading of \mathcal{A} is

$$i(p_K) \equiv |K| \pmod{2}.$$

As noted in Remark 1.3.3.4, the only contributions to $\mu_{op}^k(p_{K_1}, \ldots, p_{K_k})$ or $\mu^k(p_{K_k}, \ldots, p_{K_1})$ are proportional to p_{K_0} .

By Definition 1.3.4.1, the result holds with the sign

$$* = 1 + \frac{k(k-1)}{2} + (k+1)\left(\sum_{j=1}^{k} i(p_{K_j})\right) + \sum_{j < l} i(p_{K_j})i(p_{K_l}).$$

The result follows by substituting k = 2 + nq, $i(p_K) = |K| \pmod{2}$,

$$|K_1| + \ldots + |K_k| = |K_0| + (n+2)q,$$

and simplifying (modulo 2).

Corollary 1.3.4.4. There is a quasi-isomorphism of A_{∞} algebras, $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}^{op}$, which is the identity on the level of cohomology.

Proof. Observe that complex conjugation induces a symplectomorphism $\tau : (\mathcal{P}^n, \omega) \to (\mathcal{P}^n, -\omega)$ and hence a quasi-isomorphism

$$\mathcal{F}uk(\mathcal{P}^n,\omega) \to \mathcal{F}uk(\mathcal{P}^n,-\omega) \to \mathcal{F}uk(\mathcal{P}^n,\omega)^{op},$$

where the second quasi-isomorphism is given by Proposition 1.3.4.2. We observe that this quasi-isomorphism sends our Lagrangian L^n to $\tau \circ L^n$, which is the same as $L^n \circ a$, where $a: S^n \to S^n$ is the antipodal map, by Remark 1.2.2.6. We note that $w_2(S^n) = 0$ and $H^1(S^n) = 0$ for $n \ge 2$, so there is a unique spin structure $P^{\#}$ on L^n and we must have $a^*(P^{\#}) \cong P^{\#}$. Furthermore, an examination of the proof of Proposition 1.3.3.1 quickly shows that

$$a^*(\alpha^{\#}) = -(n+1) - \alpha^{\#}$$

from which it follows that our Lagrangian brane $L^{\#} = (L^n, \alpha^{\#}, P^{\#})$ gets sent, under the above quasi-isomorphism, to the Lagrangian brane $(L^n, n+1+\alpha^{\#}, P^{\#}) = L^{\#}[n+1]$. In particular, the endomorphism algebra gets sent to

$$\mathcal{A} := CF^*(L^{\#}, L^{\#}) \to CF^*(L^{\#}[n+1], L^{\#}[n+1])^{op} \cong CF^*(L^{\#}, L^{\#})^{op} = \mathcal{A}^{op}.$$

The isomorphism we have defined sends each orientation line o_x to itself without any sign change, so the result follows from Proposition 1.3.4.2.

Corollary 1.3.4.5. The cohomology algebra of A, with product

$$p_{K_1} \cdot p_{K_2} := (-1)^{|K_1|} \mu^2(p_{K_1}, p_{K_2}),$$

is supercommutative:

$$p_{K_1} \cdot p_{K_2} = (-1)^{|K_1||K_2|} p_{K_2} \cdot p_{K_1}.$$

1.4 A Morse-Bott definition of the Fukaya category

The Fukaya A_{∞} category was introduced in [23]. There are a number of approaches to transversality issues in its definition – virtual perturbations are used in [24], and explicit perturbations of the holomorphic curve equation are used in [11].

In this section, we describe a 'Morse-Bott' approach which is a modification of the approach in [11], combining it with the approach of [35]. The outline of this approach has appeared in [20, Section 7], and is related to the 'clusters' of [27]. However, the geometric situation we consider is simpler than that of [27], namely we work only in exact symplectic manifolds with convex boundary, which for example rules out disk and sphere bubbling.

Our treatment follows [11, Sections 8 - 12] closely, explaining at each stage how our construction differs. We make use of concepts and terminology from [11] (including abstract Lagrangian branes, strip-like ends and perturbation data) with minimal explanation. We explain, in Section 1.4.8, why our definition of the Fukaya category is quasi-equivalent to that given in [11].

This section deals only with the Fukaya category of embedded Lagrangians. In particular, the Lagrangian immersion $L^n: S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$ does not fit into this framework. However, the concepts introduced in this section are the basis for the Morse-Bott computation of $\mathcal{A} = CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ that will be explained in Section 1.5.1.

1.4.1 The domain: pearly trees

In this section, we recall the Deligne-Mumford-Stasheff compactification of the moduli space of disks with boundary punctures, and define the analogous moduli space of pearly trees and its compactification. Suppose that $k \ge 2$, and $L := (L_0, \ldots, L_k)$ is a tuple of Lagrangians in X. We denote by $\mathcal{R}(L)$ the moduli space of disks with k+1 boundary marked points, modulo biholomorphism, with the components of the boundary between marked points labeled L_0, \ldots, L_k in order. The marked point between L_k and L_0 is 'positive', and all other marked points are 'negative'. We call L a set of Lagrangian labels for our boundary-marked disk (for the purposes of this section, it is not important that the labels correspond to Lagrangians in X – we need only assign certain labels to the boundary components and keep track of which of the labels are identical).

Definition 1.4.1.1. We denote by $\mathcal{S}(L) \to \mathcal{R}(L)$ the universal family of boundarypunctured disks with Lagrangian labels L, so that the fibre \mathcal{S}_r over a point $r \in \mathcal{R}(L)$ is the corresponding disk, with its boundary marked points removed.

We define

$$Z^{\pm} := \mathbb{R}^{\pm} \times [0, 1]$$

with the standard complex structure (where $\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^-$ are the positive and negative halflines respectively). We will use s to denote the \mathbb{R}^\pm coordinate and t to denote the [0,1] coordinate. We make a **universal choice of strip-like ends** for the family $\mathcal{S}(L) \to \mathcal{R}(L)$, which consists of fibrewise holomorphic embeddings

$$\epsilon_j : \mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{L}) \times Z^{\pm} \to \mathcal{S}(\boldsymbol{L})$$

to a neighbourhood of the *j*th puncture, for each j = 0, 1, ..., k, where the sign \pm is opposite to the sign of the puncture.

Definition 1.4.1.2. A directed k-leafed planar tree T is a directed tree with k semiinfinite 'incoming' edges and one semi-infinite 'outgoing' edge, together with a proper embedding into \mathbb{R}^2 . Isotopic embeddings are regarded as equivalent. We denote by V(T)the set of vertices of T, by E(T) the set of edges, and by $E_i(T) \subset E(T)$ the set of internal (compact) edges. We say that T has Lagrangian labels L if the connected components



(a) A k-leafed stable tree T_S is said to have Lagrangian labels L if the connected components of $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus T$ are labeled by the Lagrangians of L, in order. In this figure, $L = (L_0, L_0, L_0, L_1, L_2, L_2, L_1, L_0, L_3)$. A Lagrangian labeling L of T_S induces a labeling L_v of the regions surrounding each vertex v. In this figure, the induced labeling of the regions surrounding the topmost vertex is $L_v = (L_0, L_0, L_1, L_1, L_0, L_3)$.



(b) A pearly tree S, with underlying tree T_S and Lagrangian labels as in Figure 1-1(a). Observe that all edges have the same label on either side, while external strips have different labels on either side.

Figure 1.4.1.1: Pearly trees with Lagrangian labels.

of $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus T$ are labeled by the Lagrangians of L, in order. A Lagrangian labeling L of T induces a labeling L_v of the regions surrounding each vertex $v \in V(T)$ (see Figure 1-1(a)). We call a vertex stable if it has valence ≥ 3 , and semi-stable if it has valence ≥ 2 . We call the tree T stable (respectively semi-stable) if all of its vertices are stable (respectively semi-stable).

We define

$$\bar{\mathcal{R}}_T(\boldsymbol{L}) := \left(\prod_{v \in V(T)} \mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{L}_v)\right) \times (-1, 0]^{E_i(T)}.$$

In other words, $\bar{\mathcal{R}}_T(\mathbf{L})$ consists of the data of the planar tree T, a boundary-marked disk $r_v \in \mathcal{R}(\mathbf{L}_v)$ for each vertex v, and a gluing parameter $\rho_e \in (-1, 0]$ for each internal edge e.

Given an internal edge e of T with gluing parameter $\rho_e \in (-1,0)$, we can glue the disks r_v at either end of e together along their strip-like ends with gluing parameter ρ_e (corresponding to the 'length' of the gluing region being $l_e := -\log(-\rho_e)$), to obtain an element of $\mathcal{R}_{T/e}(L)$ (where T/e denotes the tree obtained from T by contracting the edge e). This defines a gluing map

$$\varphi_{T,e}: \{r \in \bar{\mathcal{R}}_T(\boldsymbol{L}): \rho_e \in (-1,0)\} \to \bar{\mathcal{R}}_{T/e}(\boldsymbol{L}).$$

Definition 1.4.1.3. We denote by $\overline{\mathcal{R}}(L)$ the Deligne-Mumford-Stasheff compactification of $\mathcal{R}(L)$ by stable disks:

$$ar{\mathcal{R}}(oldsymbol{L}) := \left(\coprod_T ar{\mathcal{R}}_T(oldsymbol{L})
ight) / \sim,$$

where

 $r \sim \varphi_{T,e}(r)$

whenever defined. Given a boundary-punctured disk S with modulus $r \in \mathcal{R}(L)$, we call the union of all strip-like ends and gluing regions (under all possible gluing maps) the thin part of S, and its complement the **thick** part.

Remark 1.4.1.4. $\bar{\mathcal{R}}$ is the compactification of \mathcal{R} by allowing the gluing parameters ρ_e to take the value 0. This corresponds to allowing the lengths of the gluing regions l_e to be infinite. $\bar{\mathcal{R}}(L)$ has the structure of a smooth (k-2)-dimensional manifold with corners (where k := |L| - 1). The codimension-*d* boundary strata are indexed by trees T with *d* internal edges. Namely, T corresponds to the subset of $\bar{\mathcal{R}}_T$ where all *d* gluing parameters ρ_e are equal to 0.

Definition 1.4.1.5. We denote by $\overline{S}(L) \to \overline{\mathcal{R}}(L)$ the partial compactification of the universal family $S(L) \to \mathcal{R}(L)$ of boundary-punctured disks by stable boundary-punctured disks.

In [11], the coefficients of the A_{∞} structure maps

$$\mu^k : CF^*(L_{k-1}, L_k) \otimes \ldots \otimes CF^*(L_0, L_1) \to CF^*(L_0, L_k)$$

are defined by counts of (appropriately perturbed) holomorphic curves $u : S_r(L) \to X$ for some $r \in \mathcal{R}(L)$. The structure of the codimension-1 boundary of $\overline{\mathcal{R}}(L)$ leads to the A_{∞} associativity equations.

When no two of the Lagrangians in L coincide, we define the A_{∞} structure maps in exactly the same way. However, when some of the Lagrangians in L coincide, we alter this definition.

Definition 1.4.1.6. A **pearly tree** S with Lagrangian labels L is specified by the following data:

- A stable directed k-leafed planar tree T_S (the underlying tree of S) with Lagrangian labels L, such that the labels on either side of an internal edge are identical;
- For each vertex v, a point $r_v \in \mathcal{R}(L_v)$;
- For each internal edge e, a length parameter $l_e \in [0, \infty)$.

We denote by V(S) the set of vertices of the tree T_S , and by $E_L(S)$ the set of edges of T_S with both sides labeled L (internal or external). For each vertex $v \in V(S)$, we define S_v to be the boundary-marked disk with modulus r_v , with all marked points between distinct Lagrangians punctured (but all marked points between identical Lagrangians remain). These are the '**pearls**'. We define

$$S^p := \coprod_{v \in V(S)} S_v.$$

For each internal edge e, we define $S_e := [0, l_e]$. For each external edge e with opposite sides labeled by the same Lagrangian, we define $S_e := \mathbb{R}^{\pm}$, depending on the orientation of the edge. For each Lagrangian $L \in \mathbf{L}$, we define

$$S^e(L) := \coprod_{e \in E_L(S)} S_e,$$

and S^e to be the disjoint union of $S^e(L)$ over all L. For each $L \in L$, we define $F_L(S)$ to be the set of flags of T_S with both sides labeled by the same Lagrangian L. We define F(S) to be the union of all $F_L(S)$. For each $f \in F_L(S)$, there is a corresponding marked point on a boundary component of S^p with Lagrangian label L, which we denote by $m(f) \in S^p$. Also corresponding to f, there is a point $b(f) \in S^e(L)$, which is the boundary point of the edge corresponding to the flag f. We finally define

$$S := (S^p \sqcup S^e) / \sim$$

where

$$m(f) \sim b(f)$$
 for all $f \in F(S)$

(see Figure 1-1(b)).

We now define a topology on the moduli space of pearly trees.

Suppose we are given a stable directed k-leafed planar tree T with Lagrangian labels L. If the labels on opposite sides of an edge are distinct, we call the edge a **strip edge**, and if they are identical, we call it a **Morse edge**. We denote by $E_{i,s}(T) \subset E(T)$ the internal strip edges, and $E_{i,M}(T) \subset E(T)$ the internal Morse edges. We define

$$\mathcal{R}_T^{pt}(\boldsymbol{L}) := \left(\prod_{v \in V(T)} \mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{L}_v)\right) \times (-1, 0)^{E_{i,s}(T)} \times (-1, 1)^{E_{i,M}(T)}$$

('pt' stands for 'pearly tree').

As before, for any internal edge $e \in E_i(T)$, we have a 'gluing map'

$$\varphi_{T,e}: \{r \in \mathcal{R}_T^{pt}(\boldsymbol{L}): \rho_e \in (-1,0)\} \to \mathcal{R}_{T/e}^{pt}(\boldsymbol{L}).$$

The only difference from the previous construction is that the gluing parameter ρ_e now takes values in (-1, 1), rather than (-1, 0), for e an internal Morse edge.

Definition 1.4.1.7. We define $\mathcal{R}^{pt}(L)$, the moduli space of **pearly trees** with Lagrangian labels L:

$$\mathcal{R}^{pt}(oldsymbol{L}) := \left(\coprod_T \mathcal{R}_T^{pt}(oldsymbol{L})
ight) / \sim,$$

where

 $r \sim \varphi_{T,e}(r)$

whenever defined. A point $r \in \mathcal{R}^{pt}(\mathbf{L})$ corresponds to a pearly tree S_r as follows: we glue along any edge with gluing parameter < 0, so that we get a tree T_S whose only internal edges are Morse edges with gluing parameter $\rho_e \in [0, 1)$. We regard these as edges having length parameter

$$l_e := -\log(1 - \rho_e)$$

(see Figure 1.4.1.2). This defines a topology on the moduli space $\mathcal{R}^{pt}(L)$. Again, we define the **thin** part of S^p to be the union of all strip-like ends and gluing regions (including a strip neighbourhood of each boundary marked point), and the **thick** part of S^p to be its complement.

Remark 1.4.1.8. We could have defined $\mathcal{R}^{pt}(L)$ without any reference to strip edges at all, since we can glue along all strip edges. However this would not allow us to define the thick and thin regions, and we will need to consider strip edges soon anyway when we define the compactification of $\mathcal{R}^{pt}(L)$.



Figure 1.4.1.2: In this figure, we show what happens as the gluing parameter ρ_e for a Morse edge in a pearly tree passes from negative to positive. On the left, $\rho_e < 0$, and we have a 'thin' region in our disk, corresponding to the edge e. As $\rho_e \to 0^-$, the thin region's length becomes infinite, until at $\rho_e = 0$ we have a stable disk (middle picture). On the right, $\rho_e > 0$, and we have two distinct disks connected by an edge of length $l_e = -\log(1 - \rho_e)$. As $\rho_e \to 0^+$, the edge's length goes to 0, until at $\rho_e = 0$ we have the same stable disk.

Definition 1.4.1.9. We denote by

$$egin{array}{rcl} \mathcal{S}^p(oldsymbol{L}) & o & \mathcal{R}^{pt}(oldsymbol{L}), \ \mathcal{S}^e_L(oldsymbol{L}) & o & \mathcal{R}^{pt}(oldsymbol{L}) ext{ (for } L \in oldsymbol{L}), ext{ and} \ \mathcal{S}^{pt}(oldsymbol{L}) & o & \mathcal{R}^{pt}(oldsymbol{L}) \end{array}$$

the universal families with fibre $S_r^p, S_r^e(L)$ and S_r respectively, over a point $r \in \mathcal{R}^{pt}(L)$.

Definition 1.4.1.10. We define a universal choice of strip-like ends for the family $S^{pt}(L) \to \mathcal{R}^{pt}(L)$ to consist of the embeddings

$$\epsilon_j : \mathcal{R}^{pt}(\boldsymbol{L}) \times Z^{\pm} \to \mathcal{S}^{pt}(\boldsymbol{L})$$

for each external strip edge, coming from our universal choice of strip-like ends for families of boundary-punctured disks, and

$$\epsilon_j : \mathcal{R}^{pt}(L) \times \mathbb{R}^{\pm} \to \mathcal{S}^{pt}(L)$$

which are parametrisations of the corresponding external Morse edges (where the sign \pm is determined by the orientation of the edge).

Definition 1.4.1.11. Given a tree T_S as above, and a subset $B \subset E(T_S)$, we define

 $\mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S, B) \subset \mathcal{R}^{pt}(\mathbf{L})$ to be the images of pearly trees S with underlying tree T_S , with gluing parameter $\rho_e = 0$ for $e \in B$ and $\rho_e > 0$ for $e \notin B$ (of course this depends on the Lagrangian labels, but we omit \mathbf{L} from the notation for readability). Each pearly tree $r \in \mathcal{R}^{pt}(\mathbf{L})$ lies in a unique subset $\mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S, B)$.

Definition 1.4.1.12. Given (T_S, B) as in Definition 1.4.1.11, we define the universal family

$$\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S, B) \to \mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S, B).$$

We now define the compactification of $\mathcal{R}^{pt}(\mathbf{L})$. Let

$$\bar{\mathcal{R}}_T^{pt}(\boldsymbol{L}) := \left(\prod_{v \in V(T)} \mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{L}_v)\right) \times (-1, 0]^{E_{i,s}(T)} \times (-1, 1]^{E_{i,M}(T)}.$$

Note that $\bar{\mathcal{R}}_T^{pt}(L)$ contains $\mathcal{R}_T^{pt}(L)$ as a dense open subset.

Definition 1.4.1.13. We define the compactification of $\mathcal{R}^{pt}(L)$, the moduli space of stable pearly trees,

$$ar{\mathcal{R}}^{pt}(\boldsymbol{L}) := \left(\prod_T ar{\mathcal{R}}_T^{pt}(\boldsymbol{L}) \right) / \sim,$$

where

$$r \sim \varphi_{T,e}(r)$$

whenever defined. We also define the universal family $\bar{S}^{pt}(L) \to \bar{\mathcal{R}}^{pt}(L)$ of stable pearly trees.

Remark 1.4.1.14. In the spaces $\bar{\mathcal{R}}_T^{pt}$, the gluing parameters of strip (respectively Morse) edges can take the value 0 (respectively 1). This corresponds to the length of the gluing region l_e becoming infinite (respectively, the length of the edge l_e becoming infinite). Thus, we are essentially compactifying by allowing the pearls to be stable disks, and the Morse edges to have infinite length. $\bar{\mathcal{R}}^{pt}(L)$ has the structure of a smooth (k-2)-manifold with corners. The codimension-d boundary strata are indexed by trees T with

Lagrangian labels \boldsymbol{L} and d internal edges. Namely, the boundary stratum corresponding to T is the image of the subset of $\bar{\mathcal{R}}_T^{pt}(\boldsymbol{L})$ where all gluing parameters ρ_e are 0 for strip edges and 1 for Morse edges.

Remark 1.4.1.15. $\overline{\mathcal{R}}^{pt}(L)$ is obtained from the usual Deligne-Mumford-Stasheff compactification $\overline{\mathcal{R}}(L)$ by adding a 'collar' along each boundary stratum corresponding to a tree with a Morse edge in it.

Naïvely, the structure coefficients of the usual Fukaya category count rigid holomorphic disks $u : S_r \to X$ for some $r \in \mathcal{R}(L)$. In reality, we must perturb the *J*-holomorphic curve equation to achieve transversality, in particular when two of the Lagrangian boundary conditions coincide. In [11], the equation is perturbed by allowing modulus- and domain-dependent almost-complex structures and Hamiltonian perturbations.

We would like to alter the definition of the Fukaya category so that the structure coefficients are counts of rigid 'holomorphic pearly trees' $u: S_r \to X$ for some $r \in \mathcal{R}^{pt}(L)$. Naïvely, a holomorphic pearly tree is a map which is holomorphic on the pearls and given by the Morse flow of some Morse function on the corresponding Lagrangian on each edge. Again, in reality, we have to perturb the holomorphic curve and Morse flow equations by modulus- and domain-dependent perturbations in order to achieve transversality. We describe how to do this in Sections 1.4.2-1.4.4.

1.4.2 Floer data and morphism spaces

Recall, from Section 1.3.1, that we define the Fukaya category of a symplectic manifold (X, ω) with the following properties and structures:

- $\omega = d\theta$ is exact;
- X is equipped with an almost-complex structure J_0 , compatible with ω ;

• X is convex at infinity, in the sense that there is a bounded below, proper function $h: X \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\theta = -dh \circ J_0;$$

• X is equipped with a complex volume form η (note: we will not take a quadratic complex volume form as in [11], because we will assume our Lagrangians to be oriented).

An object of the Fukaya category of X is a compact, exact, embedded Lagrangian brane $L^{\#}$ (we will neglect the superscript #, denoting the brane structure, for notational convenience).

Definition 1.4.2.1. We define

$$\mathcal{H} := C^{\infty}_{c}(X, \mathbb{R}),$$

the space of smooth, compactly supported functions on X (think of this as the space of Hamiltonians), and \mathcal{J} , the space of smooth almost-complex structures on X compatible with ω , and equal to the standard complex structure J_0 outside of some compact set. For future use, for each Lagrangian L, we define

$$\mathcal{V}_L := C^\infty(L, TL),$$

the space of smooth vector fields on L.

Definition 1.4.2.2. For each distinct pair of objects (L_0, L_1) , we choose a Floer datum (H_{01}, J_{01}) consisting of

$$H_{01} \in C^{\infty}([0,1], \mathcal{H}) \text{ and } J_{01} \in C^{\infty}([0,1], \mathcal{J})$$

satisfying the following property: if ϕ^t denotes the flow of the Hamiltonian vector field of the (time-dependent) Hamiltonian H_{01} , then the time-1 flow $\phi^1(L_0)$ is transverse to L_1 . One then defines a generator of $CF^*(L_0, L_1)$ to be a path $y : [0, 1] \to X$ which is a flowline of the Hamiltonian vector field of H_{01} , such that $y(0) \in L_0$ and $y(1) \in L_1$ (these correspond to the transverse intersections of $\phi^1(L_0)$ with L_1). One defines $CF^*(L_0, L_1)$ to be the \mathbb{C} -vector space generated by its generators. It is \mathbb{Z} -graded, as explained in [11, Chapter 11, 12].

In [11], the case $L_0 = L_1$ is treated identically, but we will do something different.

Definition 1.4.2.3. A Floer datum for a pair of identical Lagrangians (L, L) is a Morse-Smale pair (h_L, g_L) consisting of a Morse function $h_L : L \to \mathbb{R}$ and a Riemannian metric g_L on L. One then defines $CF^*(L, L) := C^*_M(L)$, the \mathbb{C} -vector space generated by critical points of h_L . It is \mathbb{Z} -graded by the Morse index.

Remark 1.4.2.4. Intuitively, one should think of this as a limiting case of Definition 1.4.2.2. Namely, we could choose the almost-complex structure part of the perturbation datum to be a time-independent $J \in \mathcal{J}$ which, when combined with ω , induces a Riemannian metric whose restriction to L is g_L . We could then choose the Hamiltonian part of the perturbation datum to be a time-independent function ϵH , where $H|_L = h_L$, and consider the limit $\epsilon \to 0$.

Definition 1.4.2.5. Given a set of Lagrangian labels $L = (L_0, \ldots, L_k)$, an associated set of generators is a tuple

$$\boldsymbol{y}=(y_0,\ldots,y_k),$$

where y_j is a generator of $CF^*(L_{j-1}, L_j)$ for each $1 \leq j \leq k$, and y_0 is a generator of $CF^*(L_0, L_k)$. We denote the grading of a generator y by i(y), and define

$$i(y) := i(y_0) - \sum_{j=1}^k i(y_j).$$

1.4.3 Perturbation data for fixed moduli

For the purposes of this section, let S be a pearly tree with Lagrangian labels L and fixed modulus $r \in \mathcal{R}^{pt}(L)$.

Definition 1.4.3.1. A perturbation datum for S consists of the data (K, J, V), where:

- $K \in \Omega^1(S^p, \mathcal{H});$
- $J \in C^{\infty}(S^p, \mathcal{J});$
- V is a tuple of maps $V_L \in C^{\infty}(S^e(L), \mathcal{V}_L)$ for each $L \in L$,

such that

$$K(\xi)|_{L_C} = 0$$
 for all $\xi \in TC \subset T(\partial S^p)$

for each boundary component C of a pearl in S with Lagrangian label L_C .

We also impose a requirement that the perturbation datum be compatible with the Floer data on the strip-like ends, in the following senses:

$$\epsilon_{j}^{*}K = H_{j-1,j}(t)dt, \ J(\epsilon_{j}(s,t)) = J_{j-1,j}(t)$$

on each external strip edge;

$$V_{L_j}(\epsilon_j(s)) = \nabla h_{L_j}$$

on each external Morse edge.

Definition 1.4.3.2. Given a pearly tree S with Lagrangian labels L and a perturbation datum (K, J, V), a holomorphic pearly tree (or more properly, an inhomogeneous pseudo-holomorphic pearly tree) in X with domain S is a collection u of smooth maps

$$u_p: S^p \to X \text{ and}$$

 $u_L: S^e(L) \to L \text{ for all } L \text{ in } L,$
satisfying

$$u_p(C) \in L_C$$
 for each boundary component C of S^p with label L_C ;
 $u_p(m(f)) = u_L(b(f))$ for all $f \in F_L(S)$, for all L ;
 $(Du_p - Y)^{0,1} = 0$ on S^p ;
 $Du_L - V = 0$ on $S^e(L)$, for all L ,

where, for $\xi \in TS$, $Y(\xi)$ is the Hamiltonian vector field of the function $K(\xi)$. Note that the second condition says exactly that \boldsymbol{u} defines a continuous map $S \to X$.

Definition 1.4.3.3. Given $\boldsymbol{y} = (y_-, y_+)$, where y_{\pm} are generators of $CF^*(L_0, L_1)$, we define the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_Z(\boldsymbol{y})$ of solutions of the holomorphic pearly tree equation with domain $Z = \mathbb{R} \times [0, 1]$ (if $L_0 \neq L_1$) or \mathbb{R} (if $L_0 = L_1$), translation-invariant perturbation datum given by the corresponding Floer datum, and asymptotic conditions

$$\lim_{s \to \pm \infty} u(s,t) = y_{\pm}(t)$$

if $L_0 \neq L_1$, and the same without the *t* variable if $L_0 = L_1$. We define $\mathcal{M}_Z^*(\boldsymbol{y}) := \mathcal{M}_Z(\boldsymbol{y})/\mathbb{R}$, where \mathbb{R} acts by translation in the *s* variable.

It is standard (see [36, 37]) that the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_Z^*(\boldsymbol{y})$ are smooth manifolds for generic choice of Floer data, and their dimension is $i(\boldsymbol{y}) - 1$.

Definition 1.4.3.4. Suppose that $k \ge 2$. Given a pearly tree S with Lagrangian labels $L = (L_0, \ldots, L_k)$, associated generators $y = (y_0, \ldots, y_k)$, and a perturbation datum, we consider the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_S(y)$ of holomorphic pearly trees with domain S, such that

$$\lim_{s \to +\infty} u(\epsilon_j(s,t)) = y_j(t)$$

and

$$\lim_{s \to -\infty} u(\epsilon_0(s,t)) = y_0(t)$$

on external strip edges, and the same (without the t variable) on external Morse edges.

We wish to show that the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_{S}(\boldsymbol{y})$ form smooth, finite-dimensional manifolds for a generic choice of perturbation datum.

Definition 1.4.3.5. Fix $2 and define the Banach manifold <math>\mathcal{B}_{S}(\boldsymbol{y})$ to consist of collections of maps

$$\boldsymbol{u} = (u_p, \boldsymbol{u}_L) \in W^{1,p}_{loc}(S^p, X) \times \prod_{L \in \boldsymbol{L}} W^{1,p}_{loc}(S^e(L), L)$$

such that

 $u_p(C) \in L_C$

for each boundary component C of S^p with label L_C , and \boldsymbol{u} converges in $W^{1,p}$ -sense to y_j on the *j*th strip-like end. These boundary and asymptotic conditions make sense because $W^{1,p}$ injects into the space of continuous functions. Henceforth we omit the \boldsymbol{y} from the notation for readability. Note that the tangent space to \mathcal{B}_S is

$$T_{\boldsymbol{u}}\mathcal{B}_{S} = W^{1,p}(S^{p}, u_{p}^{*}TX, u_{p}^{*}TL_{C}) \oplus \bigoplus_{L \in \boldsymbol{L}} W^{1,p}(S^{e}(L), u_{L}^{*}TL),$$

where for the first component we have used the notation $W^{1,p}(S^p, E, F)$ for the space of $W^{1,p}$ sections of a vector bundle E over S, whose restriction to the boundary lies in the distribution $F \subset E|_{\partial S^p}$.

Definition 1.4.3.6. The maps $u \in \mathcal{B}_S$ are not necessarily continuous at the points where edges join onto pearls. We define

$$\boldsymbol{L}^{F(S)} := \prod_{L \in \boldsymbol{L}} L^{F_L(S)}.$$

Then there are evaluation maps

$$egin{array}{rcl} oldsymbol{ev}_m : \mathcal{B}_S & o & oldsymbol{L}^{F(S)} \ oldsymbol{ev}_m(oldsymbol{u}) & := & (u_p(m(f)))_{f\in F(S)} \end{array}$$

and

$$egin{array}{rcl} oldsymbol{ev}_b:\mathcal{B}_S&
ightarrow egin{array}{rcl} oldsymbol{L}^{F(S)}\ oldsymbol{ev}_b(oldsymbol{u})&:=&(u_L(b(f)))_{f\in F_L(S)} \end{array}$$

We define

$$egin{array}{rcl} m{ev}:\mathcal{B}_S& o&m{L}^{F(S)} imesm{L}^{F(S)}\ ev&:=&(m{ev}_m,m{ev}_b). \end{array}$$

We also define

$$\Delta^S \subset \boldsymbol{L}^{F(S)} \times \boldsymbol{L}^{F(S)}$$

to be the diagonal. An element $\boldsymbol{u} \in \mathcal{B}_S$ is continuous at the points where edges join onto pearls if and only if $\boldsymbol{u} \in \boldsymbol{ev}^{-1}(\Delta^S)$. We define the linearization of \boldsymbol{ev} ,

$$D(ev): T_u \mathcal{B}_S \to T_{ev(u)} \left(L^{F(S)} \times L^{F(S)} \right).$$

Given a point $u \in ev^{-1}(\Delta^S)$, we define the projection of the linearization to the normal bundle of the diagonal,

$$\begin{array}{rcl} D^{ev}_{S,\boldsymbol{u}}:T_{\boldsymbol{u}}\mathcal{B}_S & \to & T_{\boldsymbol{e}\boldsymbol{v}_m(\boldsymbol{u})}\boldsymbol{L}^{F(S)},\\ & D^{ev}_{S,\boldsymbol{u}} & := & D(\boldsymbol{e}\boldsymbol{v}_m) - D(\boldsymbol{e}\boldsymbol{v}_b). \end{array}$$

Definition 1.4.3.7. Define the Banach vector bundle $\mathcal{E}_S(\boldsymbol{y}) \to \mathcal{B}_S(\boldsymbol{y})$ whose fibre over

 \boldsymbol{u} (again omitting the \boldsymbol{y} from the notation) is the space

$$(\mathcal{E}_S)_{\boldsymbol{u}} := L^p(S^p, \Omega_S^{0,1} \otimes u_p^*TX) \oplus \bigoplus_{L \in \boldsymbol{L}} L^p(S^e(L), u_L^*TL).$$

There is a smooth section

$$d_S: \mathcal{B}_S \to \mathcal{E}_S$$

$$d_S(\boldsymbol{u}) = ((D\boldsymbol{u}_p - \boldsymbol{Y})^{0,1}, (D\boldsymbol{u}_L - \boldsymbol{V})).$$

We denote the linearization of d_S at \boldsymbol{u} by

$$D^h_{S,\boldsymbol{u}}: T_{\boldsymbol{u}}\mathcal{B}_S \to (\mathcal{E}_S)_{\boldsymbol{u}}$$

(the 'h' stands for 'holomorphic').

Note that $\mathcal{M}_{S}(\boldsymbol{y}) = (\boldsymbol{ev}, d_{S})^{-1}(\Delta^{S}, \boldsymbol{0})$ (where **0** denotes the zero section of the Banach vector bundle $\mathcal{E}_{S}(\boldsymbol{y})$).

Definition 1.4.3.8. Given $u \in \mathcal{M}_S(y)$, we denote by

$$D_{S,\boldsymbol{u}}: T_{\boldsymbol{u}}\mathcal{B}_S \to T_{\boldsymbol{ev}_m(\boldsymbol{u})}\boldsymbol{L}^{F(S)} \oplus (\mathcal{E}_S)_{\boldsymbol{u}}$$

the projection of the linearization

 $D_{\boldsymbol{u}}(\boldsymbol{ev}, d_S)$

to the normal bundle of $(\Delta^S, \mathbf{0})$. It is given by

$$D_{S,\boldsymbol{u}}=D_{S,\boldsymbol{u}}^{e\boldsymbol{v}}\oplus D_{S,\boldsymbol{u}}^{h}.$$

We say that $\boldsymbol{u} \in \mathcal{M}_{S}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular if $D_{S,\boldsymbol{u}}$ is surjective, and that $\mathcal{M}_{S}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular if every $\boldsymbol{u} \in \mathcal{M}_{S}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular.

It is standard that the operator $D_{S,u}^h$ is Fredholm (compare [11, Section 8i] for the pearls, and [38, Section 2.2] for the edges). Therefore, $D_u(ev, d_S)$ is Fredholm also, because the codomain of ev is finite-dimensional. So the map (ev, d_S) is Fredholm. Thus, if $\mathcal{M}_S(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular, then it is a smooth manifold with dimension given by the Fredholm index of $D_{S,u}$ at each point.

It will follow from our arguments in Section 1.4.6 that, for a generic choice of perturbation datum, $\mathcal{M}_{S}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular.

1.4.4 Perturbation data for families

To define the Fukaya category, we must count moduli spaces of holomorphic pearly trees with varying domain, rather than a fixed domain as in Section 1.4.3. The first step is to define perturbation data for the whole family $S^{pt}(\mathbf{L}) \to \mathcal{R}^{pt}(\mathbf{L})$. The following definition is the appropriate notion of a smoothly varying family of perturbation data for each fibre S_r .

Definition 1.4.4.1. A perturbation datum for the family $S^{pt}(L) \to \mathcal{R}^{pt}(L)$ consists of the data (K, J, V), where:

- $K \in \Omega^1_{\mathcal{S}^p/\mathcal{R}^{pt}}(\mathcal{S}^p, \mathcal{H});$
- $J \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{S}^p, \mathcal{J});$
- V is a tuple of maps $V_L \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{S}_L^e, \mathcal{V}_L)$ for each $L \in L$,

such that the restriction of (K, J, V) to each fibre S_r is a perturbation datum. We furthermore require some additional, somewhat artificial, conditions to deal with the structure of the moduli space near a point with an edge of length 0 (the situation illustrated in Figure 1.4.1.2). Namely, for any edge e, we require:

- $V|_{S_e} = 0$ whenever $l_e \in [0, 1];$
- the perturbation data do not change as l_e varies between 0 and 1 (keeping all other parameters fixed);
- $V|_{S_e} = \nabla h_L$ whenever $l_e \ge 2$;
- $K \equiv 0$, and J is constant, on a neighbourhood of each Morse edge of length 0. To see what this means, look at Figure 1.4.1.2: we require that $K \equiv 0$ and J has one fixed value on the long strip on the left, and in a neighbourhood of the boundary marked points at opposite ends of the edge on the right.

We impose the condition $V|_{S_e} = 0$ on edges of length $l_e \leq 1$ because it makes the following Lemma true (a similar trick is used in [35]):

Lemma 1.4.4.2. Suppose that we have chosen a perturbation datum in accordance with Definition 1.4.4.1, and that $S = S_r$ is a pearly tree with an edge e of length $l_e < 1$. Let $S' = S_{r'}^{pt}$ denote the pearly tree that is identical to S, except we shrink the edge e to have length $l_e = 0$. Then there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathcal{M}_{S}(oldsymbol{y})\equiv\mathcal{M}_{S'}(oldsymbol{y})$$

(where both are defined using the restriction of the perturbation datum on S^{pt} to the fibres S, S').

Proof. The result is clear from the holomorphic pearly tree equation (see Definition 1.4.3.2): because $V|_{S_e} = 0$ for $l_e \in [0,1]$, the corresponding map $\boldsymbol{u}|_{S_e} : [0,l_e] \to L$ is necessarily constant. Thus the part of the holomorphic pearly tree equation on the edge e reduces to a point constraint, regardless of l_e . Because the perturbation datum does not change as we vary $l_e \in [0,1]$, the equation on the rest of S does not change, so $\mathcal{M}_S(\boldsymbol{y})$ and $\mathcal{M}_{S'}(\boldsymbol{y})$ can be canonically identified. \Box

Definition 1.4.4.3. Given a set of Lagrangian labels $L = (L_0, \ldots, L_k)$, associated generators y, and a perturbation datum, we consider the moduli space

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(oldsymbol{y}) := \{(r,oldsymbol{u}): r \in \mathcal{R}^{pt}(oldsymbol{L}) ext{ and } oldsymbol{u} \in \mathcal{M}_{S_r}(oldsymbol{y}) \}.$$

We now aim to show that $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is a manifold (whether it is possible to construct a smooth manifold structure is unclear, but this is irrelevant for the purposes of defining the Fukaya category). The complicated part of this is to understand what happens in a neighbourhood of the Morse edges of zero length, because the nature of the domain changes at those points. We start by explaining what happens away from the Morse edges of zero length (i.e., when the modulus $r \in \mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S, B)$ where $B = \phi$).

Definition 1.4.4.4. Let $U \subset \mathbb{R}^{pt}(L)$ be a small connected open subset which makes the strip-like ends constant and avoids a neighbourhood of the pearly trees with some Morse edge of length 0. We define the trivial Banach fibre bundle $\mathcal{B}_{S^{pt}|_U}(\mathbf{y}) \to U$ whose fibre over $r \in U$ is the Banach manifold $\mathcal{B}_{S_r}(\mathbf{y})$ defined in Definition 1.4.3.5. There is a Banach vector bundle $\mathcal{E}_{S^{pt}|_U}(\mathbf{y}) \to \mathcal{B}_{S^{pt}|_U}(\mathbf{y})$ whose restriction (omitting the \mathbf{y} from the notation) to \mathcal{B}_{S_r} is the Banach vector bundle \mathcal{E}_{S_r} defined in Definition 1.4.3.7. It has a smooth section $d_{S^{pt}|_U}$ given, over \mathcal{B}_{S_r} , by the section d_{S_r} of Definition 1.4.3.7. We have

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U}}(\boldsymbol{y}) = (\boldsymbol{ev}|_{U}, d_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U}})^{-1}(\Delta^{S}, \boldsymbol{0})$$

(note that the codomain of ev depends on the underlying tree T_S of S_r ; our requirement that U be connected and avoid Morse edges of length 0 ensures that T_S is constant on U). Given $(r, u) \in \mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}(y)$ with $r \in U$, we denote the linearization of $d_{S^{pt}|_U}$ at (r, u)by

$$D^{h}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U},r,\boldsymbol{u}}:T_{(r,\boldsymbol{u})}\left(\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U}}\right)\to(\mathcal{E}_{S_{r}})_{\boldsymbol{u}},$$

where we note that

$$T_{(r,\boldsymbol{u})}\left(\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U}}\right) = T_{\boldsymbol{r}}\mathcal{R}^{pt} \oplus T_{\boldsymbol{u}}\mathcal{B}_{S_{\boldsymbol{r}}}.$$

Remark 1.4.4.5. The component

$$T_{\boldsymbol{u}}\mathcal{B}_{S_r} \to (\mathcal{E}_{S_r})_{\boldsymbol{u}}$$

is just the linearized operator $D^h_{S_{r,u}}$ from Definition 1.4.3.7. The component

$$T_r \mathcal{R}^{pt} \to (\mathcal{E}_{S_r})_u$$

corresponds to derivatives of the holomorphic curve equation (Definition 1.4.3.2) with respect to changes of the modulus r.

Definition 1.4.4.6. We denote by

$$D_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U},r,\boldsymbol{u}}: T_{(r,\boldsymbol{u})}\left(\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U}}\right) \to T_{\boldsymbol{ev}_{m}(\boldsymbol{u})}\boldsymbol{L}^{F(S)} \oplus (\mathcal{E}_{S_{r}})_{\boldsymbol{u}}$$

the projection of the linearization

$$D_{r,\boldsymbol{u}}(\boldsymbol{ev}|_U, d_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}|_U)$$

to the normal bundle of $(\Delta^S, \mathbf{0})$. It is given by

$$D_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U},r,\boldsymbol{u}} = D^{ev}_{S_r,\boldsymbol{u}} \oplus D^h_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U},r,\boldsymbol{u}}.$$

If S_r has no edges of length 0, we say that (r, \boldsymbol{u}) is a **regular** point of $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ if $D_{S^{pt}|_{U},r,\boldsymbol{u}}$ is surjective (for some open neighbourhood U of r as above). We say that the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}|_{U}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular if every $\boldsymbol{u} \in \mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}|_{U}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular.

Proposition 1.4.4.7. The operator $D_{S^{pt}|_{U},r,u}$ is Fredholm of index

$$\operatorname{ind}(D_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U},r,\boldsymbol{u}}) = k - 2 + i(\boldsymbol{y})$$

when U avoids a neighbourhood of all pearly trees with edges of length 0.

Proof. See [11, Section 12d] for the pearl component – the inclusion of the Morse flowlines is a trivial addition. \Box

It follows that, if $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}|_U}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular, then it is a smooth manifold with dimension equal to the Fredholm index of $D_{S^{pt}|_U}$ given above. The transition maps between the spaces $\mathcal{B}_{S^{pt}|_U}$ are not necessarily smooth, so in general it is not possible to define a Banach manifold $\mathcal{B}_{S^{pt}|_U}$ over an arbitrarily large open set U avoiding a neighbourhood of the Morse edges of length 0. However, elliptic regularity ensures that the transition maps between spaces $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}|_U}(\boldsymbol{y})$ are smooth in the regular case, hence they can be patched together to obtain a smooth manifold $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}|_U}(\boldsymbol{y})$ over an arbitrarily large open set Uavoiding a neighbourhood of the Morse edges of length 0 (compare [11, Remark 9.4]).

Now we must deal with the Morse edges of length 0, i.e., the case that the modulus $r \in \mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_s, B)$, where $B \neq \phi$ (in the notation of Definition 1.4.1.11).

Definition 1.4.4.8. We define the moduli space

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S,B)}(\boldsymbol{y}) := \{(r,\boldsymbol{u}) \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y}) : r \in \mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S,B)\}.$$

In order to construct a manifold structure on the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$, we are going to arrange that all of the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}(T_S,B)}(\boldsymbol{y})$ are regular, then use them to construct charts for the manifold structure on $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$.

Definition 1.4.4.9. Let $U \subset \mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S, B)$ be a small connected open subset which makes the strip-like ends constant and avoids a neighbourhood of the pearly trees with some Morse edge not in *B* having length 0. We define $\mathcal{B}_{S^{pt}(T_S,B)|_U}, \mathcal{E}_{S^{pt}(T_S,B)|_U}, d_{S^{pt}(T_S,B)|_U}$ by restricting $\mathcal{B}_{S^{pt}|_U}, \mathcal{E}_{S^{pt}|_U}, d_{S^{pt}|_U}$ to $\mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S, B)$. We have

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S,B)|_U}(\boldsymbol{y}) = (\boldsymbol{ev}|_U, d_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S,B)|_U})^{-1}(\Delta^S, \boldsymbol{0}).$$

The projection of the linearization

$$D_{r,\boldsymbol{u}}(\boldsymbol{ev}|_U, d_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S,B)|_U})$$

to the normal bundle of $(\Delta^S, \mathbf{0})$ is the restriction of $D_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U,r,u}}$ to the codimension-|B| subspace

$$T_r \mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S, B) \oplus T_u \mathcal{B}_{S_r} \subset T_r \mathcal{R}^{pt} \oplus T_u \mathcal{B}_{S_r}.$$

We denote it by $D_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_{\mathcal{S}},B)|_{U},r,u}$. By Proposition 1.4.4.7, it is Fredholm of index

$$\operatorname{ind}(D_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S,B)|_U,r,\boldsymbol{u}}) = k - 2 + i(\boldsymbol{y}) - |B|.$$

Definition 1.4.4.10. We say that (r, \boldsymbol{u}) is a regular point of $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ if $r \in \mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S, B)$ and the operator $D_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S, B)|_U, r, \boldsymbol{u}}$ is surjective (for some open neighbourhood $U \subset \mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S, B)$ of r as above). We say that the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular if every $(r, \boldsymbol{u}) \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular.

It follows that, if $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular, then each moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}(T_S,B)|_U}$ is a smooth manifold with dimension equal to the Fredholm index of $D_{S^{pt}(T_S,B)}$ given above.

Assuming regularity, we now construct charts for a manifold structure on $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$.

Definition 1.4.4.11. Let $U \subset \mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S, B)$ be a small connected open subset which makes the strip-like ends constant and avoids a neighbourhood of the pearly trees with some Morse edge not in *B* having length 0. Given $\epsilon > 0$, denote by $U_{\epsilon} \subset \mathcal{R}^{pt}$ the image of the map

$$U \times (-\epsilon, \epsilon)^B \to \mathcal{R}^{pt}$$

obtained by interpreting the parameter in $(-\epsilon, \epsilon)$ corresponding to the edge $e \in B$ as a gluing parameter ρ_e for e. Note that U_{ϵ} is open in \mathcal{R}^{pt} .

Proposition 1.4.4.12. Suppose that $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}$ is regular. Then for some $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently

small, there is a homeomorphism

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S,B)|_U} \times (-\epsilon,\epsilon)^B \to \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U_\epsilon}}$$

which makes the following diagram commute:

Proof. If two pearls are joined by a Morse edge e of length zero, then they form a nodal disk. In a neighbourhood of the node, the Hamiltonian perturbation is identically 0 and the almost-complex structure is constant, by the conditions we placed on our perturbation datum. A standard gluing argument shows that there is a family of pearls with gluing parameter $\rho_e \in (-\epsilon, 0]$, converging to this nodal disk. A standard compactness argument shows that any sequence of pearls with gluing parameter $\rho_e \to 0^-$ converges to such a nodal disk. More generally, allowing for multiple Morse edges of length 0, one can show that there is a homeomorphism

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S,B)|_U} \times (-\epsilon, 0]^B \to \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{\mathrm{im}(U \times (-\epsilon, 0]^B)}}$$

for some $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.

It then follows from Lemma 1.4.4.2 that this map extends to a homeomorphism

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S,B)|_U} \times (-\epsilon,\epsilon)^B \to \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}|_{U_\epsilon}}$$

with the desired properties.

We have an open cover of \mathcal{R}^{pt} by the sets of the form U_{ϵ} , for some $U \subset \mathcal{R}^{pt}(T_S, B)$ and some T_S, B . Therefore, we have an open cover of $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ by sets $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}|_{U_{\epsilon}}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ which

are homeomorphic to smooth manifolds of dimension $k-2+i(\boldsymbol{y})$. So they are the charts of a topological manifold structure on $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}$. We have proven:

Proposition 1.4.4.13. If $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is regular, then it has the structure of a topological manifold of dimension

$$\dim(\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})) = k - 2 + i(\boldsymbol{y}).$$

Remark 1.4.4.14. One can show that the embeddings of Proposition 1.4.4.12 respect orientations, and hence that the manifold $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ is oriented.

1.4.5 Consistency and compactness

Definition 1.4.5.1. A universal choice of perturbation data is a choice of perturbation datum for each family $S^{pt}(L)$ (for all choices of Lagrangian labels L).

Definition 1.4.5.2. (Compare [11, Section 9i]) Given a tree T with Lagrangian labels L, the gluing construction defines a map to a collar neighbourhood of the boundary stratum corresponding to T:

 $\{r \in \bar{\mathcal{R}}_T^{pt} : \rho_e \in (-\epsilon, 0] \text{ for } e \text{ a strip edge, and } \rho_e \in (1-\epsilon, 1] \text{ for } e \text{ a Morse edge}\} \to \bar{\mathcal{R}}^{pt}.$

Because the perturbation data are standard along the strip-like ends (given by the Floer data), we can glue the perturbation data on the families $S^{pt}(\mathbf{L}_v)$, for each vertex v of T, together to obtain a perturbation datum (K_T, J_T, V_T) on this collar neighbourhood. Furthermore, this perturbation datum extends smoothly to the boundary stratum corresponding to T. We say that a universal choice of perturbation data is **consistent** if the perturbation datum (K, J, V) on $S^{pt}(\mathbf{L})$ also extends smoothly to the compactification $\bar{S}^{pt}(\mathbf{L})$, and agrees with the perturbation datum (K_T, J_T, V_T) on the boundary stratum corresponding to T, for all such \mathbf{L} and T.

Proposition 1.4.5.3. Consistent universal choices of perturbation data exist.

Definition 1.4.5.4. Suppose we have made a consistent universal choice of perturbation data, and all moduli spaces are regular. Let L be a set of Lagrangian labels and y an associated set of generators. A stable holomorphic pearly tree consists of the following data:

- A semi-stable directed planar tree T with Lagrangian labels L;
- For each edge e of T, a generator $y_e \in CF^*(L_{r(e)}, L_{l(e)})$, where $L_{r(e)}, L_{l(e)}$ are the Lagrangian labels to the right and left of e respectively, such that the generators are given by y for the external edges;
- For each stable vertex v (i.e., v has valence ≥ 3), an element

$$(r_v, \boldsymbol{u}_v) \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(\boldsymbol{L}_v)}(\boldsymbol{y}_v),$$

where y_v denotes the set of chosen generators for the edges adjacent to v;

• for each vertex v of valence 2, an element

$$u_v \in \mathcal{M}^*_Z(\boldsymbol{y}_v).$$

We define $\mathcal{M}_{\bar{S}^{pt}}^T(\boldsymbol{y})$ to be the set of all equivalence classes of stable holomorphic pearly trees modeled on the tree T.

Definition 1.4.5.5. We define the moduli space

$$ilde{\mathcal{M}}_{ar{\mathcal{S}}^{pt}}(oldsymbol{y}) := \prod_T \mathcal{M}_{ar{\mathcal{S}}^{pt}}^T(oldsymbol{y})$$

of stable holomorphic pearly trees, as a set.

Proposition 1.4.5.6. $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\overline{S}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ has the structure of a compact topological manifold with corners. Its codimension-d strata are the sets $\mathcal{M}_{\overline{S}^{pt}}^T$ where T has d internal edges. In

particular, the open stratum (corresponding to the one-vertex tree) is the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y}).$

Proof. Observe that each stratum

$$\mathcal{M}_{ ilde{\mathcal{S}}^{pt}}^T(oldsymbol{y})$$

has the structure of a smooth manifold, since it is a product of smooth manifolds. By standard gluing arguments, there are maps

$$\mathcal{M}^T_{\bar{\mathcal{S}}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y}) \times (-\epsilon, 0]^{E(T)} \to \bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\bar{\mathcal{S}}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y}).$$

We define the topology on $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\overline{S}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ so that all of these maps are continuous. This defines a manifold-with-corners structure on the moduli space of stable holomorphic pearly trees.

We prove compactness by considering each underlying tree type T_S for a pearly tree separately. Given T_S , consider the moduli space of stable holomorphic pearly trees such that, if we contract all edges of length 0, we get a tree of type T_S . The space of possible stable pearls corresponding to vertices of T_S is compact, by standard Gromov compactness as in [39]. Similarly, the space of possible broken Morse flowlines corresponding to edges of T_S is compact, by standard compactness results in Morse theory as in [38, Section 2.4]. Thus, the full moduli space is a closed subset (defined by the incidence conditions of marked boundary points on pearls and ends of edges) of the compact set of all possible pearl and edge maps. By considering all possible tree types T_S , we obtain a covering of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{Spt}(\boldsymbol{y})$ by a finite number of compact sets, hence the moduli space is compact.

1.4.6 Transversality

Proposition 1.4.6.1. The moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}(y)$ are regular for generic consistent universal choices of perturbation data.

Proof. Make a consistent universal choice of perturbation data. For each set of Lagrangian labels L, we show that it is possible to modify the perturbation data (K, J, V) slightly to make our moduli spaces regular. In fact it is sufficient only to perturb (K, J), assuming we have already chosen the Floer data (h_L, g_L) to be Morse-Smale for each L. Our situation is very similar to that considered in [11, Section 9k].

A deformation of (K, J) is given by a choice of:

- $\delta K \in \Omega^1_{\mathcal{S}^p/\mathcal{R}^{pt}}(\mathcal{S}^p, \mathcal{H});$
- $\delta J \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{S}^p, T_J\mathcal{J}),$

such that $(\delta K, \delta J)$ vanish on the strip-like ends and $\delta K(\xi)|_{L_C} = 0$ for each $\xi \in TC$, where C is a boundary component of a pearl and L_C its Lagrangian label.

We choose an open set $\Omega \subset S^p$ such that, for each $r \in \mathcal{R}^{pt}$, $\Omega \cap S_r^p$ lies within the 'thick' region of Definition 1.4.1.7, and intersects each connected component of the thick region in a non-empty, connected set that intersects each boundary component (see Figure 1.4.6.1). To retain consistency of our perturbation datum, we require that $(\delta K, \delta J)$ are zero outside Ω , and extend smoothly to a pair $(\overline{\delta K}, \overline{\delta J})$ defined on \overline{S}^p which vanish to infinite order along the boundary.

Let \mathcal{T} denote the space of all such $(\delta K, \delta J)$. Given $t \in \mathcal{T}$, we can exponentiate it to an actual perturbation datum, and we define

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}^t(oldsymbol{y})$$

to be the moduli space of holomorphic pearly trees with respect to this perturbation datum. We define the universal moduli space

$$\mathcal{M}^{univ}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(oldsymbol{y}) := \{(t,r,oldsymbol{u}): t\in\mathcal{T}, (r,oldsymbol{u})\in\mathcal{M}^t_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(oldsymbol{y})\}.$$

We have the associated universal linearized operators

$$D^{univ}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt},r,\boldsymbol{u}}: \mathcal{T} \oplus T_r \mathcal{R}^{pt} \oplus T_{\boldsymbol{u}} \mathcal{B}_{S_r} \to T_{\boldsymbol{ev}_m(\boldsymbol{u})} \boldsymbol{L}^{F(S)} \oplus (\mathcal{E}_{S_r})_{\boldsymbol{u}},$$

given by

$$D^{univ}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt},r,\boldsymbol{u}} = D^{def}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt},r,\boldsymbol{u}} \oplus D_{\mathcal{S}^{pt},r,\boldsymbol{u}},$$

where $D_{\mathcal{S}^{pt},r,u}$ is as defined in Definition 1.4.4.4 and

$$D^{def}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt},r,\boldsymbol{u}}:\mathcal{T}\to(\mathcal{E}_{S_r})_{\boldsymbol{u}}$$

takes the derivative of the holomorphic pearly tree equation with respect to changes in the perturbation datum. We should really work in a local trivialization of S^{pt} over a small set U, as we did in Section 1.4.4, but we gloss over this point to make things readable.

We claim that the universal operator $D^{univ}_{S^{pt},r,u}$ is surjective. Let S denote the pearly tree with modulus r. The codomain of $D^{univ}_{S^{pt},r,u}$ is a direct sum

$$T_{\boldsymbol{ev}_m(\boldsymbol{u})}\boldsymbol{L}^{F(S)} \oplus L^p(S^p,\Omega_S^{0,1}\otimes u_p^*TX) \oplus \bigoplus_{L\in\boldsymbol{L}}L^p(S^e(L),u_L^*TL).$$

The operator $D_{\mathcal{S}^{pt},r,\boldsymbol{u}}$ always maps

$$W^{1,p}(S^e(L), u_L^*TL) \to L^p(S^e(L), u_L^*TL)$$

surjectively, for each $L \in L$ (the moduli spaces of Morse flowlines are always regular –

we are not imposing any boundary conditions here).

The space of deformations \mathcal{T} maps surjectively to

$$L^p(S^p, \Omega^{0,1}_S \otimes u^*_p TX)$$

(see [11, Section 9k]). To complete the proof of surjectivity, we show that the tangent space to the zero set of the universal section

$$d_S^{univ}|_{S^p}: \mathcal{T} \times W^{1,p}_{loc}(S^p, X) \to L^p(S^p, \Omega^{0,1}_S \otimes u_p^*TX)$$

maps surjectively to

$$T_{ev_m(u)}L^{F(S)},$$

using a modification of an argument given in [40, Section 3.4]. The essential observation is that the group of Hamiltonian diffeomorphisms fixing the Lagrangians in L acts on the space of perturbation data and associated holomorphic pearly trees with labels L.

Let $h: S^p \to \mathcal{H}$ be a smooth function which is locally (in the z coordinates on S^p) equal to a constant $H \in \mathcal{H}$ outside of $\Omega \cap S^p$, and such that $h|_C$ vanishes on the Lagrangian L_C , for any boundary component C of S^p with label L_C . Denote by $\phi_z : X \to X$ the time-1 flow of the Hamiltonian h(z), for $z \in S^p$. Then we can define a map from

$$\mathcal{T} \times W^{1,p}_{loc}(S^p, X)$$

to itself by

$$u_p(z) \mapsto \phi_z(u_p(z)),$$

$$K(z) \mapsto \phi_z^*K(z) - dh(z),$$

$$J(z) \mapsto J(z) \circ \phi_z$$



Figure 1.4.6.1: The region $\Omega \cap S_r^p$ (shaded dark grey) inside S_r^p (shaded light grey), for some $r \in \mathbb{R}^{pt}$. Note that Ω avoids all thin regions. The solid circles denote marked points. For each marked point m(f), there is a curve inside Ω (drawn as a dotted line) which separates m(f) from all other marked points and punctures.

where dh(z) denotes the differential of h(z) with respect to the coordinates z on S^p . In particular, dh(z) is supported in Ω , so the new perturbation datum still lies in \mathcal{T} . One can show that this action preserves the section $d_S^{univ}|_{S^p}$ and in particular preserves its zero set.

By our definition of Ω , for each flag $f \in F(S)$ we can choose a curve in Ω that cuts the pearl containing m(f) into two regions, one of which contains the marked point m(f) and no other punctures or marked points. We can make these curves disjoint for different f (see Figure 1.4.6.1). Then we can define $h_f: S^p \to \mathcal{H}$ which is supported in the region containing m(f), and constant equal to some Hamiltonian H_f in the portion of that region that lies outside of Ω . By making different choices of the functions H_f , we can independently move the points $\phi_{m(f)}(u_p(m(f)))$ in any direction we please, so the linearization of the evaluation map is surjective from the tangent space to the zero set of $d_S^{univ}|_{S^p}$ onto $T_{ev_m(u)}L^{F(S)}$. This completes the proof of surjectivity of the universal linearized operator.

Therefore, the universal moduli spaces \mathcal{M}_{Spt}^{univ} are Banach manifolds. Similarly, one

can show that the universal moduli spaces

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S,B)}^{univ}(\boldsymbol{y}) := \{(t,r,\boldsymbol{u}) : t \in \mathcal{T}, (r,\boldsymbol{u}) \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S,B)}^t(\boldsymbol{y})\}$$

are Banach manifolds for each (T_S, B) (see Definitions 1.4.1.11, 1.4.4.8). The regular values of the projections of each of these universal moduli spaces to \mathcal{T} are of the second category, by the Sard-Smale theorem (see Remark 1.4.6.2). Taking the intersection of regular values of the projection, over all (T_S, B) , shows that for a generic choice of deformed perturbation datum in \mathcal{T} , the moduli spaces

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}(T_S,B)}(oldsymbol{y})$$

are all simultaneously regular. This was our definition of regularity of the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ (see Definition 1.4.4.10).

Remark 1.4.6.2. We have glossed over one technical issue: the space of admissible deformed perturbation data is not a Banach space as we have defined it, but rather a Fréchet space, and hence the Sard-Smale theorem does not apply. To fix this, we should work with the Banach spaces of C^l perturbation data, then take the intersection over all l (see [40, Section 3.1] for details).

1.4.7 A_{∞} structure maps

In this section we give our definition of the Fukaya category. We do not discuss signs, but they work in essentially the same way as in [11] (using Remark 1.4.4.14).

We make a choice of Floer data and a consistent universal choice of perturbation data, and assume that all moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_{S^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ (as well as those used in the definition of the Floer differential) are regular.

We define the differential

$$\mu^1 : CF^*(L_0, L_1) \to CF^*(L_0, L_1)$$

to be the standard Floer differential if L_0 , L_1 are distinct, and to be the Morse differential (for Morse **co**homology) for (h_L, g_L) if $L_0 = L_1 = L$.

Given Lagrangian labels $L = (L_0, \ldots, L_k)$, we define the higher products

$$\mu^k : CF^*(L_{k-1}, L_k) \otimes \ldots \otimes CF^*(L_0, L_1) \to CF^*(L_0, L_k)[2-k]$$

as follows: given an associated set of generators $\boldsymbol{y} = (y_0, \ldots, y_k)$, such that

$$i(y_0) = i(y_1) + \ldots + i(y_k) + 2 - k,$$

we define the coefficient of y_0 in

$$\mu^k(y_k,\ldots,y_1)$$

to be the count of points in the moduli space

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{pt}}(oldsymbol{y})$$

(which is 0-dimensional by Proposition 1.4.4.13), with appropriate signs. Note that the condition on degrees of the y_j mean that the maps μ^k respect the \mathbb{Z} -grading in the appropriate sense for an A_{∞} category.

Proposition 1.4.7.1. The operations μ^k satisfy the A_{∞} associativity equations, with signs and \mathbb{Z} -gradings.

Proof. The proof follows familiar lines: given a set of generators \boldsymbol{y} associated to Lagrangian labels \boldsymbol{L} , we consider the 1-dimensional component of the moduli space $\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\bar{\mathcal{S}}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$. The signed count of its boundary components is 0. By the results outlined in Section

1.4.5, the codimension-1 boundary strata of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\overline{\mathcal{S}}^{pt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ consist of those stable holomorphic pearly trees modeled on trees T with one internal edge. The fact that their signed count is 0 means that the coefficient of y_0 in

$$\sum_{a,b} (-1)^* \mu^{k-a+1}(y_k, \dots, y_{a+b+1}, \mu^a(y_{a+b}, \dots, y_{b+1}), y_b, \dots, y_1)$$

is 0, where

 $\star = i(y_1) + \ldots + i(y_b) - b.$

This means exactly that the A_{∞} associativity equations hold.

Proposition 1.4.7.2. The Fukaya category is independent, up to quasi-isomorphism, of the choices of strip-like ends, Floer data and perturbation data made in its definition.

Proposition 1.4.7.3. The A_{∞} algebra $CF^*(L, L)$ is quasi-isomorphic to the differential graded cohomology algebra $C^*(L)$.

Proof. We can choose the Hamiltonian perturbations of the moduli spaces used to define $CF^*(L, L)$ to be zero, so that all pearls are constant by exactness of L. It is not difficult to show that transversality can be achieved with this class of perturbation data, by perturbing V. The definition of $CF^*(L, L)$ then coincides with the definition of the A_{∞} algebra $CM^*(L)$ given in [35, Section 2.2] (by counting Morse flow trees on L). The result now follows from [35, Section 3].

1.4.8 Compatibility with other definitions

In this section, we explain why our definition of the Fukaya category (which we denote, for the purposes of this section, by $\mathcal{F}uk^1(X)$) is quasi-equivalent to that in [11] (which we denote by $\mathcal{F}uk^2(X)$). We define an auxiliary A_{∞} category, $\mathcal{F}uk^{12}(X)$, which contains two objects, L^1 and L^2 , for each object L of the usual Fukaya category. We define Floer data for each pair (L^1, L^1) to consist of a Morse-Smale pair on L, but for all other pairs of objects (L_0^i, L_1^j) , including the case $L_0 = L_1$, we define the Floer data as if the objects were distinct in Definition 1.4.2.2 (i.e., the Floer datum consists of a Hamiltonian component whose time-1 flow makes L_0 and L_1 transverse, and an almostcomplex structure component). We define the A_{∞} structure coefficients by counting holomorphic pearly trees as before, but we only allow Morse flowlines if an edge has labels L^1 on opposite sides for some L.

There are A_{∞} embeddings

$$\mathcal{F}uk^1(X) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{F}uk^{12}(X) \hookleftarrow \mathcal{F}uk^2(X)$$

defined by $L \mapsto L^1$, $L \mapsto L^2$ respectively.

Proposition 1.4.8.1. The objects L^1, L^2 are quasi-isomorphic, for any L.

Proof. The Piunikhin-Salamon-Schwarz isomorphism [41] gives isomorphisms on the level of cohomology,

$$HF^{*}(L^{1}, L^{2}) \cong HF^{*}(L^{2}, L^{1}) \cong HF^{*}(L^{2}, L^{2}) \cong H^{*}(L),$$

and says that the product

$$HF^{*}(L^{1}, L^{2}) \otimes HF^{*}(L^{2}, L^{1}) \to HF^{*}(L^{2}, L^{2})$$

agrees with the cup product on cohomology (note that the moduli spaces defining this product involve no holomorphic pearly trees, only disks).

In particular, if we choose morphisms

$$f_{12} \in CF^*(L^1, L^2)$$
, $f_{21} \in CF^*(L^2, L^1)$

corresponding to the identity in cohomology, then the PSS isomorphism tells us that the product

$$\mu^2(f_{21}, f_{12}) \in CF^*(L^2, L^2)$$

corresponds to the identity in cohomology. Thus, because $HF^*(L^1, L^1)$ and $HF^*(L^2, L^2)$ have the same rank (both are isomorphic to $H^*(L)$), the morphisms f_{12} and f_{21} induce isomorphisms on cohomology.

Thus, L^1 and L^2 are quasi-isomorphic, as required.

Corollary 1.4.8.2. The embeddings

$$\mathcal{F}uk^1(X) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{F}uk^{12}(X) \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{F}uk^2(X)$$

are quasi-equivalences, and in particular, the A_{∞} categories $\mathcal{F}uk^{1}(X)$ and $\mathcal{F}uk^{2}(X)$ are quasi-equivalent.

Proof. See [11, Section 10a].

1.5 Computation of A

The aim of this section is to prove Theorem 3, which identifies the cohomology algebra of \mathcal{A} as an exterior algebra, and Proposition 1.5.4.3, which gives a description of \mathcal{A} up to quasi-isomorphism.

The outline of the section is as follows: Section 1.5.1 gives a Morse-Bott description

of $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$. We define an A_{∞} category \mathcal{C} with two objects: one is the Lagrangian immersion $L^n : S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$, and the other is the Lagrangian immersion $L' : S^n \to \mathbb{CP}^n$ which is the double cover of the real locus \mathbb{RP}^n . The situation is analogous to that in Section 1.4.8, in which we explained why our Morse-Bott description of the Fukaya category using pearly trees was equivalent to the standard one using disks. Namely, we will define the A_{∞} structure maps so that the A_{∞} endomorphism algebra of L^n counts holomorphic disks as in Section 1.3.1, and in particular is the same as \mathcal{A} , while the A_{∞} endomorphism algebra of L' counts Morse-Bott objects which we call 'admissible flipping holomorphic pearly trees'.

Recall that one can think of a pearly tree as a degeneration of holomorphic disks, as the Hamiltonian part of the Floer datum for the pair (L, L) converges to 0 (see Remark 1.4.2.4). Similarly, one should think of L' as the limit of L_{ϵ}^{n} as $\epsilon \to 0$, i.e., the double cover of $\mathbb{RP}^{n} \subset \mathbb{CP}^{n}$ by S^{n} (recall that L_{ϵ}^{n} is constructed as the graph of an exact 2valued 1-form ϵdf in the cotangent disk bundle $D_{\eta}^{*}\mathbb{RP}^{n}$ embedded in \mathbb{CP}^{n}). One should think of a flipping holomorphic pearly tree as a degeneration of a holomorphic pearly tree with boundary on L_{ϵ}^{n} , in the limit $\epsilon \to 0$.

Because we wish to consider only holomorphic pearly trees which lie inside \mathcal{P}^n (i.e., do not intersect the boundary divisors), we must impose an additional condition ('admissibility') on our flipping holomorphic pearly trees. Thus, although the admissible flipping holomorphic pearly trees themselves may intersect the boundary divisors, they should be thought of as degenerations of holomorphic pearly trees which avoid the boundary divisors.

We show that, for sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$, the objects L' and L_{ϵ}^{n} of this A_{∞} category are quasi-isomorphic, and hence that we can compute $\mathcal{A} := CF^{*}(L_{\epsilon}^{n}, L_{\epsilon}^{n})$ up to quasiisomorphism by computing $\mathcal{A}' := CF^{*}(L', L')$.

In Section 1.5.2 we describe some features of pearly trees, which help us to explicitly

identify the moduli spaces of flipping holomorphic pearly trees that give the structure coefficients of \mathcal{A}' . This is possible because the pearls involved are just holomorphic disks in \mathbb{CP}^n with boundary on \mathbb{RP}^n (with some additional restrictions), hence well-understood.

In Section 1.5.3, we carry this out. In particular, we prove Theorem 3, which identifies the cohomology algebra of \mathcal{A}' (and hence \mathcal{A}) as an exterior algebra. We also identify certain higher A_{∞} structure maps of \mathcal{A}' .

Finally, in Section 1.5.4, we show that \mathcal{A}' is versal in the class of A_{∞} algebras with cohomology algebra the exterior algebra, and the equivariance and grading properties established in Section 1.3. This identifies \mathcal{A}' (and hence \mathcal{A}) up to quasi-isomorphism, in the sense that any A_{∞} algebra in the same class must be quasi-isomorphic to \mathcal{A} .

1.5.1 Flipping pearly trees

For the purposes of this section, we think of \mathbb{CP}^n as the hyperplane

$$\left\{\sum_{j} z_{j} = 0\right\} \subset \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^{n+1},$$

 \mathbb{RP}^n as its real locus, $L': S^n \to \mathbb{CP}^n$ the composition of the double cover of \mathbb{RP}^n with the inclusion $\mathbb{RP}^n \hookrightarrow \mathbb{CP}^n$, and $\{x_j\}$ the real coordinates on S^n . We define an A_∞ category \mathbb{C} with two objects: one is the Lagrangian immersion $L^n: S^n \to \mathcal{P}^n$, and the other is the Lagrangian immersion $L': S^n \to \mathbb{CP}^n$ just defined.

Definition 1.5.1.1. We define Floer data and morphism spaces for the pairs of objects $(L_0, L_1) = (L^n, L^n), (L^n, L')$ or (L', L^n) as in Definition 1.3.1.5.

Definition 1.5.1.2. The Floer datum for the pair (L', L') consists of **two** Morse functions on S^n : one is h, a function whose only critical points are a maximum $p_{[n+2]}$ and minimum p_{ϕ} . The other is f, the function constructed in Definition 1.2.2.3, which has critical points p_K for each proper, non-empty subset $K \subset [n+2]$, as shown in Corollary 1.2.2.11. Both, when paired with the standard round metric g on S^n , form a Morse-Smale pair. One then defines

$$CF^*(L',L') := CM^*(h) \oplus CM^*(f) \cong \bigoplus_{K \subset [n+2]} \mathbb{C}\langle p_K \rangle.$$

We equip it with the \mathbb{Q} -grading

$$i(p_K) := \frac{n}{n+2}|K|$$

(compare Corollary 1.3.3.2).

Remark 1.5.1.3. Given a complex volume form η on \mathcal{P}^n , we can define a \mathbb{Z} -grading on the morphism spaces $CF^*(L_0, L_1)$ as usual.

Definition 1.5.1.4. We call generators of $CF^*(L', L')$ corresponding to critical points of f flipping generators, and those corresponding to critical points of h non-flipping generators.

Definition 1.5.1.5. Suppose we are given a set of Lagrangian labels L, consisting only of the objects L' and L^n of \mathcal{C} . We define a pearly tree with labels L to be a pearly tree as in Definition 1.4.1.6, except that we only allow edges labeled L' (not L^n).

Definition 1.5.1.6. We define a perturbation datum (K, J, V) for the family of pearly trees as in Sections 1.4.3, 1.4.4, with one difference. Namely, the part of the perturbation datum V (associated to the edges, which all have label L') now consists of two components: the 'flipping component'

$$V^f \in C^{\infty}(S^e, \mathcal{V}_{S^n})$$

and the 'non-flipping component'

$$V^{nf} \in C^{\infty}(S^e, \mathcal{V}_{S^n}).$$

We require that

$$V^f = V^{nf} = 0$$

on an internal edge e of length $l_e \leq 1$, and

$$V^f = \nabla f$$
 and $V^{nf} = \nabla h$

on an external edge or an edge e of length $l_e \geq 2.$

Definition 1.5.1.7. (Compare Definition 1.4.3.2) Given a set of Lagrangian labels L and associated generators y, we define a flipping holomorphic pearly tree with labels y to consist of the following data:

- A designation of certain edges as **flipping** and the remaining edges as **non-flipping**, such that external flipping edges are labeled by flipping generators and external non-flipping edges are labeled by non-flipping generators. We call the marked points attached to flipping edges **flipping marked points** and those attached to non-flipping edges **non-flipping marked points**;
- A smooth map

$$u_e: S^e \to S^n$$

satisfying

 $Du_e - V^f = 0$ on flipping edges, and $Du_e - V^{nf} = 0$ on non-flipping edges;

• A smooth map

$$u_p: S^p \to \mathbb{CP}^n$$

satisfying

$$(Du_p - Y)^{0,1} = 0.$$

such that

 $u_p(C) \in \operatorname{im}(L_C)$ for each boundary component C of S^p with label L_C ;

• A lift \tilde{u}_C of the map $u_p|_C: C \to \operatorname{im}(L_C)$ to S^n ,



for each boundary component C with label L_C ,

satisfying the following conditions:

- \tilde{u}_C is continuous except at flipping marked points, where it changes sheets of the covering;
- We have

$$\tilde{u}^{\pm}(m(f)) = u_e(b(f))$$
 for all $f \in F^{\pm}(S)$,

where we denote by \tilde{u}^+ , respectively \tilde{u}^- , the right, respectively left, limit of \tilde{u} (this is necessary because \tilde{u} is discontinuous exactly at the flipping marked points), and where $F^+(S)$, respectively $F^-(S)$, denotes the subset of flags whose orientation agrees, respectively disagrees, with the orientation of the tree;

• The external edges are asymptotic to the generators y, in the same sense as in Definition 1.3.1.8.

Recall that \mathcal{P}^n is obtained from \mathbb{CP}^n by removing the divisor D which is the union of the divisors $D_j = \{z_j = 0\}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, n+2$. We wish to count only flipping holomorphic pearly trees that do not 'intersect' the divisors D_j . We now explain how to do this in a well-defined way. **Definition 1.5.1.8.** Given a flipping holomorphic pearly tree u as defined above, one obtains a well-defined homology class $[u] \in H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, L^n)$ as follows:

- Start with the continuous map $u: S \to \mathbb{CP}^n$ associated with the flipping holomorphic pearly tree.
- Glue a thin strip along the boundary of the flipping pearly tree (see Figure 1-1(a));
- If the boundary component or edge has label L^n , then it already gets mapped to L^n , so we map the strip into \mathbb{CP}^n by making it constant along its width.
- If the boundary component or edge has label L', then by construction, there is a continuous lift of the boundary of the strip to Sⁿ. Namely, it is given by the lift ũ_C along a boundary component C of a pearl with label L'; by a flowline of ∇f and its antipode along the boundary of a strip coming from a flipping edge; and by a flowline of ∇h on both sides of the boundary of a strip coming from a non-flipping edge.
- Thus, we can map the strip into \mathbb{CP}^n by letting it interpolate between the zero section and the graph of ϵdf in the Weinstein neighbourhood $D^*_{\eta}S^n$ used in the construction of L^n_{ϵ} . Thus, boundary components of the strip with label L' now lie on L^n_{ϵ} .

We now define the intersection number $\boldsymbol{u} \cdot D_j$ to be the topological intersection number of this class $[\boldsymbol{u}] \in H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, L^n)$ with $D_j \in H_{2n-2}(\mathbb{CP}^n)$. We say that a flipping holomorphic pearly tree \boldsymbol{u} is admissible if $\boldsymbol{u} \cdot D_j = 0$ for all j.

Proposition 1.5.1.9. Let \mathbf{u} be a flipping holomorphic pearly tree. Then the intersection numbers $\mathbf{u} \cdot D_j$ are non-negative. Furthermore, in nice situations they can be calculated: Suppose that the boundary lifts \tilde{u}_C of each boundary component C with label L' are transverse to the real hypersurface $D_j^{\mathbb{R}} \subset S^n$, and no flipping marked points lie on $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$. Then one can calculate $\mathbf{u} \cdot D_j$ by counting the usual intersection number for internal intersections of each pearl u_v with D_j (this is positive by positivity of intersections), +1 for each time a flipping edge of u crosses $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, and +1 for each time a boundary lift \tilde{u}_C crosses $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ in the negative direction.

Proof. We observe that the first statement follows from the second: in the transverse situation the intersection number is non-negative because the only contributions are positive. We can put ourselves in the transverse situation by making a small perturbation of the divisor D_j . Namely, define a 1-parameter family of divisors

$$D_j^t := \left\{ z_j + t \sum_k \alpha_k z_k = 0 \right\}$$

for $t \in [0, \delta]$, where $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\delta > 0$ is real and sufficiently small that the real part $(D_j^t)^{\mathbb{R}}$ remains transverse to the gradient vector field ∇f , and hence D_j^t avoids the Lagrangian L^n (by Lemma 1.2.2.2). We also make δ small enough that D_j^t avoids all other Lagrangian labels of the flipping holomorphic pearly tree. Therefore the intersection number $\boldsymbol{u} \cdot D_j^t$ remains constant, so we can compute $\boldsymbol{u} \cdot D_j$ by computing $\boldsymbol{u} \cdot D_j^{\delta}$. That D_j^{δ} can be made transverse to the boundary lifts \tilde{u}_C is an easy application of Sard's theorem. Furthermore, one can easily make D_j^{δ} avoid all marked points and critical points of pearls (since these are isolated).

Now we prove the second statement. Internal intersections of \boldsymbol{u} with D_j contribute the usual intersection number (which is positive by positivity of intersections, recalling that the almost-complex structure is standard near the divisors D_j). The other intersections happen near boundary components of \boldsymbol{u} with label L':

- If a flipping edge crosses D^R_j, one can see that the image of the surrounding strip under projection to the z_j plane looks like Figure 1-1(b), hence contributes +1 to the intersection number;
- If a non-flipping edge crosses $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, the image of the strip under projection to the z_j

plane looks like Figure 1-1(b) except that the strip gets folded in two, so that both edges get sent to the same sheet of L^n , and the contribution to the topological intersection number is 0;

- If a boundary lift \tilde{u}_C crosses $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ positively, the projection of the strip and nearby disk to the z_j plane looks like Figure 1-1(c) (the projection is a holomorphic map, which by assumption has no singularities near the divisor D_j , and its boundary crosses $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ positively, hence maps to the upper half plane in a neighbourhood of this point). There is a 'fold' along the real axis, and one can see that the contribution to the topological intersection number with D_j is 0;
- If a boundary lift \tilde{u}_C crosses $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ negatively, the projection of the strip and nearby disk to the z_j plane looks like Figure 1-1(d) (as before, because the disk is holomorphic, non-singular, and its boundary crosses $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ negatively, it must get sent to the lower half plane in a neighbourhood of this point). Thus the contribution to the topological intersection number with D_j is +1.

This completes the proof.

Corollary 1.5.1.10. In an admissible flipping holomorphic pearly tree, the flipping edges can not cross the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ and the boundary lifts can only cross $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ in the positive direction.

Definition 1.5.1.11. We define the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{S^{fpt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ of admissible flipping holomorphic pearly trees with asymptotic conditions \boldsymbol{y} , by analogy with Definition 1.3.1.8.

Remark 1.5.1.12. We remark that it follows from the proof of Proposition 1.5.1.9 that, if \boldsymbol{u} is an admissible flipping holomorphic pearly tree, then its homology class $[\boldsymbol{u}]$ can be represented by a smooth disk in \mathcal{P}^n with boundary on L^n . Namely, we perturb the divisors D_j to put ourselves in the transverse situation as described. The disk defining $[\boldsymbol{u}]$ can only intersect the divisors D_j when a boundary lift $\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_C$ crosses $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ in the positive





(a) Adding a strip to a flipping pearly tree, to define its homology class in $H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, L^n)$.

(b) Projection of the strip surrounding a flipping edge crossing the hypersurface $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ transversely, to the z_j plane. The topological intersection number with D_j (which corresponds to the point 0 in this projection, drawn as a solid circle) is +1.



(c) Projection of part of the disk and strip near a positive crossing of a boundary lift \tilde{u}_C with $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, to the z_j plane. There is a 'fold' along the real axis, so the topological intersection number with D_j is 0.



(d) Projection of part of the disk and strip near a negative crossing of a boundary lift \tilde{u}_C with $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, to the z_j plane. The topological intersection with D_j is +1.

Figure 1.5.1.1: Defining and calculating $\boldsymbol{u} \cdot D_j$.

direction. It is obvious from Figure 1-1(c) that the disk can be perturbed to avoid the divisor in this case.

It follows that admissible flipping pearly trees inherit any properties of holomorphic disks in \mathcal{P}^n with boundary on L^n that depend only on the topology. For example, the energy of an admissible flipping holomorphic pearly tree is given by the differences of symplectic action functionals of input and output generators, and in particular is constant in the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{Sfpt}(\boldsymbol{y})$. Furthermore, we can prove the following:

Proposition 1.5.1.13. Suppose that L is a set of Lagrangian labels and y an associated set of generators. Then, for generic choice of perturbation data, $\mathcal{M}_{S^{fpt}}(y)$ is a manifold of dimension

$$\dim(\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt}}(\boldsymbol{y})) = i(\boldsymbol{y}) + k - 2.$$

Proof. The proof follows that of Proposition 1.4.4.13 – we must construct charts from the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt}(T_S,B)}(\boldsymbol{y})$ for each (T_S,B) as in Definition 1.4.4.8, and glue the pieces $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt}(T_S,B)}(\boldsymbol{y}) \times (-\epsilon,\epsilon)^B$ together to obtain a manifold, using an analogue of Proposition 1.4.4.12.

The dimension is given by the index of the Fredholm operator used to cut out the moduli space. One might worry that the index theory of Cauchy-Riemann operators depends on a choice of holomorphic volume form η on \mathcal{P}^n , and our holomorphic pearls can intersect the boundary divisors D_j , where η is not defined. However, this is dealt with by Remark 1.5.1.12, which shows how to construct a smooth disk in \mathcal{P}^n with boundary on L^n , near any given admissible holomorphic flipping pearly tree. One can show that the Fredholm index of the operator cutting out the moduli space of flipping pearly trees is equal to the index of the pseudo-holomorphic curve equation on the nearby disk, which depends only on the homology class of the disk in \mathcal{P}^n relative to its Lagrangian boundary conditions. This is sufficient to prove the dimension formula.

Now observe that, when a new Morse edge with label L' is created as in Figure

1.4.1.2, there are two possibilities: either the lifts \tilde{u} of the two boundary components of the strip on the left are antipodes, in which case a flipping edge is created, or they coincide, in which case a non-flipping edge is created. With this convention, the gluing maps of Proposition 1.4.4.12 define boundary lifts \tilde{u}_C as well as the map u_p . They also preserve the homology class of Definition 1.5.1.8, and hence admissibility.

Definition 1.5.1.14. We define a stable flipping holomorphic pearly tree by analogy with the definition of stable pearly trees (Definition 1.4.5.4). The only difference is for edges of trees T with both sides labeled L': these can be broken Morse flowlines of f (for flipping edges) or h (for non-flipping edges). We define a stable admissible flipping holomorphic pearly tree to be a stable flipping holomorphic pearly tree, each component of which is admissible.

Remark 1.5.1.15. We observe that the admissibility condition rules out sphere bubbling in families of admissible flipping holomorphic pearly trees: any sphere bubble must have intersection number 0 with the divisors D_j by admissibility, and hence have trivial homology class. But then its symplectic area is 0, so it must be constant.

Proposition 1.5.1.16. The moduli space of stable admissible flipping holomorphic pearly trees has the structure of a compact manifold with corners.

Proof. As in Section 1.3.1, we run into the problem that we can not appeal to a Gromov compactness theorem for immersed Lagrangians. Furthermore, we can not bypass this problem by passing to the cover $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^n$ of \mathcal{P}^n defined in Corollary 1.3.2.3, as we did in Section 1.3.1, because the image of the Lagrangian immersion L' does not lie in \mathcal{P}^n . Even if we considered the corresponding branched cover of \mathbb{CP}^n (branched around the divisors D_j), the Lagrangian immersion L' would only lift to a piecewise smooth embedded Lagrangian, with 'edges' along the branching divisors D_j . Again, there is no Gromov compactness theorem that deals with piecewise smooth Lagrangians. Instead, consider the quadric

$$Q^{n} := \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{n+2} z_{j}^{2} = 0, \sum_{j=1}^{n+2} z_{j} = 0 \right\} \subset \mathbb{CP}^{n+2},$$

and the branched double cover

$$\rho: Q^n \rightarrow \mathbb{CP}^n$$

$$\rho([z_0:\ldots:z_{n+2}]) = [z_1:\ldots:z_{n+2}].$$

The cover is branched along the divisor

$$\widetilde{Q}^n := \left\{ \sum_j z_j^2 = 0 \right\} \subset \mathbb{CP}^n.$$

The real locus of Q^n in the affine chart $z_0 = i$ is the unit sphere S^n , and $\rho|_{S^n}$ is the double cover of the real locus \mathbb{RP}^n of \mathbb{CP}^n . It is well-known that there is a symplectomorphism

$$T^*S^n \to Q^n \setminus \{z_0 = 0\},\$$

sending the zero section to the real locus. This sends the radius- η disk bundle $D_{\eta}^*S^n$ to a neighbourhood of \mathbb{RP}^n , as in the construction of L^n (Section 1.2.2). Thus, the lifts of L^n and L' to $T^*S^n \subset Q^n$ are embedded. L^n lifts as the graphs of the exact one-forms $\pm \epsilon df$, and L' lifts to the zero section via the identity and via the antipodal map.

For any flipping holomorphic pearly tree $\boldsymbol{u} \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$, the topological intersection number $[\boldsymbol{u}] \cdot \widetilde{Q}^n$ depends only on the generators \boldsymbol{y} (compare Proposition 1.5.2.3). We can arrange that positivity of intersection with \widetilde{Q}^n holds in our moduli space, for appropriate choice of perturbation datum, and then each flipping holomorphic pearly tree in the moduli space intersects \widetilde{Q}^n some finite number of times, which is bounded above by the topological intersection number. Then the lifts of flipping holomorphic pearly trees $\boldsymbol{u} \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ to the branched cover Q^n are branched over some finite number of points, hence have bounded genus. Gromov compactness for curves with bounded genus and boundary (see, for example, [42, 43]) then implies that the lifted family has a convergent subsequence, which corresponds to a convergent subsequence downstairs.

This shows that a sequence of admissible flipping holomorphic pearly trees has a subsequence converging to a stable flipping holomorphic pearly tree whose intersection number with each divisor D_j is 0. The intersection number of the stable flipping holomorphic pearly tree with D_j is the sum of intersection numbers of each component flipping holomorphic pearly tree with D_j . Since these are all non-negative by Proposition 1.5.1.9, they must all be 0. Thus the limit stable flipping holomorphic pearly tree is also admissible, and we have proven compactness.

We define A_{∞} structure maps μ^k as in Section 1.4.7, by counting rigid flipping holomorphic pearly trees. The proof that they satisfy the A_{∞} associativity equations essentially follows that of Proposition 1.4.7.1. The proof that the A_{∞} product is Q-graded relies on Proposition 1.5.1.13.

Proposition 1.5.1.17. For sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$, the objects L' and L_{ϵ}^{n} are quasiisomorphic.

Proof. We observe that \mathbb{RP}^n and L^n_{ϵ} intersect transversely in the points p_K . Therefore we can choose the Hamiltonian component of the Floer datum for the pairs (L', L^n) and (L^n, L') to be 0. The morphism space $CF^*(L', L^n)$ is generated by pairs of points $(p,q) \in S^n \times S^n$ that get sent to the same point by the respective Lagrangian immersions defining L', L^n . Thus p is a critical point of f, and q is either equal to p or its antipode. As we saw in Corollary 1.2.2.11, there is a critical point p_K of f for each proper nonempty subset $K \subset [n+2]$. Therefore, we can label the generators of $CF^*(L', L^n)$ as $p_K^M := (p_K, p_K)$ and $p_K^S := (p_K, a(p_K))$ (M stands for 'Morse' because the generators p_K^M correspond to the Morse cohomology of L^n , and S stands for 'self-intersection' because
the generators p_K^S correspond to the self-intersections of L^n). So, additively,

$$CF^*(L', L^n) \cong CM^*_{\mathcal{M}}(f) \oplus CM^*_{\mathcal{S}}(f)$$

and similarly for $CF^*(L^n, L')$. One can check that the gradings of these generators are

$$i(p_K^S) = \frac{n}{n+2}|K|, \ i(p_K^M) = n - \mu_M(p_K) = n + 1 - |K|.$$

Now observe that we have natural inclusions

$$CM_M^*(f) \xrightarrow{\varphi_1} CF^*(L', L^n),$$

$$CM_M^*(f) \xrightarrow{\varphi_2} CF^*(L^n, L')$$

as graded vector spaces.

Lemma 1.5.1.18. For sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$, the inclusions φ_j are chain maps.

Proof. We first observe that, for sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$, the holomorphic strips

$$u: Z \to \mathbb{CP}^n$$

used to define the differential

$$\mu^1: CF^*(L', L^n) \to CF^*(L', L^n)$$

must remain entirely within the Weinstein neighbourhood $D_{\eta}^* \mathbb{RP}^n$ used in the construction of L_{ϵ}^n . To see why, suppose that u passes through some point p of distance $> \eta$ from \mathbb{RP}^n . Then for sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$, the ball $B(p; \eta/2)$ is disjoint from L_{ϵ}^n and L'. Therefore, by the monotonicity lemma (see [44, 3.15]), the symplectic area of the intersection of u with the ball $B(p; \eta/2)$ is at least $c(\eta/2)^2$ for some constant c. However, the symplectic area of u is given by the difference in symplectic actions of the generators (see Remark 1.5.1.12 and its sequel), which is proportional to ϵ and hence can be made arbitrarily small. Thus, for sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$, the strips never leave the Weinstein neighbourhood $D_{\eta}^* \mathbb{RP}^n$.

Now we observe that any strip u contributing to the differential on $CF^*(L', L^n)$ lifts to the double cover $D^*_{\eta}S^n \to D^*_{\eta}\mathbb{RP}^n$, because it comes equipped with a lift of one boundary component to S^n by definition. This lifted strip contributes to the differential

$$\mu^1: CF^*(S^n, \Gamma(\epsilon df)) \to CF^*(S^n, \Gamma(\epsilon df))$$

in the Fukaya category of T^*S^n . Conversely, any strip u contributing to the differential on $CF^*(S^n, \Gamma(\epsilon df))$ projects to a strip contributing to the differential on $CF^*(L', L_{\epsilon}^n)$. The only thing to check is that these projected strips are all admissible – for this one needs a certain amount of control on the topology of u. It was proven in [45, Proposition 9.8] that, given $\delta > 0$, there exists $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that for any strip contributing to the differential on $CF^*(S^n, \Gamma(\epsilon df))$, with $\epsilon < \epsilon_0$, there is a Morse flowline of f,

$$\gamma: \mathbb{R} \to S^n$$

such that

$$d(u(s,t),\gamma(\epsilon s)) < \delta$$
 for all s,t

Because Morse flowlines of f cross the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ positively, it follows from Proposition 1.5.1.9 that all such strips are admissible.

It follows that the inclusion

$$CF^*(S^n, \Gamma(\epsilon df)) \hookrightarrow CF^*(L', L^n)$$

(where the left hand side is a morphism space in the Fukaya category of T^*S^n and the right hand side is a morphism space in the Fukaya category of \mathcal{P}^n as we have defined it) is a chain map. Now the Lagrangians S^n , $\Gamma(\epsilon df)$ in T^*S^n are Hamiltonian isotopic, hence quasi-isomorphic in the Fukaya category of T^*S^n . So there is a quasi-isomorphism

$$CF^*(S^n, \Gamma(\epsilon df)) \cong CF^*(S^n, S^n) \cong CM^*(f)$$

(the second quasi-isomorphism comes from Proposition 1.4.7.3). Thus, there is a chain map

$$CM^*_M(f) \cong CF^*(S^n, S^n) \cong CF^*(S^n, \Gamma(\epsilon df)) \hookrightarrow CF^*(L', L^n)$$

as required.

Now consider the elements

$$f_1 \in CF^*(L^n, L'), \quad f_2 \in CF^*(L', L^n)$$

that correspond to the identity in $CM^*_M(S^n)$. Explicitly,

$$f_1 = \sum_{j=1}^{n+2} p^M_{\{j\}}$$

(and the same for f_2).

Lemma 1.5.1.19. For sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$, we have

$$\mu^1(f_j) = 0 \text{ for } j = 1, 2, \text{ and}$$

 $\mu^2(f_1, f_2) = p_{\phi} \in CF^*(L', L')$

Proof. The fact that $\mu^1(f_j) = 0$ follows from Lemma 1.5.1.18. We now prove that $\mu^2(f_1, f_2) = p_{\phi}$.

Observe that $i(f_1) = i(f_2) = 0$, so $i(\mu^2(f_1, f_2)) = 0$. Therefore, p_{ϕ} is the only term that can appear in the product $\mu^2(f_1, f_2)$. Its coefficient is the signed count of points



Figure 1.5.1.2: The flipping holomorphic pearly trees whose count gives the coefficient of p_{ϕ} in $\mu^2(f_1, f_2)$. The solid circle denotes a non-flipping point. The upper half of the boundary gets sent to L^n , and the lower half to L'.

in the moduli space of flipping holomorphic pearly trees which are holomorphic strips running between some intersections $p_{\{j\}}^M$ and $p_{\{k\}}^M$ of L^n and L', with one marked point on the boundary labeled L' which gets sent to p_{ϕ} (see Figure 1.5.1.2). As we saw in the proof of Lemma 1.5.1.18, such strips must lie inside the Weinstein neighbourhood $D_{\eta}^* \mathbb{RP}^n$, and lift canonically to the double cover $D_{\eta}^* S^n$. The lift is a holomorphic pearly tree contributing to the product

$$\mu^2: CF^*(\Gamma(\epsilon df), S^n) \otimes CF^*(S^n, \Gamma(\epsilon df)) \to CF^*(S^n, S^n).$$

Conversely, by the same argument as in the proof of Lemma 1.5.1.18, any holomorphic pearly tree contributing to this product projects to an admissible flipping holomorphic pearly tree contributing to the product $\mu^2(f_1, f_2)$.

It now follows from the quasi-isomorphisms (in the Fukaya category of T^*S^n)

$$CF^*(S^n, \Gamma(\epsilon df)) \cong CF^*(S^n, S^n) \cong CF^*(\Gamma(\epsilon df), S^n)$$

and

 $CF^*(S^n, S^n) \cong CM^*(S^n)$

that, on the level of cohomology,

$$[\mu^2(f_1, f_2)] = [p_\phi]$$

(product of identity with identity is identity in $CM^*(S^n)$). But $CF^0(L', L')$ has only the single generator p_{ϕ} , so we have

$$\mu^2(f_1, f_2) = p_\phi$$

as required.

Because $CF^*(L', L')$ and $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ have the same rank (by Corollary 1.3.1.11), it follows that f_1 and f_2 induce mutually inverse isomorphisms on the level of cohomology, and therefore are mutually inverse quasi-isomorphisms in the category \mathcal{C} . This completes the proof that L' and L^n are quasi-isomorphic, for sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$.

1.5.2 Properties of the A_{∞} algebra $\mathcal{A}' := CF^*(L', L')$

We define the A_{∞} algebra $\mathcal{A}' := CF^*(L', L')$. It follows from Proposition 1.5.1.17 that \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' are quasi-isomorphic A_{∞} algebras. Henceforth we will only be concerned with computing the A_{∞} structure of \mathcal{A}' . In particular, we will assume that our flipping holomorphic pearly trees have all boundary components labeled L'.

Lemma 1.5.2.1. If u is an admissible flipping holomorphic pearly tree with associated morphisms $\mathbf{y} = (p_{K_0}, \ldots, p_{K_k})$, then

$$\sum_{j=1}^k e_{K_j} = e_{K_0}$$

 $in \ M.$

Proof. The proof is identical to that of Proposition 1.3.2.4, since the proof relies only

on the homology class $[\boldsymbol{u}] \in H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, L^n)$, which is determined by the admissibility condition.

Lemma 1.5.2.2. \mathcal{A}' inherits the following properties of \mathcal{A} :

- It is T-equivariant in the same sense as in Corollary 1.3.2.5, by Lemma 1.5.2.1;
- It has the Q-grading given by n/(n+2) times the normal Z-grading, as in Corollary 1.3.3.2;
- As a consequence of these two properties, it satisfies the analogue of Corollary 1.3.3.3, namely the only non-zero A_∞ products are μ^{2+nq} for q ∈ Z_{≥0};
- It satisfies the analogues of Corollaries 1.3.4.4 and 1.3.4.5 (regarding signs and supercommutativity).

We now establish some results about flipping holomorphic pearly trees which will be used in Section 1.5.3 to identify the moduli spaces that give rise to the A_{∞} structure coefficients of \mathcal{A}' .

Proposition 1.5.2.3. For $K \subset [n+2]$, define

$$|K|' = \begin{cases} \frac{n+2}{2} & K = \phi, [n+2] \\ |K| & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

If \boldsymbol{u} is an admissible flipping holomorphic pearly tree with labels $\boldsymbol{y} = (p_{K_0}, \ldots, p_{K_k})$, then the homology class of \boldsymbol{u} in $H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, \mathbb{RP}^n) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ is given by the formula

$$d_{u} = 2 \frac{|K_{0}|' - \sum_{j=1}^{k} |K_{j}|'}{n+2} + k - 1.$$

Proof. Note that the Fubini-Study symplectic form ω acts on $H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, \mathbb{RP}^n)$, with value 2π on the generator. It follows that

$$\omega(\boldsymbol{u}) = 2\pi d_{\boldsymbol{u}},$$

so we can compute d_u by computing $\omega(u)$.

Recall that we add a strip to \boldsymbol{u} to obtain a disk $\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}} : (D, \partial D) \to (\mathbb{CP}^n, L^n)$. Note that the symplectic area of the strip we add is $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$. So we can compute $\omega(\boldsymbol{u})$ by evaluating $\omega(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})$ in the limit $\epsilon \to 0$.

The Fubini-Study form is given by the Kähler potential

$$\rho = \log\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n+2} \left|\frac{z_j}{z_1}\right|^2\right) = \log\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n+2} e^{2r_j}\right) - 2r_1$$

on $\mathbb{CP}^{n+1} \setminus D_1$, where $z_j = \exp(r_j + i\theta_j)$. Thus

$$\omega = dd^c \rho,$$

(recall that $d^c \rho = d\rho \circ J$), so we define

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha &= d^{c}\rho \\ &= \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n+2} 2e^{2r_{j}}d^{c}r_{j}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n+2} e^{2r_{j}}} - 2d^{c}r_{1} \\ &= -2\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n+2} e^{2r_{j}}d\theta_{j}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n+2} e^{2r_{j}}} + 2d\theta_{1}. \end{aligned}$$

Then $\omega = d\alpha$. Of course this is really $\pi^* \alpha$, where $\pi : \mathbb{C}^{n+2} - \{0\} \to \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^{n+1}$ is the projection.

Because $\tilde{u} \cdot D_1 = 0$ by admissibility, we can deform \tilde{u} to avoid D_1 then apply Stokes' theorem to obtain

$$\int_{\partial D} \tilde{u}^* \alpha = \int_D \tilde{u}^* \omega.$$

Now recall the lift of L^n to \mathbb{C}^{n+2} that arose in the construction of L^n , namely

$$\begin{cases} \sum_{j=1}^{n+2} x_j^2 = 1, \sum_{j=1}^{n+2} x_j = 0 \\ (x_1, \dots, x_{n+2}) & \mapsto \quad (x_1 + i\epsilon f_1, \dots, x_{n+2} + i\epsilon f_{n+2}) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2). \end{cases}$$

We can lift ∂D to \mathbb{C}^{n+2} (the result will not be a cycle, because when ∂D changes sheets of L^n the lift stops and reappears at the antipode). Call the lift l. Then

$$\int_{\partial D} \alpha = \int_{\pi * l} \alpha = \int_{l} \pi^* \alpha.$$

Observe that on the lift of L^n , $d\theta_k$ is small everywhere except for when r_k is small, and when r_k is small then

$$\frac{e^{2r_k}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n+2} e^{2r_j}}$$

is small. Thus the first term in $\pi^* \alpha$ is negligible. So

$$\int_{l} \pi^* \alpha = \int_{l} 2d\theta_1 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon).$$

The projection of the lift of the point p_K to the angular variables is πe_K (now thought of as living in $\widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{R}}$ rather than $M_{\mathbb{R}}$). Thus, as the lift of ∂D travels from p_{K_i} to $p_{\bar{K}_{i+1}}$, the contribution to the integral is (to order ϵ)

$$\int_{p_{K_j}}^{p_{\bar{K}_{j+1}}} 2d\theta_1 = 2\pi e_1 \cdot \left(e_{\bar{K}_{j+1}} - e_{K_j} \right).$$

An exception occurs when K_j (respectively \bar{K}_{j+1}) = ϕ or [n+2], in which case p_{K_j} (respectively $p_{\bar{K}_{j+1}}$) represents the bottom or top cohomology class of L^n , so ∂D does not change sheets of L^n as it passes through p_{K_j} (respectively $p_{\bar{K}_{j+1}}$). In this case we should simply replace $e_1 \cdot (e_{K_j})$ (respectively $e_1 \cdot (e_{\bar{K}_{j+1}})$) in the expression above by 0. For the moment, assume that $K_j \neq \phi$ or [n+2]. Adding up and regrouping the contributions of each part of ∂D , and recalling that p_{K_0} is the 'outgoing' point, we obtain:

$$\int_{\partial D} \alpha = 2\pi e_1 \cdot \left(e_{K_0} - e_{\bar{K}_0} + \sum_{j=1}^k e_{\bar{K}_j} - e_{K_j} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$$

= $2\pi \left(2e_1 \cdot \left(e_{K_0} - \sum_{j=1}^k e_{K_j} \right) + k - 1 \right) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$
= $2\pi \left(2\frac{|K_0| - \sum_{j=1}^k |K_j|}{n+2} + k - 1 \right) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$

(in the last step we used the fact that the vector is a multiple of $e_{[n+2]}$ by Proposition 1.3.2.4).

Now if $K_j = \phi$ or [n+2], recall that we must replace $e_1 \cdot (e_{\bar{K}_j} - e_{K_j})$ by 0 in the first two lines above. This is equivalent to replacing $|K_j|$ by $|K_j|'$ in the final line. This completes our proof.

Definition 1.5.2.4. Given an admissible flipping holomorphic pearly tree, it is useful to label certain points on its boundary with proper, non-empty subsets of [n + 2], as follows: At each flipping marked point, the boundary immediately before and after the point get sent (by the lift \tilde{u} of the boundary) to antipodal points of $S^n \setminus D^{\mathbb{R}}$. Thus they lie in the antipodal regions $S_K^n, S_{\bar{K}}^n$ respectively, for some $K \subset [n + 2]$ (recall that S_K^n is defined to be the region where $x_j < 0$ for $j \in K$ and $x_j > 0$ for $j \notin K$). We will ignore the case where a flipping marked point lies on some $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, but it presents no real additional problem in our subsequent arguments. We label the point immediately before our flipping marked point with K, and the point immediately after with \bar{K} . Non-flipping marked points do not get labels.

Remark 1.5.2.5. We observe that, because of the condition that Morse flowlines do not cross the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ (by Corollary 1.5.1.10), the labels at opposite ends of an internal flipping Morse flowline are identical. Furthermore, at a flipping marked point connected by an incoming edge to the flipping generator p_K , the label immediately before is K and the label immediately after is \overline{K} . Also, by Corollary 1.5.1.10, the boundary lifts can only cross the hypersurfaces positively. So as we follow the boundary around anti-clockwise between two adjacent flipping marked points, the label at the beginning of the segment contains (not necessarily strictly) the label at the end of the segment. Suppose the pearl corresponding to vertex v of the underlying tree has degree $d_v \in$ $H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, \mathbb{RP}^n) \cong \mathbb{Z}$. Then it must intersect $D_j d_v$ times, and none of the intersections can be internal by admissibility, so the boundary lift must intersect $D_j^{\mathbb{R}} d_v$ times. It follows that

$$\sum_{j \bmod k_v} e_{\bar{K}_{j-1}} - e_{K_j} = d_v e_{[n+2]}$$

in \widetilde{M} , where K_1, \ldots, K_{k_v} are the labels given to the points immediately before the flipping points (traversing the boundary of the pearl in positive direction) on the pearl corresponding to v. It follows quickly that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k_v} e_{K_j} = \frac{k_v - d_v}{2} e_{[n+2]}$$

for each pearl. Figure 1.5.2.1 shows a possible labeling of a flipping holomorphic pearly tree.

Remark 1.5.2.6. We will choose the almost-complex structure component of our perturbation data to be equal to the standard integrable complex structure J_0 , and the Hamiltonian perturbation to be identically 0. Then the pearls in a flipping holomorphic pearly tree with labels L' are holomorphic disks with boundary on \mathbb{RP}^n , hence they can be 'doubled' to a holomorphic sphere by the Schwarz reflection principle. It follows from [40, Proposition 7.4.3] that the moduli space of holomorphic spheres in \mathbb{CP}^n , in a given homology class, is automatically regular. The moduli space of pearls is the real part of the moduli space of spheres, hence also regular. It follows that for every



Figure 1.5.2.1: An example of a legal labeling of a flipping holomorphic pearly tree, which might contribute to the coefficient of p_{ϕ} in the A_{∞} product $\mu^7(p_{\{1\}}, \ldots, p_{\{7\}})$. We have illustrated a simple case, in which all external flowlines are constant because the points $p_{\{j\}}$ are maxima of the Morse function f. The external label '1' means the set $\{1\}$, while ' $\overline{1}$ ' means the complement $\{2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7\}$. The big label '1' in the middle of a pearl means that the pearl has degree 1.

 $(r, \boldsymbol{u}) \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$, the linearized operator

$$D^{h}_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt},r,\boldsymbol{u}}:T_{(r,\boldsymbol{u})}\left(\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt}}\right)\to (\mathcal{E}_{S_{r}})_{\boldsymbol{u}}$$

of Definition 1.4.4.4 is automatically surjective. Thus, to show that a moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt}}(\boldsymbol{y})$ of flipping holomorphic pearly trees is regular, we need only check that the evaluation map

$$ev: \ker(d_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt}}) \to T_u\left((S^n)^{F(S)}\right)$$

is surjective at each $(r, u) \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt}}(y)$. Note that $\ker(d_{\mathcal{S}^{fpt}})$ is the space of holomorphic pearls and Morse flowlines, without the constraint $ev(u) \in \Delta^S$.

Definition 1.5.2.7. The following notation will be useful. If K_1, \ldots, K_k are disjoint subsets of [n+2], we define

$$F_{K_1,K_2,...,K_k} := \{ x \in S^n : x_l = x_m \text{ for all } l, m \in K_i, \text{ for all } i \}.$$

Remark 1.5.2.8. Observe that

 $F_{K,\bar{K}} = \{p_K, p_{\bar{K}}\}.$

As we saw in Lemma 1.2.2.12, the unstable manifold $\mathcal{U}(K)$ of p_K is an open subset of $F_{\bar{K}}$, and the stable manifold $\mathcal{S}(K)$ is an open subset of F_K .

1.5.3 Computation of \mathcal{A}'

In this section we compute the A_{∞} structure of \mathcal{A}' .

First, we observe that the analogue of Corollary 1.3.3.5 holds for \mathcal{A}' . I.e., $\mu^1 = 0$ and the only possibly non-zero μ^2 products are

$$\mu_{\mathcal{A}'}^2(p_{K_1}, p_{K_2}) = a'(K_1, K_2)p_{K_1 \sqcup K_2}$$

for disjoint K_1, K_2 . The proof is exactly the same, using the corresponding properties of \mathcal{A}' given in Lemma 1.5.2.2.

Proposition 1.5.3.1. We have

$$a'(K_1, K_2) = \pm 1.$$

Proof. Let $K_3 := \overline{K_1 \sqcup K_2}$, so $K_1 \sqcup K_2 \sqcup K_3 = [n+2]$. If any of K_1, K_2, K_3 are ϕ or [n+2], the result is easy as the corresponding holomorphic disks are constant. If that is not the case, then $a'(K_1, K_2)$ is given by a count of flipping holomorphic pearly trees. The homology class of such a flipping holomorphic pearly tree is

$$\left(2\frac{|K_1 \sqcup K_2|' - |K_1|' - |K_2|'}{n+2} + 2 - 1\right) = 1$$

by Proposition 1.5.2.3. Therefore the corresponding flipping holomorphic pearly tree has two incoming and one outgoing legs, and a single pearl with the homology class of half of a line in \mathbb{CP}^n with boundary on \mathbb{RP}^n .

The real part of such a pearl is a line. Thus, $a'(K_1, K_2)$ counts lines passing through

the unstable manifolds $\mathcal{U}(K_1)$, $\mathcal{U}(K_2)$, $\mathcal{U}(K_3)$. Recall from Lemma 1.2.2.12 that the unstable manifolds $\mathcal{U}(K_i)$ are contained in the linear spaces $F_{\bar{K}_i}$ (see Definition 1.5.2.7).

Given points $p_1 \in F_{\bar{K}_1}$ and $p_2 \in F_{\bar{K}_2}$, the line through p_1 and p_2 is contained in the linear space $F_{\bar{K}_1 \cap \bar{K}_2} = F_{K_3}$. This space intersects $F_{\bar{K}_3}$ transversely at p_{K_3} . Therefore there is a unique line (namely F_{K_1,K_2,K_3}) that intersects $\mathcal{U}(K_1)$, $\mathcal{U}(K_2)$, $\mathcal{U}(K_3)$ (at p_{K_1} , p_{K_2} , p_{K_3} respectively), and the intersections are transverse so the flipping holomorphic pearly tree is regular.

We check that it is admissible, using Proposition 1.5.1.9. Firstly, the Morse flowlines are constant at the p_{K_i} , hence do not cross the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$. Secondly, the boundary lifts as

$$p_{K_1} \rightsquigarrow p_{K_2 \sqcup K_3} \to p_{K_2} \rightsquigarrow p_{K_1 \sqcup K_3} \to p_{K_3} \rightsquigarrow p_{K_1 \sqcup K_2} \to p_{K_1}$$

where \rightarrow denotes a straight line connecting two points and \rightsquigarrow denotes changing sheet. This lift clearly crosses all hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$ positively (since the label at the beginning of a straight line always contains the label at the end), so the flipping holomorphic pearly tree is admissible and regular.

Thus
$$a'(K_1, K_2) = \pm 1$$
 as required.

We are now in a position to prove Theorem 1. It is implied by the following:

Theorem 3. The cohomology algebra of \mathcal{A} is

$$H^*(\mathcal{A}) \cong \Lambda^* \widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{C}}$$

as \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded associative \mathbb{C} -algebras. The isomorphism is given by

$$p_K \mapsto \sigma_K \bigwedge_{j \in K} e_j,$$

for some sign $\sigma_K = \pm 1$.

Proof. We define a homomorphism of \mathbb{C} -algebras from the tensor algebra of $\widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{C}}$ to the cohomology algebra of \mathcal{A} , by

$$\begin{split} \bigoplus_{k=1}^{\infty} (\widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{C}})^{\otimes k} &\to H^*(\mathcal{A}), \\ e_j &\mapsto p_{\{j\}} \text{ for all } j \in [n+2]. \end{split}$$

By Corollary 1.3.4.5, this descends to a homomorphism

$$\Lambda^* \widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{C}} \to H^*(\mathcal{A}).$$

It follows from Proposition 1.5.3.1 that the elements $p_{\{j\}}$ generate the algebra $H^*(\mathcal{A}')$, and hence the corresponding elements generate $H^*(\mathcal{A})$, by Proposition 1.5.1.17. Therefore this homomorphism is surjective, so because both sides have the same rank it must be an isomorphism.

Now we consider the next non-trivial A_{∞} product in \mathcal{A}' , μ^{n+2} . We aim to compute

$$\mu^{n+2}(p_{\{\sigma(1)\}},\ldots,p_{\{\sigma(n+2)\}}),$$

where σ is a permutation of [n + 2] (these are the important products to compute in order to apply deformation theory, because they determine the deformation class of the A_{∞} structure (see Section 1.5.4).

Proposition 1.5.3.2. In \mathcal{A}' , we have

$$\mu^{n+2}(p_{\{\sigma(1)\}},\ldots,p_{\{\sigma(n+2)\}})=\pm p_{\phi},$$

for exactly one permutation σ of [n+2]. For all other permutations, the result is 0. A different choice of the point p_{ϕ} (the minimum of the Morse function h) will lead to a different permutation σ .

Proof. First, note that p_{ϕ} is the only term that can appear in this product, for grading reasons (Corollary 1.3.3.2).

Note also that $\mathcal{U}(p_{\{j\}}) = \{p_{\{j\}}\}$ and $\mathcal{S}(p_{\phi}) = \{p_{\phi}\}$, so the external gradient flowlines of the flipping holomorphic pearly trees contributing to the coefficient of p_{ϕ} in this product are constant. We split the proof into two parts: counting the flipping holomorphic pearly trees with a single 'pearl' (we show that these give the desired answer) and proving that there are no 'multiple-pearl trees' contributing to the product.

For the first part, Proposition 1.5.2.3 shows that a disk contributing to this product must have degree n. By pairing such a disk with its conjugate we obtain a degree-ncurve through the n + 3 points $p_{\{1\}}, \ldots, p_{\{n+2\}}, p_{\phi}$. It is a classical theorem of Veronese that there is a unique rational normal curve through n + 3 generic points in \mathbb{CP}^n . A constructive proof is given in [46, p. 10]. We just need to check that this curve satisfies the conditions required for the definition of an admissible flipping holomorphic pearly tree – namely, the curve should be real, and its real part should admit a lift to S^n which changes sheet at each point $p_{\{j\}}$ and crosses the hypersurfaces $D_k^{\mathbb{R}}$ positively.

By the construction in [46], we can parametrize our curve as $u: \mathbb{CP}^1 \to \mathbb{CP}^n$,

$$u(z) := \begin{pmatrix} n+1 & -1 & \dots & -1 \\ -1 & n+1 & \dots & -1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -1 & -1 & \dots & n+1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} (z-\nu_1)^{-1} \\ (z-\nu_2)^{-1} \\ \vdots \\ (z-\nu_{n+2})^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} \frac{n+1}{z-\nu_1} - \sum_{j\neq 1} \frac{1}{z-\nu_j} : \frac{n+1}{z-\nu_2} - \sum_{j\neq 2} \frac{1}{z-\nu_j} : \dots : \frac{n+1}{z-\nu_{n+2}} - \sum_{j\neq n+2} \frac{1}{z-\nu_j} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Observe that this curve has degree n: if we clear denominators, the leading coefficients z^{n+1} in all factors cancel, leaving polynomials of degree n. Furthermore, we have

$$u(\nu_j) = [-1:-1:\ldots:n+1:\ldots:-1] = p_{\{j\}}.$$

We choose the ν_j so that $u(0) = p_{\phi}$, i.e.,

$$\begin{pmatrix} n+1 & -1 & \dots & -1 \\ -1 & n+1 & \dots & -1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -1 & -1 & \dots & n+1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \nu_1^{-1} \\ \nu_2^{-1} \\ \vdots \\ \nu_{n+2}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} = p_{\phi}.$$

Note that this parametrization automatically gives a lift of the boundary \mathbb{RP}^1 to $\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}$ and hence to S^n . Furthermore, the parametrization changes sheets exactly at the flipping points ν_j , because the sign of the dominant term $(z - \nu_j)^{-1}$ changes there. We just have to check that it crosses all of the real hypersurfaces $D_k^{\mathbb{R}}$ positively. This is true because if

$$\frac{n+1}{z-\nu_k} - \sum_{j\neq k} \frac{1}{z-\nu_j} = 0,$$

then the derivative

$$-\frac{n+1}{(z-\nu_k)^2} + \sum_{j \neq k} \frac{1}{(z-\nu_j)^2} > 0$$

by the quadratic-arithmetic mean inequality (alternatively one can graph the function).

Thus, the two halves of this curve are the only disks that can contribute to such a product, and only one passes through p_{ϕ} (the other has the opposite lift of the boundary, hence passes through the antipode of p_{ϕ}). The permutation σ is determined by the ordering of the coordinates of the chosen point p_{ϕ} .

It is clear from our construction that this pearl is regular. Namely, because we have exhibited a construction of a degree-*n* curve through n + 3 arbitrary generic points in \mathbb{RP}^n , if we fix all boundary points $p_{\{j\}}, p_{\phi}$ except for one, then the evaluation map at the remaining point is transverse to the point.

Now we proceed with the second part of the proof, namely showing that multiplepearl trees do not contribute. Suppose we have a contribution from a multiple-pearl tree.



Figure 1.5.3.1: Part of a multiple-pearl tree that may contribute to μ^{n+2} . The label 'j' on a marked point means that marked point gets mapped to $p_{\{j\}}$, while the big label 'k' in the middle of the pearl means that pearl has degree k.

The tree must contain a pearl with exactly one internal edge attached. Without loss of generality it has input flipping generators $p_{\{1\}}, \ldots, p_{\{k+1\}}$ and a single Morse flowline attached at point q, as shown in Figure 1.5.3.1 (it may also have the 'output' point p_{ϕ} on its boundary, but whether it does or not is irrelevant to the following argument). If q is non-flipping then it follows from Remark 1.5.2.5 that k = n + 1, so this is not a multiple-pearl tree. If q is flipping, then it follows by Remark 1.5.2.5 that it has degree k, where we assume k < n.

Any degree-k curve in \mathbb{CP}^n is contained in a linear subspace of dimension k (this can be proved by induction on n: choose any k + 1 points on the curve and a hyperplane through those points, then the hyperplane intersects the degree-k curve in more than k points so the curve is contained in the hyperplane by Bezout's Theorem). In our case, there is a unique dimension-k linear subspace through the points $p_{\{1\}}, \ldots, p_{\{k+1\}}$, namely $F_{\overline{[k+1]}}$ (to clarify: $\overline{[k+1]} = \{k+2, \ldots, n+2\}$).

Therefore our pearl is a degree-k curve in a k-dimensional projective space, so by the first half of the argument, the evaluation map at q runs over an open subset of $F_{\overline{[k+1]}}$.

But this subspace is preserved by the Morse flow of f, by the equivariance of f with respect to the S_{n+2} action. Hence the Morse flow at q is parallel to the evaluation map, so the evaluation map at p_{ϕ} has dimension (at least) 1 less than expected. Thus, for a generic choice of p_{ϕ} , the moduli space will be empty.

Thus the only contributions to the product come from the single-pearl tree, which gives the advertised result. $\hfill \Box$

Remark 1.5.3.3. We observe that the final argument, in which we showed that multiplepearl flipping holomorphic pearly trees do not contribute to the product, remains true even if we make a small change in our perturbation data: observe that, by Remark 1.5.2.5, q lies in the region $S_{[k+1]}^n$. If we perturb the holomorphic curve equation by a small amount, the perturbed evaluation map at q can be made arbitrarily C^0 -close to the unperturbed one. Thus, the image of the perturbed evaluation map at q is contained in an arbitrarily small open neighbourhood of $F_{[k+1]} \cap S_{[k+1]}^n$.

Now the Morse flowline emanating from q remains inside the region $S_{[k+1]}^n$, since flipping flowlines cannot cross the hypersurfaces by Corollary 1.5.1.10. But $F_{\overline{[k+1]}} \cap S_{[k+1]}^n$ is exactly the intersection of the unstable manifold of $p_{[k+1]}$ with $S_{[k+1]}^n$, so the flowline remains inside an arbitrarily small open neighbourhood of $F_{\overline{[k+1]}} \cap S_{[k+1]}^n$. Given that, for generic p_{ϕ} , the evaluation map at the other end of the Morse flowline misses $F_{\overline{[k+1]}}$, it also misses a sufficiently small neighbourhood of it. Therefore, for a sufficiently small perturbation, the moduli space remains empty:

1.5.4 Versality of \mathcal{A}'

We aim to prove Theorem 2 by applying the techniques of [9, Section 3], in the equivariant setting. All our conventions on signs and gradings are taken from that paper. We review some necessary definitions and results.

Definition 1.5.4.1. Consider the \mathbb{Q} -graded algebra

$$A := \Lambda^*\left(\widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{C}}\right),$$

where the grading is given by n/(n+2) times the normal (Z-)grading. Define an action of the character group of M,

$$\mathbb{T} := \operatorname{Hom}(M, \mathbb{C}^*),$$

on A by

$$\alpha \cdot e := \alpha(e)e.$$

Let $\mathfrak{A}(A)$ denote the set of \mathbb{Q} -graded, \mathbb{T} -equivariant A_{∞} -algebras with underlying graded vector space A, $\mu^1 = 0$ and

$$\mu^2(a_2, a_1) = (-1)^{|a_1|} a_2 \wedge a_1.$$

Proposition 1.5.4.2. Recall that the (\mathbb{T} -equivariant) Hochschild cohomology of A is given by the Hochschild-Kostant-Rosenberg isomorphism [47]:

$$HH^{s+t}(A,A)^{t,\mathbb{T}} \cong \bigoplus_{\frac{2}{n+2}s+\frac{n}{n+2}j=s+t} \left(Sym^s(\widetilde{M}^{\vee}_{\mathbb{C}}) \otimes \Lambda^j\left(\widetilde{M}^{\vee}_{\mathbb{C}}\right)\right)^{\mathbb{T}}.$$

For d > 2, we have

$$HH^{2}(A,A)^{2-d,\mathbb{T}} = \begin{cases} \mathbb{C} \cdot W & \text{for } d = n+2\\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where $W = z_1 \dots z_{n+2} = z^{e_{[n+2]}}$ is the superpotential of the mirror, viewed as an element of the symmetric tensor product $Sym^{n+2}(\widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\vee})$. *Proof.* Suppose we have a generator

$$z^a \bigwedge_{k \in K} e_k \in HH^2(A, A)^{2-d, \mathbb{T}}.$$

Here $a \in \widetilde{M}_{\geq 0}^{\vee}$, $K \subset [n+2]$ and $d = \deg(z^a) > 2$. T-equivariance simply says that

$$a = e_K + q e_{[n+2]}$$

for some $q \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ (here we identify \widetilde{M}^{\vee} with \widetilde{M} in the natural way). To lie in HH^2 we must have

$$2 = \frac{2}{n+2} \deg(z^{a}) + \frac{n}{n+2} |K|$$

= $\frac{2}{n+2} (|K| + q(n+2)) + \frac{n}{n+2} |K|$
= $|K| + 2q.$

Now we have

$$2 < d = \deg(z^a) = |K| + (n+2)q = 2 + nq,$$

hence q > 0. Therefore, we must have $K = \phi, q = 1$ and $a = e_{[n+2]}$. Thus the generator is $z^a = W$.

Proposition 1.5.4.3. \mathcal{A}' is a versal element of $\mathfrak{A}(A)$, in the sense of a \mathbb{T} -equivariant version of [9, Lemma 3.2], with deformation class $\pm W \in HH^2(A, A)^{-n,\mathbb{T}}$. In particular, any element of $\mathfrak{A}(A)$ with the same deformation class is quasi-isomorphic to \mathcal{A}' .

Proof. The fact that \mathcal{A}' lies in $\mathfrak{A}(A)$ follows from our previous results, namely Lemma 1.5.2.2:

- $\mu^1 = 0$ as the only non-zero A_{∞} products are μ^{2+nq} for $q \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$;
- the underlying algebra is A (Theorem 3);

- the grading on A is n/(n+2) times the usual grading;
- it is equivariant with respect to the action of \mathbb{T} .

The fact that \mathcal{A}' is versal follows from the results:

- $\mu^k = 0$ for 2 < k < n + 2 (by the analogue of Corollary 1.3.3.3);
- The first non-trivial higher product μ^{n+2} satisfies

$$\mu^{n+2}(e_1, \dots, e_{n+2}) = \pm 1$$

(without loss of generality) but is 0 on all other permutations of the generators e_i (Proposition 1.5.3.2). Therefore the deformation class of \mathcal{A}' in $HH^2(A, A)^{-n}$ is given (by the HKR isomorphism) by

$$\mu^{n+2}(\boldsymbol{z},\ldots,\boldsymbol{z})=\pm z_1\ldots z_{n+2}=\pm W(z),$$

where $\boldsymbol{z} = \sum_{j} z_{j} e_{j}$. Combining this with Proposition 1.5.4.2 gives the result.

1.6 Matrix factorizations

We now consider the other side of mirror symmetry. Recall (from the Introduction) that the putative mirror to \mathcal{P}^n is the Landau-Ginzburg model (Spec(R), W), where

$$R := \mathbb{C}\left[\widetilde{M}\right]$$
$$W = z^{e_{[n+2]}}.$$

Observe that there is a natural action of \mathbb{T} on R that preserves W (recall $\mathbb{T} := \text{Hom}(M, \mathbb{C}^*)$).

Also recall (from the Introduction) that the *B*-model on (Spec(R), W) is given by the triangulated category of singularities of $W^{-1}(0)$, which is quasi-equivalent (by [12, Theorem 3.9]) to the category MF(R, W) of matrix factorizations of W. The object corresponding to our Lagrangian L^n is the skyscraper sheaf at the origin,

$$\mathcal{O}_0 \in D^b_{\operatorname{Sing}}(W^{-1}(0)).$$

Henceforth, we work entirely in the category MF(R, W). We abuse notation, and denote also by \mathcal{O}_0 the matrix factorization corresponding to \mathcal{O}_0 under the above quasi-equivalence.

To prove Theorem 2, we must show that the differential \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra of endomorphisms of \mathcal{O}_0 ,

$$\mathcal{B} := \operatorname{Hom}_{MF(R,W)}^*(\mathcal{O}_0, \mathcal{O}_0),$$

is quasi-isomorphic to \mathcal{A} .

It is explained in [25] how to compute a minimal A_{∞} model for the endomorphism algebra of \mathcal{O}_0 . That paper focuses on the case where W has an isolated singularity at 0, which is certainly not true in our case, but the computation of the minimal A_{∞} model does not rely on this assumption. We briefly review the construction, explaining how the T-action enters the picture.

The matrix factorisation corresponding to \mathcal{O}_0 is the Koszul resolution of \mathcal{O}_0

$$R\otimes \Lambda^*\widetilde{M}$$

with the deformed differential

$$\delta := \iota_u + v \wedge \cdot$$

where

$$u = \sum_{j=1}^{n+2} z_j \theta_j^{\vee} \in R \otimes \Lambda^* \widetilde{M}^{\vee}$$
$$v = \sum_{j=1}^{n+2} a_j \frac{W}{z_j} \theta_j \in R \otimes \Lambda^* \widetilde{M}$$

where $\{\theta_j\}$ is a relabeling of the canonical basis for \widetilde{M} , $\{\theta_j^{\vee}\}$ is the dual basis of \widetilde{M}^{\vee} , and a_j are numbers adding up to 1. Alternatively, we can write this matrix factorisation as

$$(R\langle \theta_1,\ldots,\theta_{n+2}\rangle,\delta),$$

where

$$\delta = \sum_{j} z_{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{j}} + a_{j} \frac{W}{z_{j}} \theta_{j}.$$

The endomorphism algebra of \mathcal{O}_0 is the algebra

$$R \otimes \Lambda^* \widetilde{M}^{\vee} \otimes \Lambda^* \widetilde{M}.$$

This can be thought of as the commutative algebra of differential operators

$$\mathcal{B} := R \left\langle \theta_1, \dots, \theta_{n+2}, \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_1}, \dots, \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{n+2}} \right\rangle$$

with the differential given by $d = [\delta, -]$. One can check that

$$\begin{aligned} &d(\theta_j) &= z_j \\ &d\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_j}\right) &= a_j \frac{W}{z_j}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus the cohomology algebra $H^*(\mathcal{B}, d)$ is generated by the elements

$$ar{\partial}_j := rac{\partial}{\partial heta_j} - a_j rac{W}{z_j z_k} heta_k$$

for some $k \neq j$ (this is proven in [25] by constructing an explicit homotopy contracting \mathcal{B} onto the subcomplex generated by the $\bar{\partial}_j$). The generators $\bar{\partial}_j$ supercommute, so the cohomology algebra can be naturally identified with

$$A = \Lambda^*(\widetilde{M}_{\mathbb{C}})$$

via

 $\bar{\partial}_j \mapsto e_j.$

This proves that

$$H^*\left(\operatorname{Hom}^*_{MF(R,W)}(\mathcal{O}_0,\mathcal{O}_0)\right)\cong\Lambda^*\mathbb{C}^{n+2}$$

as \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded associative \mathbb{C} -algebras.

We observe that the action of \mathbb{T} extends in the natural way to \mathcal{B} , and that δ is invariant under the action of \mathbb{T} , so the differential algebra structure of \mathcal{B} is \mathbb{T} -equivariant.

Furthermore, observe that if we assign \mathbb{Q} -gradings

$$|z_j| = \frac{2}{n+2}, \ |\theta_j| = -\frac{n}{n+2}, \ \left|\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta^j}\right| = \frac{n}{n+2},$$

then the product structure on \mathcal{B} respects the grading (because $|\theta_j| + |\partial/\partial\theta_j| = 0$), and the differential on \mathcal{B} has degree $|\delta| = +1$. Therefore (\mathcal{B}, d) is a T-equivariant differential $(\mathbb{Q}$ -)graded algebra. Observe that the grading on the cohomology algebra A is n/(n+2)times the usual one, as

$$|\bar{\partial}_j| = \frac{n}{n+2}$$

In [25, Section 4], it is shown how to construct a homotopy contracting \mathcal{B} onto its cohomology, and hence (via the homological perturbation lemma) a minimal A_{∞} model for \mathcal{B} . The homotopy used is manifestly T-equivariant in our setting (see [25] to check this), so the resulting minimal model is also T-equivariant. Furthermore, the homotopy has degree 0 with respect to the grading introduced above, so the Q-grading is preserved under the perturbation lemma construction (in the sense that the A_{∞} product μ^k has degree 2 - k with respect to this grading). Thus we obtain a T-equivariant, Q-graded minimal A_{∞} model for \mathcal{B} , which we shall denote by \mathcal{B}' . It is clear from our discussion that \mathcal{B}' satisfies the necessary conditions to lie in $\mathfrak{A}(A)$.

Proposition 1.6.0.4. \mathcal{B}' is a versal element of $\mathfrak{A}(A)$, in the same \mathbb{T} -equivariant sense as in Proposition 1.5.4.3. It has the same deformation class as \mathcal{A}' .

Proof. The fact that \mathcal{B}' lies in $\mathfrak{A}(A)$ follows from the preceding discussion. The fact that \mathcal{B}' is versal with the same deformation class as \mathcal{A}' follows from the results:

- μ^k = 0 for 2 < k < n + 2 because of the grading and T-equivariance (exactly as in Corollary 1.3.3.3);
- The first non-trivial higher product μ^{n+2} satisfies

$$\mu^{n+2}(e_1, \dots, e_{n+2}) = \pm 1$$

for an appropriate choice of contracting homotopy h (see [25, Theorem 4.8]) but is 0 on all other permutations of the generators e_j (by similar computations – one can show that only one tree gives a non-zero contribution to such a product). Therefore the deformation class of \mathcal{B}' in $HH^2(A, A)^{-n}$ is given (by the HKR isomorphism) by

$$\mu^{n+2}(\boldsymbol{z},\ldots,\boldsymbol{z})=\pm z_1\ldots z_{n+2}=\pm W(z),$$

where $\boldsymbol{z} = \sum_{j} z_{j} e_{j}$.

Combining this with Propositions 1.5.4.2 and 1.5.4.3 gives the result.

Corollary 1.6.0.5. There are quasi-isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{A} \cong \mathcal{A}' \cong \mathcal{B}' \cong \mathcal{B}$$

In particular, Theorem 2 is proved.

Proof. That $\mathcal{A} \cong \mathcal{A}'$ follows from Proposition 1.5.1.17. That $\mathcal{A}' \cong \mathcal{B}'$ follows from Propositions 1.5.4.3 and 1.6.0.4, by a T-equivariant version of [9, Lemma 3.2]. That $\mathcal{B}' \cong \mathcal{B}$ follows by construction.

Chapter 2

Homological mirror symmetry for Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces in projective space

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Mirror symmetry context

The mirror symmetry phenomenon was discovered by string theorists. In its original form, it dealt with Calabi-Yau Kähler manifolds. On such a manifold, one can define symplectic invariants (the 'A-model') and complex invariants (the 'B-model'). Broadly, mirror symmetry says that there exist pairs of manifolds (M, N) such that the A-model on M is equivalent to the B-model on N, and vice versa.

The closed-string version of the A-model is encoded in Gromov-Witten invariants (the quantum cohomology ring), and the closed-string version of the B-model is encoded in period integrals of the holomorphic volume form. Mirror symmetry first came to the attention of mathematicians in 1991, when Candelas, de la Ossa, Green and Parkes [48] applied it to make predictions about rational curve counts on the quintic three-fold M. They constructed a manifold N which ought to be mirror to M, and computed the closed-string B-model on N. Assuming mirror symmetry to hold, this allowed them to predict the closed-string A-model on M, from which they extracted rational curve counts. This closed-string version of mirror symmetry was proven by Givental for Calabi-Yau (and Fano) complete intersections in toric varieties in 1996 [49, 50].

In the meantime, Kontsevich had introduced the open-string version of mirror symmetry, called the Homological Mirror Symmetry conjecture [3] in 1994. He proposed that the A-model should be encoded in the Fukaya category, and the B-model should be encoded in the category of coherent sheaves. Then if M and N are mirror Calabi-Yaus, there should be an equivalence of the Fukaya category of M with the category of coherent sheaves on Y (on the derived level). Complete or partial proofs of homological mirror symmetry for Calabi-Yau varieties are known for elliptic curves [4, 5], abelian varieties [6] (see [7] for the case of the four-torus), Strominger-Yau-Zaslow dual torus fibrations [51], and the quartic K3 surface [9].

In this paper we consider a smooth Calabi-Yau hypersurface $M^n \subset \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$, and its (predicted) mirror N^n . Our main result is to prove one direction of homological mirror symmetry: we prove that there is an equivalence of triangulated categories between the split-closed derived Fukaya category of M^n and the bounded derived category of coherent sheaves on N^n (see Theorem 4 for the precise statement). M^3 is the elliptic curve considered by Polishchuk and Zaslow, M^4 is the quartic surface considered by Seidel, and M^5 is the quintic three-fold. We remark that Nohara and Ueda have also considered the case of the quintic three-fold [52], using the results of Seidel [9] and our earlier paper [1].

In future work [53], we will extend this result to the case of Fano hypersurfaces in projective space, and we plan also to consider the case of hypersurfaces of general type.

2.1.2 Statement of the main result

First let us introduce the coefficient rings of the categories we will be considering.

Definition 2.1.2.1. We define the **universal Novikov ring** Λ_0 , whose elements are formal sums

$$\psi(r) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_j r^{\lambda_j},$$

where $c_j \in \mathbb{C}$, and $\lambda_j \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ is an increasing sequence of non-negative reals such that

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \lambda_j = \infty.$$

It is a valuation ring whose value group is \mathbb{R} . Its field of fractions is the **universal** Novikov field

$$\Lambda := \Lambda_0[r^{-1}].$$

We denote the maximal ideal by $\mathfrak{m} \subset \Lambda_0$.

Definition 2.1.2.2. Given an element $\psi \in \mathbb{C}[[r]]$ such that $\psi(0) \neq 0$, we obtain an automorphism

$$f_{\psi}: \Lambda \rightarrow \Lambda$$
, such that
 $f_{\psi}(r) = r\psi(r).$

If \mathcal{C} is a Λ -linear category, and ψ such an element, we define a new Λ -linear category $\psi \cdot \mathcal{C}$: it is the same category as \mathcal{C} , but the Λ -vector space structure of the morphism spaces is changed via f_{ψ} . We say that $\psi \cdot \mathcal{C}$ is obtained from \mathcal{C} via a **change of variables** in the Novikov field.

Now we introduce the relevant categories.

Definition 2.1.2.3. On the symplectic side, let $M^n \subset \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$ be a smooth hypersurface of degree n. M^n is an (n-2)-dimensional Calabi-Yau. The Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M^n)$ (as defined in [54]) is a \mathbb{Z} -graded Λ -linear A_{∞} category. The split-closed derived Fukaya category $D^{\pi}\mathcal{F}(M^n)$ (see [11, Section I.4]) is a Λ -linear triangulated category. We remark that the Fukaya category is a symplectic invariant (up to A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism), so it does not matter which smooth hypersurface M^n we choose.

Definition 2.1.2.4. On the algebraic side, we define

$$w_{nov} := u_1 \dots u_n + r \sum_{j=1}^n u_j^n \in \Lambda[u_1, \dots, u_n].$$

We set $\widetilde{N}_{nov}^n := \{w_{nov} = 0\} \subset \mathbb{P}_{\Lambda}^{n-1}$. We equip \widetilde{N}_{nov}^n with the action of a finite group. Observe that the group

$$\tilde{\Gamma}_n^* := (\mathbb{Z}_n)^n / (1, 1, \dots, 1)$$

acts on $\mathbb{P}^{n-1}_{\Lambda}$ by multiplying the homogeneous coordinates u_j by nth roots of unity (we

include the '*' for consistency with later notation). We have a homomorphism

$$\tilde{\Gamma}_n^* \to \mathbb{Z}_n,$$

given by summing the coordinates. We denote the kernel of this homomorphism by Γ_n^* . Note that the action of Γ_n^* preserves \widetilde{N}_{nov}^n , so Γ_n^* acts on \widetilde{N}_{nov}^n . We define

$$N_{nov}^n := \widetilde{N}_{nov}^n / \Gamma_n^*.$$

We consider the bounded derived category of coherent sheaves on N_{nov}^n , which is

$$D^{b}Coh(N_{nov}^{n}) := D^{b}\left(Coh^{\Gamma_{n}^{\star}}\left(\widetilde{N}_{nov}^{n}\right)\right).$$

It is a triangulated category over Λ .

Theorem 4. If $n \ge 5$, then there exists a power series $\psi \in \mathbb{C}[[r]]$, $\psi(0) = \pm 1$, and an equivalence of Λ -linear triangulated categories

$$D^{\pi}\mathcal{F}(M^n) \cong \psi \cdot D^bCoh(N^n_{nov}).$$

In fact, we will see that $\psi \in \mathbb{C}[[r^n]] \subset \mathbb{C}[[r]]$.

Remark 2.1.2.5. The requirement that $n \ge 5$ can be removed without difficulty, but would require some ad-hoc arguments in the cases n = 3 and n = 4. We prefer to leave these to the reader, as they distract from the main flow of the argument.

We remark that the reference [54], in which the full Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M^n)$ is defined, and one of the results we use in the proof of Theorem 4 is proven (we have stated it as Theorem 8), is still in preparation. This is not an ideal situation, but we reassure the reader that this paper is written with minimal reliance on [54]. Let us explain what we mean. We rigorously define a version of the Fukaya category called the 'relative' Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M^n, \mathbf{D})$. It is an A_{∞} category defined over some coefficient ring R, and there are natural homomorphisms of \mathbb{C} -algebras

$$R \to \mathbb{C}[[r]] \hookrightarrow \Lambda.$$

We also define a certain category of matrix factorizations, denoted by $p_1^*MF^G(S, w)$, which is a differential graded category over the same coefficient ring R. We introduce full subcategories

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \subset \mathcal{F}(M^n, \boldsymbol{D}), \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \subset \boldsymbol{p}_1^* M F^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S, w),$$

and prove (without reference to [54]) that there exists $\psi \in R$ and an A_{∞} equivalence

$$\psi \cdot \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \cong \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}.$$

For a more precise statement, see Theorem 5. Using a theorem of Orlov relating matrix factorizations to coherent sheaves, we show that there is an equivalence

$$D^{b}Coh(N_{nov}^{n}) \cong \operatorname{Ho}\left(\boldsymbol{p}_{1}^{*}MF^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S,w)\otimes_{R}\Lambda\right)$$

(the 'Ho' on the right-hand side denotes the homotopy category of a differential graded category), and the full subcategory $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \otimes_R \Lambda$ generates. It follows that we have a fully faithful embedding

$$\psi \cdot D^b Coh(N^n_{nov}) \hookrightarrow D^b\left(\mathcal{F}(M^n, \boldsymbol{D}) \otimes_R \Lambda\right).$$

We can come to this point without reference to [54], but no further.

In Section 2.8, we make the assumption (Assumption 2.8.1.1) that there is a fully faithful embedding

$$\mathcal{F}(M^n, \mathbf{D}) \otimes_R \Lambda \hookrightarrow \mathcal{F}(M^n),$$

where $\mathcal{F}(M^n)$ is defined as in [54]. We justify this assumption 'heuristically', and show that the full subcategory

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_R \Lambda \subset \mathcal{F}(M^n)$$

split-generates, by applying the split-generation criterion Theorem 8 (also due to [54]). This completes the proof of Theorem 4.

In the rest of this section, we give an overview of the main techniques introduced in the rest of the paper, and how they are used to prove Theorem 4. We will make a few imprecise statements and definitions, in the interest of giving the reader the correct intuitive picture.

2.1.3 Affine and relative Fukaya categories

Let M be a Kähler manifold, with a tuple $\mathbf{D} = (D_1, \ldots, D_k)$ of smooth, ample, irreducible divisors with normal crossings. In this paper, we consider three versions of the Fukaya category: the affine Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus \mathbf{D})$, the relative Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$, and the full Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M)$.

First let us describe the affine Fukaya category. It is closely related to the exact Fukaya category of the exact symplectic manifold $M \setminus D$, as defined by Seidel in [11], but it has a more interesting grading structure.

First we explain the objects of the affine Fukaya category. If P is a symplectic manifold, we denote by $\mathcal{G}P \to P$ the Lagrangian Grassmannian, whose fibre over $p \in P$ is the space of Lagrangian subspaces of T_pP . Any smooth Lagrangian immersion $i: L \to P$ comes with an associated lift $i_*: L \to \mathcal{G}P$. We define an **anchored Lagrangian brane** $L^{\#}$ in P to be a Lagrangian immersion $i: L \to P$, together with a lift



where $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}P$ is the universal cover of the total space of $\mathcal{G}P$, together with a choice of Pin structure on L. The terminology comes from [55], where a closely-related concept is studied.

We define the objects of the affine Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus D)$ to be compact, exact, embedded, anchored Lagrangian branes in $M \setminus D$. The category is \mathbb{C} -linear, and morphism spaces and A_{∞} structure maps are defined in exactly the same way as in the exact Fukaya category of the exact symplectic manifold $M \setminus D$. Namely, the morphism spaces are

$$CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(M\setminus D)}(L_0, L_1) := \bigoplus_{p \in L_0 \cap L_1} \mathbb{C} \cdot p$$

(with appropriate modifications to allow for non-transverse intersection of L_0 with L_1). The A_{∞} structure map

$$\mu^{s}: CF^{*}\left(L_{s-1}, L_{s}\right) \otimes \ldots \otimes CF^{*}\left(L_{0}, L_{1}\right) \to CF^{*}\left(L_{0}, L_{s}\right)$$

is defined by counting rigid holomorphic disks with s + 1 boundary punctures in $M \setminus D$. Namely, the coefficient of p_0 in $\mu^s(p_s, \ldots, p_1)$ is given by the signed count of rigid holomorphic disks

$$u: \mathbb{D} \setminus \{\zeta_0, \ldots, \zeta_s\} \to M \setminus D,$$

sending the *j*th boundary component to Lagrangian L_j , and asymptotic at puncture ζ_j to intersection point p_j . However, we treat the grading differently.

To start with, we equip each morphism space with a grading in the abelian group $H_1(M \setminus D)$. The A_{∞} structure maps respect this grading, essentially because if there

is a holomorphic disk contributing to some A_{∞} product in $M \setminus D$, then its boundary is nullhomologous in $M \setminus D$. Gradings of this type have appeared in, for example, [20, 1].

Remark 2.1.3.1. Another way of defining this grading (following [55]) would be to equip M with a basepoint $q \in M \setminus D$, and define an object of the Fukaya category to be a Lagrangian $L \subset M \setminus D$, equipped with a path from q to a point $q_L \in L$, inside $M \setminus D$. Then, given an intersection point $p \in L_0 \cap L_1$, which by definition is a generator of $CF^*(L_0, L_1)$, we can define a class in $H_1(M \setminus D)$: start from q and follow the path from q to q_{L_0} , then follow a path in L_0 to the intersection point p, then follow a path in L_1 to q_{L_1} , then follow the path back to q. The class of this path in $H_1(M \setminus D)$ defines the grading of p.

Secondly, if we were given a quadratic complex volume form on $M \setminus D$, we could define a \mathbb{Z} -grading of the morphism spaces (as in [11]). This defines a $\mathbb{Z} \oplus H_1(M \setminus D)$ -graded category. However, this formulation is unsatisfactory: the \mathbb{Z} -grading and H_1 -grading are related. For example, changing the quadratic volume form has the effect of changing the $\mathbb{Z} \oplus H_1$ grading by an automorphism preserving the H_1 factor. We really want a new notion of grading.

In Section 2.2, we define a grading datum G to be an abelian group Y together with a morphism $f : \mathbb{Z} \to Y$. We say that an A_{∞} category is G-graded if its morphism spaces are Y-graded, and the A_{∞} structure map μ^s has degree f(2-s). We also study the deformation theory of G-graded A_{∞} algebras and categories, and prove various classification results about them.

In Section 2.3.1, we introduce a grading datum G(M, D) associated to $M \setminus D$, as follows: we consider the fibre bundle $\mathcal{G}(M \setminus D)$, with the associated fibration

$$\mathcal{G}_p(M \setminus D) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}(M \setminus D) \to M \setminus D.$$

Taking the abelianization of the associated exact sequence of homotopy groups, we obtain

an exact sequence

$$H_1(\mathcal{G}_p(M \setminus D)) \to H_1(\mathcal{G}(M \setminus D)) \to H_1(M \setminus D).$$

We observe that $\mathcal{G}_p(M \setminus D)$ is the Lagrangian Grassmannian of the symplectic vector space T_pM , so $H_1(\mathcal{G}_p(M \setminus D)) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ (see [56]). Thus we can define the grading datum G(M, D) to be given by the first morphism in this exact sequence. We show that the affine Fukaya category is naturally G(M, D)-graded. Observe that the second map in the exact sequence gives the $H_1(M \setminus D)$ -grading mentioned earlier.

Next, we introduce the relative Fukaya category, denoted $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ (following [57, 9]). Its objects are exactly the same as those of $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus \mathbf{D})$: compact, exact, embedded, anchored Lagrangian branes in $M \setminus \mathbf{D}$. It is defined over the coefficient ring

$$R(M, \boldsymbol{D}) := \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \ldots, r_k]],$$

a power series ring with one generator for each divisor. We will often write R instead of R(M, D) when no confusion is possible. We define morphism spaces by

$$CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(M,\mathcal{D})}(L_0,L_1) := \bigoplus_{p \in L_0 \cap L_1} R \cdot p.$$

The A_{∞} structure maps μ^s count rigid boundary-punctured holomorphic disks in M. Namely, the coefficient of p_0 in $\mu^s(p_s, \ldots, p_1)$ is given by a signed count of rigid holomorphic disks

$$u: \mathbb{D} \setminus \{\zeta_0, \ldots, \zeta_s\} \to M$$

with boundary and asymptotic conditions as before. Each such disk u contributes a term

$$r^{u \cdot D} := r_1^{u \cdot D_1} \dots r_k^{u \cdot D_k} \in R,$$

where $u \cdot D_j$ denotes the topological intersection number of u with D_j . We observe that
$u \cdot D_j \ge 0$ by positivity of intersection, so indeed the coefficients lie in R.

 $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ is still a $\mathbf{G}(M, \mathbf{D})$ -graded category, but we remark that the coefficient ring R must have a non-trivial grading for this to be true. For example, consider the $H_1(M \setminus \mathbf{D})$ -grading that we mentioned earlier. It is no longer true that a holomorphic disk u contributing to an A_{∞} product μ^s has nullhomologous boundary in $M \setminus \mathbf{D}$, because the disk now maps into M, not $M \setminus \mathbf{D}$ as it did for the affine Fukaya category. However, if we remove small balls surrounding each intersection point of u with a divisor D_j , then the resulting surface defines a homology in $M \setminus \mathbf{D}$ between the boundary of u and a collection of meridian loops around the divisors. Thus, if we define the $H_1(M \setminus \mathbf{D})$ grading of the generator $r_j \in R$ to be the class of a meridian loop around divisor D_j , then the A_{∞} structure respects the H_1 -grading. Of course there remains more to check to show that $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ is $\mathbf{G}(M, \mathbf{D})$ -graded, but this is the basic idea – the details can be found in Section 2.5.

We observe that the zeroth-order part of $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ defines an A_{∞} category over \mathbb{C} , in which a holomorphic disk $u : \mathbb{D} \to M$ contributes to μ^s only if $u \cdot D_j = 0$ for all j. This corresponds to counting only holomorphic disks which avoid the divisors \mathbf{D} , i.e., which lie in $M \setminus \mathbf{D}$. By definition, this corresponds to the affine Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus \mathbf{D})$. We therefore say that $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ is a $\mathbf{G}(M, \mathbf{D})$ -graded deformation of $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus \mathbf{D})$ over $R(M, \mathbf{D})$.

Finally, we recall the definition of the full Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M)$, as in [24, 54], where M is a Calabi-Yau symplectic manifold. Its objects are graded spin Lagrangians $L \subset M$. It is linear over the Novikov field Λ . Its morphism spaces are \mathbb{Z} -graded Λ -vector spaces (where Λ has degree $0 \in \mathbb{Z}$), defined by

$$CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(M)}(L_0, L_1) := \bigoplus_{p \in L_0 \cap L_1} \Lambda \cdot p.$$

The A_{∞} structure maps are defined by signed counts of rigid boundary-punctured holo-

morphic disks $u : \mathbb{D} \to M$ as before. Each such disk u contributes a term $r^{\omega(u)} \in \Lambda$ to the corresponding coefficient of μ^s .

If we define the ring homomorphism

$$\begin{array}{rcl} R &
ightarrow & \Lambda & & & \\ r_j & \mapsto & r \mbox{ for all } j, & & \end{array}$$

then Λ becomes an *R*-algebra. We expect that there is a fully faithful embedding of \mathbb{Z} -graded Λ -linear A_{∞} categories,

$$\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}) \otimes_R \Lambda \to \mathcal{F}(M).$$

We do not rigorously establish that such an embedding exists, so we state this as Assumption 2.8.1.1, and give some justification in Remark 2.8.1.2.

We summarize the properties of the three versions of the Fukaya category in the following table:

Notation	Affine: $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus D)$	Relative: $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$	Full: $\mathcal{F}(M)$
Objects	Eq. branes $L^{\#}$ in $M \setminus D$	Same as for $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus D)$	Graded, Spin $L \subset M$
Coefficients	C	$R(M, \boldsymbol{D})$	Λ
Morphisms	$\mathbb{C}\langle L_0 \cap L_1 \rangle$	$R\langle L_0\cap L_1\rangle$	$\Lambda \langle L_0 \cap L_1 \rangle$
Grading	$\boldsymbol{G}(M, \boldsymbol{D}) ext{-} ext{graded}$	$\boldsymbol{G}(M, \boldsymbol{D}) ext{-}\mathrm{graded}$	\mathbb{Z} -graded (if M is C-Y)
A_{∞} maps μ^s	$#\{u: \mathbb{D} \to M \setminus D \text{ hol.}\}$	$#\{u: \mathbb{D} \to M \text{ hol.}\},\$	$#\{u: \mathbb{D} \to M \text{ hol.}\},\$
		with $r^{u \cdot D} \in R$	with $r^{\omega(u)} \in \Lambda$

$$\mathcal{F}(M \setminus D) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{G}(M, \mathbf{D}) \text{-graded deformation}} \mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}) \xrightarrow{\otimes_{R} \Lambda} \mathcal{F}(M).$$

2.1.4 The *B*-model mirror to the affine, relative and full Fukaya categories

We define the smooth Calabi-Yau Fermat hypersurface

$$M^{n} := \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{n} z_{j}^{n} = 0 \right\} \subset \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^{n-1},$$

with ample divisors $D_j := \{z_j = 0\}$ for j = 1, ..., n. In this section, we will introduce the *B*-models which ought to be mirror to $\mathcal{F}(M^n \setminus D)$, $\mathcal{F}(M^n, D)$, and $\mathcal{F}(M^n)$.

We define the power series ring

$$R := \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \ldots, r_n]],$$

which is the coefficient ring of $\mathcal{F}(M^n, D)$. We define the *R*-algebra

$$S:=R[u_1,\ldots,u_n],$$

and equip it with the \mathbb{Z} -grading so that R is concentrated in degree 0, and each u_j has degree 1. We define the element

$$w = u_1 \dots u_n + \sum_{j=1}^n r_j u_j^n \in S,$$

of degree n.

Now note that $\operatorname{Proj}(S) = \mathbb{P}_R^{n-1}$. We consider the variety

$$\widetilde{N}^n := \{w = 0\} \subset \mathbb{P}_R^{n-1},$$

and equip it with the action of Γ_n^* , exactly as we did for \widetilde{N}_{nov}^n in Definition 2.1.2.4, then

define

$$N^n := \tilde{N}^n / \Gamma_n^*.$$

We note that the algebraic torus

$$\mathbb{T} := \{ (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n) \in (\mathbb{C}^*)^n : \lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n = 1 \}$$

acts on S, by sending

$$\begin{array}{rcl} u_j & \mapsto & \lambda_j u_j, \\ \\ r_j & \mapsto & \lambda_j^{-n} r_j. \end{array}$$

This action preserves w, and commutes with the action of Γ_n^* , and therefore defines an action of \mathbb{T} on N^n .

We note that there are homomorphisms

$$\mathbb{C} \leftarrow R \to \Lambda,$$

given by

$$0 \leftrightarrow r_i \mapsto r$$

for all j. Hence, by base change, we obtain

$$N_0^n \longrightarrow N^n \longleftrightarrow N_{nov}^n$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Spec}(R) \xleftarrow{} \operatorname{Spec}(\Lambda).$$

We call N^n the **total space** of the family over Spec(R), we call N_0^n the **special fibre**, and N_{nov}^n the **generic fibre**. We observe that this N_{nov}^n coincides with the definition given in Definition 2.1.2.4. We expect mirror relationships as follows:

Coefficients	$\mathbb C$	R	Λ
B-model	$\operatorname{Perf}(N_0^n)$	$\operatorname{Perf}(N^n)$	$Coh(N_{nov}^n)$
A-model	$\mathcal{F}(M^n \setminus D)$	$\mathcal{F}(M^n, D)$	$\mathcal{F}(M^n)$

(however note that we do **not** necessarily claim to prove all of these equivalences – this table is included to assist the reader in seeing the 'big picture').

Note that the map from R to \mathbb{C} is naturally \mathbb{T} -equivariant. Thus, we can define \mathbb{T} equivariant sheaves on N_0^n and N^n . However it is impossible to equip Λ with a \mathbb{T} -action
so that the map $R \to \Lambda$ is \mathbb{T} -equivariant, so we can not talk about \mathbb{T} -equivariant sheaves
on N_{nov}^n .

We expect that T-equivariant sheaves correspond to anchored Lagrangian branes. Namely, we have seen that the morphism spaces between anchored Lagrangian branes admit a grading in the group $H_1(M^n \setminus D)$, and hence an action of its character group. In this case, there is a natural isomorphism

Hom
$$(H_1(M^n \setminus D), \mathbb{C}^*) \cong \mathbb{T}$$
,

and we expect the mirror correspondences in the above table to be \mathbb{T} -equivariant (excluding the last column). In fact, we expect something stronger: they should be equivalences of G-graded categories.

In [1, Theorem 7.4], we proved that there is a fully faithful, T-equivariant embedding

$$\operatorname{Perf}(N_0^n) \hookrightarrow D^b \mathcal{F}(M^n \setminus \boldsymbol{D}).$$

In this paper, we extend this to prove results about the other columns.

Our ultimate aim is to understand the final column, and give a proof of Theorem 4. Thus we need a method of making computations in $D^bCoh(N_{nov}^n)$. For this purpose, we use the category of **graded matrix factorizations**. Let us denote

$$S_{nov} := S \otimes_R \Lambda = \Lambda[u_1, \dots, u_n],$$

with

$$w_{nov} := w \otimes 1 \in S_{nov}.$$

Then S_{nov} is Z-graded, and w_{nov} is homogeneous of degree *n*. In [58], Orlov introduced the differential graded category of graded matrix factorizations of a homogeneous superpotential, $\text{GrMF}(S_{nov}, w_{nov})$, and proved that there is an equivalence

Ho (GrMF(
$$S_{nov}, w_{nov}$$
)) $\cong D^bCoh\left(\widetilde{N}_{nov}^n\right)$,

where

$$\widetilde{N}_{nov}^n := \{ w_{nov} = 0 \} \subset \mathbb{P}^{n-1}_{\Lambda}$$

(see [58, Theorem 3.11]). Similarly, there is an equivalence of Γ_n^* -equivariant categories,

Ho
$$\left(\operatorname{GrMF}(S_{nov}, w_{nov})^{\Gamma_n^*}\right) \cong D^b Coh\left(N_{nov}^n\right).$$

Orlov's theorem applies because we work over the field Λ , and $\tilde{N}_{nov}^n = \{w_{nov} = 0\}$ is smooth and Calabi-Yau. However, recall that by passing from the variety N^n , defined over R, to the variety N_{nov}^n , defined over Λ , we lose the T-action. This is a disadvantage, because T-equivariance constrains the algebraic structures we consider significantly, and makes our classification problems tractable.

Therefore, we introduce (in Section 2.7) the category $\operatorname{GrMF}(S, w)$ of graded matrix factorizations of $w \in S$, over the coefficient ring R (Orlov mainly considered graded matrix factorizations over a field in [58], but the definition works over any ring). The

coefficient ring R and the graded R-algebra S admit an action of \mathbb{T} , which preserves w. Therefore we can talk about \mathbb{T} -equivariant objects in $\operatorname{GrMF}(S, w)$, and furthermore there is a fully faithful embedding

$$\operatorname{GrMF}(S, w) \otimes_R \Lambda \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GrMF}(S_{nov}, w_{nov}).$$

However, because R is not a field, Orlov's theorem does **not** apply to give a relationship between the categories $\operatorname{GrMF}(S, w)$ and $\operatorname{Perf}(\widetilde{N}^n)$ (although it seems reasonable to hope that some sort of relationship might hold).

In fact, we first introduce a differential G-graded category $MF^{G}(S, w)$ of G-graded matrix factorizations of $w \in S$ (these combine the T-action with the Z-grading, in the same way that anchored Lagrangian branes combine the $H_1(M^n \setminus D)$ -grading with the Z-grading in the Fukaya category). We show that $\operatorname{GrMF}(S, w)^{\Gamma_n^*}$ is some 'orbifolding' of it.

The starting point for this is the observation that $\operatorname{GrMF}(S, w)$ is a \mathbb{Z}_n -equivariant version of $MF^{\mathbf{G}}(S, w)$ (compare [59, 60]). In fact there is an action of $\tilde{\Gamma}_n^*$ on $MF^{\mathbf{G}}(S, w)$, and we show that there is a fully faithful embedding

$$MF^{\mathbf{G}}(S,w)^{\tilde{\Gamma}_{n}^{*}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GrMF}(S,w)^{\Gamma_{n}^{*}}$$

(recall that $\tilde{\Gamma}_n^*$ is an extension of \mathbb{Z}_n by Γ_n^* ; the \mathbb{Z}_n got eaten up turning MF into GrMF). In fact, our notation for the $\tilde{\Gamma}_n^*$ -equivariant category is different – we will write it as

$$\boldsymbol{p}_1^* M F^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S, w) \equiv M F^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S, w)^{\tilde{\Gamma}_n^*}.$$

We will not give the precise meaning of p_1^* in this introduction, but will continue to use it for consistency with our later notation.

We consider the object \mathcal{O}_0 of $MF^G(S, w)$, corresponding to the ideal $(u_1, \ldots, u_n) \subset S$.

We denote its endomorphism algebra by B. It is a deformation of the exterior algebra

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{\operatorname{Coh}(\mathbb{C}^n)}^*(\mathcal{O}_0,\mathcal{O}_0)\cong \Lambda^*\mathbb{C}^n$$

over the power series ring R. Deformations of $\Lambda^* \mathbb{C}^n$ are governed by the Hochschild cohomology, which is given by polyvector fields, by the Hochschild-Kostant-Rosenberg isomorphism:

$$HH^*(\Lambda^*\mathbb{C}^n)\cong\mathbb{C}[[u_1,\ldots,u_n]][\theta_1,\ldots,\theta_n],$$

where the variables u_j commute and the variables θ_j anti-commute. We construct a minimal A_{∞} model for this A_{∞} deformation of $\Lambda^*\mathbb{C}^n$, and prove that its deformation classes are given exactly by the coefficients of w (following [21]). We prove a classification theorem (Theorem 6), which shows that these deformation classes, together with the Ggrading, are enough to determine the deformation up to A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism and formal change of variables.

We then consider the full subcategory of $p_1^*MF^G(S, w)$ whose objects are the equivariant twists of \mathcal{O}_0 . We denote it by $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$. It can be determined completely from \mathcal{B} . We also introduce a full subcategory

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \subset \mathcal{F}(M^n, D)$$

(the remaining sections of this introduction will consist of an explanation of how to compute $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$). We prove the following generalization of [1, Theorem 7.4]:

Theorem 5. There exists a $\psi \in \mathbb{C}[[T]] \subset R$, where $T = r_1 \dots r_n$, with $\psi(0) = \pm 1$, and a quasi-isomorphism of G-graded R-linear A_{∞} categories

$$\psi \cdot \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}} \cong \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$$

By our previous discussion, there is a fully faithful embedding

$$\operatorname{Ho}\left(\boldsymbol{p}_{1}^{*}MF^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S,w)\otimes_{R}\Lambda\right) \hookrightarrow D^{b}Coh(N_{nov}^{n}) \cong D^{b}Coh^{\Gamma_{n}^{*}}\left(\widetilde{N}_{nov}^{n}\right).$$

The images of the equivariant twists of \mathcal{O}_0 correspond to equivariant twists of the restrictions of the Beilinson exceptional collection $\Omega^j(j)$ restricted to \widetilde{N}_{nov}^n (for $j = 0, 1, \ldots, n-1$) by characters of Γ_n^* .

The equivariant twists of the restrictions of the Beilinson exceptional collection generate $D^bCoh(N_{nov}^n)$, so it follows immediately from Theorem 5, by tensoring with Λ , that there is an equivalence of triangulated categories

$$\psi \cdot D^b Coh(N^n_{nov}) \cong \operatorname{Ho}\left(Tw\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_R \Lambda\right)\right) \subset D^{\pi}\mathcal{F}(M^n)$$

(under our assumption (Assumption 2.8.1.1) that the second embedding above exists).

Finally, to complete the proof, we wish to show that $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_R \Lambda$ split-generates the Fukaya category. We do this by applying the split-generation result of [54], which says that, if the closed-open string map

$$\mathcal{CO}: QH^*(M^n) \to HH^*\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_R \Lambda\right)$$

is non-zero in the top degree 2(n-2), then $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_R \Lambda$ split-generates $D^{\pi} \mathcal{F}(M^n)$.

We observe that

$$\mathcal{CO}([\omega]) = r \frac{\partial \mu^*}{\partial r} \in HH^2\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_R \Lambda\right)$$

(in words, the image of the class of the symplectic form under the closed-open string map is the class in HH^2 corresponding to deforming the Fukaya category by scaling the symplectic form). We now observe that \mathcal{CO} is a Λ -algebra homomorphism, so

$$\mathcal{CO}([\omega]^{n-2}) = \left(r\frac{\partial\mu^*}{\partial r}\right)^{n-2}$$

We then compute that this class is non-zero in the Hochschild cohomology. It follows from the split-generation criterion that $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_R \Lambda$ split-generates $D^{\pi} \mathcal{F}(M^n)$. This completes the proof of Theorem 4.

In the rest of this introduction, we explain how we make computations in the relative Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M^n, \mathbf{D})$, which are sufficient to prove Theorem 5.

2.1.5 Behaviour of the Fukaya category under branched covers

Suppose that N and M are compact Kähler manifolds with ample normal-crossings divisors $E \subset N$ and $D \subset M$ as before, and that

$$\phi: (N, \boldsymbol{E}) \to (M, \boldsymbol{D})$$

is a branched cover ramified about the divisors E, sending divisor E_j to divisor D_j , and with ramification of degree a_j about divisor E_j . We aim to understand how the affine and relative Fukaya categories of (N, E) and (M, D) are related.

First, we observe that the map

$$\phi: N \setminus \boldsymbol{E} \to M \setminus \boldsymbol{D}$$

is an unbranched cover. Therefore, any holomorphic disk in $M \setminus D$ lifts to $N \setminus E$, because it is contractible. It follows that the problem of relating $\mathcal{F}(N \setminus E)$ to $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus D)$ is essentially one of algebraic bookkeeping: we need to keep track of how the holomorphic disks lift, but do not need to compute any new moduli spaces of disks. This leads one to the statement that $\mathcal{F}(N \setminus E)$ is a 'semi-direct product of $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus D)$ with the character group of the covering group of ϕ ' (see [9, Section 8b] and [20, Section 9]). We rephrase this in Section 2.3.4 using the language of **G**-graded categories, in which we write

$$\mathcal{F}(N \setminus D) \cong p^* \mathcal{F}(M \setminus D)$$

(we won't explain this notation in the introduction).

Now we try to understand the behaviour of the relative Fukaya category with respect to branched covers. This is not as simple as the unramified cover case, because holomorphic disks may pass through the branching locus, and then they do not lift to the cover. In order to relate $\mathcal{F}(N, \mathbf{E})$ to $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$, we introduce a 'smooth orbifold relative Fukaya category' $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$, where $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_k)$ denotes the degrees of ramification of the cover about the divisors (but we could define the orbifold Fukaya category for any tuple \mathbf{a} of k positive integers).

The objects, morphism spaces and coefficient ring of $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$ are the same as for $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$. The A_{∞} structure maps μ^s , however, count holomorphic disks $u : \mathbb{D} \to M$ that have ramification of degree a_j about divisor D_j wherever they intersect it. Each such disk contributes

$$r_1^{\#(\text{intersection points with } D_1)} \dots r_k^{\#(\text{intersection points with } D_k)} \in R(M, \mathbf{D}).$$

In particular, if $\boldsymbol{a} = (1, 1, ..., 1)$ then we recover the relative Fukaya category. The category is still $\boldsymbol{G}(M, \boldsymbol{D})$ -graded, but the coefficient ring $R(M, \boldsymbol{D})$ is equipped with a different $\boldsymbol{G}(M, \boldsymbol{D})$ -grading depending on \boldsymbol{a} .

The holomorphic disks $u : \mathbb{D} \to M$ contributing to the orbifold relative Fukaya category, now do lift to holomorphic disks $u : \mathbb{D} \to N$ (by the homotopy lifting criterion). Thus, the relative Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(N, \mathbf{E})$ is related to $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$ in exactly the same way that the affine Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(N \setminus \mathbf{E})$ is related to $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus \mathbf{D})$: in the language of G-graded categories,

$$\mathcal{F}(N, D) \cong p^* \mathcal{F}(M, D, a).$$

It now remains to relate $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$ to $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$. In fact, we are only able to relate the 'first-order' parts of the categories (but this turns out to be enough for our purposes). The first-order relative Fukaya category is defined to be

$$\mathcal{F}(M, D)/\mathfrak{m}^2 := \mathcal{F}(M, D) \otimes_R R/\mathfrak{m}^2$$

where $\mathfrak{m} \subset R$ is the maximal ideal. It is linear over R/\mathfrak{m}^2 . It retains only the information about rigid holomorphic disks $u : \mathbb{D} \to M$ passing through a **single** divisor D_j (with multiplicity 1).

Let us write

$$\mu^* = \mu_0^* + \mu_1^*$$

for the A_{∞} structure maps μ^* in $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})/\mathfrak{m}^2$, where μ_0^* gives the affine Fukaya category and μ_1^* gives the first-order terms. Then the A_{∞} relations tell us that μ_1^* is a Hochschild cocycle, hence defines an element

$$\sum_{j=1}^k r_j \alpha_j \in HH^*(\mathcal{F}(M \setminus D)) \otimes \mathfrak{m}/\mathfrak{m}^2.$$

We call α_j the first-order deformation classes of $\mathcal{F}(M, D)$.

We prove (Theorem 7) that, if $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ has first-order deformation classes α_j , then $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$ has first-order deformation classes $\alpha_j^{a_j}$, where the power is taken with respect to the Yoneda product on Hochschild cohomology. The proof looks very similar to the proof that the map $QH^*(M) \to HH^*(\mathcal{F}(M))$ is a ring homomorphism.

Remark 2.1.5.1. At first sight, this may seem a strange result: first-order deformation classes of a category live in HH^2 , and the Yoneda product respects the \mathbb{Z} -grading, so one

would expect the class $\alpha_j^{a_j}$ to no longer live in HH^2 and therefore not be an appropriate first-order deformation class. The solution lies in the fact that the coefficient rings R have non-trivial gradings, and in fact the coefficient rings for $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ and $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$ have **different** gradings: thus, both $r_j\alpha_j$ and $r_j\alpha_j^{a_j}$ have degree 2 in the respective Hochschild cohomology groups in which they live.

Combining this result with our previous observations, if we have a branched cover $\phi: (N, E) \to (M, D)$, then we can compute $\mathcal{F}(N, E)$ to first order if we know $\mathcal{F}(M, D)$ to first order.

2.1.6 The Fukaya category of M^n

We will now explain how to compute the Fukaya category of M^n . We will keep the one-dimensional case (n = 3) as a running example throughout, despite the fact that we do not prove this case of Theorem 4 completely in this paper. We do this because one can see all of the holomorphic disks in the Fukaya category in this case, and gain intuition for the various versions of the Fukaya category that we introduce, and results that we prove about it.

We consider the Fermat hypersurfaces

$$M_a^n := \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^n z_j^a = 0 \right\} \subset \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$$

with the smooth ample normal-crossings divisors $D_j = \{z_j = 0\}$ for j = 1, ..., n. There is a branched cover

$$\phi: (M_a^n, \mathbf{D}) \to (M_1^n, \mathbf{D}),$$

$$[z_1: \ldots: z_n] \mapsto [z_1^a: \ldots: z_n^a].$$

Thus, applying the results described in the previous section, if we can compute $\mathcal{F}(M_1^n, D)$ to first order, then we can compute $\mathcal{F}(M_a^n, D)$ to first order.

We observe that $M_1^n \cong \mathbb{CP}^{n-2}$, and D consists of n hyperplanes in general position. $M_1^n \setminus D$ is called the (n-2)-dimensional **pair of pants**. In Section 2.6, we construct a Lagrangian immersion

$$L: S^{n-2} \to M_1^n \setminus D$$

which has an anchored Lagrangian brane structure. This Lagrangian was introduced in [1].

Example 2.1.6.1. $M_1^3 = \mathbb{CP}^1$, and D consists of three divisors (points). The Lagrangian immersion $L : S^1 \to \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus D$ is shown in Figure 2.1.6.1. The A_{∞} algebra $CF^*(L,L)$ was described in [20]. It was introduced as a $\mathbb{Z} \oplus H_1(M_1^3 \setminus D)$ -graded category, but it is not hard to see the underlying $G(M_1^3, D)$ -graded structure.

The reason this Lagrangian is important is because it can be regarded as a 'fibre' in a Strominger-Yau-Zaslow fibration. See Figure 2.1.6.2 for the picture in the onedimensional case. More generally, as shown in [22], the pair of pants $\mathbb{CP}^{n-2} \setminus D$ is a singular torus fibration over the 'tropical amoeba of the pair of pants', which is some space stratified by affine manifolds. The torus fibration is non-singular over the topdimensional faces of the tropical pair of pants.

We suggest that one should think, not of an SYZ fibration of the pair of pants over the tropical pair of pants, with some singular fibres, but rather of an SYZ family of objects of the Fukaya category, parametrized by the tropical pair of pants. The immersed Lagrangian sphere L is the object corresponding to the central point in the tropical pair of pants in this picture. The objects corresponding to points of the top-dimensional strata are Lagrangian torus fibres (recall that the fibration is non-singular there). The objects corresponding to points on the in-between strata are lower-dimensional incarnations of L, crossed with tori. We provided some evidence for this philosophy in [1], where we



Figure 2.1.6.1: \mathbb{CP}^1 with its real locus \mathbb{RP}^1 is shown in black, with the divisors D indicated by black dots. The Lagrangian immersion $L: S^1 \to \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus D$ is shown in red, and its self-intersection points are marked in blue.



Figure 2.1.6.2: The Lagrangian $L: S^1 \to \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus D$ can also be drawn as a 'trefoil', shown here in red on the pair of pants (upper left). It lies over the central point (shown in red) in the tropical pair of pants (bottom). The mirror is the union of coordinate axes in \mathbb{C}^3 (upper right), and the object corresponding to L is the structure sheaf of the origin (shown in red).

showed that the endomorphism algebra of L in $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{CP}^{n-2} \setminus D)$ is quasi-isomorphic to the endomorphism algebra of the structure sheaf of the origin in the mirror category of matrix factorizations. We plan to make this picture more precise in future work.

In Section 2.6, we compute $CF^*(L,L)$ to first order in $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{CP}^{n-2}, D)$, using a Morse-Bott model for the relative Fukaya category, based on the 'cluster homology' of [27]. We compute that the underlying vector space is an exterior algebra:

$$CF^*(L,L) \cong \Lambda^* \mathbb{C}^n \cong \mathbb{C}[\theta_1,\ldots,\theta_n],$$

where the variables θ_j anti-commute. For example, when n = 3, $CF^*(L, L)$ is generated by $H^*(S^1)$ (whose two generators we identify as the bottom and top classes 1 and $\theta_1 \wedge \theta_2 \wedge \theta_3$), together with two generators for each self-intersection point, which we label as in Figure 2.1.6.3.

We next show that the zeroth-order algebra structure, μ_0^2 , coincides with the exterior algebra. In the case n = 3, the corresponding holomorphic triangles are shown in Figure 2-3(a). The shaded triangle can be viewed as having inputs θ_1 and θ_2 and output $\theta_1 \wedge \theta_2$, while the corresponding triangle on the back of the figure can be viewed as having inputs θ_2 and θ_1 and output $-\theta_1 \wedge \theta_2$. The other products follow similarly.

 A_{∞} structures with underlying cohomology algebra $\Lambda^* \mathbb{C}^n$ are classified by the Hochschild cohomology, which is given by polyvector fields, by the Hochschild-Kostant-Rosenberg isomorphism:

$$HH(\Lambda^*\mathbb{C}^n)\cong\mathbb{C}[[u_1,\ldots,u_n]][\theta_1,\ldots,\theta_n],$$

where variables u_i commute and θ_i anti-commute. We show that the endomorphism algebra $CF^*(L, L)$ in the affine Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{CP}^{n-2} \setminus D)$ is completely determined, up to A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism, by a single higher-order product, having the form

$$\mu^n(\theta_1,\ldots,\theta_n)=1,$$

corresponding to the Hochschild cohomology class

$$u_1 \dots u_n \in \mathbb{C}[[u_1, \dots, u_n]][\theta_1, \dots, \theta_n].$$

In the case n = 3, we can see the corresponding holomorphic disk in Figure 2-3(a). It is





(a) Disks contributing to $CF^*(L, L)$ in the affine Fukaya category, $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus D)$.

(b) Disks contributing to the first-order deformation class of $CF^*(L, L)$ in the relative Fukaya category, $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{CP}^1, \mathbf{D})$.

Figure 2.1.6.3: Holomorphic disks contributing to $CF^*(L, L)$.

the shaded triangle, which we view as a degenerate 4-gon having inputs θ_1 , θ_2 , θ_3 , and output a degenerate vertex on one of the sides of the triangle, corresponding to 1.

We next compute that the endomorphism algebra of $CF^*(L, L)$ in the first-order relative Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{CP}^{n-2}, \mathbf{D})/\mathfrak{m}^2)$ is determined by structure maps of the form

$$\mu^1(\theta_j) = r_j \cdot 1,$$

corresponding to first-order deformation classes

$$r_j u_j \in \mathbb{C}[[u_1, \ldots, u_n]][\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_n] \otimes \mathfrak{m}/\mathfrak{m}^2.$$

When n = 3, we can see the corresponding holomorphic disks in Figure 2-3(b). The shaded 'teardrop' shape has one input θ_1 , and a degenerate output vertex corresponding to 1. It intersects divisor D_1 exactly once, and does not intersect the other divisors, hence contributes with a coefficient r_1 . Thus it gives rise to the term $\mu^1(\theta_1) = r_1 \cdot 1$.

It follows from the result described in Section 2.1.5 that the first-order deformation

classes of the A_{∞} algebra

$$\mathcal{A} := CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{CP}^{n-2}, \boldsymbol{D}, (n, \dots, n))}(L, L)$$

in the orbifold Fukaya category, are $r_j u_j^n$. Thus, the full deformation class of \mathcal{A} is

$$u_1\ldots u_n+\sum_{j=1}^n r_j u_j^n+\mathcal{O}(r^2),$$

which we observe coincides with the defining polynomial w of N^n , to first order.

We prove a classification theorem (Theorem 6) which shows that this is enough information to determine the full G-graded deformation, up to A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism and formal change of variables.

We show that the A_{∞} algebra

$$\mathcal{B} := \operatorname{Hom}_{MF^{\mathbf{G}}(S,w)}(\mathcal{O}_0,\mathcal{O}_0)$$

also has the same underlying algebra, $G \cong G(\mathbb{CP}^{n-2}, D)$ -grading, and deformation classes (recall the deformation classes were given exactly by w itself). Therefore, by the above-mentioned classification theorem, we have a formal change of variables ψ , and an A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism

$$\mathcal{B}\cong\psi\cdot\mathcal{A}.$$

Now the algebraic procedures of passing from $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{CP}^{n-2}, \mathbf{D}, (n, \ldots, n))$ to the branched cover $\mathcal{F}(M^n, \mathbf{D})$, and of passing from $MF^{\mathbf{G}}(S, w)$ to $\mathbf{p}_1^*MF^{\mathbf{G}}(S, w)$, are equivalent: we have

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \cong \boldsymbol{p}_1^* \mathcal{B} \cong \psi \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_1^* \mathcal{A} \cong \psi \cdot \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}.$$

This completes the proof of Theorem 5. See Figure 2.1.6.4 for a picture in the case n = 3.



Figure 2.1.6.4: A fundamental domain of the elliptic curve M^3 , with the divisor D consisting of nine points, indicated by black dots. The 9-fold cover $(M^3, D) \to (\mathbb{CP}^1, D)$ has ramification of order 3 about each divisor. The black lines are the pullback of \mathbb{RP}^1 . The lifts of L are the curves shown in red, with their intersection points in blue. We have shaded two of the holomorphic disks contributing to the A_{∞} products between lifts of L. Note that the triangle of Figure 2-3(a), which contributes to the affine Fukaya category, lifts directly to M^3 , whereas the 'teardrop' illustrated in Figure 2-3(b), which contributes the term r_1u_1 to the deformation class of the relative Fukaya category, does not lift, but rather gives rise to the 'clover-leaf' shape, which contributes the deformation class $r_3u_3^3$.

2.2 Graded and equivariant categories

The main purpose of this section is to introduce the relevant notions of graded and equivariant algebraic objects, and modify the results in [9, Section 3] to classify such objects.

2.2.1 Grading data

For the purposes of this section, we fix an integer $n \geq 3$.

Definition 2.2.1.1. An unsigned grading datum G is an abelian group Y together with a morphism $f : \mathbb{Z} \to Y$. We will use the shorthand $G = \{\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{f} Y\}$. We will often write G as

$$\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{g} X \longrightarrow 0,$$

where X is the cokernel of f. We say that G is **exact** if the map $\mathbb{Z} \to Y$ is injective.

Definition 2.2.1.2. A morphism of unsigned grading data, $p : G_1 \to G_2$, is a morphism $p: Y_1 \to Y_2$ that makes the following diagram commute:

Composition of morphisms is defined in the obvious way, and this defines a category of unsigned grading data. We say that a morphism of unsigned grading data is **injective** (respectively **surjective**) if the map p is injective (respectively surjective). We will sometimes write p as



where p_X is the map induced by p.

Definition 2.2.1.3. We define the sign grading datum, $G_{\sigma} := \{\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}_2\}$.

Definition 2.2.1.4. We define a grading datum (G, σ) to be an unsigned grading datum G, together with a sign morphism, which is a morphism of unsigned grading data,

$$\sigma: G \to G_{\sigma}.$$

We define a morphism of grading data to be a morphism of unsigned grading data that is compatible with sign morphisms. Henceforth, we will often omit the sign morphism σ from the notation to avoid clutter.

The sign morphism is important because it allows us to define certain signs in our algebraic objects, which allows us to work over fields of characteristic not equal to 2.

Example 2.2.1.5. We define the grading datum $G_{\mathbb{Z}} := \{\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{id} \mathbb{Z}\}$, with the obvious morphism σ . It is an initial object in the category of grading data.

In practice, it is often simpler to work with objects called pseudo-grading data.

Definition 2.2.1.6. A pseudo-grading datum H is a morphism of abelian groups $f: \mathbb{Z} \to Y$, together with an element $c \in \text{Hom}(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z})$, whose image lies inside $2\mathbb{Z} \subset \mathbb{Z}$.

Definition 2.2.1.7. A morphism of pseudo-grading data,

$$p: H_1 \rightarrow H_2,$$

consists of maps p_Z and p_Y that make the following diagram commute:

$$\begin{array}{c} Z_1 \xrightarrow{f_1} & Y_1 \\ p_Z \swarrow & p_Y \swarrow \\ Z_2 \xrightarrow{f_2} & Y_2, \end{array}$$

together with an element $d \in \text{Hom}(Y_1, \mathbb{Z})$, whose image lies inside $2\mathbb{Z} \subset \mathbb{Z}$, such that

$$c_1 = p_Z^*(c_2) + f_1^*(d).$$

Definition 2.2.1.8. Given a pseudo-grading datum H:

$$Z \xrightarrow{f} Y,$$

together with c, we define a grading datum $\boldsymbol{G}(\boldsymbol{H})$ by

$$\mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow (\mathbb{Z} \oplus Y)/Z,$$

where we define the map $Z \to \mathbb{Z} \oplus Y$ by

$$z \mapsto c(-z) \oplus f(z)$$

and the other maps in the obvious way. We define the sign morphism $\sigma:G(H) \to G_{\sigma}$ by

$$\sigma: (\mathbb{Z} \oplus Y)/Z \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}_2,$$

 $\sigma(j \oplus y) := j.$

Observe that the condition that the image of c lies in $2\mathbb{Z}$ ensures that σ is well-defined.

Definition 2.2.1.9. Given a morphism of pseudo-grading data $p : H_1 \rightarrow H_2$ as in Definition 2.2.1.7, we define a corresponding morphism of grading data

$$G(p): G(H_1) \rightarrow G(H_2),$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{G}(\boldsymbol{p})(j\oplus y_1):=(j+d(y_1))\oplus p(y_1).$$

It is not hard to check that this defines a functor from the category of pseudo-grading data to the category of grading data.

Example 2.2.1.10. If we denote by $\mathbf{0} := \{0 \to 0\}$ the zero morphism, then $G(\mathbf{0}) = G_{\mathbb{Z}}$.

Example 2.2.1.11. Given $n \ge 0$, we define the pseudo-grading datum $H_{MF(n)} := \{\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{\times n} \mathbb{Z}\}$, with c = 2. We denote the corresponding grading datum by $G_{MF(n)}$. It is exact, and has corresponding short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z} \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} (\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z})/(2, -n) \stackrel{g}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{Z}_n \longrightarrow 0_{\mathfrak{Z}_n}$$

This grading datum is important because it controls Orlov's 'category of graded matrix factorizations' of a superpotential of degree n (hence our terminology).

Now we will introduce another important grading datum, although first we introduce a bit of convenient notation.

Definition 2.2.1.12. We denote $[k] := \{1, \ldots, k\}$ for any positive integer k and, for any $K \subset [k]$,

$$y_K := \sum_{j \in K} y_j \in \mathbb{Z} \langle y_1, \dots, y_k \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}^k.$$

Example 2.2.1.13. Given $n \ge 1$, we denote by H_a^n the pseudo-grading datum

$$\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{y_{[n]}} \mathbb{Z} \langle y_1, \ldots, y_n \rangle,$$

together with c = 2(n - a). We denote by G_a^n the corresponding grading datum. This grading datum is important because it controls both the Fukaya category and the category of equivariant matrix factorizations that we will consider.

Now we prove a Lemma relating some of the grading data that we have introduced. We will use it to relate the category of matrix factorizations to the category of coherent sheaves. **Lemma 2.2.1.14.** For any $n \ge 1$, there is a commutative square of grading data:



such that p_1 and p_2 are injective.

Proof. The morphism p_2 is uniquely defined because $G_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is an initial object. It is clearly injective. The morphism q_1 comes from the zero morphism of pseudo-grading data, with d = 0 (note this is a morphism of pseudo-grading data because c = 0 in H_n^n).

The morphism p_1 comes from the morphism of pseudo-grading data,

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{y_{[n]}} \mathbb{Z}^n \\ \times n \bigvee & \times n \bigvee \\ \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{y_{[n]}} \mathbb{Z}^n, \end{array}$$

with $d = 2(1-n)y_{[n]}$ (where here we denote by $y_{[n]}$ the element of the dual space $(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{\vee} \cong \mathbb{Z}^n$). It is clearly injective.

The morphism q_2 comes from the morphism of pseudo-grading data,

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \mathbb{Z} & \xrightarrow{y_{[n]}} \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ \times (-1) & & -y_{[n]} \\ \mathbb{Z} & \xrightarrow{-x_{n}} \mathbb{Z}, \end{array}$$

with $d = 2y_{[n]}$.

It is a simple exercise, applying Definition 2.2.1.9, to check that the diagram commutes. $\hfill \Box$

2.2.2 Graded vector spaces

We recall that, if Y is an abelian group, then a Y-graded vector space is a vector space V, together with a collection of vector spaces V_y , indexed by $y \in Y$, and an isomorphism

$$V \cong \bigoplus_{y \in Y} V_y.$$

Definition 2.2.2.1. Let $p: Y_1 \to Y_2$ be morphism of abelian groups. Given a Y_1 -graded vector space V, we define the Y_2 -graded vector space p_*V , where

$$(p_*V)_b := \bigoplus_{p(a)=b} V_a.$$

In particular, the underlying vector space V does not change.

Definition 2.2.2.2. Let $p: Y_1 \to Y_2$ be morphism of abelian groups. Given a Y_2 -graded vector space V, we define the Y_1 -graded vector space p^*V , where

$$(p^*V)_a := V_{p(a)}.$$

Remark 2.2.2.3. If $p: Y_1 \to Y_2$ is injective, then p^*V is just the part of V whose Y_2 -degree lies in im(p).

Definition 2.2.2.4. Let $G = \{\mathbb{Z} \to Y\}$ be a grading datum. A *G*-graded vector space *V* is the same thing as a *Y*-graded vector space *V*.

In fact, for the purposes of this section, 'G-graded' is virtually identical to 'Y-graded'. Things will get more complicated in the subsequent sections.

Definition 2.2.2.5. Given an element $y \in Y$, and a *G*-graded vector space *V*, we define V[y] to be *V* with grading shifted by *y*.

Definition 2.2.2.6. Given a morphism p of grading data, we define operations p_* and p^* on G-graded vector spaces to be identical to p_* and p^* .

Definition 2.2.2.7. If V is a G-graded vector space, then it automatically becomes a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded vector space:

$$V \cong \boldsymbol{\sigma}_* V,$$

where σ is the sign morphism of G. Given $v \in V$ of pure degree with respect to this \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading, we denote its \mathbb{Z}_2 -degree by $\sigma(v)$.

Definition 2.2.2.8. A G-graded algebra is a Y-graded algebra, i.e., one whose multiplication respects the Y-grading.

Example 2.2.2.9. Recall the grading datum G_1^n of Example 2.2.1.13. We define the *n*-dimensional G_1^n -graded vector space

$$U_n := \mathbb{C} \langle u_1, \ldots, u_n \rangle,$$

where we equip u_j with degree $(-1, y_j) \in (\mathbb{Z} \oplus Y_n)/(2(1-n) \oplus y_{[n]})$.

Example 2.2.2.10. Let a be an integer. We define the G_1^n -graded vector space

$$V_a^n := \mathbb{C}\langle r_1, \ldots, r_n \rangle,$$

where we equip r_j with degree $(2 - 2a, ay_j) \in (\mathbb{Z} \oplus Y_n)/(2(1 - n) \oplus y_{[n]})$.

Remark 2.2.2.11. We observe that, if p_1 and q_1 are the morphisms of grading data defined in Lemma 2.2.1.14, then

$$\boldsymbol{q_{1*}p_1^*V_n^n} \cong V_n^n$$

is a \mathbb{Z} -graded vector space concentrated in degree 0.

We remark that, if V is a G-graded vector space, then the exterior algebra $\Lambda(V)$ and symmetric algebra Sym(V) have natural G-graded algebra structures. **Definition 2.2.2.12.** We define the G_1^n -graded exterior algebra

$$A_n := \Lambda(U_n) \cong \mathbb{C}[\theta_1, \dots, \theta_n],$$

where the variable θ_j anti-commute.

Definition 2.2.2.13. We define the G_1^n -graded power series ring

$$R_a^n := \mathbb{C}[[V_a^{\vee}]] \cong \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \dots, r_n]].$$

The next Lemma looks abstruse, but will be used in Section 2.7.5 to relate equivariant matrix factorizations to equivariant coherent sheaves:

Lemma 2.2.2.14. Suppose we are given a commutative diagram of exact morphisms of grading data:



where p_1 and p_2 are injective, and a **G**-graded vector space V. Taking the X-part of the grading data and morphisms, we find there are morphisms

$$X_1 \xrightarrow{p_{1,X}} X \xrightarrow{q_{2,X}} X_2$$

whose composition is 0 (by commutativity of the diagram). We define the group Γ to be the homology of this sequence:

$$\Gamma := \ker(q_{2,X}) / \operatorname{im}(p_{1,X}).$$

Then $p_2^*q_{2*}V$ admits a Γ -grading, and hence an action of the character group Γ^* , and there is an isomorphism

$$(\boldsymbol{p}_{2}^{*}\boldsymbol{q}_{2*}V)^{\Gamma^{*}} \cong \boldsymbol{q}_{1*}\boldsymbol{p}_{1}^{*}V$$

as Z-graded vector spaces, where the superscript Γ^* denotes the Γ^* -invariant part (or equivalently the part of degree $0 \in \Gamma$).

Proof. We have, by definition, the degree-j parts

$$(\boldsymbol{p}_2^*\boldsymbol{q}_{2*}V)^j := \bigoplus_{q_2(y)=p_2(j)} A_y,$$

and

$$(\boldsymbol{q}_1^*\boldsymbol{p}_{1*}V)^j := \bigoplus_{q_1(y)=j} A_{p_1(y)}.$$

Note that the first of these is equal to the part of A whose Y-grading lies in $q_2^{-1}(\operatorname{im}(p_2))$, while the second is equal to the part of A whose Y-grading lies in $\operatorname{im}(p_1)$ (using the exactness of p_1 and p_2). By commutativity of the diagram,

$$y = p_1(y_1)$$

$$\Rightarrow q_2(y) = p_2(q_1(y_1))$$

$$\Rightarrow y \in q_2^{-1}(\operatorname{im}(q_1)),$$

so $\operatorname{im}(p_1) \subset q_2^{-1}(\operatorname{im}(p_2))$. Therefore, we have

$$q_1^* p_{1*} V \subset p_2^* q_{2*} V.$$

Furthermore, the left-hand side is exactly equal to the part of the right-hand side whose Y-grading lies in

$$im(p_1) \subset q_2^{-1}(im(p_2)),$$

so we can equip the right-hand side with a grading in

$$q_2^{-1}(\operatorname{im}(p_2))/\operatorname{im}(p_1) \cong \Gamma,$$

and the left-hand side is equal to the part of degree $0 \in \Gamma$.

The fact that the Z-gradings match up also follows from commutativity of the diagram:

$$q_1(y) = j \Rightarrow p_2(j) = q_2(p_1(y)).$$

This completes the proof.

2.2.3 G-graded A_{∞} algebras and Hochschild cohomology

We now define appropriate notions of G-graded A_{∞} algebras and Hochschild cohomology. For the purposes of this section, let G be an exact grading datum.

Definition 2.2.3.1. Let R be a G-graded algebra, and let A, B be G-graded R-bimodules. For each $s \ge 0$, we define a $Y \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ -graded R-bimodule, whose degree-(y, s) part is

$$CC_c^y(A, B|R)^s := \operatorname{Hom}_{R-bimod}(A^{\otimes_R s}, B)_{y-f(s)},$$

called **compactly supported Hochschild cochains of length** s and degree y. Note that the Y-grading is not quite the obvious one: if ϕ^s changes Y-degree by y', then we define the Y-grading of ϕ^s to be y := f(s) + y'. We will omit the '|R' from the notation unless it is necessary to avoid confusion. There is a natural filtration of $CC_c^*(A, B)$, called the length filtration, given by

$$\left(CC_c^*(A,B)\right)^s := \bigoplus_{s' \ge s} \left(CC_c^*(A,B)^s\right).$$

We also define a filtered G-graded R-bimodule, whose degree-y part is

$$CC^y(A,B) := \prod_{s \ge 0} CC^y(A,B)^s,$$

which is the G-graded completion of $CC_c^*(A, B)$ with respect to the length filtration. Note that we call it a 'G-graded' completion because it is the completion in the category

of G-graded R-bimodules – this is different from taking the completion of $CC_c^*(A, B)$ in the category of R-bimodules, which would no longer be Y-graded (elements could be sums of non-zero elements of infinitely many different Y-degrees). If B = A, we denote

$$CC^*(A) := CC^*(A, A).$$

Given $\phi \in CC^*(A, B)$, we write ϕ^s for the length-s component of ϕ .

Definition 2.2.3.2. We consider the morphism $f : \mathbb{Z} \to Y$ coming from the grading datum G, and define

$$p: \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \to Y \oplus \mathbb{Z}$$
$$(j,k) \mapsto (f(j), j-k).$$

Then we define the $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}\text{-}\mathrm{graded}\ R\text{-}\mathrm{bimodule}$

$$CC^*_{c,\boldsymbol{G}}(A,B):=p^*CC^*_c(A,B).$$

We denote the degree- (s+t,t) part of $CC^*_{\pmb{G}}(A,B)$ by

$$CC_{c,G}^{s+t}(A,B)^t := \text{ the degree-}f(t) \text{ part of } CC^s(A,B).$$

We also define the \mathbb{Z} -graded *R*-bimodule

$$CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,B) := f^*CC^*(A,B),$$

which is the completion of $CC^*_{c,G}(A,B)$ with respect to the length filtration.

Remark 2.2.3.3. Note that $CC_{\mathbf{G}}^*(A, B)$ is the part of $CC^*(A, B)$ whose Y-grading lies in the image of $\mathbb{Z} \to Y$. In our applications, $CC_{\mathbf{G}}^*(A, B)$ will be easier to compute (being smaller), and most of our deformation theory problems take place inside it. It is this observation that makes many of our deformation theory problems tractable. **Definition 2.2.3.4.** We also define a 'truncated' version of $CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A, B)$, by restricting to elements of non-positive degree t. Namely,

$$TCC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,B) := \prod_{s \ge 0} \bigoplus_{t \le 0} CC^{s+t}_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,B)^t.$$

Definition 2.2.3.5. Suppose that R is a G-graded algebra, and A and B are G-graded R-bimodules. The **Gerstenhaber product** is a map of degree $(f(-1), -1) \in Y \oplus \mathbb{Z}$,

 $CC_c^*(A, B) \otimes_R CC_c^*(A) \rightarrow CC_c^*(A, B)$, which we denote by $\phi \otimes \psi \mapsto \phi \circ \psi$, and which is defined by $\phi \circ \psi(a_n, \dots, a_1) :=$

$$\sum_{i+j+k=n} (-1)^{\dagger} \phi^{i+k+1}(a_{i+j+k}, \dots, a_{i+j+1}, \psi^j(a_{i+j}, \dots, a_{i+1}), a_i, \dots, a_1),$$

where

$$\dagger = (\sigma(\psi) + 1)(\sigma(a_1) + \ldots + \sigma(a_i) - i)$$

(recalling Definition 2.2.2.7). If the left and right actions of R on the R-bimodules A and B coincide, then the Gerstenhaber product is R-bilinear; otherwise it is only R-linear in ϕ . Because the Gerstenhaber product respects the length filtration, it defines a product

$$CC^*(A, B) \otimes_R CC^*(A) \to CC^*(A, B)$$

of degree f(-1), also called the Gerstenhaber product.

Definition 2.2.3.6. If R is a G-graded algebra and A is a G-graded R-bimodule, then we define the Gerstenhaber bracket, which is a Lie bracket of degree f(-1) on $CC^*(A)$, by

$$[\phi,\psi] := \phi \circ \psi - (-1)^{(\sigma(\phi)+1)(\sigma(\psi)+1)} \psi \circ \phi.$$

Definition 2.2.3.7. If R is a G-graded algebra, then a G-graded associative R-

algebra is a G-graded R-bimodule A, together with an element

$$\mu^2 \in CC^2_{c,\boldsymbol{G}}(A)^0,$$

satisfying the associativity relation,

$$\mu^2 \circ \mu^2 = 0.$$

Remark 2.2.3.8. If A is a G-graded associative R-algebra, then the product

$$a_2 \cdot a_1 := (-1)^{\sigma(a_1)} \mu^2(a_1, a_2)$$

is associative and respects the G-grading, and makes A into a G-graded associative R-algebra in the usual sense.

Remark 2.2.3.9. If R is semisimple:

$$R := \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbb{C}u_i, \ u_i u_j = \delta_{ij} u_i$$

(where I is finite) and A is unital, then this is equivalent to a category with objects indexed by I.

Definition 2.2.3.10. If (A, μ^2) is a *G*-graded associative *R*-algebra, then we define the **Hochschild differential**

$$\delta: CC^*(A) \rightarrow CC^*(A)$$

 $\delta(\tau) := [\mu^2, \tau].$

It has degree $f(1) \in Y$ and increases length by 1 (i.e., it is induced by a similar differential of degree (f(1), 1) on $CC_c^*(A)$). It follows from the fact that $\mu^2 \circ \mu^2 = 0$ that δ is a differential, i.e., $\delta^2 = 0$. We define the **Hochschild cohomology** of A to be its cohomology,

$$HH^*(A) := H^*(CC^*(A), \delta),$$

which is a G-graded R-bimodule (as δ has pure degree in Y), and similarly

$$HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A) := H^*(CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A), \delta),$$

which is \mathbb{Z} -graded. Furthermore, because δ is pure of degree (1, f(1)) on $CC_c^*(A)$, we can also define compactly-supported versions, $HH_c^*(A)$ which is $Y \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ -graded and $HH_{c,G}^*(A)$ which is $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ -graded. As before, we denote the degree-(j, k) part by $HH_{c,G}^j(A)^k$.

Definition 2.2.3.11. If R is a G-graded algebra, then a G-graded A_{∞} algebra over R is a G-graded R-bimodule A, together with an element

$$\mu \in CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A),$$

satisfying $\mu^0 = 0$, and such that the A_{∞} associativity relation

$$\mu \circ \mu = 0$$

is satisfied. We denote A_{∞} algebras by $\mathcal{A} := (A, \mu^*)$. If $\mu^1 = 0$ (or equivalently, if μ sits inside $TCC^2_{\mathbf{G}}(A)$), we say that \mathcal{A} is **minimal**. If we have μ^* such that $\mu^0 \neq 0$, but still $\mu \circ \mu = 0$, then (A, μ^*) is called a **curved** A_{∞} algebra.

Remark 2.2.3.12. In other words, A is a Y-graded R-bimodule, equipped with Rmultilinear maps

$$\mu^s: A^{\otimes_R s} \to A$$

of degree $f(2-s) \in Y$, for all $s \ge 1$, satisfying the A_{∞} associativity relations.

Definition 2.2.3.13. If A and B are **G**-graded R-bimodules, we define a new 'product'

$$CC^*(B) \otimes_R CC^*(A, B) \rightarrow CC^*(A, B)$$
, denoted by
 $\phi \otimes \psi \mapsto \phi \diamond \psi$, and which we define by
 $(\phi \diamond \psi)^n(a_n, \dots, a_1) :=$

$$\sum_{i_1+\ldots+i_j=n} \phi^j(\psi^{i_1}(a_{i_1+\ldots+i_j},\ldots,a_{1+i_2+\ldots+i_j}),\psi^{i_2}(a_{i_2+\ldots+i_j},\ldots),\ldots,\psi^{i_j}(a_{i_j},\ldots,a_1)).$$

It is *R*-linear only in the first variable ϕ . Note that \diamond is clearly associative: $(F \diamond G) \diamond H = F \diamond (G \diamond H)$.

Remark 2.2.3.14. We remark that \diamond descends to a product

$$CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(B) \otimes CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,B) \to CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,B),$$

because the Y-degree of a summand of $\phi \diamond \psi$ clearly lies in the image of $f : \mathbb{Z} \to Y$. Although \diamond does not have a pure grading, it is an easy exercise to check that it maps

$$CC^s_{\boldsymbol{G}}(B) \otimes CC^1_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,B) \to CC^s_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,B).$$

Definition 2.2.3.15. If $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu)$ and $\mathcal{B} = (B, \eta)$ are \mathbf{G} -graded A_{∞} algebras over R, then an A_{∞} morphism from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} is an element $F \in TCC^{1}_{\mathbf{G}}(A, B)$ such that

$$F \circ \mu - \eta \diamond F = 0 \in CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A, B)$$

(note that the class lives in degree 2 by Remark 2.2.3.14). Composition of two A_{∞} morphisms is defined using the product \diamond . F is called **strict** if $F^j = 0$ for all $j \ge 2$.

If an A_{∞} morphism induces an isomorphism on the level of cohomology, then it is said to be a **quasi-isomorphism**. In fact, when our A_{∞} algebras are minimal, there is an easier notion, that of **formal diffeomorphism** (see [11, Section 1c]). **Definition 2.2.3.16.** If R is a G-graded \mathbb{C} -algebra, and A and B are G-graded R-modules, then a G-graded formal diffeomorphism from A to B is an element

$$F \in TCC^1_G(A, B)$$

such that

$$F^1: A \to B$$

is an isomorphism of R-modules.

Lemma 2.2.3.17. If (A, μ) is a minimal G-graded A_{∞} algebra over R, and $F \in TCC^{1}_{G}(A, B)$ is a formal diffeomorphism from A to B, then there exists a unique G-graded minimal A_{∞} structure $F_{*}\mu$ on B, such that F defines an A_{∞} morphism from (A, μ) to $(B, F_{*}\mu)$.

Proof. Briefly, $F_*\mu$ is determined inductively in the length filtration: if $F_*\mu$ is determined to length $\leq s - 1$, then at order s we have (schematically):

$$(F_*\mu)^s(F^1(a_s), F^1(a_{s-1}), \dots, F^1(a_1)) = \sum_{s' \le s-1} (F_*\mu)^{s'}(F(\dots), F(\dots), \dots, F(\dots)) + \sum_j \mu^j(\dots, F(\dots), \dots),$$

and since F^1 is an isomorphism, this determines F^s uniquely. One can quickly check that $F_*\mu$ satisfies the A_∞ equations.

Lemma 2.2.3.18. Formal diffeomorphisms can be composed using \diamond : If F is a G-graded formal diffeomorphism from A to B and G is a G-graded formal diffeomorphism from B to C, then $G \diamond F$ is a G-graded formal diffeomorphism from A to C. Furthermore, if μ is a G-graded A_{∞} structure on A, then

$$(G\diamond F)_*\mu = G_*(F_*\mu).$$

Furthermore, \diamond is associative.
Lemma 2.2.3.19. *G*-graded formal diffeomorphisms can be strictly inverted: if *F* is a *G*-graded formal diffeomorphism from *A* to *B*, then there exists a unique *G*-graded formal diffeomorphism *G* from *B* to *A* such that $G \diamond F = \text{id}$ (where id denotes the formal diffeomorphism whose length-1 component is the identity, and all other components vanish).

Proof. The construction of G is by induction on length, as in the proof of Lemma 2.2.3.17. \Box

Definition 2.2.3.20. If A is a G-graded vector space over \mathbb{C} , then there is a group

$$\mathfrak{G}(A) := \{ F \in TCC^1_{\mathbf{G}}(A) : F^1 = \mathrm{id} \},\$$

called G-graded formal diffeomorphisms from A to itself. It follows from Lemmata 2.2.3.17, 2.2.3.18 and 2.2.3.19 that $\mathfrak{G}(A)$ is a group, and that it acts on the space of minimal G-graded A_{∞} structures on A. Note that this action preserves the underlying algebra (A, μ^2) , and that F defines an A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism from μ to $F_*\mu$.

Definition 2.2.3.21. If we are given a G-graded associative algebra A over \mathbb{C} , we define $\mathfrak{A}(A)$, the set of G-graded minimal A_{∞} algebras $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu)$ over \mathbb{C} , with μ^2 coinciding with the product on A.

Definition 2.2.3.22. Suppose that $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu) \in \mathfrak{A}(A)$, and $\mu^s = 0$ for 2 < s < d. Then the A_{∞} associativity relations $\mu \circ \mu = 0$ imply that μ^d is a Hochschild cocycle for A. The class

$$\left[\mu^d\right] \in HH^2_{c,\boldsymbol{G}}(A)^{2-d}$$

is called the order-d deforming class of \mathcal{A} .

Remark 2.2.3.23. In [9] and [1], the class $[\mu^d]$ is called an order-*d* deformation class. However a large part of this paper is devoted to studying different objects (see Definition 2.2.4.8), also elements of Hochschild cohomology, and also called deformation classes in [9]. That is why, to avoid confusing the reader, and only for the purposes of the current paper, we use the terminology 'deforming class' to distinguish this object.

We recall a versality result from [11], appropriately modified to take into account G-grading:

Proposition 2.2.3.24. Suppose that A is a G-graded associative algebra over \mathbb{C} , and there exists d > 2 such that

$$HH_{c,G}^{2}(A)^{2-s} \cong \begin{cases} \mathbb{C} & \text{for } s = d \\ 0 & \text{for all } s > 0, \ s \neq d. \end{cases}$$

Suppose that $\mathcal{A}_1 = (A, \mu_1)$ and $\mathcal{A}_2 = (A, \mu_2)$ both lie in $\mathfrak{A}(A)$, satisfy $\mu_1^s = \mu_2^s = 0$ for all 2 < s < d, and have non-trivial order-d deforming class in $HH^2_{c,G}(A)^{2-d}$. Then \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 are quasi-isomorphic.

Proof. The proof is by a straightforward order-by-order construction of a formal diffeomorphism F such that $F_*\mu_1 = \mu_2$, showing that all obstructions to the existence of F vanish (see also [9, Lemma 3.2]).

Now we define Hochschild cohomology of an A_{∞} algebra:

Definition 2.2.3.25. Suppose that $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu)$ is a G-graded A_{∞} algebra. We define the Hochschild differential

$$egin{array}{rcl} \delta: CC^*(A) & o & CC^*(A), \ \delta(au) & := & [\mu, au] \,. \end{array}$$

It follows from the fact that $\mu \circ \mu = 0$ that δ is a differential, i.e., $\delta^2 = 0$. We define the Hochschild cohomology of \mathcal{A} to be the cohomology,

$$HH^*(\mathcal{A}) := H^*(CC^*(\mathcal{A}), \delta).$$

The Hochschild differential has pure degree f(1), so $HH^*(\mathcal{A})$ is **G**-graded. However, note that the Hochschild differential is no longer pure with respect to the length, so we can not define the $Y \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ -graded compactly-supported version, as we could for an associative algebra. However, δ does always increase (or preserve) the length; therefore, we do still have the length filtration on the Hochschild cochain complex.

Definition 2.2.3.26. Similarly, we can define the *G*-graded Hochschild cohomology,

$$HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A}) := H^*(CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A}), \delta).$$

It is \mathbb{Z} -graded and admits a length filtration.

Definition 2.2.3.27. If $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu)$ is a *G*-graded minimal A_{∞} algebra (i.e., $\mu \in TCC_{G}^{2}(A)$), then the Hochschild differential preserves the truncated Hochschild cochains. Thus it makes sense to define the **truncated Hochschild complex** $(TCC_{G}^{*}(\mathcal{A}), \delta)$, and call its cohomology the **truncated Hochschild cohomology** $THH_{G}^{*}(\mathcal{A})$.

Remark 2.2.3.28. Suppose that A is a **G**-graded associative algebra and $\mathcal{A} \in \mathfrak{A}(A)$. The length filtration on the Hochschild cochain complex $CC^*(\mathcal{A})$ yields a '**G**-graded spectral sequence' $(E_d^{*,*}, \delta_d^{*,*})$. The E_d page is $Y \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ graded, and δ_d has degree (f(1), d). We have

$$E_2^* = HH_c^*(A).$$

When we need to prove that it converges to $HH^*(\mathcal{A})$, we will apply the 'complete convergence theorem' [61, Theorem 5.5.10]. The length filtration is clearly bounded above, because all Hochschild cochains have length $s \geq 0$, and hence it is also exhaustive. It is also complete in the category of G-graded R-bimodules (because the Hochschild cochain complex is defined to be a direct product). Therefore, to prove that the spectral sequence converges to $HH^*(\mathcal{A})$, we must show that it is **regular**: for each $(y, s) \in Y \oplus \mathbb{Z}$, the differentials

$$\delta_d: E_d^{(y,s)} \to E_d^{(y+f(1),s+d)}$$

vanish for sufficiently large d. When we need to prove that the spectral sequence con-

verges, we will in fact show that the differentials δ_d vanish whenever d is sufficiently large (independent of y, s).

Similarly, the length filtration on $CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A})$ induces a cohomological spectral sequence $(E^{*,*}_d, \delta^{*,*}_d)$ with the standard grading convention, and

$$E_2^{s,t} = HH_{c,\boldsymbol{G}}^{s+t}(A)^t.$$

Remark 2.2.3.29. Suppose that A is a **G**-graded associative algebra over \mathbb{C} , and $\mathcal{A} \in \mathfrak{A}(A)$ has $\mu^s = 0$ for 2 < s < d, and order-d deforming class $[\mu^d]$. Then the first non-zero differential in the spectral sequence is δ_{d-1} , and it is given by

$$\delta_{d-1} : HH_c^{(y,s)}(A) \quad \to \quad HH_c^{(y+f(1),s+d-1)}(A),$$

$$\delta_{d-1}(\phi) = \left[\left[\mu^d \right], \phi \right],$$

where we observe that the Gerstenhaber bracket [-, -] descends to the cohomology.

Now we will define the appropriate notions of G-graded A_{∞} categories and their Hochschild cohomology.

Definition 2.2.3.30. Let $G = \{\mathbb{Z} \to Y\}$ be a grading datum, and R a G-graded algebra. A G-graded pre-category C over R is a set of objects Ob(C), together with morphism spaces

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(K,L)$$

which are G-graded R-bimodules, and an action of Y on $Ob(\mathcal{C})$ by 'shifts' [y], together with (compatible) isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(K[y_1], L[y_2]) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(K, L)[y_2 - y_1].$$

We can think of this as equipping \mathcal{C} with an R[Y]-bimodule structure. We define the

group $CC^*(\mathcal{C})$, and the **G**-graded version $CC^*_{\mathbf{G}}(\mathcal{C})$, by analogy with Definitions 2.2.3.1 and 2.2.3.2, restricting to the parts that respect the above isomorphisms. We can think of this strict equivariance requirement as taking $CC^*(\mathcal{C}|R[Y])$, where \mathcal{C} acquires an R[Y]linear structure from the Y-action. Explicitly, it means that for $\phi \in CC^*(\mathcal{C})$, and any $y_0, \ldots, y_s \in Y$, the following diagram commutes:

Definition 2.2.3.31. We define a *G*-graded A_{∞} category *C* over *R* to be a *G*-graded pre-category together with

$$\mu \in CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{C})$$

satisfying $\mu^0 = 0$ and $\mu \circ \mu = 0$. An A_{∞} category is said to be **cohomologically unital** if its cohomological category is unital. We define the Hochschild cohomology $HH^*(\mathcal{C})$ and $HH^*_{\mathbf{G}}(\mathcal{C})$ by analogy with Definition 2.2.3.25. We define \mathbf{G} -graded A_{∞} functors by analogy with \mathbf{G} -graded A_{∞} morphisms. We also consider the case where $\mu^0 \neq 0$; in this case we say that \mathcal{C} is a **curved** A_{∞} **category**.

Definition 2.2.3.32. A *G*-graded A_{∞} category is said to be minimal if μ lies in $TCC_{G}^{2}(\mathcal{C})$.

Remark 2.2.3.33. The notions of unitality and equivalence for minimal A_{∞} categories are simpler than for non-minimal categories. Because there is no differential μ^1 on the morphisms spaces, μ^2 is strictly associative and therefore defines a category. Thus, if (\mathcal{C},μ) is minimal and cohomologically unital, then (\mathcal{C},μ^2) is a category, in particular is unital. We say that two objects of \mathcal{C} are **quasi-isomorphic** if they are quasi-isomorphic as objects of (\mathcal{C},μ^2) . We say that an A_{∞} functor $\mathcal{F}: (\mathcal{C},\mu) \to (\mathcal{D},\eta)$ between minimal A_{∞} categories is a **quasi-equivalence** if the functor $\mathcal{F}^1: (\mathcal{C},\mu^2) \to (\mathcal{D},\eta^2)$ is a quasiequivalence.

Lemma 2.2.3.34. If $\mathfrak{F}: (\mathcal{C}, \mu) \to (\mathcal{D}, \eta)$ is an A_{∞} quasi-equivalence between minimal

 A_{∞} categories, then there exists an A_{∞} functor $\mathfrak{G} : (\mathcal{D}, \eta) \to (\mathcal{C}, \mu)$ such that \mathfrak{F}^1 and \mathfrak{G}^1 are mutually inverse quasi-equivalences.

Proof. Follows from Lemma 2.2.3.19.

Definition 2.2.3.35. If \mathcal{A} is a G-graded A_{∞} algebra, then we denote by $\underline{\mathcal{A}}$ the smallest G-graded A_{∞} category with an object whose endomorphism algebra is \mathcal{A} . Namely, $\underline{\mathcal{A}}$ has objects K[y] indexed by Y, and morphism spaces

$$\text{Hom}(K[y_1], K[y_2]) := \mathcal{A}[y_2 - y_1].$$

By definition, there are isomorphisms

$$CC^*(\mathcal{A}) \cong CC^*(\underline{\mathcal{A}})$$

and

$$CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{A}}) \cong CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\underline{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{A}}}).$$

We define the A_{∞} structure maps μ^* on $\underline{\mathcal{A}}$ to be the image of those on \mathcal{A} under the latter isomorphism.

Now we explain how G-graded A_{∞} categories can be 'pulled back' along injective morphisms of grading data, and how this operation affects the Hochschild cohomology.

Definition 2.2.3.36. Let $p : G_1 \hookrightarrow G_2$ be an injective morphism of grading data, R a G_1 -graded algebra, and C a G_2 -graded pre-category over p_*R . We define p^*C , a G_1 -graded pre-category over R, to have the same objects as C, but G_1 -graded morphism spaces

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{p^*\mathcal{C}}(K,L) := p^*\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(K,L)$$

(thus it is a faithful but not full sub-pre-category). We note that $p^*\mathcal{C}$ still has an action of Y_2 by shifts, so the subgroup $Y_1 \subset Y_2$ acts, equipping $p^*\mathcal{C}$ with the structure of a

 G_1 -graded pre-category over R.

Because Y_2 acts on $p^*\mathcal{C}$ by shifts (shifting all objects simultaneously by the same $y \in Y_2$), it acts on $CC^*(p^*\mathcal{C})$. However the action of the subgroup Y_1 is trivial by definition, since we restrict to Hochschild cochains that respect the shifts by Y_1 . So there is an action of the group $\Gamma := Y_2/Y_1$ on $CC^*(p^*\mathcal{C})$. It is not hard to see that the Γ -fixed part is isomorphic to $p^*CC^*(\mathcal{C})$. Thus, we have

$$\boldsymbol{p}^*CC^*(\mathcal{C})\cong CC^*(\boldsymbol{p}^*\mathcal{C})^{\Gamma},$$

and it follows that

$$CC^*_{G_2}(\mathcal{C}) \cong CC^*_{G_1}(p^*\mathcal{C})^{\Gamma} \subset CC^*_{G_1}(p^*\mathcal{C}).$$

Thus we can make the following:

Definition 2.2.3.37. If C is a G_2 -graded A_{∞} category over R, with structure maps μ^* , then we define p^*C , a G_1 -graded A_{∞} category over R, whose A_{∞} structure maps are given by the image of μ^* under the inclusion

$$CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}_2}(\mathcal{C}) \cong CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}_1}(\boldsymbol{p}^*\mathcal{C})^{\Gamma} \subset CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}_1}(\boldsymbol{p}^*\mathcal{C}).$$

Remark 2.2.3.38. It follows that there are isomorphisms

$$p^*HH^*(\mathcal{C})\cong HH^*(p^*\mathcal{C})^{\Gamma}$$

and

$$HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}_2}(\mathcal{C}) \cong HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}_1}(\boldsymbol{p}^*\mathcal{C})^{\Gamma} \subset HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}_1}(\boldsymbol{p}^*\mathcal{C}).$$

Now we explain how a G-graded A_{∞} category can be 'pushed forward' along a surjective morphism of grading data.

Definition 2.2.3.39. Let $p: G_1 \to G_2$ be a surjective morphism of grading data, and \mathcal{C}

a G_1 -graded A_{∞} category over a G_1 -graded algebra R. We now define a G_2 -graded precategory p_*C over p_*R , as follows: First, observe that there are canonical isomorphisms of G_2 -graded vector spaces

$$\boldsymbol{p}_*\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(K[y],L) \cong \boldsymbol{p}_*\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(K,L)$$

for any $y \in \Gamma$. We define the set of objects of $p_*\mathcal{C}$ to be the quotient of the set of objects of \mathcal{C} by the action of $\Gamma \subset Y_1$. We define the G_2 -graded morphism spaces to be

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\boldsymbol{p}_{\star}\mathcal{C}}(K,L) := \boldsymbol{p}_{\star}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(K,L).$$

This is well-defined by our previous remarks. Furthermore, because p is surjective, there is an obvious action of Y_2 on $p_*\mathcal{C}$ by shifts, so $p_*\mathcal{C}$ is a G_2 -graded pre-category. In some sense we have

$$\boldsymbol{p}_*\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{C} \otimes_{R[Y_1]} R[Y_2].$$

Now it is not hard to see that $CC^{y}(\boldsymbol{p}_{*}\mathcal{C})$ is just the completion of $(\boldsymbol{p}_{*}CC^{*}(\mathcal{C}))^{y}$ with respect to the length filtration, for all $y \in Y_{2}$ (observe that the completion is only needed when \boldsymbol{p} has an infinite kernel). It follows that there is an inclusion

$$CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}_1}(\mathcal{C}) \hookrightarrow CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}_2}(\boldsymbol{p}_*\mathcal{C}).$$

Definition 2.2.3.40. If C is a G_1 -graded A_∞ category over R, with structure maps μ^* , and $p : G_1 \to G_2$ a surjective morphism of grading data, then we define p_*C , a G_2 -graded A_∞ category over p_*R , whose A_∞ structure maps are given by the image of μ^* under the inclusion

$$CC^2_{G_1}(\mathcal{C}) \hookrightarrow CC^2_{G_2}(p_*\mathcal{C}).$$

Remark 2.2.3.41. It follows that $HH^y(p_*\mathcal{C})$ is the completion of $(p_*HH^*(\mathcal{C}))^y$ with respect to the length filtration, for all $y \in Y_2$. Observe that the completion is only needed when p has infinite kernel and $HH^*(\mathcal{C})$ has infinite rank.

2.2.4 Deformations of A_{∞} algebras

For the purposes of this section, let us fix a grading datum G, and a power series ring

$$R \cong \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \ldots, r_k]]$$

with a G-grading.

We also equip R with its natural filtration by order. We denote the order-j part of R by R^j . There is a natural projection $R \to R^0 \cong \mathbb{C}$, given by setting all $r_j = 0$, and we denote the kernel of this projection by $\mathfrak{m} \subset R$.

We also denote by R_0 the part of R of degree $0 \in Y$.

Definition 2.2.4.1. Given $\psi \in R_0$, there is a *G*-graded algebra homomorphism

$$egin{array}{rcl} f_\psi: R & o & R, \ f_\psi(r^j) & := & \psi^j \cdot r^j, \ ext{where} \ r^j \in R^j \ ext{has order} \ j. \end{array}$$

We now define a group, which by abuse of notation we call $\operatorname{Aut}(R)$, by setting

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Aut}(R) &:= & \{\psi \in R_0 : \psi(0) \neq 0\}, \\ \phi \cdot \psi &:= & f_{\phi}(\psi)\phi, \end{aligned}$$

and an action of $\operatorname{Aut}(R)$ on R by G-graded algebra isomorphisms. Note that the condition $\psi(0) \neq 0$ ensures that ψ has a unique inverse in $\operatorname{Aut}(R)$, which can be constructed order-by-order.

Definition 2.2.4.2. If A is a G-graded vector space, then $A \otimes R$ is a G-graded R-bimodule, and we have an isomorphism

$$CC^*(A \otimes R, A \otimes R|R) \cong CC^*(A, A \otimes R|\mathbb{C}).$$

If we have

$$\phi \in CC^*(A, A \otimes R),$$

$$\phi = \sum_{j \ge 0} \phi_j, \text{ where}$$

$$\phi_j \in CC^*(A, A \otimes R^j),$$

then we call ϕ_j the order-*j* component of ϕ .

Definition 2.2.4.3. Let $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu_0)$ be a *G*-graded minimal A_{∞} algebra over \mathbb{C} . A *G*-graded deformation of \mathcal{A} over R is an element

$$\mu \in CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A \otimes R|R) \cong CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A, A \otimes R|\mathbb{C})$$

that makes $A \otimes R$ into an A_{∞} algebra over R (i.e., $\mu \circ \mu = 0$), and whose order-0 component is μ_0 . If $\mu \in TCC^2_{\mathbf{G}}(A, A \otimes R)$, then the deformation is said to be **minimal**.

Remark 2.2.4.4. Observe that $CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A, A \otimes R)$ and $TCC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A, A \otimes R)$ are R_0 -modules in the obvious way.

Definition 2.2.4.5. The group $\operatorname{Aut}(R)$ acts on the set of G-graded deformations of \mathcal{A} over R, via its action on R. We write $\psi \cdot \mu$ for the action of $\psi \in \operatorname{Aut}(R)$ on a deformation μ .

Now suppose that (A, μ_0) and (B, η_0) are G-graded A_∞ algebras over \mathbb{C} , and (A, μ) and (B, η) are G-graded A_∞ deformations of these over R. We recall (from Definition 2.2.3.15) that a G-graded A_∞ morphism from (A, μ) to (B, η) over R is an element

$$F \in TCC^{1}_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A \otimes R, B \otimes R|R) \cong TCC^{1}_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A, B \otimes R|\mathbb{C})$$

such that

 $F \circ \mu - \eta \diamond F = 0.$

Once again, we write

$$F = \sum_{j \ge 0} F_j$$

where F_j is the order-*j* component of *F*. Observe that F_0 is a *G*-graded A_{∞} morphism from (A, μ_0) to (B, η_0) .

The notion of A_{∞} morphisms over R is not very well-behaved (for example, it is not clear that A_{∞} quasi-isomorphisms can be inverted over R). It turns out that it will be sufficient for us to work with **minimal** A_{∞} algebras, and formal diffeomorphisms. We recall the notion of G-graded formal diffeomorphisms from Definition 2.2.3.16, and make appropriate modifications for the case of A_{∞} algebras defined over R:

Definition 2.2.4.6. If A and B are G-graded vector spaces over \mathbb{C} , and R a G-graded power series ring, then a G-graded formal diffeomorphism from $A \otimes R$ to $B \otimes R$ is an element

$$F \in TCC^1_{\mathbf{G}}(A, B \otimes R)$$

such that

$$F_0^1: A \to B$$

is an isomorphism of vector spaces (to clarify: this is the order-0 component of the length-1 part of F).

As before (see Lemmata 2.2.3.17, 2.2.3.18, 2.2.3.19), formal diffeomorphisms can be composed, used to push forward minimal G-graded A_{∞} structures over R, and they can be strictly inverted. This last point is particularly important, because (as we stated above), there is no reason for an arbitrary A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism over R to be invertible.

Now we introduce an analogue of Definition 2.2.3.20 for minimal deformations of A_{∞} algebras.

Definition 2.2.4.7. If $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu_0)$ is a G-graded minimal A_{∞} algebra over \mathbb{C} , we consider the group of G-graded formal diffeomorphisms from A to itself, whose leading-

order term is the identity:

$$\mathfrak{G}_R(A) := \{ F \in TCC^1_{\mathbf{G}}(A, A \otimes R) : F^1 = \mathrm{id} + \mathfrak{m} \}.$$

By the analogues of Lemmata 2.2.3.17, 2.2.3.18 and 2.2.3.19, $\mathfrak{G}_R(A)$ forms a group, and this group acts on the set of G-graded minimal A_{∞} structures on $A \otimes R$. The action of F on $\mu \in TCC^2_G(A, A \otimes R)$ is denoted by $F_*\mu \in TCC^2_G(A, A \otimes R)$, and it is the unique element such that F defines an A_{∞} morphism from μ to $F_*\mu$.

Definition 2.2.4.8. Suppose that μ is a *G*-graded deformation of the A_{∞} algebra $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu_0)$ over *R*. The first-order component of the A_{∞} relation $\mu \circ \mu = 0$ tells us that

$$\mu_1 \in CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}\left(A, A \otimes R^1\right)$$

is a Hochschild cochain. Thus, we obtain an element

$$[\mu_1] \in HH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes R^1),$$

which we call the first-order deformation class of μ .

Definition 2.2.4.9. If μ is a *G*-graded minimal deformation of the minimal A_{∞} algebra \mathcal{A} over R, then the first-order component of μ defines an element in the **truncated** Hochschild cohomology,

$$[\mu_1] \in THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes R^1),$$

which we also call the first-order deformation class of the minimal deformation μ .

We are now almost ready to prove our main classification result for deformations of A_{∞} algebras. It turns out that in our particular situation, we need to incorporate a finite group action into the picture, so we now briefly explain how to do that.

Definition 2.2.4.10. Let H be a finite group. An action of H on a grading datum G

is an action α of H on Y by group homomorphisms,

$$\alpha: H \to \operatorname{Hom}_{Ab}(Y, Y),$$

which preserves \mathbb{Z} . We will denote $\alpha(h)$ by α_h .

Example 2.2.4.11. In the case of Example 2.2.1.13, there is an action of the symmetric group $H = S_n$ on G_n , by permuting the generators of \mathbb{Z}^n .

Definition 2.2.4.12. Suppose that H acts on the grading datum G, and V is a G-graded vector space, and we have an action

$$\rho: H \to \operatorname{Hom}_{Vect}(V, V).$$

We will denote $\rho(h)$ by ρ_h . We say that the action ρ is *G***-graded** if $\rho(h)$ maps V_y to $V_{\alpha_h(y)}$.

Definition 2.2.4.13. Suppose that we have compatible G-graded actions of H on the G-graded algebra R, and on the G-graded R-bimodules A and B. Then H acts on the \mathbb{Z} -graded vector space $CC^*_G(A, B)$ (preserving the grading), via

$$(h \cdot \phi)^s(a_s, \ldots, a_1) := h^{-1} \cdot \phi^s(h \cdot a_s, \ldots, h \cdot a_1).$$

We denote the *H*-invariant part of $CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A, B)$ by

$$CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,B)^H := \{ \phi \in CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,B) : h \cdot \phi = \phi \text{ for all } h \in H \}.$$

Definition 2.2.4.14. We say that a G-graded A_{∞} algebra $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu)$ over R is strictly H-equivariant if μ lies in $CC_G^2(A)^H \subset CC_G^2(A)$. Equivalently, we have

$$\mu^k(h \cdot a_k, \dots, h \cdot a_1) = h \cdot \mu^k(a_k, \dots, a_1)$$

for all k and all $h \in H$.

Remark 2.2.4.15. We remark that $TCC_{\boldsymbol{G}}^2(A, A \otimes R)^H$ is naturally a R_0^H -module (compare Remark 2.2.4.4).

Now we prove our main classification result for G-graded deformations of A_{∞} algebras over R:

Proposition 2.2.4.16. Suppose that $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu_0)$ is a *G*-graded minimal A_{∞} algebra over \mathbb{C} , and furthermore is strictly *H*-equivariant with respect to the action of some finite group *H* on *A*. Suppose that

$$THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}\otimes R)^H$$

is generated, as an R_0^H -module, by its first-order part

$$THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}\otimes R^1)^H,$$

and this first-order part is one-dimensional as a \mathbb{C} -vector space. Then any two strictly Hequivariant G-graded minimal deformations of \mathcal{A} , whose first-order deformation classes
are non-zero in

$$THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}\otimes R^1)^H,$$

are related by an element of $\operatorname{Aut}(R)^H$ composed with a *G*-graded formal diffeomorphism.

Proof. Suppose that (A, μ) and (A, η) are two such deformations. We will construct, order-by-order, elements $\psi \in \operatorname{Aut}(R)^H$ and $F \in TCC^1_G(A, A \otimes R)^H$ so that $\psi \cdot \mu = F_*\eta$. The equation that ψ and F must satisfy is

$$\psi \cdot \mu = F_*\eta.$$

We call this the A_{∞} relation for the purposes of this proof.

We denote

$$\psi = \sum_{j \ge 0} \psi_j, \text{ where } \psi_j \in (R^j)_0^H, \text{ and}$$

$$F = \sum_{j \ge 0} F_j, \text{ where } F_j \in TCC^1_G(A, A \otimes R^j)^H.$$

We start with $F_0 = \text{id.}$ The order-zero component of the A_{∞} equation says that $\mu_0 = \eta_0$, which is true by assumption.

Now suppose, inductively, that we have determined F_j and ψ_{j-1} for all $j \leq k-1$, *H*-invariant and **G**-graded, and that

$$(\psi \cdot \mu - F_*\eta)_j = 0$$
 for all $j \le k - 1$

We show that it is possible to choose F_k and ψ_{k-1} so that

$$(\psi \cdot \mu - F_*\eta)_k = 0.$$

The left hand side lies in $TCC_{G}^{2}(A, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{k})^{H}$.

First, we observe that

$$[\psi \cdot \mu - F_*\eta, \psi \cdot \mu + F_*\eta] = 0,$$

by expanding out the brackets: the cross-terms vanish by symmetry ($\psi \cdot \mu$ and $F_*\eta$ both have degree 2), and the other terms vanish because $\psi \cdot \mu$ and $F_*\eta$ are A_∞ structures. Now note that

$$(\psi \cdot \mu + F_*\eta)_0 = \mu_0 + \eta_0 = 2\mu_0,$$

so taking the order-k component of the previous equation gives us

$$\begin{split} [\psi \cdot \mu - F_*\eta, \mu_0]_k &= 0 \\ \Rightarrow \delta \left((\psi \cdot \mu - F_*\eta)_k \right) = 0, \end{split}$$

regardless of what F_k and ψ_{k-1} are.

Now we pick out the terms in $(\psi \cdot \mu - F_*\eta)_k$ that involve F_k and ψ_{k-1} . After a little calculation along the lines of the proof of Lemma 2.2.3.17, we see that it has the form

$$(\psi \cdot \mu - F_*\eta)_k = \psi_{k-1} \cdot \mu_1 + F_k \circ \mu_0 - \eta_0 \circ F_k + D_k,$$

where D_k contains all the terms that do not involve ψ_{k-1} or F_k . We recall that $\eta_0 = \mu_0$, and identify the Hochschild differential:

$$(\psi \cdot \mu - F_*\eta)_k = \psi_{k-1} \cdot \mu_1 + \delta(F_k) + D_k.$$

Note that if we set $F_k = 0$ and $\psi_{k-1} = 0$, our previous argument shows that $\delta(D_k) = 0$, so D_k defines a class

$$[D_k] \in THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes R^k)^H.$$

Thus, we need to choose ψ_{k-1} so that $\psi_{k-1} \cdot [\mu_1] = -[D_k]$ in the truncated Hochschild cohomology $THH^2_G(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathbb{R}^k)^H$. We can do this by our assumption that $[\mu_1]$ is nonzero, hence generates the one-dimensional first-order component $THH^2_G(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathbb{R}^1)^H$, which generates $THH^2_G(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathbb{R})^H$ as a \mathbb{R}^H_0 -module. We then choose F_k to effect the Hochschild coboundary between $\psi_{k-1} \cdot \mu_1$ and $-D_k$. We can make F_k *H*-invariant by averaging over *H*.

Finally, note that at first order, we have

$$\psi_0 \cdot [\mu_1] = [\eta_1],$$

from which it follows that $\psi_0 \neq 0$, because $[\mu_1]$ and $[\eta_1]$ are both non-zero, so indeed $\psi \in \operatorname{Aut}(R)^H$.

2.2.5 Computations

In this section, we introduce specific G-graded A_{∞} algebras and deformations, and use the results of the previous sections to prove classification theorems for them.

Let us introduce some notation. We fix an integer $n \ge 4$ (we will be considering hypersurfaces in \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}) and $a \ge 1$ (this will be the degree of the hypersurface in \mathbb{CP}^{n-1} that we will consider). In our intended applications in the current paper, a will be either 1 or n.

Throughout this section, we will be using the grading datum $G := G_1^n$ from Example 2.2.1.13. For an element $y \in Y$, we will denote

$$|y| := y_{[n]} \cdot y.$$

We will denote by H the symmetric group on n elements, and recall that it acts on G (see Example 2.2.4.11).

We recall the G-graded exterior algebra

$$A := A_n := \Lambda(U_n)$$

of Definition 2.2.2.12. For each subset $K \subset [n]$, we denote the corresponding element of A by

$$\theta^K := \bigwedge_{j \in K} \theta^j.$$

We equip the vector space U_n with an *H*-action, which up to sign is the obvious action

by permuting basis elements. In other words,

$$h(u_j) = \pm u_{h(j)}.$$

We will not need to specify the actual signs. There is an induced action of H on A.

We recall the G-graded ring

$$R_a := R_a^n := \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \dots, r_n]]$$

from Definition 2.2.2.13. We give a name to one important element of R_a : we denote

$$T := r^{y_{[n]}} = r_1 \dots r_n.$$

We equip R_a with an H action, which up to sign is the obvious action by permuting basis elements. We furthermore denote

$$R := R_n$$

because a = n is the most important case we will consider. Finally, we will denote by R_a^j the order-*j* part of R_a . Note the change of notation from Definition 2.2.2.13, where the superscript denoted the number of generators. We hope this does not cause confusion.

Definition 2.2.5.1. Suppose that $A \cong \Lambda(U)$ is an exterior algebra over \mathbb{C} , and R is an arbitrary commutative ring. We define the *R*-algebra $A \otimes R$, and the **Hochschild-Kostant-Rosenberg map**

$$egin{array}{rcl} \Phi: CC^*(A\otimes R|R) &
ightarrow R[[U]]\otimes A, \ \phi &\mapsto & \displaystyle\sum_{s=0}^\infty \phi^s(oldsymbol{u},\ldots,oldsymbol{u}), \end{array}$$

where

$$oldsymbol{u} := \sum_{j=1}^n u_j heta^j.$$

It has the following properties:

- If R is a field, then Φ induces an isomorphism on the level of cohomology (the Hochschild-Kostant-Rosenberg isomorphism [47]);
- If S is an R-algebra, then there is a commutative diagram

We call the latter property 'naturality' of the HKR map.

Definition 2.2.5.2. Let us fix a = n. We say that a *G*-graded A_{∞} algebra \mathcal{A} over *R* has type A if it satisfies the following properties:

• Its underlying *R*-module and order-0 cohomology algebra is

$$(\mathcal{A}, \mu_0^2) \cong A \otimes R;$$

- It is strictly *H*-equivariant;
- It satisfies

$$\Phi(\mu^{\geq 3}) = u_1 \dots u_n + \sum_{j=1}^n r_j u_j^n + \mathcal{O}(r^2).$$

Now we state the main result we will prove in this section:

Theorem 6. Suppose that $A_1 = (A \otimes R, \mu)$ and $A_2 = (A \otimes R, \eta)$ are two **G**-graded A_{∞}

algebras over R of type A. Then there exists $\psi \in R_0^H$, of the form

$$\psi(r_1,\ldots,r_n)=1+\sum_{j=1}^{\infty}c_jT^j,$$

and a *G*-graded formal diffeomorphism $F \in \mathfrak{G}_R(A)$, such that

$$\psi \cdot \mathcal{A}_1 = F_* \mathcal{A}_2.$$

We will now give a brief outline of the proof. The first step is to prove (in Corollary 2.2.5.7, using Proposition 2.2.3.24) that the order-0 parts (A, μ_0) and (A, η_0) are quasi-isomorphic. The classification of the order-0 part is governed by the Hochschild cohomology $HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A)$, which is determined via the Hochschild-Kostant-Rosenberg (HKR) isomorphism. We thereafter denote by $\mathcal{A} \cong (A, \mu_0)$ this (unique up to formal diffeomorphism) order-0 part.

We then study deformations of \mathcal{A} over R. The classification of such deformations is governed by the Hochschild cohomology $HH^*_G(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes R)$, which is also determined from the HKR isomorphism, via a spectral sequence. We apply Proposition 2.2.4.16 to show that such deformations are unique up to A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism and the action of $\operatorname{Aut}(R)^H$.

Now let us begin. We first explain how to use the HKR isomorphism [47] to calculate $HH^*_{\mathbf{G}}(A)$, and more generally $HH^*_{\mathbf{G}}(A, A \otimes R_a)$. The HKR isomorphism show that, if $A = \Lambda(U)$ is a **G**-graded exterior algebra over \mathbb{C} , then the map

$$\Phi: (CC_c^*(A), \delta) \to (\mathbb{C}[U] \otimes \Lambda(U), 0),$$

is a quasi-isomorphism of $Y \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ -graded chain complexes. This allows us to determine

$$HH^*(A) \cong \mathbb{C}[[U]] \otimes \Lambda(U)$$

by taking the completion with respect to the length filtration, and also $HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A)$, where now we equip A with its \boldsymbol{G} -grading. We will make the \boldsymbol{G} -grading of the right-hand side explicit in Lemma 2.2.5.4.

More generally, it follows that there is an isomorphism of $Y \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ -graded vector spaces,

$$\Phi: HH^*_c(A, A \otimes R_a) \to \mathbb{C}[U] \otimes \Lambda(U) \otimes R_a.$$

 $\mathbb{C}[U] \otimes \Lambda(U) \otimes R_a$ is generated by terms $u^{\boldsymbol{b}} \theta^K r^{\boldsymbol{c}}$, where $\boldsymbol{b}, \boldsymbol{c} \in Y_{\geq 0}$ (recall $Y \cong \mathbb{Z}^n$, so we define $Y_{\geq 0} := \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^n$) and $K \subset [n]$. If $\boldsymbol{b} = \sum_j b_j e_j$, then this is the image under Φ of a Hochschild cochain which sends

$$\bigotimes_{j} (\theta^{j})^{\otimes b_{j}} \mapsto r^{c} \theta^{K}.$$

We start by examining what the various gradings on a Hochschild cochain tell us.

Lemma 2.2.5.3. If a generator $\tau \in CC_{c,\boldsymbol{G}}^{s+t}(A, A \otimes R_a^j)^t$ sends

$$\bigotimes_{i=1}^{s} \theta^{K_i} \mapsto r^{\boldsymbol{c}} \theta^{K_0},$$

then we have

$$j = |\boldsymbol{c}| \tag{2.2.5.1}$$

$$ac + y_{K_0} - \sum_{i=1} y_{K_i} = qy_{[n]} \text{ in } Y, \text{ for some } q$$
 (2.2.5.2)

$$t = (n-2)q + (2-a)j.$$
 (2.2.5.3)

Proof. Equation (2.2.5.1) follows by definition. To prove Equations (2.2.5.2) and (2.2.5.3), we recall that the grading of θ_j is $(-1, y_j)$ (Example 2.2.2.9) and the grading of r_j is $(2 - 2a, ay_j)$ (Example 2.2.2.10). We alter the grading datum G by an automorphism

sending

$$(j, y) \mapsto (j + y_{[n]} \cdot y, y).$$

This is equivalent to considering the pseudo-grading datum with the same exact sequence as H_n , but

$$c = 2(n-1) - y_{[n]} \cdot y_{[n]} = n-2.$$

Then θ_j has grading $(0, y_j)$ and r_j has grading $(2 - a, ay_j)$.

If the grading of τ is $f(t) = (t, 0) \in (\mathbb{Z} \oplus Y)/Z$, then

$$(0, y_{K_0}) + ((2-a)|\mathbf{c}|, a\mathbf{c}) - \sum_{j=1}^{s} (0, y_{K_j}) \cong (t, 0) \text{ modulo } Z.$$

Recalling that the image of Z in $\mathbb{Z} \oplus Y$ is given by

$$((2-n)q, qy_{[n]})$$

(in the altered grading datum), we have

$$(0, y_{K_0}) + ((2-a)|\mathbf{c}|, a\mathbf{c}) - \sum_{j=1}^{s} (0, y_{K_j}) = (t, 0) + q(2-n, y_{[n]}),$$

from which the result follows.

Now recalling the Hochschild-Kostant-Rosenberg isomorphism, a generator of $HH^{s+t}_{c,\mathbf{G}}(A, A \otimes R_a)^t$ has the form $u^{\boldsymbol{b}}\theta^K r^{\boldsymbol{c}}$, where \boldsymbol{b} and \boldsymbol{c} are elements of $Y_{\geq 0}$, and $K \subset [n]$. We examine what the gradings tell us about such a generator of the Hochschild cohomology.

Lemma 2.2.5.4. If $u^{b}\theta^{K}r^{c}$ is a generator of $HH_{c,G}^{s+t}(A, A \otimes R_{a}^{j})^{t}$, then the following

equations hold:

$$j = |\boldsymbol{c}| \tag{2.2.5.4}$$

$$s = |\mathbf{b}| \tag{2.2.5.5}$$

$$y_K + a\boldsymbol{c} - \boldsymbol{b} = qy_{[n]} \text{ in } Y, \text{ for some } q \qquad (2.2.5.6)$$

$$t = (n-2)q + (2-a)j \qquad (2.2.5.7)$$

$$|K| = s + t + 2(q - j).$$
(2.2.5.8)

$$(n-2)|K| = (n-2)s + nt + 2(a-n)j$$
(2.2.5.9)

Proof. Equations (2.2.5.4) and (2.2.5.5) hold by definition. Equation (2.2.5.6) follows from Equation (2.2.5.2). Equation (2.2.5.7) follows from Equation (2.2.5.3). The first step in proving Equations (2.2.5.8) and (2.2.5.9) is to take the dot product of Equation (2.2.5.6) with $y_{[n]}$:

$$y_{[n]} \cdot (y_K + a\mathbf{c} - \mathbf{b}) = qy_{[n]} \cdot y_{[n]}$$
$$\Rightarrow |K| = |\mathbf{b}| - a|\mathbf{c}| + nq$$
$$= s - aj + nq.$$

To prove equation (2.2.5.8), we use equation (2.2.5.7) to substitute for nq:

$$|K| = s - aj + t + (a - 2)j + 2q$$

= $s + t + 2(q - j).$

We use the same equation to prove equation (2.2.5.9), but this time we first multiply by n then substitute in equation (2.2.5.7):

$$(n-2)|K| = (n-2)(s-aj+nq)$$

= $(n-2)s - (n-2)aj + n(t+(a-2)j)$
= $(n-2)s + nt + 2(a-n)j.$

We now set about determining the order-0 part of an A_{∞} algebra of type A. We identify the possible **G**-graded A_{∞} algebras $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu_0)$ over \mathbb{C} with underlying vector space and μ_0^2 given by A.

Lemma 2.2.5.5. We have

$$CC^*_{c,G}(A)^t \cong 0$$

unless t is divisible by (n-2).

Proof. Follows from Equation (2.2.5.7) with j = 0.

Lemma 2.2.5.6. The Hochschild cohomology of A satisfies, for d > 0,

$$HH^2_{c,G}(A)^{2-d} \cong \begin{cases} \mathbb{C} \cdot u^{y_{[n]}} & \text{if } d = n, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where $u^{y_{[n]}} = u_1 \dots u_n$.

Proof. Let $u^{b}\theta^{K}$ be a generator of $HH^{2}_{c,G}(A)^{2-d}$. Equation (2.2.5.7), with j = 0, yields

$$d = 2 - (n-2)q.$$

We want d > 0, so we have q < 0. Now equation (2.2.5.8), with j = 0, yields

$$2 + 2q = |K| \ge 0.$$

Thus, $-1 \le q < 0$, so q = -1 and |K| = 0, so $K = \phi$.

Equation (2.2.5.6) now yields $\boldsymbol{b} = y_{[n]}$. Therefore $u^{\boldsymbol{b}} \theta^{K} = u^{y_{[n]}}$, as required.

Corollary 2.2.5.7. There is an A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism between the 0th-order parts of \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 :

$$(A,\mu_0)\cong (A,\eta_0).$$

Proof. First, we observe that $CC_{c,G}^2(A)^1 \cong 0$ by Equation (2.2.5.3) (with j = 0, and assuming $n \geq 4$), so the A_{∞} algebras are minimal. Furthermore, $\mu_0^d = 0$ for 2 < d < nbecause $CC_{c,G}^2(A)^{2-d} \cong 0$ by Lemma 2.2.5.5. The result now follows from Proposition 2.2.3.24, because the deforming class of an algebra of type A is

$$\Phi_0(\mu_0) = u_1 \dots u_n = u^{y_{[n]}}$$

by definition.

Henceforth, we will denote by \mathcal{A} any G-graded minimal A_{∞} algebra over \mathbb{C} with cohomology algebra given by A, and whose order-n deforming class is a non-zero multiple of $u^{y_{[n]}}$. The previous lemma says that \mathcal{A} is well-defined up to quasi-isomorphism.

We will consider deformations of \mathcal{A} over R_a , which are controlled by the Hochschild cohomology with coefficients in R_a ,

$$HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}\otimes R_a).$$

Recall from Remark 2.2.3.28 that the filtration by length on the Hochschild complex CC(A) yields a spectral sequence for the Hochschild cohomology, with

$$E_2^{*,*} = HH_c^*(A, A).$$

Lemma 2.2.5.8. The spectral sequence induced by the length filtration on the Hochschild cochain complex $CC^*(\mathcal{A})$ converges to the Hochschild cohomology $HH^*(\mathcal{A})$.

Proof. By Remark 2.2.3.28, it suffices to prove that the spectral sequence is regular.

A generator $u^{b}\theta^{K}$ of $HH_{c}^{*}(A)$ changes the Y-degree by

$$(-|K|+|\mathbf{b}|,-\mathbf{b}+y_K)\in\mathbb{Z}\oplus Y/(2,y_{[n]}),$$

and its length is $s = |\mathbf{b}|$. Therefore, its grading is

$$(-|K|+2|\boldsymbol{b}|,-\boldsymbol{b}+y_K)$$

(recalling the conventions for grading Hochschild cochains). Using a suitably altered pseudo-grading datum as in the proof of Lemma 2.2.5.3, this is equivalent to a grading

$$(|K|, -\boldsymbol{b} + y_K)$$

(note: c = 2 in this altered pseudo-grading datum).

Now recall that the differential on page d of the spectral sequence maps

$$\delta_d: E_d^{(y,s)} \to E_d^{(y+f(1),s+d)}.$$

If both domain and codomain of the differential are to be non-zero, then we must have generators $u^{b_1}\theta^{K_1}$ and $u^{b_2}\theta^{K_2}$ such that

$$(|K_1| + 1, -\boldsymbol{b}_1 + y_{K_1}) = (|K_2|, -\boldsymbol{b}_2 + y_{K_2}) + q(2, y_{[n]})$$

and

$$|\boldsymbol{b}_2| = |\boldsymbol{b}_1| + d.$$

Because $0 \le |K_1|, |K_2| \le n$, and $|K_1| + 1 = |K_2| + 2q$, we must have $q \le (n+1)/2$. We also have

$$m{b}_2 = m{b}_1 + y_{K_2} - y_{K_1} + q y_{[n]},$$

and hence that

$$|\mathbf{b}_2| = |\mathbf{b}_1| + |K_2| - |K_1| + nq = |\mathbf{b}_1| + 1 + (n-2)q.$$

Therefore, for the differential δ_d to be non-zero, we must have

$$d = |\mathbf{b}_2| - |\mathbf{b}_1| = (n-2)q + 1 \le \frac{(n+1)(n-2)}{2} + 1.$$

Hence, for d sufficiently large, the differential vanishes, so the spectral sequence is regular.

Now, if we are to apply the deformation theory of Section 2.2.4, we need to know that our deformations are minimal.

Lemma 2.2.5.9. If a = n, and $n \ge 5$, then any *G*-graded deformation of *A* over *R* is minimal.

Proof. Equation (2.2.5.3) with a = n shows that

$$CC^2_{c,\boldsymbol{G}}(A,A\otimes R)^t\cong 0$$

unless t is divisible by (n-2). The μ^0 and μ^1 terms live in the spaces with t = 2 and t = 1, respectively. So when $n \ge 5$, any deformation of \mathcal{A} over R satisfies $\mu^0 = 0$ and $\mu^1 = 0$, hence is minimal.

Remark 2.2.5.10. Lemma 2.2.5.9 is the only place where we need the assumption $n \ge 5$, as opposed to $n \ge 4$. If n = 4, then $CC_{c,G}^2(A, A \otimes R)^0$ is one-dimensional, generated by the element $T\theta^{[4]}$. These deformations can be ruled out in our situation with some additional input (namely, by building a strictly unital model for our category), but we prefer to avoid this additional complication. See [9].

The next step is to determine the first-order deformation space.

Lemma 2.2.5.11. If $n \ge 4$, then the vector space

$$HH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A, A \otimes R^1_a)$$

is generated by the elements

 $r_j u_j^a$,

for j = 1, ..., n.

Proof. We apply Lemma 2.2.5.4 with s + t = 2 and j = 1. Equation (2.2.5.8) yields

$$|K| = 2q \ge 0.$$

Furthermore, Equation (2.2.5.7) gives

$$2-s = (n-2)q + 2 - a$$

$$\Rightarrow a-s = (n-2)q.$$

Furthermore, we have $\boldsymbol{c} = y_k$ for some k. Taking the dot product of y_k with Equation (2.2.5.6) gives us

$$y_k \cdot (y_K + a\boldsymbol{c} - \boldsymbol{b}) = qy_k \cdot y_{[n]}$$

$$\Rightarrow (0 \text{ or } 1) = -a + y_k \cdot \boldsymbol{b} + q$$

$$\leq -a + s + q$$

$$= (3 - n)q.$$

If $n \ge 4$, then 3 - n < 0 and $q \ge 0$, so we must have q = 0. Thus, we have |K| = 2q = 0, so $K = \phi$. From Equation (2.2.5.6), we obtain $\mathbf{b} = ay_j$, so the generator has the form

$$r_j u_j^a$$
.

Having determined the first-order deformation space, we now seek to understand the higher-order parts of the deformation. The following lemma will be useful:

Lemma 2.2.5.12. If $r^{c}u^{b}\theta^{K}$ is a generator of $THH^{2}_{G}(A, A \otimes R_{a})$, and $j = |c| \geq 2$, then $c \geq y_{[n]}$.

Proof. We apply Lemma 2.2.5.4, with s + t = 2. Equation (2.2.5.8) yields

$$0 \le |K| = 2(1 + q - j).$$

It follows that $q \ge j - 1$. Now we split into two cases, depending on whether q = j - 1or q > j - 1.

Case 1: q = j - 1. In this case, we have |K| = 0 so $K = \phi$. Thus Equation (2.2.5.6) gives

$$a\boldsymbol{c} = q\boldsymbol{y}_{[n]} + \boldsymbol{b}.$$

Taking the dot product with y_k yields

$$ac_k = q + b_k \ge q = j - 1 > 0,$$

since $j \ge 2$. Hence $c_k \ge 1$ for all k, and the result is proved.

Case 2: q > j - 1. In this case, we have $q > j - 1 \ge 1$, so $q \ge 2$. Thus, taking the dot product of Equation (2.2.5.6) with y_k gives

$$ac_k = q + b_k - y_k \cdot y_K \ge q - 1 > 0.$$

Hence $c_k \geq 1$ for all k, and the result is proved.

Now if a = n, then the grading of $T = r^{y_{[n]}} \in R_0$ is 0 in \mathbb{Z} , and furthermore T is clearly *H*-invariant. Thus $\mathbb{C}[[T]] \subset R_0^H$ (in fact one can show they are equal). It follows that $THH_G^2(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes R)^H$ is a $\mathbb{C}[[T]]$ -module.

Lemma 2.2.5.13. Suppose that a = n, and $n \ge 4$. Then the *H*-invariant part of the truncated Hochschild cohomology group

$$THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}\otimes R)^H$$

is generated, as a $\mathbb{C}[[T]]$ -module, by its first-order part

$$THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}\otimes R^1)^H.$$

Proof. We prove the result by induction on the order j, and using the spectral sequence induced by the length filtration.

When j = 0, we must show that $THH^2_G(\mathcal{A}) \cong 0$. Let $u^b \theta^K$ be a generator of $THH^2_G(\mathcal{A})$. By equation (2.2.5.7) with j = 0, we have

$$t = (n-2)q \le 0$$

(since we are considering the truncated Hochschild cohomology). By equation (2.2.5.8) with j = 0, we have

$$|K| = 2(1+q) \ge 0.$$

Thus we have $-1 \le q \le 0$. We have two cases:

Case 1: q = 0. In this case, |K| = 2, t = 0, so s = 2. Equation (2.2.5.6) yields

$$y_K = \boldsymbol{a},$$

so our generator has the form $u_i u_k \theta^i \wedge \theta^k$. But now, if $\sigma_{ik} \in H$ denotes the transposition

of elements i and k, we have

$$\sigma_{ik}(u_i u_k \theta^i \wedge \theta^k) = u_k u_i \theta^k \wedge \theta^i = -u_i u_k \theta^i \wedge \theta^k.$$

Hence, the coefficient of this term in any H-invariant element of the truncated Hochschild cohomology must be 0.

Remark 2.2.5.14. Recall that H may differ from the obvious action by permutation of basis elements, by some signs. However, each sign appears twice (once for u_i , once for θ^i), so they do not affect this computation.

Case 2: q = -1. In this case, |K| = 0, so $K = \phi$. Equation (2.2.5.6) yields

$$y_{[n]} = \boldsymbol{b}.$$

Thus, the generator is $u^{y_{[n]}}$, the deforming class identified in Lemma 2.2.5.6. However, this generator gets killed by the first non-trivial differential of the spectral sequence. To see this, observe that, because $\mu^d = 0$ for 2 < d < n by Lemma 2.2.5.5, the first non-trivial differential is δ_{n-1} , and is given by

$$\delta_{n-1}(\phi) = [[\mu^n], \phi] = [u^{y_{[n]}}, \phi]$$

(see Remark 2.2.3.29). The Gerstenhaber bracket on $CC^*(A)$ gets carried to the Schouten bracket on polyvector fields $\mathbb{C}[[U]] \otimes \Lambda(U)$. It follows quickly from the explicit form of the Schouten bracket (see [20, Equation (3.7)]) that for any $W \in \mathbb{C}[[U]]$,

$$[W,\eta] = \iota_{dW}(\eta),$$

and therefore that the cohomology of [W, -] is the cohomology of the Koszul complex associated to dW. In particular, the class W itself gets killed by taking the cohomology of this differential. In our case, this means that $u^{y_{[n]}}$ is killed by δ_{n-1} . This completes the proof that $THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A}) \cong 0$.

When j = 1, the statement is simply that the first-order part is generated by the first-order part. So it remains to prove that, for $j \ge 2$, the order-j part is generated by the first-order part.

Suppose, inductively, that

$$THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}\otimes R^k)\subset \mathbb{C}[[T]]\cdot THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}\otimes R^1)$$

for all $k \leq j - 1$, for some $j \geq 2$. We prove that the same holds for k = j. Let

$$r^{\mathbf{c}}u^{\mathbf{b}}\theta^{K} \in THH^{2}_{\mathbf{G}}(A, A \otimes R^{j})$$

be a generator. Because $j \ge 2$, it follows from Lemma 2.2.5.12 that $r^c = T \cdot r^{c'}$, where

$$\boldsymbol{c}' = \boldsymbol{c} - y_{[n]} \ge 0.$$

Because $T \in R_0$, we have

$$r^{\boldsymbol{c}'}u^{\boldsymbol{b}}\theta^{K}\in THH^{2}_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,A\otimes R^{j-n}).$$

It follows that

$$THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,A\otimes R^j) = T\cdot THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A,A\otimes R^{j-n})$$

and hence, from the spectral sequence induced by the length filtration, that

$$THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}\otimes R^j)=T\cdot THH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}\otimes R^{j-n}).$$

The result now follows by taking H-invariant parts of this equation.

This completes the inductive step, and hence the proof.

Corollary 2.2.5.15. There exists a $\psi \in \mathbb{C}[[T]]$, with $\psi(0) = 1$, and an *G*-graded formal diffeomorphism *F*, such that

$$\psi \cdot \mathcal{A}_1 = F_* \mathcal{A}_2.$$

Proof. By Corollary 2.2.5.7, there is a formal diffeomorphism F_0 from (A, η_0) to (A, μ_0) . Therefore we can push forward η by F_0 , and reduce to the case where $\mu_0 = \eta_0$. The result then follows from Proposition 2.2.4.16 and Lemma 2.2.5.13.

This completes the proof of Theorem 6.

We now make one final computation of Hochschild cohomology. For this computation, we will be interested in an extra structure on Hochschild cohomology: the **Yoneda product**, which makes it into an associative algebra. In fact, together with the Gerstenhaber bracket, this makes the Hochschild cohomology into a **Gerstenhaber algebra** (see [62]).

Definition 2.2.5.16. The Hochschild cohomology $HH^*(\mathcal{A})$ of a G-graded A_{∞} algebra \mathcal{A} carries the G-graded, associative **Yoneda product**, which has the form

$$(\phi \bullet \psi)^n(x_n,\ldots,x_1) :=$$

$$\sum_{i+j+k+l+m=n} (-1)^{\dagger} \mu^{m+k+i+2}(x_{i+j+k+l+m}, \dots, \phi^{l}(x_{i+j+k+l}, \dots), x_{i+j+k}, \dots, \psi^{j}(x_{i+j}, \dots), x_{i}, \dots)$$

where *†* is some sign.

Remark 2.2.5.17. We record the following useful information about the Yoneda product:

• If \boldsymbol{k} is a field, and U a \boldsymbol{k} -vector space, then the HKR isomorphism

$$\Phi: HH^*(\Lambda(U)) \to \boldsymbol{k}[[U]] \otimes \Lambda(U),$$

is an isomorphism of k-algebras, where the product on $HH^*(\Lambda(U))$ is the Yoneda product, and the product on polyvector fields is the wedge product (see [63, Section 8]);

• The spectral sequence $E_d^{s,t} \Rightarrow HH^*(\mathcal{A})$ induced by the length filtration (Remark 2.2.3.28) respects the multiplicative structure of the Yoneda product.

We now carry out our final Hochschild cohomology computation. Suppose that \mathcal{A} is an A_{∞} algebra of type A, and $\underline{\mathcal{A}}$ its extension to a G_1^n -graded category. We denote

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} := \boldsymbol{p}_1^* \underline{\mathcal{A}},$$

where q_1 and p_1 are the morphisms of grading data defined in Lemma 2.2.1.14. Note that $q_{1*}\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$ is a $G_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -graded (or equivalently, \mathbb{Z} -graded) A_{∞} category, over the \mathbb{Z} -graded coefficient ring $q_{1*}p_1^*R \cong R$, which has degree $0 \in \mathbb{Z}$, by Remark 2.2.2.11. Therefore, the homomorphism

$$\begin{array}{rcl} R & \to & \Lambda, \\ \\ r_i & \mapsto & r \text{ for all } j \end{array}$$

respects the Z-grading, and we can form the $G_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -graded Λ -linear A_{∞} category

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov} := q_{1*}\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_R \Lambda.$$

Our aim now is to compute a certain part of

$$HH^*\left(\left.\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}\right|\Lambda\right).$$

We observe that Y_1^n acts on $\underline{\mathcal{A}}$ by shifts, hence also acts on $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}$, hence also acts on $CC^*(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov})$. The action of $\ker(Y_n^n \to \mathbb{Z}) \subset Y_1^n$ is trivial, because shifts in this subgroup

become trivial when we take q_{1*} of our category. The action of \mathbb{Z} is also trivial, because we consider only \mathbb{Z} -equivariant cochains, by definition. It follows that the action of the image of Y_n^n in Y_1^n is trivial, so there is an action of

$$\tilde{\Gamma}_n^* \cong Y_1^n / Y_n^n$$

on $CC^*(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov})$. Note that this is the same $\widetilde{\Gamma}_n^*$ as in Definition 2.1.2.4.

Lemma 2.2.5.18. There is an isomorphism of \mathbb{Z} -graded Λ -algebras,

$$HH^*\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}\right)^{\widetilde{\Gamma}_n^*} \cong \Lambda[\alpha]/\alpha^{n-1},$$

where α has degree 2.

Proof. We consider the spectral sequence induced by the length filtration on

$$CC^*\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}\right)^{\widetilde{\Gamma}_n^*}.$$

As we saw in Remark 2.2.3.28, the filtration is bounded above, hence exhaustive, and is also complete. So if we can prove that it is regular, then it must converge to the Hochschild cohomology.

We observe that there is an obvious morphism of chain complexes,

$$CC^*\left(\boldsymbol{q}_{1*}\boldsymbol{p}_1^*\underline{\mathcal{A}}\right)\otimes_R\Lambda\to CC^*\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}\right),$$

and indeed the A_{∞} structure maps on $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}$ are the image of the A_{∞} structure maps of \mathcal{A} under this morphism. However, this is **not** necessarily a quasi-isomorphism, because the Hochschild cochain complex is defined as a direct product over cochains of all lengths $s \geq 0$, and arbitrary direct products do not commute with $\otimes_R \Lambda$.

On the other hand, finite direct products do commute with $\otimes_R \Lambda$, so the above

morphism of chain complexes does induce an isomorphism after we quotient by chains of length greater than some fixed s. It follows that there is an isomorphism between the spectral sequences induced by the length filtrations on

$$CC^*\left(\boldsymbol{q}_{1*}\boldsymbol{p}_1^*\underline{\mathcal{A}}\right)\otimes_R\Lambda$$

and on

$$CC^*\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}\right)$$

(it is just that the filtration on the former chain complex is not complete, so the associated spectral sequence may not converge to its cohomology).

Now, applying Remarks 2.2.3.41 and 2.2.3.38, we have isomorphisms

$$CC^* \left(\boldsymbol{q}_{1*} \boldsymbol{p}_1^* \underline{\mathcal{A}} \right)^{\tilde{\Gamma}_n^*} \cong \boldsymbol{q}_{1*} CC^* \left(\boldsymbol{p}_1^* \underline{\mathcal{A}} \right)^{\tilde{\Gamma}_n^*} \text{ (up to completing with respect to the length filtration)}$$
$$\cong \boldsymbol{q}_{1*} \boldsymbol{p}_1^* CC^* \left(\underline{\mathcal{A}} \right)$$
$$\cong \boldsymbol{q}_{1*} \boldsymbol{p}_1^* CC^* \left(\mathcal{A} \right).$$

It follows from the preceding discussion that, if it is regular, then the spectral sequence induced by the length filtration on

$$\boldsymbol{q}_{1*}\boldsymbol{p}_{1}^{*}CC^{*}\left(\mathcal{A}\right)\otimes_{R}\Lambda$$

converges to

$$HH^*\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}\right)^{\widetilde{\Gamma}_n^*}$$

Now, note that $\mu^s = 0$ in \mathcal{A} unless s - 2 is divisible by (n - 2) (by Equation (2.2.5.3) with a = n and s + t = 2). In particular, \mathcal{A} is minimal. Next, we show that there is an algebra isomorphism $(\mathcal{A}, \mu_0^2) \cong (\mathcal{A}, \mu^2)$. I.e., the higher-order terms in the product μ^2 can be absorbed into the order-0 product μ_0^2 , which we know to be the exterior product.
This follows immediately from the calculation

$$THH^2_G(A, A \otimes R)^{0,H} \cong 0,$$

which was carried out in the proof of Lemma 2.2.5.13 (as 'Case 1'), together with a deformation theory argument. Thus, we can replace \mathcal{A} by a quasi-isomorphic A_{∞} algebra \mathcal{A}' , whose underlying algebra is the exterior algebra

$$(\mathcal{A}',\mu^2)\cong A\otimes R.$$

Furthermore, \mathcal{A}' and \mathcal{A} coincide to order n, because the higher-order terms in μ^2 were functions of $T = r_1 \dots r_n$. So \mathcal{A}' is still of type A. Henceforth we'll simply write \mathcal{A} for this replacement.

Now the E_2 page of the spectral sequence induced by the length filtration on

$$CC^*(\mathcal{A})\otimes_R\Lambda$$

is the Hochschild cohomology of the associative algebra $(\mathcal{A} \otimes_R \Lambda, \mu^2 \otimes 1)$. By the preceding arguments, this is exactly $\mathcal{A} \otimes \Lambda$, the exterior algebra over the field Λ . Its Hochschild cohomology is given by the HKR isomorphism (because Λ is a field), so we have

$$E_2 = \boldsymbol{q_{1*}} \boldsymbol{p}_1^* \left(\Lambda[[U]] \otimes A \right).$$

Because $\mu^s = 0$ for 2 < s < n, the first non-trivial differential is δ_{n-1} , which is given by Gerstenhaber bracket with the order-*n* deformation class $[\mu^n]$. The Gerstenhaber bracket gets carried to the Schouten bracket under the HKR isomorphism, and μ^n gets carried to

$$w_{nov} := \Phi([\mu^n]) \in \Lambda[[U]] \otimes A,$$

where Φ is the HKR isomorphism. By the 'naturality' property of the HKR map (see

Definition 2.2.5.1), w_{nov} is the image of the element

$$w \otimes 1 \in (R[[U]] \otimes A) \otimes_R \Lambda$$

under the natural map

$$(R[[U]] \otimes A) \otimes_R \Lambda \to \Lambda[[U]] \otimes A,$$

where w is the image of $[\mu^n]$ in $R[[U]] \otimes A$ under the HKR map.

Now, by the grading computations in the proof of Lemma 2.2.5.13, w has the form

$$w = f_1(T)u_1 \dots u_n + f_2(T) \sum_{j=1}^n r_j u_j^n \in R[[u_1, \dots, u_n]],$$

where $f_1, f_2 \in \mathbb{C}[[T]]$, and we recall that $T := r_1 \dots r_n$. By the definition of 'type A', we have $f_1(0) = 1$ and $f_2(0) = 1$. It follows that

$$w_{nov} = f_1(r^n)u_1 \dots u_n + f_2(r^n) \sum_{j=1}^n ru_j^n \in \Lambda[[u_1, \dots, u_n]].$$

In particular, w_{nov} lies in $\Lambda[[U]]$, i.e., there are no non-trivial polyvector field terms appearing. Therefore, as we saw in the proof of Lemma 2.2.5.13,

$$\delta_{n-1}(-) = [\Phi(\mu^n), -] = \iota_{dw_{nov}}(-)$$

gives the Koszul complex for the sequence

$$\frac{\partial w_{nov}}{\partial u_1}, \dots, \frac{\partial w_{nov}}{\partial u_n} \in \Lambda[[U]].$$

Now we show that this sequence is regular. This follows because w_{nov} has an isolated

singularity at the origin. To see this, observe that we have relations

$$f_1(r^n)\frac{u_1\dots u_n}{u_j} \equiv -nrf_2(r^n)u_j^{n-1}$$

$$\Rightarrow \frac{u_1\dots u_n}{u_j} \equiv rf(r)u_j^{n-1},$$

in the ring

$$\Lambda[[u_1,\ldots,u_n]]/(\partial_1 w_{nov},\ldots,\partial_n w_{nov}),$$

where

$$f(r) = -n \frac{f_2(r^n)}{f_1(r^n)} \in \mathbb{C}[[r^n]], \ f(0) \neq 0.$$

Taking the product of these relations gives

$$(u_1 \dots u_n)^{n-1} \equiv r^n f(r)^n (u_1 \dots u_n)^{n-1},$$

and hence that

$$(u_1\ldots u_n)^{n-1}\equiv 0,$$

because $1 + \mathcal{O}(r)$ is invertible in Λ . Returning to the original relation, we have

$$(rf(r)u_j^n)^{n-1} = (u_1 \dots u_n)^{n-1} = 0,$$

and hence sufficiently high powers of each generator u_j vanish (recalling $f \neq 0$, so $f \in \Lambda^*$ is invertible). Therefore w_{nov} has an isolated singularity at 0, so the sequence is regular, so the cohomology of the Koszul complex is the Jacobian ring.

Now we observe that

$$oldsymbol{q}_{1*}oldsymbol{p}_1^*\Lambda[[U]]$$

is generated, as a Λ -algebra, by the elements

$$u_1\ldots u_n, u_1^n,\ldots, u_n^n,$$

and each of these has degree $2 \in \mathbb{Z}$. To see this, note that for u^{b} to be in $p_{1}^{*}\Lambda[[U]]$, its degree must be in the image of Y_{n}^{n} in Y_{1}^{n} . From the definition, this means that

$$(|\mathbf{b}|, -\mathbf{b}) = (t + 2(n-1)|\mathbf{m}|, -n\mathbf{m}) - q(2(1-n), y_{[n]})$$

for some $t, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, or in other words, setting $s = |\mathbf{b}|$ for the length,

$$s = t + 2(n-1)|\mathbf{m}| + 2(n-1)q,$$

 $\mathbf{b} = n\mathbf{m} + qy_{[n]}.$

It is not hard to show that, since $b \ge 0$, we can arrange that $m \ge 0$ and $q \ge 0$, so u^b is a product of the generators $u_1 \ldots u_n, u_1^n, \ldots, u_n^n$, as claimed. Furthermore, one can show that s + t = 2q + 2|m|, where s = |b| is the length and t is the Z-grading. It follows that the degree of each generator is 2, when regarded as an element of Hochschild cohomology.

It follows that the E_n page of our spectral sequence is given by

$$\Lambda[[u_1,\ldots,u_n]]/(\partial_1 w_{nov},\ldots,\partial_n w_{nov}) \cap \Lambda[[u_1\ldots u_n,u_1^n,\ldots,u_n^n]].$$

From the relations in the Jacobian ring, we have

$$u_1 \ldots u_n = rf(r)u_j^n$$
 where $f(r) \neq 0$,

so we only need a single generator $\alpha := u_1 \dots u_n$, and furthermore this generator satisfies

$$\alpha^{n-1} = 0,$$

as we showed above. It is easy to check (for example using Gröbner bases) that α^{n-2} does not lie in the ideal generated by the partial derivatives $\partial_j w_{nov}$. It follows that the E_n page of the spectral sequence is given by

$$\Lambda[\alpha]/\alpha^{n-1}$$

Because α has degree $2 \in \mathbb{Z}$, E_n is graded in even degrees so all subsequent differentials in the spectral sequence vanish, so the spectral sequence is regular. Since the length filtration is bounded above and complete, it follows by [61, Theorem 5.5.10] that the spectral sequence converges to the Hochschild cohomology. Thus the E_n page is isomorphic to the associated graded algebra of the Hochschild cohomology; but since it is one-dimensional in each degree, it is in fact isomorphic to the Hochschild cohomology. This completes the proof.

Now we observe that the element

$$r_{j}\frac{\partial\mu^{*}}{\partial r_{j}}\in CC^{2}_{\boldsymbol{G}_{n}^{n}}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}\right)$$

is a Hochschild cochain (this follows by applying $r_j\partial/\partial r_j$ to the A_{∞} relation $\mu \circ \mu = 0$). Hence it defines an element in $HH^*(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}})$. We denote by β the element of $HH^*(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov})$ that is the image of

$$\left(r_{j}\frac{\partial\mu^{*}}{\partial r_{j}}\right)\otimes1\in HH^{*}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}\right)\otimes_{R}\Lambda$$

under the obvious map.

Lemma 2.2.5.19. The element β lies in the $\tilde{\Gamma}_n^*$ -equivariant part of $HH^*(\widetilde{A}_{nov})$, and corresponds to $g \cdot \alpha$ for some invertible $g \in \Lambda^*$ under the isomorphism of Lemma 2.2.5.18.

Proof. The fact that β is $\tilde{\Gamma}_n^*$ -equivariant follows immediately from the fact that μ^* is. We recall from the proof of Lemma 2.2.5.18 that, firstly, we arrange that μ^2 is independent of r_j and, secondly, the image of $\mu^{\geq 3}$ under the HKR map to $R[[U]] \otimes A$ has the form

$$w = f_1(T)u_1 \dots u_n + f_2(T) \sum_{j=1}^n r_j u_j^n.$$

It follows that the image of $r_j \partial \mu^* / \partial r_j$ under the HKR map has the form

$$r_j \frac{\partial w}{\partial r_j} = Tf_1'(T)u_1 \dots u_n + f_2(T)r_j u_j^n + Tf_2'(T)\sum_{j=1}^n r_j u_j^n.$$

It follows from naturality of the HKR map that the image of $\beta = (r_j \partial \mu^* / \partial r_j) \otimes 1$ on the E_2 page of the spectral sequence has the form

$$r^{n}f_{1}'(r^{n})u_{1}\ldots u_{n}+f_{2}(r^{n})ru_{j}^{n}+r^{n}f_{2}'(r^{n})\sum_{j=1}^{n}ru_{j}^{n}$$

We now recall from the proof of Lemma 2.2.5.18 that the E_n page of the spectral sequence is the Jacobian ring $\Lambda[[u_1, \ldots, u_n]]/(\partial_1 w_{nov}, \ldots, \partial_n w_{nov})$. We recall (from the proof of Lemma 2.2.5.18) that, in the Jacobian ring, we have relations

$$f_1(r^n)u_1\ldots u_n \equiv -nf_2(r^n)ru_j^n,$$

and we set $\alpha := u_1 \dots u_n$, so the image of β on the E_n page of the spectral sequence is equivalent to

$$\left(r^n f_1'(r^n) - \frac{1}{n} f_1(r^n) - r^n \frac{f_2'(r^n) f_1(r^n)}{f_2(r^n)}\right) \alpha = g(r^n) \alpha,$$

where $g(r^n) \in \mathbb{C}[[r^n]]$ and $g(0) \neq 0$.

Recalling that the spectral sequence degenerates at the E_n page, this completes the proof.

2.2.6 First-order deformations

In this section, we will consider a very specific situation. Let $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu_0)$ be a G-graded minimal A_{∞} algebra over \mathbb{C} , and V a G-graded vector space. We consider the G-graded

C-algebra

$$R = \mathbb{C}[V]/\mathfrak{m}^2,$$

where $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{C}[V]$ is the maximal ideal corresponding to 0. A *G*-graded first-order deformation of \mathcal{A} over V is an element

$$\mu \in CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A \otimes R, A \otimes R),$$

whose order-0 component agrees with μ_0 , and such that $\mu \circ \mu = 0$. Equivalently, we have

$$\mu = \mu_0 + \mu_1,$$

where

$$\mu_1 \in CC^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes V^{\vee})$$

is a Hochschild cocycle. Its class in $HH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes V^{\vee})$ is called the **deformation class** of the deformation. Two first-order deformations are A_{∞} quasi-isomorphic if and only if their deformation classes coincide.

Let \mathcal{C} be an A_{∞} category over \mathbb{C} with two quasi-isomorphic objects, which we call L_0 and L_1 . We denote the A_{∞} endomorphism algebras of the two objects by $\mathcal{A}_j :=$ Hom (L_j, L_j) for j = 0, 1. It is standard that \mathcal{A}_0 and \mathcal{A}_1 are A_{∞} quasi-isomorphic.

Let C_j be the full subcategory with a single object L_j , for j = 0, 1. Then the inclusions

$$\mathcal{C}_0 \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C} \hookleftarrow \mathcal{C}_1$$

are quasi-equivalences. It follows by Morita invariance (see, for example, [11, Lemma 2.6]) that the restriction maps

$$HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{C}_0,\mathcal{C}_0) \leftarrow HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{C}) \rightarrow HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{C}_1,\mathcal{C}_1)$$

are isomorphisms.

Now suppose that we have a G-graded first-order deformation of C over V. As we observed above, this is equivalent (up to quasi-isomorphism) to a choice of deformation class

$$[\mu_1] \in HH^2_G(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{C} \otimes V^{\vee}).$$

The deformation classes of the induced first-order deformations of the endomorphism algebras \mathcal{A}_j are given by the images of $[\mu_1]$ under the restriction maps

$$HH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{C} \otimes V^{\vee}) \to HH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A}_j, \mathcal{A}_j \otimes V^{\vee}),$$

and hence they correspond under the isomorphism

$$HH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A}_0, \mathcal{A}_0 \otimes V^{\vee}) \cong HH^2_{\boldsymbol{G}}(\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_1 \otimes V^{\vee})$$

induced by the quasi-isomorphism of \mathcal{A}_0 with $\mathcal{A}_1.$

2.3 The affine Fukaya category

In this section, we introduce the affine Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M)$ of an exact symplectic manifold, and explain its relationship with the exact Fukaya category as defined in [11], which we will denote by $\mathcal{F}'(M)$. The difference is essentially that the affine Fukaya category has less objects, but a richer grading structure.

2.3.1 Grading data from the Lagrangian Grassmannian

We recall some notions from [11, Chapters 11, 12]. Let M be a symplectic manifold. We denote by $\mathcal{G}M$ the bundle of Lagrangian subspaces of TM. Observe that, because we

have a fibration

$$\mathcal{G}_p M \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}M \\ \bigvee_{M,}$$

there is an exact sequence

$$\dots \to \pi_1(\mathcal{G}_p M) \to \pi_1(\mathcal{G} M) \to \pi_1(M) \to *.$$

We recall that

$$\pi_1(\mathcal{G}_pM)\cong\mathbb{Z}.$$

Assumption 2.3.1.1. For the purposes of this paper, we will only consider manifolds M such that $\pi_1(M)$ is abelian. The reason for this assumption is that we will use $\pi_1(M)$ to define a grading datum G(M), and the affine Fukaya category will be G(M)-graded. However we have only set up the theory of grading data (Section 2.2) for abelian groups. One should be able to define a sensible theory of non-abelian grading data, and apply it to study Fukaya categories of exact symplectic manifolds M with non-abelian fundamental group. On the other hand, when one studies the the relative Fukaya category (Section 2.5), it becomes absolutely necessary to consider abelian grading data. In this case, one should consider the universal **abelian** cover of $\mathcal{G}M$, rather than the universal cover. Since these issues do not concern us in this paper, we ignore them by making this assumption.

In particular, Assumption 2.3.1.1 implies that that $\pi_1(M) \cong H_1(M)$ and $\pi_1(\mathcal{G}M) \cong H_1(\mathcal{G}M)$.

Definition 2.3.1.2. We define a grading datum G(M):

$$\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{f} Y(M) \xrightarrow{g} X(M) \longrightarrow 0$$
$$\| \qquad \| \qquad \|$$
$$H_1(\mathcal{G}_p M) \longrightarrow H_1(\mathcal{G}M) \longrightarrow H_1(M) \longrightarrow 0.$$

To define the sign morphism σ , we must specify a map

$$\sigma: H_1(\mathcal{G}M) \to \mathbb{Z}_2.$$

To do this, we consider the real vector bundle $\mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{G}M$, whose fibre over a point is identified with the Lagrangian subspace at that point. The first Stiefel-Whitney class defines an element

$$w_1(\mathcal{L}) \in H^1(\mathcal{G}M;\mathbb{Z}_2),$$

and σ is defined by pairing with this element.

We will see that it is natural to define the Fukaya category as a G(M)-graded category. That is because of the relationship between G(M) and index theory of Cauchy-Riemann operators in M, which we now explain.

We recall (from [40, Appendix C.3]) the definition of a **bundle pair** (Σ, E, F) over a Riemann surface with boundary Σ . It is a complex vector bundle $E \to \Sigma$ together with a totally real subbundle $F \subset E|_{\partial \Sigma}$. We recall that a bundle pair defines a Cauchy-Riemann operator

$$D: \Omega^0_F(\Sigma, E) \to \Omega^{0,1}_F(\Sigma, E),$$

whose zeroes are holomorphic sections of E whose boundary values lie in F. We recall also the **boundary Maslov index** of a bundle pair, which is an integer $\mu(\Sigma, E, F)$ such that the index of (an appropriate Sobolev-space version of) the Cauchy-Riemann operator D associated to the bundle pair (Σ, E, F) is

$$\operatorname{ind}(D) = n\chi(\Sigma) + \mu(\Sigma, E, F),$$

where n is the complex dimension of a fibre of E.

Now suppose we are given a map $u: \Sigma \to M$, together with a Lagrangian subbundle

 $F \subset u^*TM|_{\partial \Sigma}$. F defines a lift



which defines a class $[\rho] \in H_1(\mathcal{G}M) = Y(M)$, which is a lift of

$$u|_{\partial\Sigma} = \partial u = 0 \in H_1(M) = X(M).$$

So by exactness of the sequence G(M), $[\rho]$ lies in the image of \mathbb{Z} .

Lemma 2.3.1.3. We have

$$[\rho] = f(\mu(\Sigma, u^*TM, F)),$$

in Y(M), where $f : \mathbb{Z} \to Y(M)$ comes from the grading datum.

Proof. Define a decomposition of bundle pairs,

$$(\Sigma, u^*TM, F) = (\Sigma_1, u^*TM, F) \cup (\Sigma_2, u^*TM, F),$$

where Σ_1 is a small ball in the interior of Σ , Σ_2 is its complement, and the totally real subbundle of $u^*TM|_{\partial \Sigma_1}$ is defined by a lift

$$\rho': \partial \Sigma_1 \to \mathcal{G}M,$$

chosen in such a way that there is a trivialization

$$(\Sigma_2, u^*TM, F) \cong (\Sigma_2, \Sigma_2 \times \mathbb{C}^n, \Sigma_2 \times \mathbb{R}^n).$$

It follows quickly from the properties of the boundary Maslov index (see [40, Theorem

C.3.5]) that

$$\mu(\Sigma_2, u^*TM, F) = 0.$$

Then, by the composition property of the boundary Maslov index,

$$\mu(\Sigma, u^*TM, F) = \mu(\Sigma_1, u^*TM, F) + \mu(\Sigma_2, u^*TM, F) = \mu(\Sigma_1, u^*TM, F)$$

By our definition of (Σ_2, u^*TM, F) , there is a lift



and P defines a homology between the class $[\rho]$ and the class $[\rho']$. If the ball Σ_1 is centred on a point p, then there is an obvious isomorphism

$$u^*TM|_{\Sigma_1} \cong \Sigma_1 \times T_pM,$$

so ρ' defines a class in $H_1(\mathcal{G}_pM) \cong \mathbb{Z}$, which is exactly equal to $\mu(\Sigma_1, u^*TM, F)$ (essentially from the definition of the Maslov class). The result follows.

2.3.2 Anchored branes

In this section, we will define the notion of an **anchored Lagrangian brane** in M. These will be the objects of the affine Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M)$ (when M is exact). First we recall the notion of a (non-anchored) graded Lagrangian brane from [11, Chapter 11], which is an object of $\mathcal{F}'(M)$.

If $2c_1(M) = 0$, and M is equipped with a quadratic complex volume form η , then we can construct a **phase map**

$$\alpha_M: \mathcal{G}M \to S^1.$$

Now if $i: L \to M$ is a Lagrangian immersion, there is a canonical lift of



Hence, given η , there is a map

$$\alpha_L : L \rightarrow S^1,$$

 $\alpha_L := \alpha_M \circ i_*.$

A (non-anchored) graded Lagrangian brane in M is a compact embedded Lagrangian $L \subset M$, together with a lift $\alpha_L^{\#}$ of α_L to \mathbb{R} , and a Pin structure on L.

Now we introduce a new notion. Let

$$\pi:\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}M\to\mathcal{G}M$$

denote the universal cover of the manifold $\mathcal{G}M$.

Definition 2.3.2.1. An anchored Lagrangian brane $L^{\#}$ in M is a Lagrangian immersion $i: L \to M$ of a compact manifold L into M, together with a lift $i^{\#}$ as follows:



and a Pin structure. Note that we do **not** need a quadratic complex volume form to define the notion of an anchored Lagrangian brane.

We observe that there is a natural action of the covering group $\pi_1(\mathcal{G}M) \cong Y(M)$ on $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}M$, and hence on anchored Lagrangian branes. We denote the action of $y \in Y(M)$ on

 $L^{\#}$ by $y \cdot L^{\#}$.

Now we explain the relationship between anchored Lagrangian branes and (nonanchored) graded Lagrangian branes. We observe that, given a quadratic complex volume form η_M , there exists a lift of the squared phase map

Definition 2.3.2.2. Given a quadratic volume form η_M , a lift $\tilde{\alpha}_M$ as above, and an embedded anchored Lagrangian brane $L^{\#} = (L, i^{\#})$, we define a Lagrangian brane $\mathfrak{f}(L^{\#})$ in M (\mathfrak{f} for 'forgetting' the anchored structure), with the same underlying Lagrangian L and Pin structure, and

$$\alpha_L^{\#} = \tilde{\alpha}_M \circ i^{\#}.$$

2.3.3 The affine Fukaya category

Let M be an exact symplectic manifold with convex boundary, with $\pi_1(M)$ abelian (see Assumption 2.3.1.1). In this section, we define the **affine Fukaya category**, $\mathcal{F}(M)$. It will be a $\mathbf{G}(M)$ -graded A_{∞} category. The definition is very closely related to the definition of the affine Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}'(M)$, given in [11, Section 12], to which the reader is referred for all technical details. We will see that $\mathcal{F}(M)$ is essentially a full subcategory of $\mathcal{F}'(M)$ with a richer grading structure – in particular, the analytic details of defining moduli spaces of pseudoholomorphic disks to define the A_{∞} structure maps are completely analogous.

Objects of $\mathcal{F}(M)$ are embedded anchored Lagrangian branes. For each pair of objects, we choose a Floer datum on M, and for all moduli spaces of boundary-punctured holomorphic disks with boundary components labelled by anchored Lagrangian branes,

we make a consistent universal choice of perturbation data on M. We assume that the action of Y(M) on anchored Lagrangian branes lifts to an action on Floer and perturbation data (i.e., if we change some of the boundary labels of a boundary-punctured holomorphic disk by the action of Y(M), then the perturbation datum does not change).

We now define the G(M)-graded morphism spaces in $\mathcal{F}(M)$. Now, given anchored Lagrangian branes $L_0^{\#}, L_1^{\#}$, we define the morphism space $CF^*(L_0^{\#}, L_1^{\#})$ to be generated by paths $p : [0, 1] \to M$ satisfying $p(0) \in L_0, p(1) \in L(1)$, which are flowlines of the Hamiltonian vector field associated with the corresponding Floer datum.

Given such a p, we define its grading $y \in Y(M)$ to be the unique element such that p lifts to a path from $L_0^{\#}$ to $y \cdot L_1^{\#}$ in $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}M$, which has Maslov index $0 \in \mathbb{Z}$. To explain what this means, we observe that there is a commutative diagram

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}M \longrightarrow \widetilde{M} \\ \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \\ \mathcal{G}M \longrightarrow M,$$

where $\widetilde{M} \to M$ is the universal cover of M. Thus, associated with any anchored Lagrangian brane $L^{\#}$ is a lift, \widetilde{L} , of L to \widetilde{M} . The fact that p must lift to $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}M$ implies that it must lift to \widetilde{M} ; this already defines $y \in Y(M)$ up to addition of an element in the image of $\mathbb{Z} \to Y(M)$. Now we observe that the fibres of the bundle

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}M \to \widetilde{M}$$

are the universal covers of the fibres of the Lagrangian Grassmannian $\mathcal{G}\widetilde{M}$. Thus, the anchored brane structures $L_0^{\#}, L_1^{\#}$ equip $\widetilde{L}_0, \widetilde{L}_1$ with the structure of 'abstract Lagrangian branes' (see [11, Section 12a]). Therefore, if the path p lifts to a path \tilde{p} from \widetilde{L}_0 to $y \cdot \widetilde{L}_1$ in \widetilde{M} , then we can define the Maslov index i of any lift of \tilde{p} to $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}M$, and it is equal to the relative Maslov index of the abstract linear Lagrangian branes at either end of \tilde{p} . It is this index that we require to be 0. Given p, it is clear that we can find $y' \in Y(M)$ such that the path p lifts to a path \tilde{p} from \tilde{L}_0 to $y' \cdot \tilde{L}_1$, but the Maslov index i may not be zero. However, we then necessarily have

$$y = y' - f(i),$$

so the Y(M)-grading of p is well-defined.

We define the A_{∞} structure maps in $\mathcal{F}(M)$ by counting rigid pseudo-holomorphic disks in M. That is, given objects

$$L_0^{\#}, \ldots, L_s^{\#}$$

and morphisms

$$p_j \in CF^*(L_{j-1}^{\#}, L_j^{\#})$$
 for $j = 1, \dots, s$

and

$$p_0 \in CF^*(L_0^{\#}, L_s^{\#}),$$

we define the coefficient of p_0 in $\mu^s(p_s, \ldots, p_1)$ to be the count of rigid pseudolomorphic disks in M with boundary conditions on L_j , asymptotic to the generators p_j .

We now explain why these structure maps are G(M)-graded. Firstly, observe that the structure maps respect the action of Y(M) on objects, because we chose the perturbation data to do so. From [11, Section 111], we recall the definition of an orientation operator D_p corresponding to a generator p of $CF^*(L_0^\#, L_1^\#)$. We lift p to a path

$$\rho: [0,1] \to \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}M$$

connecting $L_0^{\#}(p(0))$ to $y \cdot L_1^{\#}(p(1))$, where $y \in Y(M)$ is the degree of p. Now define a smooth, non-decreasing function $\psi : \mathbb{R} \to [0,1]$ such that $\psi(s) = 0$ for $s \ll 0$ and $\psi(s) = 1$ for $s \gg 0$. We consider the Hermitian vector bundle over the upper half plane $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$, with fibre over (s, t) given by $T_{p(\psi(s))}M$. We introduce Lagrangian boundary conditions along the real axis, given by $\rho(\psi(s))$. These Lagrangian boundary conditions define a Cauchy-Riemann operator, which we denote by D_p . D_p is Fredholm, its index is equal to the relative Maslov index of the abstract Lagrangian branes at either end of p, which is 0 by the definition of y, and its determinant line is canonically isomorphic to the orientation line o_p of p.

Given a holomorphic disk u contributing to an A_{∞} product μ^s , we denote the linearized operator of the perturbed holomorphic curve equation at u (with fixed domain S) by $D_{S,u}$. It is a Cauchy-Riemann operator on the trivial Hermitian vector bundle u^*TM over S. We can glue the orientation operators D_{p_1}, \ldots, D_{p_s} and $D_{p_0}^{\vee}$ to $D_{S,u}$ along the strip-like ends to obtain a new Cauchy-Riemann operator over the closed disk. We denote this operator by \overline{D} . The gluing formula then implies that

$$i(\overline{D}) = i(D_{S,u}) + i(p_1) + \ldots + i(p_s) + (n - i(p_0))$$

= $i(D_{S,u}) + n$,

and there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\det(\overline{D}) \cong \det(D_u) \otimes o_{p_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes o_{p_s} \otimes o_{p_0}^{\vee}.$$

Now the Cauchy-Riemann operator \overline{D} is given by a bundle pair (D^2, E, F) , which is equivalent to a bundle pair (D^2, u^*TM, F) , where $u : D^2 \to M$ is obtained from the original disk u (which had strip-like ends converging to the generators p_j) by gluing the orientation operators onto the ends. The boundary conditions for \overline{D} define a map $\rho : \partial D^2 \to \mathcal{G}M$ which lifts the boundary map ∂u .

If we think of ρ as a map

$$\rho: [0,1] \to \mathcal{G}M$$

such that $\rho(0) = \rho(1)$ lies on L_0 , then we have a lift



The boundary conditions L_j lift to $(y_1 + \ldots + y_j) \cdot L_j^{\#}$, and finally $\rho(1)$ lands on $(y_1 + \ldots + y_s - y_0) \cdot L_0^{\#}$. It follows that

$$[\rho] = -y_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{s} y_j.$$

Lemma 2.3.1.3 now implies that

$$f(i(\overline{D}) - n\chi(D^2)) = -y_0 + \sum_{j=1}^s y_j$$

$$\Rightarrow f(i(D_{S,u})) = -y_0 + \sum_{j=1}^s y_j \text{ in } Y(M)$$

We now recall that, for the disk to be rigid, the **extended** linearized operator D_u (in which the modulus of the domain is allowed to vary, as well as the map) should have index zero. The dimension of the moduli space of disks with s + 1 marked boundary points is s - 2, so this means that

$$y_0 = f(2-s) + \sum_{j=1}^s y_j$$

in Y(M). It follows that the affine Fukaya category is a G(M)-graded A_{∞} category (see Remark 2.2.3.12). We observe that the A_{∞} associativity equations are satisfied, by the same argument as for $\mathcal{F}'(M)$ ([11, Proposition 12.3]).

We will now explain how $\mathcal{F}(M)$ is related to the Z-graded exact Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}'(M)$, as defined in [11]. We recall that, to define Z-gradings on $\mathcal{F}'(M)$, we require

that $2c_1(M) = 0$ and equip η with a quadratic volume form η_M .

Recall from Definition 2.3.2.2 that, if we equip M with a quadratic volume form η_M , then we obtain a squared phase map

$$\alpha_M: \mathcal{G}M \to S^1,$$

and if we define a lift

$$\tilde{\alpha}_M:\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}M\to\mathbb{R},$$

then we obtain a forgetful map \mathfrak{f} from anchored Lagrangian branes to (non-anchored) Lagrangian branes.

Now on the level of H_1 , α_M induces a map

$$Y(M) \to \mathbb{Z}.$$

This defines a morphism of grading data, $p^{\eta} : G(M) \to G_{\mathbb{Z}}$. It follows that $p_*^{\eta} \mathcal{F}(M)$ is a \mathbb{Z} -graded A_{∞} category. We have:

Lemma 2.3.3.1. The forgetful map \mathfrak{f} on objects extends to a fully faithful embedding of \mathbb{Z} -graded A_{∞} categories,

$$\mathfrak{f}: p_*^\eta \mathcal{F}(M) \to \mathcal{F}'(M).$$

Remark 2.3.3.2. The image of this embedding consists of all (non-anchored) Lagrangian branes L such that the image of $H_1(L)$ in $H_1(M)$ is zero.

2.3.4 Covers

We explain how the affine Fukaya category behaves with respect to finite covers (essentially following [9, Section 8b]). Suppose that M, N are exact symplectic manifolds with convex boundary, with assumptions as in Section 2.3.3, and $\phi : N \to M$ is an exact symplectic covering (i.e., a covering such that the Liouville one-form on N is pulled back from that on M via ϕ). Then we have an induced covering



and hence an injective morphism of grading data, $\boldsymbol{p}: \boldsymbol{G}(N) \to \boldsymbol{G}(M)$, given by

$$\begin{split} H_1(\mathcal{G}_pN) & \longrightarrow H_1(\mathcal{G}N) \longrightarrow H_1(N) \longrightarrow 0 \\ \phi_* \Bigg\| & \phi_* \Bigg| & \phi_* \Bigg| \\ H_1(\mathcal{G}_{\phi(p)}M) & \longrightarrow H_1(\mathcal{G}M) \longrightarrow H_1(M) \longrightarrow 0. \end{split}$$

Proposition 2.3.4.1. There is a fully faithful embedding of G(N)-graded categories,

$$p^*(\mathcal{F}(M)) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{F}(N).$$

Proof. We remark that the universal covers of $\mathcal{G}N$ and $\mathcal{G}M$ are isomorphic, so there is an obvious correspondence between anchored Lagrangian branes on N and on M. One can similarly set up a correspondence between morphism spaces and moduli spaces of pseudoholomorphic disks defining the A_{∞} structure maps, and show that the gradings correspond, so the categories are strictly equivalent.

2.3.5 The relative case

Now we specialize to a particular type of exact symplectic manifold with corners.

Definition 2.3.5.1. A Kähler pair (M, D) consists of:

• A smooth complex projective variety M, equipped with a positive holomorphic line bundle \mathcal{L} with a Hermitian metric, so that the curvature of \mathcal{L} defines a Kähler form ω , with $[\omega] = c_1(\mathcal{L});$

• A tuple $D = (D_1, D_2, \dots, D_k)$ of smooth irreducible divisors $D_j \subset M$ with normal crossings, each corresponding to some positive power d_j of the bundle \mathcal{L} .

That is, for each j = 1, 2, ..., k, we have a section

$$h_j \in \Gamma(M, \mathcal{L}^{\otimes d_j})$$

such that

$$D_j = \{h_j = 0\}.$$

We furthermore assume that

- $\pi_1(M) = 0;$
- $\pi_1(M \setminus D)$ is abelian;
- $k \ge n+1$, where k is the number of divisors and n is the complex dimension of M.

We define the affine part,

$$M \setminus \boldsymbol{D} := M \setminus \bigcup_{j} D_{j}.$$

We equip $M \setminus D$ with a Kähler potential

$$h := \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{k} \log \left(\|h_j\|^2 \right)}{\sum_{j=1}^{k} d_j},$$

so that $\alpha = -dh \circ J_0$ is a Liouville one-form (i.e., $\omega = d\alpha$), and α is convex at infinity (*h* is exhausting and bounded below on $M \setminus D$).

Example 2.3.5.2. We consider the Fermat hypersurfaces,

$$M_a^n := \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^n z_j^a = 0 \right\} \subset \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^{n-1},$$

with the ample divisors

$$D_j := \{z_j = 0\}$$

for j = 1, ..., n.

Now recall that there is a grading datum $G(M \setminus D)$ associated to $M \setminus D$, with exact sequence

$$\mathbb{Z} \to H_1(\mathcal{G}(M \setminus D)) \to H_1(M \setminus D) \to 0.$$

We will denote

$$G(M, D) := G(M \setminus D)$$

in the relative case, and write the exact sequence as

$$\mathbb{Z} \to \widetilde{Y}(M, \mathbf{D}) \to \widetilde{X}(M, \mathbf{D}) \to 0.$$

We now introduce a pseudo-grading datum H(M, D), whose associated grading datum is G(M, D). Compare [64, Section 5].

If we set U to be a neighbourhood of the union of the divisors D in M, and V to be $M \setminus D$, then part of the Mayer-Vietoris long exact sequence for reduced homology gives

$$H_2(M) \to H_1(U \cap V) \to H_1(U) \oplus H_1(V) \to H_1(M) \to 0,$$

which becomes

$$H_2(M) \to \mathbb{Z}\langle y_1, \ldots, y_k \rangle \to H_1(M \setminus D) \to 0,$$

since we are assuming $H_1(M) = 0$. Here $y_j \in H_1(U \cap V)$ is the class of a meridian loop around divisor D_j .

Definition 2.3.5.3. We define a pseudo-grading datum H(M, D), as follows: the exact

sequence is

$$Z(M, \mathbf{D}) \xrightarrow{f} Y(M, \mathbf{D}) \xrightarrow{g} X(M, \mathbf{D}) \longrightarrow 0$$

$$\| \qquad \| \qquad \| \qquad \|$$

$$H_2(M; \mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{f} \mathbb{Z}\langle y_1, \dots, y_k \rangle \xrightarrow{q} H_1(M \setminus \mathbf{D}; \mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow 0,$$

where we define

$$\begin{array}{lcl} f(u) & = & \displaystyle\sum_{i=1}^{k} (u \cdot D_i) y_i, \mbox{ and } \\ g(y_i) & = & \mbox{the class of a loop around } D_i \end{array}$$

We define the element $c \in \text{Hom}(Z, \mathbb{Z})$ to be given by $2c_1(TM) \in H^2(M)$.

We now define a morphism of pseudo-grading data, $\boldsymbol{p} : \boldsymbol{H}(M, \boldsymbol{D}) \to \boldsymbol{G}(M, \boldsymbol{D})$. We define $p_Z : H_2(M) \to \mathbb{Z}$ to be given by $2c_1(TM)$, and p_X to be the identity. We define the map d to be 0. To define the map

$$p_Y: \mathbb{Z}\langle y_1, \ldots, y_k \rangle \to H_1(\mathcal{G}(M \setminus D)),$$

it is sufficient to define the action on the generators y_i . We denote the image of y_i by \bar{y}_i . To define \bar{y}_i , we consider a disk

$$u_i: (D^2, \partial D^2) \to (M, M \setminus D)$$

such that $u_i \cdot D_j = \delta_{ij}$. We trivialize the symplectic vector bundle u_i^*TM , and choose a lift of ∂u_i :



so that the boundary Maslov index

$$\mu(D^2, u_i^*TM, \bar{y}_i) = 0.$$

This defines the element $p_Y(y_i) := \bar{y}_i \in H_1(\mathcal{G}(M \setminus D)).$

Lemma 2.3.5.4. The diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H_2(M) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}\langle y_1, \dots, y_k \rangle \longrightarrow H_1(M \setminus D) \longrightarrow 0 \\ \\ 2c_1 & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow H_1(\mathcal{G}(M \setminus D)) \longrightarrow H_1(M \setminus D) \longrightarrow 0 \end{array}$$

commutes.

Proof. The only non-trivial thing to check is the commutativity of the left square. Suppose that $u: \Sigma \to M$ is a surface representing a homology class in $H_2(M)$, and intersecting the divisors D_j transversely. One side of the square maps

$$u \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^{k} (u \cdot D_i) \bar{y}_i,$$

while the other maps

$$u \mapsto f(2c_1(u)).$$

We consider the bundle pair (Σ, E, ϕ) with empty boundary, simply given by the complex vector bundle $E := u^*(TM)$. Its Maslov index is $\mu(\Sigma, E, \phi) = 2c_1(u)$. We now define a decomposition of this bundle pair: $\Sigma = \Sigma_1 \cup \Sigma_2$, where Σ_1 is a union of small balls around each of the intersection points of u with divisors D_i , and Σ_2 is the rest of Σ . We define the Lagrangian boundary conditions along $\partial \Sigma_1$ by requiring that the bundle pair over each ball around a single intersection point has boundary Maslov index zero. Then the composition property for bundle pairs (see [40, Appendix C.3]) says that

$$2c_1(u) = \mu(\Sigma, E, \phi) = \mu(\Sigma_1, E, F) + \mu(\Sigma_2, E, F) = \mu(\Sigma_2, E, F).$$

We note that the boundary conditions we have associated to a small ball around an

intersection point of u with the divisor D_i define a map

$$S^1 \to \mathcal{G}(M \setminus D)$$

representing the class \bar{y}_i , by definition. Because u maps Σ_2 into $M \setminus D$, it follows from Lemma 2.3.1.3 and the previous argument that

$$f(2c_1(u)) = f(\mu(\Sigma_2, E, F)) = \sum_{i=1}^k (u \cdot D_i)\bar{y}_i,$$

which proves that the left square commutes.

Corollary 2.3.5.5. The grading datum corresponding to the pseudo-grading datum H(M, D) is

$$G(H(M, D)) \cong G(M, D).$$

Now suppose that we equip M with a meromorphic *n*-form η (i.e., an (n, 0)-form), whose zeroes and poles lie along the divisors D_j . Then we obtain a quadratic complex volume form η^2 on $M \setminus D$, and recall that this defines a morphism $p^{\eta} : G(M, D) \to G_{\mathbb{Z}}$, allowing us to equip our category with a \mathbb{Z} -grading.

Lemma 2.3.5.6. The morphism of grading data p^{η} is induced by the morphism of pseudo-grading data defined by

$$p_Y: \mathbb{Z}\langle y_1, \dots, y_k \rangle \quad o \quad \mathbb{Z},$$

 $p_Y(y_j) = 2p_j,$

where p_j is the order of the pole of η along divisor D_j .

Proof. Follows essentially from the definition of the boundary Maslov index, see [40, Theorem C.3.5, 'Normalization' property]. \Box

Remark 2.3.5.7. If M is Calabi-Yau, then it admits a nowhere-vanishing holomorphic volume form η , so there is a canonical morphism of grading data

$$G(M, D) \to G_{\mathbb{Z}},$$

which is induced by the zero morphism of pseudo-grading data, in accordance with Lemma 2.3.5.6.

Lemma 2.3.5.8. The pseudo-grading datum associated to the Fermat hypersurfaces with coordinate divisors, (M_a^n, \mathbf{D}) (see Example 2.3.5.2) is

$$\boldsymbol{H}(M_a^n,\boldsymbol{D})\cong \boldsymbol{H}_a^n,$$

where H_a^n is the pseudo-grading datum of Example 2.2.1.13.

Proof. Follows from the fact that $H_2(M_a^n) \cong \mathbb{Z}$, generated by the class of a line [P], that

$$[P] \cdot D_j = 1$$

for all j, and that

$$c_1([P]) = n - a.$$

Definition 2.3.5.9. Suppose that (N, E) and (M, D) are Kähler pairs (each with k divisors), and $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_k)$ is a tuple of positive integers. An *a*-branched cover of Kähler pairs,

$$\phi: (N, \boldsymbol{E}) \to (M, \boldsymbol{D}),$$

is a branched cover $\phi : N \to M$ which maps divisor E_j to D_j , and has branching of order a_j along divisor E_j (and no branching anywhere else).

Example 2.3.5.10. There is an (a, \ldots, a) -branched cover of Fermat hypersurfaces

$$\phi_a: (M_a^n, D) \rightarrow (M_1^n, D),$$

$$\phi_a([z_1:\ldots:z_n]) = [z_1^a:\ldots:z_n^a].$$

Lemma 2.3.5.11. Let $\phi : (N, E) \to (M, D)$ be an *a*-branched cover. The unbranched cover

$$\phi: N \setminus \boldsymbol{E} \to M \setminus \boldsymbol{D}$$

induces an injective morphism of grading data

$$\boldsymbol{p}: \boldsymbol{G}(N, \boldsymbol{E}) \to \boldsymbol{G}(M, \boldsymbol{D}),$$

as in Section 2.3.4. This morphism of grading data is induced by a morphism of pseudograding data

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{p}}: \boldsymbol{H}(N, \boldsymbol{E}) \to \boldsymbol{H}(M, \boldsymbol{D}),$$

where

$$ilde{p}_Y(y_j) = a_j y_j, \ and$$

 $d(y_j) = 2(1-a_j)$

Proof. It suffices to prove that

$$p_Y(0 \oplus y_j) = (2(1 - a_j) \oplus a_j y_j).$$

This follows easily from the definition, and the local form

$$(z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_n) \mapsto (z_1^{a_j}, z_2, \ldots, z_n)$$

of ϕ near divisor E_j .

Corollary 2.3.5.12. If $\phi_n : (M_n^n, \mathbf{D}) \to (M_1^n, \mathbf{D})$ is the (n, \ldots, n) -branched cover of Fermat hypersurfaces introduced in Example 2.3.5.10, then the induced morphism of grading data

$$\boldsymbol{p}: \boldsymbol{G}(M_n^n, \boldsymbol{D}) \to \boldsymbol{G}(M_1^n, \boldsymbol{D})$$

Coincides with the morphism

$$p_1: G_n^n o G_1^n$$

of Lemma 2.2.1.14 (recall also Lemma 2.3.5.8).

2.4 Moduli Spaces of Disks

In this section we introduce the various moduli spaces of pseudo-holomorphic disks that we will need to define the versions of the Fukaya category that we will consider.

2.4.1 Moduli spaces of holomorphic spheres and disks

Definition 2.4.1.1. Given an unordered set E, with $|E| \ge 3$, we define $\mathcal{R}_0(E)$, the moduli space of holomorphic spheres with distinct marked points q_e indexed by $e \in E$, up to biholomorphism preserving marked points.

Definition 2.4.1.2. Given an ordered tuple $L = (L_0, \ldots, L_d)$, a **disk with boundary** labels L is a disk with d + 1 distinct boundary marked points, $\zeta_0, \zeta_1, \ldots, \zeta_d$, with the boundary component between ζ_i and ζ_{i+1} labelled L_i (understood modulo d + 1).

We define three types of moduli spaces of disks:

Definition 2.4.1.3. Given a tuple L, and a set E, with $|L| + 2|E| \ge 3$, we define $\mathcal{R}(L, E)$ to be the moduli space of holomorphic disks S with boundary labels L, together

with distinct internal marked points q_e indexed by $e \in E$. We consider these objects up to biholomorphism preserving all marked points.

Definition 2.4.1.4. Given a tuple L, we define $\mathcal{R}_1(L) := \mathcal{R}(L, \{1\})$, the moduli space of holomorphic disks S with boundary labels L and a single interior marked point q.

Definition 2.4.1.5. Given a tuple L, we define $\mathcal{R}_2(L) \subset \mathcal{R}(L, \{1, 2\})$ to be the moduli space of holomorphic disks S with Lagrangian labels L, together with interior marked points q_1, q_2 , such that there is a biholomorphism of S with the unit disk $\{|w| \leq 1\} \subset \mathbb{C}$ sending

$$\begin{array}{rrrr} \zeta_0 & \mapsto & -i \\ q_1 & \mapsto & -t \\ q_2 & \mapsto & t \end{array}$$

for some $t \in (0, 1) \subset \mathbb{R}$ (see Figure 2.4.1.1).

Given a point r in one of these moduli spaces, we denote by S_r the corresponding (marked) disk, with all boundary marked points removed.

2.4.2 Deligne-Mumford compactifications

We make a universal choice of strip-like and cylindrical ends for each of these moduli spaces. We denote by $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_0(\boldsymbol{E})$, $\overline{\mathcal{R}}(\boldsymbol{L}, \boldsymbol{E})$, $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_1(\boldsymbol{L})$, $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_2(\boldsymbol{L})$ the Deligne-Mumford compactifications of these moduli spaces by stable spheres and disks. We now describe these compactifications.

The Deligne-Mumford compactification of $\mathcal{R}_0(\mathbf{E})$ consists of stable trees of spheres. Boundary strata are indexed by stable trees T, with semi-infinite edges indexed by \mathbf{E} . We denote by V(T) the set of vertices of T, and E(T) the set of edges of T. A tree is



Figure 2.4.1.1: The moduli space $\mathcal{R}_2(\mathbf{L})$, where $|\mathbf{L}| = 6$.

called **stable** if each vertex has valence ≥ 3 . For each vertex v of T, we denote by E_v the set of edges of T incident to v. The boundary stratum indexed by T is

$$\mathcal{R}_0^T(oldsymbol{E}) := \prod_v \mathcal{R}_0(oldsymbol{E}_v).$$

Points in this stratum correspond to trees of sphere bubbles, with semi-infinite edges corresponding to marked points, and finite edges corresponding to nodes (see [40, Section D.3, Figure 4]). The Deligne-Mumford (or Grothendieck-Knudsen) compactification, as a set, is the union of all such strata. It is a smooth manifold (see [40, Section D.5]). The codimension of the stratum indexed by T is 2(|V(T)| - 1).

Definition 2.4.2.1. A directed *d*-leafed planar tree is a directed *d*-leafed tree T embedded in \mathbb{R}^2 . It consists of the following data:

- a finite set of vertices V(T);
- a set of *d* semi-infinite **outgoing edges**;
- a single semi-infinite incoming edge, connected to a vertex v ∈ V(T) called the root of T;
- a set E(T) of internal edges.

A vertex is allowed to have zero outgoing edges, but must always have exactly one incoming edge. We say that a vertex $v \in V(T)$ is **stable** if it has ≥ 2 outgoing edges, and **semi-stable** if it has ≥ 1 outgoing edges. Given a tuple L, we say that T has **labels** L if the connected components of $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus T$ are labeled by the elements of L, in order. A labeling of T induces a labeling L_v of the regions surrounding each vertex $v \in V(T)$ (see Figure 2.4.2.1).

The Deligne-Mumford compactification of $\overline{\mathcal{R}}(L, E)$ consists of stable trees of disk and sphere bubbles with appropriate markings (see [39, Section 2.3]). It is a smooth



Figure 2.4.2.1: If \boldsymbol{L} is some tuple, then a k-leafed stable tree T is said to have labels \boldsymbol{L} if the connected components of $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus T$ are labeled by the elements of \boldsymbol{L} , in order. In this figure, $\boldsymbol{L} = (L_0, L_0, L_0, L_1, L_2, L_2, L_1, L_0, L_3)$. A labeling \boldsymbol{L} of T induces a labeling \boldsymbol{L}_v of the regions surrounding each vertex v. In this figure, the induced labeling of the regions surrounding the uppermost vertex v is $\boldsymbol{L}_v = (L_0, L_1, L_2, L_2)$.

manifold with corners. Each boundary stratum is indexed by a directed tree T, together with a directed planar subtree T_L with labels L. We denote $T_E := T \setminus T_L$. We require that the semi-infinite edges of T_E are indexed by E. For each vertex $v \in T_L$, we have a labeling L_v as above, and denote by E_v the set of edges incident to v in T_E . For each vertex $v \in T_E$, we denote by E_v the set of edges incident to v in T_E . We require that the tree is stable, in the sense that for each vertex $v \in T_L$,

$$|\boldsymbol{L}_v| + 2|\boldsymbol{E}_v| \ge 3,$$

while for each vertex $v \in T_E$,

$$|\boldsymbol{E}_v| \geq 3.$$

The tree T corresponds to the stratum

$$\mathcal{R}^T(oldsymbol{L},oldsymbol{E})\cong\prod_{v\in V(T_L)}\mathcal{R}(oldsymbol{L}_v,oldsymbol{E}_v) imes\prod_{v\in V(T_E)}\mathcal{R}_0(oldsymbol{E}_v).$$

Points in this stratum correspond to nodal disks, with semi-infinite edges of T_L corresponding to boundary marked points, finite edges of T_L corresponding to boundary nodes, semi-infinite edges of T_E corresponding to internal marked points, and finite edges of T_E corresponding to internal nodes. The codimension of this stratum is

$$|V(T_L)| + 2|V(T_E)| - 1.$$

The boundary strata of $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_2(L)$ fall into three types (we have illustrated the codimension-1 part of each stratum in Figure 2.4.2.2):

• strata indexed by directed planar trees T with boundary labels L, together with a distinguished vertex v_1 , so that all vertices other than possibly v_1 have valence ≥ 3 ; these correspond to codimension-(|V(T)| - 1) strata

$$\mathcal{R}_2^{1,T}(oldsymbol{L})\cong\mathcal{R}_2(oldsymbol{L}_{v_1}) imes \prod_{v\in V(T)ackslash\{v_1\}}\mathcal{R}(oldsymbol{L}_v)$$

which consist of nodal disks glued together in the obvious way (see Figure 2-2(a));

• another set of strata indexed by directed planar trees T with boundary labels L, together with a distinguished vertex v_1 , so that all vertices other than possibly v_1 have valence ≥ 3 ; these correspond to codimension-|V(T)| strata

$$\mathcal{R}^{2,T}_2(oldsymbol{L})\cong \mathcal{R}_1(oldsymbol{L}_{v_1}) imes \prod_{v\in V(T)\setminus\{v_1\}}\mathcal{R}(oldsymbol{L}_v)$$

which consist of nodal disks glued in the obvious way, together with a sphere with three marked points, two of which are the marked points q_1, q_2 and one of which is a node, identified to the internal marked point q in the disk coming from the factor $\mathcal{R}_1(L_{v_1})$ (see Figure 2-2(b));

• strata indexed by directed planar trees T with boundary labels L and two (different) distinguished vertices v_1, v_2 , so that all vertices other than possibly v_1 and v_2 have valence ≥ 3 , and the branch of T containing v_1 lies strictly to the left of the branch containing v_2 ; these correspond to codimension-(|V(T)| - 2) strata

$$\mathcal{R}_2^{3,T}(\boldsymbol{L}) \cong \mathcal{R}_1(\boldsymbol{L}_{v_1}) imes \mathcal{R}_1(\boldsymbol{L}_{v_2}) imes \prod_{v \in V(T) \setminus \{v_1, v_2\}} \mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{L}_v)$$

consisting of nodal disks glued together in the obvious way, where the internal marked point in the disk coming from the factor $\mathcal{R}_1(\boldsymbol{L}_{v_j})$ corresponds to the marked point q_j , for j = 1, 2 (see Figure 2-2(c)).



Figure 2.4.2.2: The codimension-1 boundary components of $\mathcal{R}_2(L)$, where |L| = 6.

2.4.3 Moduli spaces of pseudoholomorphic disks

Let (M, \mathbf{D}) be a Kähler pair (see Definition 2.3.5.1). Thus, M is a Kähler manifold, and $\mathbf{D} = D_1 \cup \ldots \cup D_k$ is a union of smooth ample divisors with normal crossings. In this section we will define moduli spaces of pseudoholomorphic disks mapping into M.

Definition 2.4.3.1. Let F be a finite set, and let

$$\ell: \pmb{F} \to [k]$$

be a function from F to the set $[k] := \{1, \ldots, k\}$ indexing the divisors D_1, \ldots, D_k . We call such a function a **labelling** of F. Recalling the definition of the pseudo-grading datum H(M, D) from Definition 2.3.5.3, we denote

$$d(\ell) := \sum_{j=1}^{k} |\ell^{-1}(j)| y_j \in Y_{\geq 0}$$

(where $Y_{\geq 0} := \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \langle y_1, \ldots, y_k \rangle$). If $\boldsymbol{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_k)$ is a tuple of positive integers, then we define

$$d_a(\ell) := \sum_{j=1}^k a_j |\ell^{-1}(j)| y_j \in Y_{\geq 0}.$$

We denote $\mathbf{1} = (1, \ldots, 1)$ (k copies), so that $\mathbf{d} = \mathbf{d}_1$.

Definition 2.4.3.2. Let E and F be finite sets, $|E| + |F| \ge 3$. Let $\ell : F \to [k]$ be a labelling of F. We define

$$\mathcal{R}_0(\boldsymbol{E},\ell) := \mathcal{R}_0(\boldsymbol{E} \sqcup \boldsymbol{F}).$$

Definition 2.4.3.3. Given a tuple of objects L, finite sets E, F such that $|L| + 2|E| + 2|F| \ge 3$, and a labelling $\ell : F \to [k]$, we define the moduli space

$$\mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{L}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell) := \mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{L}, \boldsymbol{E} \sqcup \boldsymbol{F}).$$

For each pair of objects in the affine Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus D)$, we choose a Floer
datum (see [11, Section 8e]). We make a universal choice of perturbation data (in the sense of [11, Section 9h]) on each of the moduli spaces $\mathcal{R}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$, $\mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{L}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$, $\mathcal{R}_1(\boldsymbol{L})$ and $\mathcal{R}_2(\boldsymbol{L})$. Note that the choice of perturbation data on the moduli spaces \mathcal{R}_0 , \mathcal{R} may be different for different labellings ℓ , even though they have the same number of boundary components and internal marked points. Also note that we are choosing Floer and perturbation data which are defined on all of M, not just on $M \setminus \boldsymbol{D}$.

We require that

- the Hamiltonian part of each perturbation datum is 0 on the moduli spaces $\mathcal{R}_0(\mathbf{E})$;
- the Hamiltonian part of each perturbation datum vanishes, with its first derivatives, along each divisor D_j ;
- the almost-complex structure part of each perturbation datum makes each divisor D_j an almost-complex manifold;
- on the strip-like ends, the perturbation datum agrees with the associated Floer datum;
- the choices of perturbation data are consistent with respect to the Deligne-Mumford compactifications outlined in Section 2.4.1, in the sense of [11, Section 9i];
- the choices of perturbation data are invariant under shifts of the anchored Lagrangian branes by the covering group action

$$\pi_1(\mathcal{G}(M \setminus D)) \cong \widetilde{Y}(M, D),$$

as was the case for the affine Fukaya category (see Section 2.3.3).

We will use the shorthand

$$u \cdot \boldsymbol{D} := \sum_{j=1}^{k} (u \cdot D_j) y_j \in Y(M, \boldsymbol{D})$$

(see Definition 2.3.5.3 for the definition of $Y(M, \mathbf{D})$), where $u \cdot D_j$ denotes the topological intersection number, for any class $u \in H_2(M)$ or $H_2(M, M \setminus \mathbf{D})$. Note that with our choice of perturbation data, any pseudoholomorphic curve u intersects the divisors D_j positively, so

$$u \cdot \boldsymbol{D} \in Y(M, \boldsymbol{D})_{\geq 0}$$

if u is a pseudo-holomorphic disk or sphere that is not contained inside any of the divisors D_j .

Definition 2.4.3.4. We define an element of the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_0(\mathbf{E}, \ell)$ to be a pair (r, u), where r is an element of $\mathcal{R}_0(\mathbf{E}, \ell)$ and $u: S_r \to M$ is a smooth map, such that:

- *u* satisfies the perturbed holomorphic curve equation;
- $u(q_f) \in D_{\ell(f)}$ for each $f \in \mathbf{F}$;
- $u \cdot D = d(\ell)$

(see [11, Equations (8.9) and (9.17)] for the perturbed holomorphic curve equation). There is an evaluation map

$$ev: \mathcal{M}_0(E,\ell) \to M^E.$$

If E is empty we may omit it from the notation, and we will also write $\mathcal{M}_0(E, d)$ for $\mathcal{M}_0(E, \ell)$ where $d = d(\ell)$.

Remark 2.4.3.5. Suppose that $u \in C_0(\mathbf{E}, \ell)$ is not contained in divisor D_j . Then our assumptions on the perturbation data ensure that u intersects D_j in isolated points with positive multiplicity. Since each marked point q_f with $\ell(f) = j$ contributes at least 1 to $u \cdot D_j$, our requirement that $u \cdot \mathbf{D} = \mathbf{d}(\ell)$ ensures that u intersects D_j only at the marked points q_f with $\ell(f)$, and each intersection has multiplicity 1.

Definition 2.4.3.6. Given a tuple $\boldsymbol{L} = (L_0^{\#}, \ldots, L_s^{\#})$ of anchored Lagrangian branes, an **associated set of generators** is a tuple $\boldsymbol{p} = (p_0, \ldots, p_s)$ where p_j is a generator of $CF^*(L_j^{\#}, L_{j-1}^{\#})$ for $j \ge 1$, and p_0 is a generator of $CF^*(L_0^{\#}, L_s^{\#})$. **Definition 2.4.3.7.** Given a tuple of objects \boldsymbol{L} with associated generators \boldsymbol{p} , finite sets $\boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{F}$ such that $|\boldsymbol{L}| + 2|\boldsymbol{E}| + 2|\boldsymbol{F}| \geq 3$, and a labelling $\ell : \boldsymbol{F} \to [k]$ as in Definition 2.4.3.1, we define an element of the moduli space $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$ to be a pair (r, u), where r is an element of $\mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{L}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$ and $u : S_r \to M$ is a smooth map, such that:

- u satisfies the perturbed holomorphic curve equation, with Lagrangian boundary conditions given by the labels L;
- u is asymptotic to the generators p along the corresponding strip-like ends;
- $u(q_f) \in D_{\ell(f)}$ for each $f \in \mathbf{F}$;
- $u \cdot D = d(\ell)$.

(see [11, Equation (8.10)] for the definition of 'asymptotic to the generators p'). There is an evaluation map

$$ev: \mathcal{M}(p, E, \ell) \to M^E.$$

If E is empty, we may omit it from the notation, and we will also write $\mathcal{M}(p, E, d)$ instead of $\mathcal{M}(p, E, \ell)$, where $d = d(\ell)$.

By the same reasoning as in Remark 2.4.3.5, every intersection point of an element $u \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{E}, \ell)$ with a divisor D_j is a marked point (and the intersection has multiplicity 1).

Definition 2.4.3.8. For a tuple of 2 Lagrangian labels L with associated generators p, we define $\mathcal{M}(p,0)$, the set of holomorphic strips with boundary conditions on L, intersection number 0 with the divisors D, translation-invariant perturbation coming from the corresponding Floer datum, asymptotic to the generators p, modulo translation by \mathbb{R} (see [11, Equation (8.8)]).

Given a holomorphic curve with an internal marked point, we define the notion of 'tangency to a divisor to order k' at the marked point, in accordance with [65]:

Definition 2.4.3.9. Suppose we are given:

- a Riemann surface S with an internal marked point $q \in S$;
- a perturbed holomorphic curve $u: S \to M$;
- a choice of divisor $D_j \subset M$;
- an integer $k \geq 1$.

We say that u is tangent to D_j at q to order k if

- $u(q) \in D_j;$
- all partial derivatives of u at q of order $\leq k$ lie inside the tangent space TD_j .

We remark that this does not depend on the choice of coordinates.

When k = 0, this is the same thing as a point constraint $u(q) \in D_j$. For $k \ge 1$, one should think of the curve u having 'ramification of order k + 1' about the divisor D_j . We can find local holomorphic coordinates (z_1, \ldots, z_n) for M near u(q), such that u(q) corresponds to the origin, and D_j corresponds to $\{z_1 = 0\}$, and a local holomorphic coordinate z for S near q such that q corresponds to the origin. If we assume that the almost-complex structure part of the perturbation datum is equal to the standard complex structure along the cylindrical end associated to the marked point q, and the Hamiltonian part of the perturbation datum vanishes, then u takes the form $(u_1(z), \ldots, u_n(z))$ in these coordinates, where $u_j(z)$ are holomorphic functions, and u_1 has a zero of order $\ge k + 1$ at the origin. It follows that the point q contributes at least k + 1 to the intersection number of u with D_j .

Definition 2.4.3.10. Suppose that $\boldsymbol{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_k)$ is a tuple of k positive integers. We define the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell, \boldsymbol{a})$ and $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell, \boldsymbol{a})$ in exactly the same way as we did $\mathcal{M}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$ and $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$, with the following exceptions:

- For each $f \in F$, we require u to be tangent to $D_{\ell(f)}$ at q_f to order $a_{\ell(f)} 1$;
- We require that $u \cdot D = d_a(\ell)$.

In particular, we have isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{M}_0(oldsymbol{E},\ell)\cong\mathcal{M}_0(oldsymbol{E},\ell,1)$$

and

$$\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell) \cong \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell, 1).$$

Note that, because each marked point q_f contributes $\geq a_{\ell(f)}$ to $u \cdot D_{\ell(f)}$, elements $u \in \mathcal{M}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell, \boldsymbol{a})$ do not intersect any of the divisors D_j anywhere other than at marked points q_f , where they intersect with multiplicity $a_{\ell(f)}$, and similarly for $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell, \boldsymbol{a})$.

Definition 2.4.3.11. Let L be a tuple of Lagrangians with associated generators p, a a positive integer, and $j \in [k]$. We define F to be a set with a single element, and ℓ a labelling which assigns j to this element. We let a be any tuple such that $a_j = a$. Then we define

$$\mathcal{M}_1(\boldsymbol{p}, j, a) := \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}, \ell, \boldsymbol{a}),$$

the moduli space of pseudoholomorphic disks with a single internal marked point, which is tangent to divisor D_j to order a - 1. Note that we're not defining anything new; this is just convenient notation for us to have.

Definition 2.4.3.12. Given a tuple of Lagrangians L with associated generators p, a positive integer a, together with a choice of divisor D_j , we define an element of the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_2(p, j, a)$ to consist of the following data:

- a point $r \in \mathcal{R}_2(L)$;
- a smooth map $u: S_r \to M$,

such that:

- *u* satisfies the perturbed holomorphic curve equation;
- u is asymptotic to the generators p along the strip-like ends;
- $u \cdot D = (a+1)e_j;$
- u is tangent to D_j at q_1 to order a 1, and to D_j at q_2 to order 0.

Note that, as before, elements $u \in \mathcal{M}_2(\mathbf{p}, j, a)$ do not intersect the divisors D_i for $i \neq j$, and intersect D_j only at q_1 (with multiplicity a) and q_2 (with multiplicity 1).

2.4.4 Indices and orientations

Each of the moduli spaces of pseudoholomorphic curves we have defined can be defined as the set of zeroes of a smooth section of a Banach bundle over a Banach manifold of maps (more precisely, the moduli space can be covered by such). We follow [11, Chapters 8 and 9] in defining the functional analytic framework, with modifications following [65, Section 6] to take into account the 'orders of tangency' restrictions. This just means we have to use $W^{k+1,p}$ maps rather than $W^{1,p}$, so that we can make sense of 'derivatives of order $\leq k'$.

The linearization of this smooth section defines a Fredholm operator. The moduli spaces are said to be regular when the linearization is surjective everywhere. When they are regular, the moduli spaces are smooth manifolds, with dimension given by the index of the Fredholm operator. In this section, we will outline the calculation of this dimension.

Lemma 2.4.4.1. Let L be a tuple of anchored Lagrangian branes with associated generators p, and u an element of $\mathcal{M}(p, E, \ell)$. Let $\tilde{y}_j \in \tilde{Y}(M, D)$ be the degree of p_j . Then the index of the extended linearized operator D_u at u satisfies

$$f(i(D_u) - 2|\mathbf{E}| + 2 - s) = -\tilde{y}_0 + \sum_{j=1}^s \tilde{y}_j + p_Y(\mathbf{d}(\ell)),$$

and there is a canonical identification of orientation lines

$$o_{p_0} \cong \det(D_u) \otimes o_{p_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes o_{p_s}.$$

Proof. Each path p_j lifts to a path from $L_{j-1}^{\#}$ to $\tilde{y}_j \cdot L_j^{\#}$ in $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}(M \setminus D)$, which we use to define orientation operator D_{p_j} whose index is 0.

We denote the linearized operator of the perturbed holomorphic curve equation at u(with fixed domain S) by $D_{S,u}$. We glue the orientation operators D_{p_j} to $D_{S,u}$ along the strip-like ends to obtain a bundle pair over the closed disk, and hence a Cauchy-Riemann operator \overline{D} . The gluing formula implies that

$$i(\overline{D}) = i(D_{S,u}) + i(D_{p_1}) + \ldots + i(D_{p_s}) + (n - i(D_{p_0}))$$

= $i(D_{S,u}) + n$,

and there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\det(\overline{D}) \cong \det(D_{S,u}) \otimes o_{p_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes o_{p_s} \otimes o_{p_0}^{\vee}.$$

As in Section 2.3.3, this bundle pair defining \overline{D} is equivalent to a bundle pair (D^2, u^*TM, ρ) , where $\rho : \partial D^2 \to \mathcal{G}(M \setminus D)$ which lifts the boundary map ∂u , and hence has index

$$i(\overline{D}) = n + \mu(D^2, u^*TM, \rho).$$

As in Section 2.3.3, we can compute the homology class

$$[\rho] = -\tilde{y}_0 + \sum_{j=1}^s \tilde{y}_j.$$

As in the proof of Lemma 2.3.5.4, we define a decomposition of the bundle pair (D^2, u^*TM, ρ) into two bundle pairs: (Σ_1, u^*TM, ρ') , consisting of a union of small balls surrounding each of the points q_f for $f \in \mathbf{F}$, with boundary conditions given by $\bar{y}_{\ell(f)}$, and $(\Sigma_2, u^*TM, \rho \cup \rho')$ the complement of Σ_1 . Then the decomposition property of the boundary Maslov index, together with Lemma 2.3.1.3, say that

$$\mu(D^{2}, u^{*}TM, \rho) = \mu(\Sigma_{1}, u^{*}TM, \rho) + \mu(\Sigma_{2}, u^{*}TM, \rho \cup \rho')$$

= $\mu(\Sigma_{2}, u^{*}TM, \rho \cup \rho')$
$$\Rightarrow f(\mu(D^{2}, u^{*}TM, \rho)) = [\rho] + [\rho']$$

= $-\tilde{y}_{0} + \sum_{j=1}^{s} \tilde{y}_{j} + p_{Y}(\boldsymbol{d}(\ell)).$

The result now follows, as

$$\begin{split} i(D_u) &= i(D_{S,u}) + \dim\left(\mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{L},\boldsymbol{E})\right) \\ &= i(\overline{D}) - n + s - 2 + 2|\boldsymbol{E}| \\ &= \mu(D^2, u^*TM, \rho) + s - 2 + 2|\boldsymbol{E}|. \end{split}$$

The isomorphism of orientation lines follows after we fix an orientation for $\mathcal{R}(L, E)$. \Box

Lemma 2.4.4.2. Suppose we have objects L with associated generators p, a k-tuple $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_k)$ of positive integers, and an element $u \in \mathcal{M}(p, E, \ell, a)$. Let $\tilde{y}_j \in \tilde{Y}(M, D)$ be the degree of p_j . Then the index of the extended linearized operator D_u at u satisfies

$$f(i(D_u) + 2 - s - 2|\mathbf{E}| - 2|\mathbf{d}(\ell) - \mathbf{d}_a(\ell)|) = -\tilde{y}_0 + \sum_{j=1}^s \tilde{y}_j + p_Y(\mathbf{d}_a(\ell)).$$

Proof. Follows from Lemma 2.4.4.1, where we observe that being tangent to $D_{\ell(f)}$ at q_f to order $a_{\ell(f)}$ imposes an additional $2(a_{\ell(f)} - 1)$ -dimensional constraint on the disk, leading to the final term on the left-hand side, which is equal to

$$2\sum_{f\in F} 1 - a_{\ell(f)}.$$

We can perform similar calculations for \mathcal{M}_0 , \mathcal{M}_1 and \mathcal{M}_2 . We obtain:

Lemma 2.4.4.3. If D_u is the extended linearized operator at $u \in \mathcal{M}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell, \boldsymbol{a})$, then

$$f(i(D_u) - 2n + 6 - 2|\mathbf{E}| - 2|\mathbf{d}(\ell) - \mathbf{d}_a(\ell)|) = p_Y(\mathbf{d}_a(\ell))).$$

Lemma 2.4.4.4. If D_u is the extended linearized operator at $u \in \mathcal{M}_2(\mathbf{p}, j, a)$, then

$$f(i(D_u) + 2a + 1 - s) = -\tilde{y}_0 + \sum_{l=1}^s \tilde{y}_l + p_Y((a+1)y_j),$$

and there is a canonical isomorphism of orientation lines as before. To clarify, recall that $\tilde{y}_l \in \tilde{Y}(M, \mathbf{D})$ is the degree of p_l , but y_j is the *j*th generator of $Y(M, \mathbf{D})$.

One can prove that these moduli spaces are regular for generic choices of perturbation data, by essentially the same arguments as in [65] and [11, Section 9k]. Namely, for each map u in the Banach manifold of maps, one can choose the perturbation datum essentially arbitrarily on an open subset of the domain, and this is enough to achieve transversality. There are two exceptions: firstly, the moduli space of holomorphic strips that do not intersect the boundary divisors is defined using a translation-invariant perturbation data (see Definition 2.4.3.8). It is shown in [36, 37] that these moduli spaces are regular for generic choice of Floer data. The second exception is for moduli spaces of holomorphic spheres contained entirely within one of the divisors D_j : our assumptions on the perturbation data along the divisors make it impossible to guarantee regularity in this situation. We will explain in Section 2.4.5 why this is not a problem for our purposes.

2.4.5 Gromov compactness

We now describe Gromov compactifications of the moduli spaces we have defined. We observe that each moduli space has bounded energy, and standard Gromov compactness shows that any sequence in one of these moduli spaces has a subsequence which converges, up to sphere and disk bubbling (see [40] for spheres and [39] for disks). We would like to show that any sphere or disk that bubbles off must be stable, so that the Gromov compactification of our moduli spaces is regular. First we discuss the case of sphere bubbles.

Any non-constant sphere bubble u must have positive intersection with each divisor D_j . So unless it is contained inside one of the divisors, it has $\geq k \geq 3$ marked points (where k is the number of divisors). In particular, all such sphere bubbles have stable domain, so they are regular for generic choice of perturbation data.

The main difficulty occurs when there are sphere bubbles lying entirely inside one of the divisors D_j , because we restricted our perturbation data so that the Hamiltonian part vanishes along D_j , and the almost-complex structure component makes D_j an almostcomplex submanifold. So we cannot guarantee regularity of these sphere bubbles, and we need separate arguments to deal with this case.

Definition 2.4.5.1. Let E, F be finite sets, and $\ell : F \to [k]$ a labelling. A stratum of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_0(E, \ell)$ is indexed by a tree T whose semi-infinite edges are indexed by $E \sqcup F$. For each vertex v, we denote by F_v the set of semi-infinite edges incident to v with index in F, and by $\ell_v : F_v \to [k]$ the induced labelling of F_v . We denote by E_v the set of the remaining edges (finite or semi-infinite) incident to v. The tree is required to be stable,

in the sense that for each vertex $v \in V(T)$ we have $|\mathbf{E}_v| + |\mathbf{F}_v| \ge 3$.

Definition 2.4.5.2. Given such a tree T, we define the corresponding stratum of the Gromov compactification. For each vertex $v \in V(T)$, we define

$$\mathcal{M}_0^T(v) := \mathcal{M}_0(\boldsymbol{E}_v, \ell_v).$$

We then define

$$(\Pi \mathcal{M})_0^T (\boldsymbol{E}, \ell) := \prod_{v \in V(T)} \mathcal{M}_0^T(v).$$

If E_{int} denotes the set of internal (finite) edges of T, then there is an evaluation map

$$ev^T : (\Pi \mathcal{M})^T_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell) \to M^{\boldsymbol{E}_{\text{int}}} \times M^{\boldsymbol{E}_{\text{int}}}.$$

Note that each edge appears twice on the right-hand side, once for each of its endpoints. We define

$$\mathcal{M}_0^T(oldsymbol{E},\ell) := \left(oldsymbol{e}oldsymbol{v}^T
ight)^{-1} \left(riangle^{oldsymbol{T}}
ight),$$

where

$$\triangle^{T} \subset M^{E_{\rm int}} \times M^{E_{\rm int}}$$

denotes the diagonal.

Definition 2.4.5.3. As a set, we define

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}}_0(\boldsymbol{E},\ell) := \coprod_T \mathcal{M}_0^T(\boldsymbol{E},\ell).$$

We equip it with the Gromov topology.

Proposition 2.4.5.4. If $|\mathbf{E}| \geq 1$, then the space $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_0(\mathbf{E}, \ell)$ is compact.

Proof. Standard Gromov compactness (see [40]) says that any sequence in $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_0(\boldsymbol{E},\ell)$ has a subsequence which Gromov-converges to a tree of nodal spheres. The space $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_0(\boldsymbol{E},\ell)$, by definition, contains all **stable** nodal spheres. These are the nodal spheres such that each sphere bubble has ≥ 3 marked points. Thus, to prove the result, we must show that, if a non-constant sphere bubbles off in our moduli space, it must be stable.

Suppose that u is a non-constant pseudoholomorphic sphere bubble appearing in some nodal sphere which is the Gromov limit of a sequence in $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$. If u intersects a divisor D_j in an isolated point, then the point must be a marked point. This is because the intersection point persists in a neighbourhood of the nodal sphere in the Gromov topology, and any isolated intersection point of a sphere in $\mathcal{M}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$ with a divisor D_j is a marked point, by Remark 2.4.3.5. Now u has positive intersection with each of the divisors D_j . Hence, if u has isolated intersection points with the divisors, it has ≥ 3 marked points where it intersects the divisors, and its domain is therefore stable.

If u does not have isolated intersection points with some divisor D_j , it must be contained in D_j by analytic continuation (and our assumptions on the perturbation data near the divisors).

Definition 2.4.5.5. If $K \subset [k]$, we denote

$$D_K := \bigcap_{j \in K} D_j.$$

Suppose that $u \,\subset D_K$, but has transverse intersections with all other divisors D_j . The dimension of D_K is 2n - 2|K| (by the normal crossings condition), so for the sphere to be non-constant we require that $|K| \leq n-1$. Then, because there are $\geq n+1$ divisors (by definition of a Kähler pair, see Definition 2.3.5.1), there remain ≥ 2 divisors D_j with which u has isolated intersections. The sphere u must intersect these divisors positively, and the intersections must be marked points. So u has ≥ 2 marked points coming from the corresponding intersections, as well as the marked point corresponding to the node (or to the marked point $q \in E$), hence its domain is stable. The virtual codimension of the stratum $\mathcal{M}_0^T(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$ in $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$ is 2(# vertices of $T_E)$ – 1. If every stratum is regular, then standard gluing theorems show that $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$ has the structure of a compact topological manifold with corners, and the actual codimension of each stratum is equal to the virtual codimension. Regularity of the stratum indexed by the tree T means that the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_0^T(v)$ are regular, and the evaluation map \boldsymbol{ev}^T is transverse to the diagonal Δ^T .

If all nodal spheres in the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_0^T(v)$ are transverse to the divisors D, then the moduli space is regular for generic choice of perturbation data, as we can change the perturbation arbitrarily away from D (compare [40, Section 6.3]). However, it is possible that one of the holomorphic spheres appearing in this moduli space is contained in some divisor D_j . In that case, our assumptions on the perturbation data along the divisor D_j make it impossible to guarantee regularity of this moduli space in M.

However, with some additional assumptions on the perturbation data, one can show that, if the virtual dimension of this stratum of $\mathcal{M}_0^T(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$ is negative, then it is actually empty, even if there are sphere bubbles contained inside some of the divisors D_j . We can also show that transversality can still be achieved with these additional assumptions on the perturbation data. This suffices for our purposes of defining algebraic structures out of these moduli spaces.

Remark 2.4.5.6. We remark that this is the point at which we need the assumption (see Definition 2.3.5.1) that each divisor D_j is ample.

We now describe these assumptions:

Let E, F be finite sets, and $\ell: F \to [k]$ a labelling of F. Given a subset $K \subset [k]$, let

$$\boldsymbol{F}^{K} := \{ f \in \boldsymbol{F} : \ell(f) \notin K \},\$$

$$\ell^K : \boldsymbol{F}^K \to \overline{K}$$

the restriction of ℓ . There is a forgetful map

$$\mathfrak{f}^K: \mathcal{R}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell) \to \mathcal{R}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell^K).$$

Condition 2.4.5.7. For each $K \subset [k]$, the perturbation data on $\mathcal{R}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$ coincides with the pullback of the perturbation data on $\mathcal{R}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell^K)$ by \mathfrak{f}^K , when restricted to D_K .

Observe that even in the presence of Condition 2.4.5.7, we can still perturb the almost-complex structure arbitrarily away from the divisors D_j , so our previous transversality arguments for pseudoholomorphic spheres which are not contained in a divisor D_j are unaffected by this additional assumption.

Definition 2.4.5.8. Given a moduli space \mathcal{M} cut out locally by a Fredholm section of a Banach vector bundle, we denote by

$$v.d.(\mathcal{M})$$

the Fredholm index of the section, where 'v.d.' stands for 'virtual dimension': this is the expected dimension of the moduli space, and the actual dimension if it is regular.

Proposition 2.4.5.9. Suppose $|\mathbf{E}| \geq 1$. For a generic choice of perturbation data satisfying Condition 2.4.5.7, any stratum $\mathcal{M}_0^T(\mathbf{E}, \ell)$ of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_0(\mathbf{E}, \ell)$ whose virtual dimension is negative, is actually empty.

Proof. For clarity, we will omit the (\mathbf{E}, ℓ) from the notation throughout the proof. Let us consider a stratum indexed by a fixed tree T. For the purposes of this proof, we will make T a directed tree (arbitrarily), and denote by $h(e) \in V(T)$ the head of the directed edge $e \in \mathbf{E}_{int}$, and by $t(e) \in V(T)$ the tail. Recall that any holomorphic disk either intersects a divisor transversely, or is contained in it. For each vertex $v \in V(T)$, we define a stratification

$$\mathcal{M}_0^T(v) = \bigcup_{K \subset [k]} \mathcal{M}_0^{T,K}(v),$$

where

$$\mathcal{M}_0^{T,K}(v) := \{ u_v \in \mathcal{M}_0^T(v) : u_v \subset D_K, u_v \not\subseteq D_j \text{ for } j \notin K \}$$

(recall Definition 2.4.5.5).

We now consider the manifold D_K , with divisors $D_j \cap D_K$ for $j \notin K$ (these are divisors are normal crossings in D_K , because of the normal crossings condition in M). We define the moduli space

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{0}^{T,K}(v) := \left\{ u_{v} \in \mathcal{M}_{0}\left(\boldsymbol{E}_{v}, \ell_{v}^{K}\right) : u_{v} \subset D_{K} \right\}.$$

Assuming Condition 2.4.5.7 is satisfied, there is a forgetful map

$$\mathfrak{f}_v^{T,K}:\mathcal{M}_0^{T,K}(v)\to\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_0^{T,K}(v),$$

obtained by forgetting the marked points with label $j \in K$. Furthermore, the evaluation map

$$ev_v: \mathcal{M}_0^{T,K}(v) \to M^{E_v}$$

factors as follows:

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{M}_{0}^{T,K}(v) \xrightarrow{ev_{v}} M^{E_{v}} \\ \downarrow \\ \uparrow_{v}^{T,K} \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{0}^{T,K}(v) \xrightarrow{\widetilde{ev}_{v}^{T,K}} D_{K}^{E_{v}}. \end{array}$$

Lemma 2.4.5.10. For generic choice of perturbation data satisfying Condition 2.4.5.7,

 $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_0^{T,K}(v)$ is a smooth manifold of dimension

$$\dim\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{0}^{T,K}(v)\right) \leq \mathrm{v.d.}_{M}\left(\mathcal{M}_{0}^{T}(v)\right) - 2|K|.$$

Proof. As we saw in the proof of Proposition 2.4.5.4, $|\mathbf{F}_v^K| \geq 2$ and $|\mathbf{E}_v| \geq 1$, so the domain of u_v is stable. Because we can perturb the restriction of the almost-complex structure part of the perturbation data to D_K essentially arbitrarily away from the divisors $D_j \cap D_K$, the moduli space $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_0^{T,K}(v)$ is regular in D_K for generic choice of perturbation data (observe that this is **not** necessarily the same as being regular in M). Its virtual dimension at u_v (hence its actual dimension, when regular) in D_K is

v.d._{D_K}
$$\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{0}^{T,K}(v)\right) = 2(n - |K|) + 2|\mathbf{E}_{v}| + 2c_{1}(TD_{K})(u_{v}) - 6.$$

Denoting the normal bundle of the divisor D_j by ND_j , we have

$$c_{1}(TM)(u_{v}) = c_{1}\left(TD_{K} \oplus \bigoplus_{j \in K} ND_{j}\right)(u_{v})$$

$$= c_{1}(TD_{K})(u_{v}) + \sum_{j \in K} c_{1}(ND_{j})(u_{v})$$

$$= c_{1}(TD_{K})(u_{v}) + \sum_{j \in K} c_{1}\left(\mathcal{L}^{\otimes d_{j}}\big|_{D_{j}}\right)(u_{v})$$

$$= c_{1}(TD_{K})(u_{v}) + \sum_{j \in K} d_{j}\omega(u_{v})$$

$$\geq c_{1}(TD_{K})(u_{v}),$$

because the symplectic area of a pseudoholomorphic sphere is non-negative. It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \text{v.d.}_{M}\left(\mathcal{M}_{0}^{T}(v)\right) - 2|K| &= 2n + 2|\boldsymbol{E}_{v}| + 2c_{1}(TM)(u_{v}) - 6 - 2|K| \\ &\geq 2(n - |K|) + 2|\boldsymbol{E}_{v}| + 2c_{1}(TD_{K})(u_{v}) - 6 \\ &= \text{v.d.}_{D_{K}}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{0}^{T,K}(v)\right). \end{aligned}$$

The actual dimension of $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_0^{T,K}(v)$ near u_v is generically the same as the virtual dimension in D_K , since it is generically regular in D_K .

Thus, we have a stratification of

$$(\Pi \mathcal{M})_0^T(\boldsymbol{E},\ell) = \prod_v \mathcal{M}_0^T(v)$$

by smooth manifolds

$$(\Pi \mathcal{M})_0^{T,K} := \prod_v \mathcal{M}_0^{T,K_v}(v),$$

where K denotes the choice of a subset $K_v \subset [k]$ for each $v \in V(T)$. We define

$$\left(\Pi\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}\right)_{0}^{T,\boldsymbol{K}} := \prod_{v \in V(T)} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{0}^{T,K_{v}}(v)$$

and

$$D_{\boldsymbol{K}}^{\boldsymbol{E}_{int}} := \prod_{e \in \boldsymbol{E}_{int}} D_{K_{h(e)}} \times D_{K_{t(e)}},$$

and observe that the evaluation map $ev^{T,K}$ factors as follows:

$$\begin{split} \Pi \mathcal{M}_{0}^{T,K} & \xrightarrow{ev^{T}} M^{E_{int}} \times M^{E_{int}} \\ f^{T,K} \bigvee & & & & \\ \Pi \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{0}^{T,K} & \xrightarrow{\widetilde{ev}^{T,K}} D_{K}^{E_{int}}, \end{split}$$

where $\mathbf{f}^{T, \mathbf{K}}$ is a forgetful map.

Now, observe that the map

$$D_{K}^{E_{int}} \to M^{E_{int}} \times M^{E_{int}}$$

is **not** necessarily transverse to Δ^T , and in particular we cannot hope for the map

$$\Pi \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_0^{T, K} \to M^{E_{int}} \times M^{E_{int}}$$

to be transverse to Δ^T . However, we will explain that

$$\widetilde{ev}^{T,K}:\Pi\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{0}^{T,K}
ightarrow D_{K}^{E_{int}}$$

is generically transverse to the diagonal

$$\Delta^{T,\boldsymbol{K}} := \Delta^T \cap D_{\boldsymbol{K}}^{\boldsymbol{E}_{int}}.$$

We have

$$\Delta^{T,\mathbf{K}} \cong \prod_{e \in \mathbf{E}_{int}} D_{K_{h(e)} \cup K_{t(e)}} \hookrightarrow \prod_{e \in \mathbf{E}_{int}} D_{K_{h(e)}} \times D_{K_{t(e)}},$$

where the inclusion is via the 'diagonal map' $p \mapsto (p, p)$. The map $\widetilde{ev}^{T,K}$ is then transverse to $\Delta^{T,K}$ because, for any $e \in E_{int}$, sphere bubbles inside $D_{K_{h(e)}}$ are generically regular, so we can perturb them to make the marked point move in any direction within $TD_{K_{h(e)}}$. Similarly for the sphere bubble in $D_{K_{t(e)}}$.

It follows that the manifold

$$\left(\widetilde{ev}^{T,K}\right)^{-1} \left(\Delta^{T,K}\right)$$

is generically smooth of dimension

$$\dim\left(\left(\widetilde{ev}^{T,\boldsymbol{K}}\right)^{-1}\left(\Delta^{T,\boldsymbol{K}}\right)\right) = \dim\left(\Pi\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{0}^{T,\boldsymbol{K}}\right) - \operatorname{codim}\left(\Delta^{T,\boldsymbol{K}}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{v} \dim\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{0}^{T,K_{v}}(v)\right) - \sum_{e\in E_{int}}\left(2n-2|K_{h(e)}\cap K_{t(e)}|\right)$$
$$\leq \sum_{v\in V(T)}\left(v.d.\left(\mathcal{M}_{0}^{T}(v)\right) - 2|K_{v}|\right) - \sum_{e\in E_{int}}2n-2|K_{h(e)}\cap K_{t(e)}|$$
$$= v.d.\left(\Pi\mathcal{M}_{0}^{T}\right) - 2n|E_{int}| - 2\sum_{v\in V(T)}|K_{v}| + 2\sum_{e\in E_{int}}|K_{h(e)}\cap K_{t(e)}|$$
$$\leq v.d.\left(\mathcal{M}_{0}^{T}\right) - 2\sum_{e\in E_{int}}|K_{h(e)}| - |K_{h(e)}\cap K_{t(e)}|$$
$$\leq v.d.\left(\mathcal{M}_{0}^{T}\right),$$

where the second-last line follows as each $v \in V(T)$ is the head of at most one edge $e \in E_{int}(T)$.

In particular, if the expected dimension of \mathcal{M}_0^T is negative, then the manifold is empty. It follows that the intersection of the subspace

$$ev^{-1}\left(\Delta^{T}\right)\cap\Pi\mathcal{M}_{0}^{T,\boldsymbol{K}}=\left(\mathfrak{f}^{T,\boldsymbol{K}}\right)^{-1}\left(\left(\widetilde{ev}^{T,\boldsymbol{K}}\right)^{-1}\left(\Delta^{T,\boldsymbol{K}}\right)\right)$$

is empty, for each K.

This completes the proof.

We have an analogous result for the moduli spaces $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_0(\boldsymbol{E},\ell,\boldsymbol{a})$. Now we describe the Gromov compactification of the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{E},\ell,\boldsymbol{a})$.

Definition 2.4.5.11. Let L be a tuple of elements of the affine Fukaya category, p an associated set of generators, E, F finite sets, $\ell : F \to [k]$ a labelling, such that $|L| + 2|E| + 2|F| \ge 2$, and a a k-tuple of positive integers. A stratum of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(p, E, \ell, a)$ is indexed by an object T, where T consists of the following data:

- A tree T, together with a directed planar subtree T_L with labels L;
- An indexing of the semi-infinite edges of $T_E := T \setminus T_L$ by $E \sqcup F$;
- For each edge e of T_L , a choice of generator $p_e \in CF^*(L_{r(e)}, L_{l(e)})$, where $L_{r(e)}, L_{l(e)}$ are the Lagrangian labels to the right and left of e respectively, such that the generators are given by p for the external edges.

For each vertex $v \in V(T)$, we denote by F_v the set of semi-infinite edges in T_E that are incident to v and have index in F, and by $\ell_v : F_v \to [k]$ the labelling induced by ℓ . We denote by E_v the remaining edges (finite or semi-infinite) in T_E that are incident to v. For each vertex $v \in T_L$, we denote by L_v the tuple of Lagrangians labelling the regions

surrounding v, and by p_v the set of chosen generators for the edges adjacent to v. The tree T is required to be **semi-stable**, in the sense that for each vertex $v \in V(T_L)$ we have

$$|L_v| + 2|E_v| + 2|F_v| \ge 2$$

while for each vertex $v \in V(T_E)$,

$$|\boldsymbol{E}_v| + |\boldsymbol{F}_v| \ge 3.$$

Definition 2.4.5.12. Given such an object T, we define the corresponding stratum of the Gromov compactification. For vertices $v \in T_E$, we define

$$\mathcal{M}^{T}(v) := \mathcal{M}_{0}(\boldsymbol{E}_{v}, \ell_{v}, \boldsymbol{a}).$$

For $v \in T_L$, we define

$$\mathcal{M}^{T}(v) := \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}_{v}, \boldsymbol{E}_{v}, \ell_{v}, \boldsymbol{a}).$$

Now, letting E_{int} denote the internal (finite) edges of T_E , we have an obvious evaluation map

$$ev^T: \prod_{v \in V(T)} \mathcal{M}^T(v) \to M^{E_{\text{int}}} \times M^{E_{\text{int}}}.$$

We define

$$\mathcal{M}^{T}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{E},\boldsymbol{\ell},\boldsymbol{a})\coloneqq\left(\boldsymbol{e}\boldsymbol{v}^{T}
ight)^{-1}\left(riangle^{T}
ight),$$

where

$$\triangle^{T} \subset M^{E_{\rm int}} \times M^{E_{\rm int}}$$

denotes the diagonal.

Definition 2.4.5.13. As a set, we define

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{E},\ell,\boldsymbol{a}):=\prod_{T}\mathcal{M}^{T}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{E},\ell,\boldsymbol{a}).$$

We equip it with the Gromov topology.

Proposition 2.4.5.14. The space $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(p, E, \ell, a)$, is compact.

Proof. Standard Gromov compactness (see [39]) says that any sequence in $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell, \boldsymbol{a})$ has a subsequence which Gromov-converges to a nodal disk. The space $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell, \boldsymbol{a})$, by definition, contains all **semi-stable** nodal disks. These are the nodal disks such that each sphere bubble has ≥ 3 marked points, and each disk bubble has

boundary punctures
$$+2(\# \text{ marked points}) \geq 2$$
.

Thus, to prove the result, we must show that, if a non-constant sphere or disk bubbles off in our moduli space, it must be semi-stable. Sphere bubbling was dealt with in Proposition 2.4.5.4. Any unstable disk has one boundary puncture and no internal marked points; these are constant by exactness of the Lagrangians in $M \setminus D$. Thus there can be no unstable sphere or disk bubbling.

Lemma 2.4.5.15. Suppose that all strata $\mathcal{M}^{T}(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{E}, \ell, \mathbf{a})$ of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{E}, \ell, \mathbf{a})$ which contain a sphere bubble have negative virtual dimension. Then, for a generic choice of perturbation data satisfying Condition 2.4.5.7, $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{E}, \ell, \mathbf{a})$ is a compact topological manifold with corners, and each stratum has the expected dimension.

Proof. It follows as in Proposition 2.4.5.9 that any stratum whose virtual dimension is negative is actually empty. Therefore, there are no sphere bubbles. Holomorphic disks intersect the divisors transversely, and are therefore regular. Standard gluing theorems then show that the moduli space is a topological manifold with corners. \Box

We are particularly interested in moduli spaces of dimension 0 and 1, since we use those to define the Fukaya category. In particular, since sphere bubbles always have codimension ≥ 2 , we have the following result: **Corollary 2.4.5.16.** Suppose we are given a set of Lagrangian boundary conditions L with associated generators p, a labelling $\ell : F \to [k]$, and a tuple a. Then, for a generic choice of perturbation data,

- If the virtual dimension of M
 (p, l, a) is 0, then it is a compact zero-dimensional manifold;
- If the virtual dimension of *M*(*p*, *l*, *a*) is 1, then it is a compact one-dimensional manifold, with boundary consisting of the 0-dimensional moduli spaces *M*^T(*p*, *l*, *a*), where *T* has two vertices, both contained in *T_L*.

Now let L be a set of Lagrangian labels, p an associated set of generators, a be a positive integer, and D_j be one of the divisors. We define the three types of boundary strata in the Gromov compactification of $\mathcal{M}_2(p, j, a)$ (compare Figure 2.4.2.2). We observe that any spheres bubbling off from a sequence in $\mathcal{M}_2(p, j, a)$ are necessarily constant, because they do not intersect the divisors D_i for $i \neq j$; thus we need only consider strata consisting of disk bubbles.

Definition 2.4.5.17. Let T consist of the following data:

- A directed planar tree T with Lagrangian labels L, and a distinguished vertex v_1 ;
- For each edge e of T, a generator $p_e \in CF^*(L_{r(e)}, L_{l(e)})$,

such that all vertices are semi-stable with the possible exception of v_1 . We define

$$\mathcal{M}_2^{1, \boldsymbol{T}}(\boldsymbol{p}, j, k) := \mathcal{M}_2(\boldsymbol{p}_{v_1}, j, a) imes \prod_{v
eq v_1} \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}_v, \ell_v)$$

(note that for $v \neq v_1$, $F_v = \phi$, so the ℓ_v is irrelevant but we include it in the notation for consistency).

The second stratum corresponds to $t \to 0$, so the marked points z_1 and z_2 come together and bubble off a pseudo-holomorphic sphere. This sphere has intersection number 0 with all the divisors other than D_j , hence it must be constant. Thus, the holomorphic disk attached to the sphere has intersection number (a + 1) with the divisor D_j , and 0 with the other divisors, and only intersects D_j at the nodal point z where it is attached to the constant sphere. It follow that the disk is tangent to D_j at z to order a + 1. In other words, it is an element of $\mathcal{M}_1(p, j, a+1)$ (i.e., we can choose our perturbation data to make this so).

Definition 2.4.5.18. Let T consist of the following data:

- A directed planar tree T with Lagrangian labels L, and a distinguished vertex v_1 ;
- For each edge e of T, a generator $p_e \in CF^*(L_{r(e)}, L_{l(e)});$

such that all vertices are semi-stable with the possible exception of v_1 . We define

$$\mathcal{M}^{2,\boldsymbol{T}}_{2}(\boldsymbol{p},j,a):=\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}_{v_{1}},j,a+1) imes \prod_{v
eq v_{1}}\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}_{v},\ell_{v}).$$

The third stratum corresponds to $t \to 1$, so the marked points z_1 and z_2 move to the boundary and bubble off disks at the boundary.

Definition 2.4.5.19. Let T consist of the following data:

- A directed planar tree T with Lagrangian labels L, and two distinguished vertices v_1 and v_2 ;
- For each edge e of T, a generator $p_e \in CF^*(L_{r(e)}, L_{l(e)})$,

such that all vertices are semi-stable with the possible exception of v_1 and v_2 , and the

branch of T containing v_1 lies strictly to the left of the branch containing v_2 . We define

$$\mathcal{M}_2^{3,\boldsymbol{T}}(\boldsymbol{p},j,a) := \mathcal{M}_1(\boldsymbol{p}_{v_1},j,a) \times \mathcal{M}_1(\boldsymbol{p}_{v_2},j,1) \times \prod_{v \neq v_1,v_2} \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}_v,\ell_v).$$

Definition 2.4.5.20. We define the moduli space

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{2}(\boldsymbol{p},j,a) := \left(\prod_{\boldsymbol{T}} \mathcal{M}_{2}^{1,\boldsymbol{T}}(\boldsymbol{p},j,a) \right) \prod \left(\prod_{\boldsymbol{T}} \mathcal{M}_{2}^{2,\boldsymbol{T}}(\boldsymbol{p},j,a) \right) \prod \left(\prod_{\boldsymbol{T}} \mathcal{M}_{2}^{3,\boldsymbol{T}}(\boldsymbol{p},j,a) \right)$$

as a set.

Lemma 2.4.5.21. For generic choice of perturbation data, $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_2(\boldsymbol{p}, j, a)$ has the structure of a compact manifold with corners, of the expected dimension (see Lemma 2.4.4.4). Furthermore,

- The stratum $\mathcal{M}_2^{1,T}(\boldsymbol{p}, j, k)$ has codimension |V(T)| 1,
- The stratum $\mathcal{M}^{2,T}_{2}(\boldsymbol{p},j,k)$ has codimension |V(T)|, and
- The stratum $\mathcal{M}_2^{3,T}(\boldsymbol{p},j,k)$ has codimension |V(T)| 2.

2.4.6 Branched covers

Let $\phi : (N, D') \to (M, D)$ be an *a*-branched cover of Kähler pairs (see Definition 2.3.5.9).

Let L be a tuple of anchored Lagrangian branes in $N \setminus D'$, p an associated set of generators, E a finite set, and ℓ a labelling. Denote by $\phi(L)$ the image of these branes in $M \setminus D$, and by $\phi(p)$ the associated set of generators. We would like to related the moduli space $\mathcal{M}(p, E, \ell)$ of disks in N and the moduli space $\mathcal{M}(\phi(p), E, \ell, a)$ of disks in M.

Let us choose perturbation data for the moduli space $\mathcal{M}(\phi(\boldsymbol{p}), \boldsymbol{E}, \ell, \boldsymbol{a})$ in M.

Condition 2.4.6.1. In a neighbourhood of the divisors $D \subset M$, the almost-complex structure part of the perturbation datum is equal to the standard (integrable) complex structure.

Under Condition 2.4.6.1, the pullback of the perturbation data in M by ϕ to N is a valid choice of perturbation data in N. Note that this is not true for generic perturbation data: the pullback of a generic almost-complex structure by ϕ may be singular along the divisors D.

Lemma 2.4.6.2. If our perturbation data in M satisfy Condition 2.4.6.1, and we use the pulled-back perturbation data to define the moduli space in N, then there is an isomorphism of moduli spaces:

$$\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{E}, \ell) \stackrel{\cong}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{M}(\phi(\boldsymbol{p}), \boldsymbol{E}, \ell, \boldsymbol{a}),$$

 $u \mapsto \phi \circ u.$

Proof. It is clear that this map is well-defined and injective. It is also surjective: suppose we are given $u \in \mathcal{M}(\phi(\mathbf{p}), \mathbf{E}, \ell, \mathbf{a})$. It is clear that, locally, u lifts to a pseudoholomorphic curve in $N \setminus \mathbf{D}'$, away from the marked points q_f . At a marked point q_f , u is tangent to the divisor $D_{\ell(f)}$ to order $a_{\ell(f)} - 1$, and it follows that a loop around q_f gets mapped to a loop going $a_{\ell(f)}$ times around divisor $D_{\ell(f)}$. Therefore, a punctured neighbourhood of q_f lifts to $N \setminus \mathbf{D}'$. By the removable singularity theorem, the point q_f also lifts, so u lifts locally on a neighbourhood of the marked points q_f . Therefore, since the disk is contractible, u lifts to N, and the lift is clearly an element of $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{E}, \ell, \mathbf{a})$.

We observe that it is possible to achieve regularity of the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}(\phi(\boldsymbol{p}), \boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$ if we require our perturbation data to satisfy Condition 2.4.6.1, because we can still perturb the Hamiltonian part of the perturbation data essentially arbitrarily away from the strip-like ends and marked points (the transversality argument follows [11, Section 9k]). However, it is **not** possible to achieve regularity of the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_0(\boldsymbol{E}, \ell)$: in particular, on a sphere bubble contained inside one of the divisors, the perturbation datum is required to be equal to the standard complex structure, which may not be regular. Therefore we can in general **not** guarantee regularity of the Gromov compactification

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(\boldsymbol{p}), \boldsymbol{E}, \ell),$$

since its strata involve sphere bubbles.

However, we recall that spheres can not bubble off from the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_1(\boldsymbol{p}, j, a)$ and $\mathcal{M}_2(\boldsymbol{p}, j, a)$, because a non-constant sphere bubble must intersect all of the divisors. Therefore, we **can** achieve regularity of the Gromov compactifications

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}}_1(\phi(\boldsymbol{p}), j, a) \text{ and } \overline{\mathcal{M}}_2(\phi(\boldsymbol{p}), j, a)$$

with perturbation data satisfying Condition 2.4.6.1. This allows us to prove:

Lemma 2.4.6.3. There exist choices of perturbation data in M and N such that Lemma 2.4.5.15 remains true in both M and N, and Lemma 2.4.5.21 remains true in M, and such that there are furthermore isomorphisms of moduli spaces

$$\mathcal{M}_1(\boldsymbol{p}, j, 1) \stackrel{\cong}{\to} \mathcal{M}_1(\phi(\boldsymbol{p}), j, a_j)$$
$$u \mapsto \phi \circ u$$

for all \boldsymbol{p}, j .

Proof. First, we choose perturbation data on the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_1(\phi(\boldsymbol{p}), j, a_j)$ satisfying Condition 2.4.6.1. We define the perturbation data on $\mathcal{M}_1(\boldsymbol{p}, j, 1)$ to be the pullback of this perturbation data under ϕ . We can then extend these choices to consistent choices of perturbation data for **all** of the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_0, \mathcal{M}, \mathcal{M}_1, \mathcal{M}_2$, separately in M and N, such that the moduli spaces and their Gromov compactifications are regular. \Box

2.5 The relative Fukaya category

In this section, we give our definition of the relative Fukaya category of a Kähler pair (M, \mathbf{D}) , which we denote $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$. It is a (possibly curved) $\mathbf{G}(M, \mathbf{D})$ -graded deformation of the affine Fukaya category, in the sense of Definition 2.2.4.3. We also define an orbifold version of the relative Fukaya category. In Section 2.5.2, we describe the behaviour of the relative Fukaya category with respect to branched covers.

2.5.1 The definition

Suppose that (M, \mathbf{D}) is a Kähler pair, and $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_k)$ a tuple of k positive integers (where k is the number of divisors in \mathbf{D}).

Definition 2.5.1.1. We define the ring

$$R_{\boldsymbol{a}} := \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \ldots, r_k]],$$

and equip it with the G(M, D)-grading, where r_j has grading

$$(2(1-a_j), a_j y_j) \in (\mathbb{Z} \oplus Y)/Z$$

(see Corollary 2.3.5.5).

Example 2.5.1.2. Suppose that $(M, \mathbf{D}) = (M_1^n, \mathbf{D})$ as in Example 2.3.5.2, and $\mathbf{a} = (a, \ldots, a)$. Then we have

$$R_a \cong R_a^n$$
,

where R_a^n is the G(M, D)-graded ring introduced in Definition 2.2.2.13.

We give a definition of the smooth orbifold relative Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M, D, a)$, based on the definition of the relative Fukaya category given in [57]. It is a (possibly curved) G(M, D)-graded deformation of the affine Fukaya category over R_a . We denote

$$\mathcal{F}(M, \boldsymbol{D}) := \mathcal{F}(M, \boldsymbol{D}, 1),$$

and call it the relative Fukaya category.

The objects of $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$ are the same as in the affine Fukaya category: anchored Lagrangian branes in $M \setminus \mathbf{D}$. Given a tuple of anchored Lagrangian branes \mathbf{L} with associated generators \mathbf{p} , and an element $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^k$, we choose a labelling ℓ such that $\mathbf{d}(\ell) = \mathbf{d}$, and define the coefficient of $r^{\mathbf{d}}p_0$ in $\mu^s(p_s, \ldots, p_1)$ to be

$$rac{\#\left(\mathcal{M}(oldsymbol{p},\ell,oldsymbol{a})
ight)}{d!},$$

where we denote

$$\boldsymbol{d}! := d_1! d_2! \dots d_k!,$$

and # denotes a signed count of the zero-dimensional part of the moduli space, with signs defined according to the canonical isomorphism of orientation spaces given by Lemma 2.4.4.2. We observe that this is a finite sum, by Corollary 2.4.5.16. Note that, while the affine Fukaya category is not curved (any pseudoholomorphic disk with boundary on an exact Lagrangian is constant, since it has zero energy), the relative Fukaya category may be curved.

It follows from the index computation in Lemma 2.4.4.2 that the structure maps μ^s define a G(M, D)-graded A_{∞} deformation of the affine Fukaya category over R_a . Observe that the order-0 component of μ^s counts disks that completely avoid the divisors D, and therefore coincides with the definition of the structure maps in the affine Fukaya category.

The fact that $\mu \circ \mu = 0$ follows also from Corollary 2.4.5.16, since the signed count of boundary points of a compact 1-dimensional manifold with boundary is 0. The sign com-

putation follows directly from that of [11, Section 12g], essentially because the fibres of the forgetful maps $\mathcal{R}(L, E) \to \mathcal{R}(L, \phi)$ have a complex structure, hence are canonically oriented.

Observe that we needed the factor $(d!)^{-1}$ in the definition of the structure coefficients μ^s . This is because, if $d = d_1 + d_2$, then given a labelling $\ell : \mathbf{F} \to [k]$ with $d(\ell) = d$, there are $d!/(d_1!d_2!)$ ways of choosing a partition $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{F}_1 \sqcup \mathbf{F}_2$ such that the restricted labellings ℓ_1 , ℓ_2 on \mathbf{F}_1 and \mathbf{F}_2 satisfy $d(\ell_1) = d_1$ and $d(\ell_2) = d_2$. So, in the boundary of the one-dimensional component of the moduli space $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{p}, \ell)$, which consists of nodal disks with two components, there are $d!/(d_1!d_2!)$ ways for the marked points q_f to be distributed between the two components.

It is important to consider in what sense the smooth orbifold relative Fukaya category is dependent on the choices (of Floer and perturbation data) involved in its construction. We recall the argument of [11, Section 10a]: Let I denote a set of possible choices of Floer and perturbation data. For each $i \in I$, we denote by $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})^i$ the smooth orbifold relative Fukaya category defined using those choices. We define a new A_{∞} category, the **total** category $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})^{\text{tot}}$, as follows:

- Objects are pairs (L, i) where L is an object of $\mathcal{F}(M, D, a)$ and $i \in I$;
- For each pair of objects we choose a Floer datum, and for each set of labels of objects we choose a perturbation datum;
- We require that, for a pair $(L_0, i), (L_1, i)$, the Floer datum is that given by i;
- We require that, for a set of labels $(L_0, i), \ldots, (L_k, i)$, the perturbation data are those given by the index i;
- The rest of the Floer and perturbation data we choose arbitrarily.

The rest of the construction (of morphism spaces and composition maps) follows that of

the smooth orbifold relative Fukaya category. It follows that for each $i \in I$, there is a full embedding

$$\mathcal{F}(M, \boldsymbol{D}, \boldsymbol{a})^i \hookrightarrow \mathcal{F}(M, \boldsymbol{D}, \boldsymbol{a})^{\mathrm{tot}}$$

which is given, on the level of objects, by

$$L \mapsto (L, i).$$

When restricting to the affine Fukaya category $(r_j = 0)$, it follows from the PSS isomorphism that these embeddings are quasi-equivalences, and hence invertible, and therefore that the affine Fukaya category does not depend on the choice of data $i \in I$, up to quasi-equivalence (see [11, Section 10a].

This need no longer be the case for the relative Fukaya category (these embeddings need not be quasi-equivalences nor invertible), and in general the relative Fukaya may depend on the data used to define it (compare [9, Section 8f]). However, in this paper we are only interested in a certain full subcategory of the relative Fukaya category which is necessarily **minimal** (for grading reasons). Therefore, rather than quasi-equivalence (which we recall is not necessarily a well-behaved notion over the power series ring R), we can use the simpler notion of formal diffeomorphism.

Let \mathcal{L} be a set of objects of $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$, and I be some set of possible choices of Floer and perturbation data for the full subcategory $\mathcal{C} \subset \mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$ with objects \mathcal{L} . Let us form the total category \mathcal{C}^{tot} , as above.

Lemma 2.5.1.3. Suppose that we can choose Floer data and perturbation data for C^{tot} so that it is minimal. Then, for any $i, j \in I$, there is a G-graded quasi-equivalence of minimal A_{∞} categories over R,

 $\mathcal{C}^i \cong \mathcal{C}^j.$

Proof. First, note that we have A_{∞} embeddings of minimal A_{∞} categories

$$\mathcal{C}^i \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}^{\mathrm{tot}} \hookleftarrow \mathcal{C}^j,$$

as above. Now note that, because the objects (L, i) and (L, j) are quasi-isomorphic when restricted to the affine Fukaya category, and \mathcal{C}^{tot} is minimal, these objects are quasi-isomorphic in \mathcal{C}^{tot} . It follows that the above embeddings are quasi-equivalences. By Lemma 2.2.3.34, quasi-equivalences of minimal A_{∞} categories can be inverted over R. It follows that there is a quasi-equivalence $\mathcal{C}^i \cong \mathcal{C}^j$, as required. \Box

In other words, if we can choose the category C^{tot} to be minimal (e.g., for grading reasons), then C is independent of the choice of perturbation data $i \in I$ made in its construction, up to formal diffeomorphism.

Remark 2.5.1.4. If M is Calabi-Yau, then by Remark 2.3.5.7, there is a canonical morphism of grading data

$$p: G(M, D) \to G_{\mathbb{Z}}.$$

Thus, we obtain a canonical Z-grading on the category

$$\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}) \cong \mathbf{p}_* \mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}),$$

such that the \mathbb{Z} -grading of R is zero.

2.5.2 Behaviour with respect to ramified covers

Suppose that $\phi : (N, D') \to (M, D)$ is an *a*-branched cover of Kähler pairs, where $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_k)$. In this section, we will examine the relationship between the following three categories:

$$\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}), \mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a}), \text{ and } \mathcal{F}(N, \mathbf{D}').$$

We first recall the behaviour of the affine Fukaya category under covers. Note that $\phi: N \setminus D' \to M \setminus D$ is a finite (unramified) cover. Thus, it induces an injective morphism of grading data,

$$p: G(N, D') \rightarrow G(M, D).$$

We recall from Proposition 2.3.4.1 that there is a fully faithful embedding

$$p^*\mathcal{F}(M \setminus D) \to \mathcal{F}(N \setminus D').$$

We observe that, if it were possible to choose perturbation data in M such that Condition 2.4.6.1 were satisfied, then Lemma 2.4.6.2 would imply, by a similar argument, that there is a fully faithful embedding

$$p^*\mathcal{F}(M, D, a) \to \mathcal{F}(N, D').$$

Remark 2.5.2.1. We observe that p^*R_a is exactly the G(N, D')-graded coefficient ring over which $\mathcal{F}(N, D')$ is defined; this follows immediately from the definition of R_a (Definition 2.5.1.1) and Lemma 2.3.5.11.

However, we recall (see discussion in Section 2.4.6) that it is **not** possible to guarantee sufficient regularity of all of our moduli spaces under Condition 2.4.6.1, so we can not quite make this statement. Ideally, we would find a better version of Condition 2.4.6.1 that would allow us to guarantee lifting and regularity. However, we have been unable to do this, and instead circumvent this problem by a rather ugly and ad-hoc method, which we now describe.

We recall, from the discussion at the end of Section 2.4.6, that it is possible to obtain regularity for moduli spaces with only a single marked point, under Condition 2.4.6.1. Therefore, we can make sure that the result is true 'to first order' (see Section 2.2.6). Recall (Section 2.2.6) that we denote by $\mathfrak{m} \subset R$ the maximal ideal. If \mathcal{F} is an R-linear A_{∞} category, then $\mathcal{F}/\mathfrak{m}^2$ is an R/\mathfrak{m}^2 -linear category, which retains only the information about the first-order part of \mathcal{F} . Now we prove the result:

Proposition 2.5.2.2. Given an *a*-branched cover of Kähler pairs $\phi : (N, D') \to (M, D)$, there exists a G(M, D)-graded A_{∞} category $\mathcal{F}(\phi)$ over R_a , such that there exist A_{∞} functors

$$\mathfrak{G}_1: p^*\mathcal{F}(\phi) \to \mathcal{F}(N, D'),$$

and

$$\mathfrak{G}_2: \mathcal{F}(\phi)/\mathfrak{m}^2 \to \mathcal{F}(M, \boldsymbol{D}, \boldsymbol{a})/\mathfrak{m}^2,$$

and both $\mathfrak{G}_1/\mathfrak{m}$ and $\mathfrak{G}_2/\mathfrak{m}$ are quasi-equivalences of the zeroth-order categories.

Proof. We would like to choose perturbation data in N which are invariant with respect to the action of $Y(M, \mathbf{D})$, but this will be problematic, because the geometric action of $Y(M, \mathbf{D})$ on N is non-trivial, so we need to employ a trick to bypass this problem (compare [9, Section 8b]).

The covering map ϕ induces an injective homomorphism

$$p: Y(N, \mathbf{D}') \to Y(M, \mathbf{D}).$$

We denote

$$\Gamma := Y(M, \mathbf{D}) / Y(N, \mathbf{D}').$$

As part of the construction of $\mathcal{F}(\phi)$, we choose a function

$$q: \Gamma \to Y(M, \mathbf{D})$$

(not necessarily a group homomorphism) that splits the map $Y(M, \mathbf{D}) \to \Gamma$.

Objects of $\mathcal{F}(\phi)$ are pairs (L, γ) , where L is an anchored Lagrangian brane in $M \setminus D$

and $\gamma \in \Gamma$. We define $Y(M, \mathbf{D})$ to act on our objects by

$$y \cdot (L, \gamma) := ((y - q(y)) \cdot L, \gamma + y),$$

and Γ to act by

$$\gamma \cdot (L, \gamma') := (L, \gamma + \gamma').$$

On the level of objects, the A_{∞} morphisms are given by

$$(L,\gamma) \mapsto q(\gamma) \cdot L$$

(recall that there is a correspondence between anchored Lagrangian branes in $M \setminus D$ and anchored Lagrangian branes in $N \setminus D'$).

We now choose Floer data for our anchored Lagrangian branes in M, satisfying Condition 2.4.6.1, invariant under the action of $Y(M, \mathbf{D}) \oplus \Gamma$. This is possible because the action of this group on the underlying geometric Lagrangians is trivial. We define the morphism spaces as usual, with grading defined so that

$$CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(\phi)}((L_0,\gamma_0),(L_1,\gamma_1)) \cong CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(M\setminus D)}(q(\gamma_0)\cdot L_0,q(\gamma_1)\cdot L_1)$$

as G-graded vector spaces.

This makes $\mathcal{F}(\phi)$ into a $G(M, \mathbf{D})$ -graded pre-category. For labellings ℓ with $|\mathbf{d}(\ell)| \leq 1$, we choose perturbation data in M for the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{p}, \ell, \mathbf{a})$, also satisfying Condition 2.4.6.1 and invariant under the action of $Y(M, \mathbf{D}) \oplus \Gamma$. This allows us to define $\mathcal{F}(\phi)$ to first order, by counting holomorphic disks in M intersecting only a single divisor, exactly by analogy with $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})/\mathfrak{m}^2$. Thus, we in fact have an isomorphism of $G(M, \mathbf{D})$ -graded categories

$$\mathcal{F}(\phi)/\mathfrak{m}^2 \cong \mathcal{F}(M, \boldsymbol{D}, \boldsymbol{a})/\mathfrak{m}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}[\Gamma],$$

where $\gamma \in \Gamma$ has degree $q(\gamma)$. In particular, the categories are quasi-equivalent.

Furthermore, we observe that the above-defined map on the level of objects,

$$p^* \mathcal{F}(\phi) \rightarrow \mathcal{F}(N, D')$$

 $(L, \gamma) \mapsto q(\gamma) \cdot L,$

defines an equivalence of G(N, D')-graded pre-categories. I.e., a generator p of $CF^*((L_0, \gamma_0), (L_1, \gamma_1))$ only lifts to a generator of $CF^*(q(\gamma_0) \cdot L_0, q(\gamma_1) \cdot L_1)$ if its degree $y + q(\gamma_0 - \gamma_1) \in Y(M, D)$ lies in the image of Y(N, D').

Now we extend the definition of $\mathcal{F}(\phi)$ to higher-order terms. Given objects $L := ((L_0, \gamma_0), \ldots, (L_s, \gamma_s))$, with associated generators $\boldsymbol{p} = (p_0, \ldots, p_s)$ of degrees (y_0, \ldots, y_s) in $Y(M, \boldsymbol{D})$, and ℓ a labelling, such that

$$y_0 = f(2 - s - 2|\boldsymbol{d}(\ell) - \boldsymbol{d}_{\boldsymbol{a}}(\ell)|) + p_Y(\boldsymbol{d}_{\boldsymbol{a}}(\ell)) + \sum_{j=1}^s y_j$$

(recall that this condition must be satisfied if the coefficient of $r^{d(\ell)}p_0$ in $\mu^s(p_s, \ldots, p_1)$ is to be non-zero), we define $\phi^*(\boldsymbol{L}, \boldsymbol{p})$ to be the tuple of anchored Lagrangian branes in $N \setminus \boldsymbol{D}'$,

$$(q(\gamma_0) \cdot L_0, (y_1 + q(\gamma_1)) \cdot L_1, \dots, (y_1 + \dots + y_s + q(\gamma_s)) \cdot L_s),$$

with the associated generators which are the lifts of the p_j (note that p_0 does lift, by the equation we imposed on the y_j). We define perturbation data for the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}(\phi^*(\boldsymbol{L},\boldsymbol{p}),\ell)$ in N, such that:

- They are given by the pullback under φ of the perturbation data on M(p, l, a) in M, for |d(l)| ≤ 1 (recalling that these perturbation data satisfy Condition 2.4.6.1, and hence can be pulled back under φ);
- They are invariant with respect to the action of Y(M, D) on objects.

Note that, we can still achieve transversality in the presence of this final assumption. To see why, observe that the action of $Y(M, \mathbf{D})$ may involve a non-trivial geometric action of the covering group Γ . However, under the action

$$y \cdot (L, \gamma) = ((y - q(y)) \cdot L, \gamma + y),$$

the element in the first factor y - q(y) acts trivially on N. Thus, we can choose perturbation data by considering only the first factors of our objects, on which the action of $Y(M, \mathbf{D})$ is trivial, then push these perturbation data forward using the geometric action of the second factors via q.

We now explain why the Gromov compactifications $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(\phi^*(\boldsymbol{L},\boldsymbol{p}),\ell)$ of zero- and onedimensional moduli spaces are generically regular. We recall the discussion of Section 2.4.6: the only obstruction to regularity is the appearance of sphere bubbles contained entirely within one of the divisors \boldsymbol{D} . If we imposed Condition 2.4.6.1 on all of our moduli spaces, we could not guarantee this, because the almost-complex structure on each divisor would be required to be the standard (integrable) complex structure, and hence not necessarily regular. However, we have only imposed this condition on moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}(\phi^*(\boldsymbol{L},\boldsymbol{p}),\ell)$ where $|\boldsymbol{d}(\ell)| \leq 1$, and any sphere bubbling off from such a moduli space is necessarily constant, because it does not intersect some divisor D_i . Therefore, these moduli spaces are generically regular. For the remaining moduli spaces with $|\boldsymbol{d}(\ell)| \geq 2$, we can perturb the almost-complex structure arbitrarily on the divisors, and therefore we can apply the argument of Proposition 2.4.5.9 to prove regularity. Thus, our moduli spaces satisfy the analogue of Corollary 2.4.5.16.

We now define the coefficient of $r^{\boldsymbol{d}}\mu^s(p_s,\ldots,p_1)$ to be the signed count of points in the zero-dimensional part of the moduli space $\mathcal{M}(\phi^*(\boldsymbol{L},\boldsymbol{p}),\ell)$, where $\boldsymbol{d}(\ell) = \boldsymbol{d}$. It follows as in the definition of the relative Fukaya category that μ^s define a $\boldsymbol{G}(M,\boldsymbol{D})$ -graded A_{∞} deformation of $\mathcal{F}(M \setminus \boldsymbol{D})$ over $R_{\boldsymbol{a}}$. It follows immediately from the definition that there
is an A_{∞} quasi-equivalence

$$p^* \mathcal{F}(\phi) \to \mathcal{F}(N, D'),$$

sending $(L, \gamma) \mapsto \gamma \cdot L$ on the level of objects. This completes the proof.

Remark 2.5.2.3. We recall that the notion of quasi-equivalence of A_{∞} categories over R is not necessarily well-behaved; however, in the situation in which we will apply Proposition 2.5.2.2, the parts of the categories $\mathcal{F}(\phi)$, $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$ and $\mathcal{F}(N, \mathbf{D}')$ will necessarily be minimal, so quasi-equivalences are well-behaved by Lemma 2.2.3.34.

Now we would like to relate $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ to $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$. Again, we will only relate the first-order part of the deformations. We recall from Section 2.2.6 that a first-order deformation of the A_{∞} category $\mathcal{F} := \mathcal{F}(M \setminus \mathbf{D})$ over R consists of A_{∞} structure maps

$$\mu^* = \mu_0^* + \mu_1^*,$$

where μ_0^* gives the structure maps of \mathcal{F} , and the A_{∞} relations say that μ_1^* defines a class

$$[\mu_1] \in HH^2(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F} \otimes R^1_1).$$

Theorem 7. Let $\mathcal{F} := \mathcal{F}(M \setminus D)$, G := G(M, D), and let

$$[\mu_{1,1}] := \sum_{j=1}^{k} r_j \alpha_j \in HH^2_G(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F} \otimes R^1_1)$$

be the first-order deformation class of $\mathcal{F}(M, D, 1) \cong \mathcal{F}(M, D)$. Then the first-order deformation class of $\mathcal{F}(M, D, a)$ is given by

$$[\mu_{1,a}] = \sum_{j=1}^{k} r_j \alpha_j^{a_j} \in HH^2_G(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F} \otimes R^1_a),$$

where the power is taken with respect to the Yoneda product on $HH^*(\mathcal{F})$.

Proof. We define elements

$$\beta_j(b) \in CC^*(\mathcal{F}),$$

for $b \geq 1$, as follows: Let L be a tuple of anchored Lagrangian branes in $M \setminus D$, with associated generators p. Then the coefficient of p_0 in $\beta_j(b)^s(p_s, \ldots, p_1)$ is given by the count of rigid elements in the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_1(p, j, b)$. It follows from the fact that the signed count of points in the boundary of the one-dimensional component of the moduli space $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_1(p, j, b)$ is 0, that each $\beta_j(b)$ is a Hochschild cocycle. Furthermore, by definition we have

$$[\beta_j(1)] = \alpha_j$$

and

$$\mu_{1,\boldsymbol{a}} = \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} r_j \beta_j(a_j).$$

We also define elements

$$H_j(b) \in CC^*(\mathcal{F})$$

by counting rigid elements in $\mathcal{M}_2(\boldsymbol{p}, j, b)$.

Lemma 2.5.2.4. We have

$$\beta_j(b+1) = \beta_j(b) \bullet \beta_j(1) \pm \partial(H_j(b))$$

in $CC^*(\mathcal{F})$, where \bullet denotes the Yoneda product and ∂ denotes the Hochschild differential.

Proof. The result follows from the fact that the signed count of points in the boundary of the one-dimensional component of the moduli space $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_2(\boldsymbol{p}, j, b)$ is 0. See Lemma 2.4.5.21 for the description of the boundary components. The boundary points $\mathcal{M}^{1,T}(\boldsymbol{p}, j, b)$ contribute the term $\partial H_j(b)$ to the sum, the boundary points $\mathcal{M}^{2,T}(\boldsymbol{p}, j, b)$ contribute the term $\beta_j(b+1)$, and the boundary points $\mathcal{M}^{3,T}(\boldsymbol{p}, j, b)$ contribute the term $\beta_j(b) \bullet \beta_j(1)$.

It follows that, on the level of Hochschild cohomology,

$$[\beta_j(b+1)] = [\beta_j(b)] \bullet \alpha_j,$$

and hence, by induction, that

$$[\beta_j(b)] = \alpha_j^b.$$

The result follows immediately.

2.6 Morse-Bott computations in the Fukaya category

In this section, we consider the Kähler pair $(M, \mathbf{D}) = (M_1^n, \mathbf{D})$ of Example 2.3.5.2, and the tuple

$$\boldsymbol{a} := (n, \ldots, n)$$

(n copies) associated to the branched cover of Kähler pairs

$$\phi: (M_n^n, \mathbf{D}) \to (M_1^n, \mathbf{D})$$

(see Example 2.3.5.10). We consider the grading datum $\boldsymbol{G} := \boldsymbol{G}(M, \boldsymbol{D})$. We define the \boldsymbol{G} -graded rings

$$R := R_1^n \cong \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \dots, r_n]]$$

and

$$R_n := R_n^n \cong \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \dots, r_n]]$$

from Definition 2.2.2.13, and recall that they are the coefficient rings of $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ and $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$ respectively (see Example 2.5.1.2). Throughout this section, we denote by

$$Y := \mathbb{Z}\langle y_1, \ldots, y_n \rangle$$

the abelian group appearing in the pseudo-grading datum H(M, D).

We recall that

$$M := \left\{ \sum_{j} z_{j} = 0 \right\} \subset \mathbb{CP}^{n-1},$$

with the divisors $D_j := \{z_j = 0\}$. Thus $M \cong \mathbb{CP}^{n-2}$, and D consists of n hyperplanes with normal crossings. $M \setminus D$ is called the (generalized) **pair of pants**.

We construct an immersed Lagrangian sphere $L^n : S^{n-2} \to M \setminus D$ in the pair of pants (summarising the construction in [1]). The main result of this section (Corollary 2.6.5.6) is that the endomorphism algebra $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$, computed in $\mathcal{F}(M, D, a)$, is of type A (see Definition 2.2.5.2).

To do this, we first give a Morse-Bott description of the endomorphism algebra $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ in the relative Fukaya category, $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$, to first order. Structure coefficients in this description are given by counts of 'holomorphic flipping pearly trees' rather than holomorphic disks. A holomorphic flipping pearly tree is a Morse-Bott version of a holomorphic disk, made out of holomorphic disks and Morse flowlines. We introduce them because it is often possible to explicitly identify moduli spaces of flipping pearly trees, and therefore to make explicit computations of the structure coefficients in the Fukaya category.

The construction is based on [1] (note that the original idea comes from [27]). The extra content here is that, whereas [1] describes the endomorphism algebra in the affine Fukaya category only, we will describe the endomorphism algebra in the first-order relative Fukaya category.

There are some transversality issues in the definition of moduli spaces of flipping pearly trees, involving the possibility of unstable disk and sphere bubbles. In the moduli spaces of holomorphic disks that we used to define the relative Fukaya category, we avoided this problem by introducing extra internal marked points where they intersected the divisors D. This approach is no longer possible for flipping pearly trees: they can intersect the divisors on their boundary. For this reason, we can not guarantee transversality and therefore can not give a complete Morse-Bott description of $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ in the relative Fukaya category.

However, for moduli spaces with very few intersections with the divisors (in particular, those which intersect only a single divisor), we can rule out any unstable disk or sphere bubbles in an ad hoc way. Thus, we are able to give a Morse-Bott description of $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ to first order, and in particular to identify the first-order deformation class in $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$. This allows us, via Theorem 7, to determine the first-order deformation class in $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}, \mathbf{a})$. The first-order deformation class is all we need to determine that the algebra is of type A, so the failure of transversality in our Morse-Bott model at higher order does not concern us (to clarify: $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ is perfectly well-defined at all orders, but our Morse-Bott model for it is well-defined only to first order).

After describing the construction of the Lagrangian L^n in Section 2.6.1, the structure of this section follows that of Section 2.4: first we introduce the moduli space of pearly trees (possible domains for a flipping pearly tree), then we describe our choice of perturbation data, then we describe the moduli space of flipping pearly trees (pseudoholomorphic maps into M), explain why transversality holds, then describe Gromov compactness.

2.6.1 The Lagrangian immersion $L^n: S^{n-2} \to M \setminus D$

In [1], we introduced a one-parameter family of Lagrangian immersions

$$L^n_{\epsilon}: S^{n-2} \to M \setminus D,$$

for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small (actually we called these L^{n-2} ; apologies for the change in notation, but it makes many formulae cleaner). We briefly recall the construction of L^n .

We consider the Lagrangian immersion $L': S^{n-2} \to M$ which is the double cover of the real locus \mathbb{RP}^{n-2} of M. If we think of

$$S^{n-2} := \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j = 0, \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j^2 = 1 \right\} \subset \mathbb{R}^n,$$

then the immersion is given by

$$(x_1,\ldots,x_n)\mapsto [x_1:\ldots:x_n].$$

We construct the immersion L^n by perturbing the immersion L'.

Namely, by the Weinstein Lagrangian neighbourhood theorem, L' can be extended to an immersion of the radius- η cotangent disk bundle

$$D_{\epsilon}^* S^{n-2} \to M,$$

which is J_0 -holomorphic along the zero section, and such that complex conjugation acts by -1 on the covector.

We construct a function $f:S^{n-2}\to \mathbb{R}$ by setting

$$f(x_1,\ldots,x_n)=\sum_{j=1}^n g(x_j),$$

where $g: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ has the properties

- 1. g'(x) > 0;
- 2. g(-x) = -g(x);
- 3. g(x) = x for $|x| < \delta$;
- 4. g'(x) is a strictly decreasing function of |x| for $|x| > \delta$;
- 5. $g'(x) < \delta$ for $|x| > 2\delta$,

for some small $\delta > 0$.

We then define $L_{\epsilon}^{n}: S^{n-2} \to M$ to be the image of the graph of the exact one-form ϵdf in $D_{\eta}^{*}S^{n-2}$, under the immersion into M, so that $L' = L_{0}^{n}$. The fact that ∇f is transverse to the hypersurfaces $\{x_{j} = 0\}$ implies that the image L_{ϵ}^{n} avoids the divisors $\{z_{j} = 0\}$ for $\epsilon > 0$, so we obtain a Lagrangian immersion $L_{\epsilon}^{n}: S^{n-2} \to M \setminus D$. It has self-intersections at the critical points of f (where it intersects the other branch of the double cover). We observe that, for $n \geq 4$, L^{n} automatically lifts to $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}(M \setminus D)$, because $\pi_{1}(S^{n-2}) = 0$. We choose such a lift, and hence define an anchored brane structure on the Lagrangian L^{n} .

The flowlines of ∇f are illustrated in Figure 2.6.1.1, in the case n = 4. The hypersurfaces $\{x_j = 0\}$ split S^{n-2} into $2^n - 2$ regions, indexed by the proper non-empty sets $K \subset [n]$. Namely, K corresponds to the region where coordinates x_j are negative for $j \in K$ and positive for $x_j \notin K$. Each region contains a unique critical point p_K of f.

The Floer endomorphism algebra $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ can be defined, despite L^n being immersed (see [1, Section 3.1]), and is generated by the self-intersection points of L^n (which are the points p_K indexed by proper non-empty sets $K \subset [n]$), together with the Morse cohomology of S^n (which we choose to have generators p_{ϕ} and $p_{[n]}$, corresponding to the



Figure 2.6.1.1: The case n = 4. The dashed circles represent the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}} = D_j \cap \mathbb{RP}^2$ as labeled. Each region is labeled with the list of coordinates that are negative in that region (e.g., the label '124' means that $x_1 < 0, x_2 < 0, x_3 > 0, x_4 < 0$ in that region). The arrows represent the index-1 Morse flow lines of ∇f . The dots represent critical points of f. The picture really lives on a sphere, and the three points labeled '4' should be identified (at infinity).

identity and top class respectively). Thus, $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ has generators p_K indexed by subsets $K \subset [n]$.

It follows from [1, Proposition 3.3] and [1, Proposition 3.7] that there is an isomorphism

$$CF^*(L^n, L^n) \cong A$$

as **G**-graded vector spaces, where $A \cong A_n$ is the **G**-graded exterior algebra of Definition 2.2.2.12.

We now observe that we can define the endomorphism algebra $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ in $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})/\mathfrak{m}^2$. Most of the rest of this section is concerned with computing $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ in $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})/\mathfrak{m}^2$, using 'flipping pearly trees'.

Remark 2.6.1.1. Note that, in [1, Section 3.1], well-definedness of $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ in the affine Fukaya category was proved by passing to the cover $M^n \setminus D$ of $M \setminus D$, to bypass proving Gromov compactness for immersed Lagrangians. One may worry that this will no longer be valid when we consider disks passing through the divisors D, about which the cover $M^n \to M$ has some branching. However, as we saw in the proof of Proposition 2.5.2.2, for the first-order relative Fukaya category it is possible to choose perturbation data that lift to the branched cover; and therefore we can apply the same trick to rigorously define $CF^*(L^n, L^n)$ in $\mathcal{F}(M, D)/\mathfrak{m}^2$.

The main result we will prove is:

Proposition 2.6.1.2. There exists a *G*-graded A_{∞} category \mathcal{F}' over R/\mathfrak{m}^2 , such that;

- \mathcal{F}' has two objects: L and L';
- L and L' are quasi-isomorphic in the zeroth-order category $\mathcal{F}'/\mathfrak{m}$;
- The endomorphism algebra of L in F' coincides with the endomorphism algebra of Lⁿ in F(M, D)/m²;

Furthermore, the endomorphism algebra of L' in \mathcal{F}' satisfies:

$$CF^*_{\mathcal{F}'}(L',L') \cong (A,\mu^*),$$

where:

- A is the G-graded vector space of Definition 2.2.2.12;
- (A, μ_0^2) coincides with the exterior algebra multiplication on A;
- We have

$$\Phi(\mu^*) = u_1 \dots u_n + \sum_{j=1}^n r_j u_j \in HH^2_G(A, A \otimes R/\mathfrak{m}^2)$$

where Φ is the HKR map (see Definition 2.2.5.1).

Remark 2.6.1.3. The main result of [1] was the zeroth-order part of Proposition 2.6.1.2. It remains to prove that flipping pearly trees can be made to work to first order, and that the first-order deformation classes are as claimed.

2.6.2 Flipping Pearly trees

For the purposes of this section, L will denote a tuple of objects of \mathcal{F}' (i.e., it consists only of two types of entries: L (representing the Lagrangian immersion $L_{\epsilon}^n: S^{n-2} \to M$ for some $\epsilon > 0$) or L' (representing the Lagrangian immersion $L': S^{n-2} \to M$).

Definition 2.6.2.1. If T is a semi-stable directed planar tree with labels L, we introduce the following notation:

- V(T) is the set of vertices of T;
- E(T) is the set of edges of T;
- $E'(T) \subset E(T)$ is the subset of edges with both sides labeled L';

- F'(T) is the set of flags (v, e) of T such that $e \in E'(T)$;
- C(T) is the set of 'segments' between consecutive edges around a vertex (these are indexed by pairs of consecutive flags around a vertex);
- If $C \in C(T)$, then $L_C \in \mathbf{L}$ is the label associated to C.

Definition 2.6.2.2. Let L be a tuple. We denote by $\mathcal{R}_3(L)$ the moduli space of flipping pearly trees, where a flipping pearly tree $r \in \mathcal{R}_3(L)$ consists of the following data:

- A semi-stable directed planar tree T_r with labels L, such that all internal edges have both sides labeled L' (i.e., all internal edges are contained in $E'(T_r)$);
- A designation of each edge $e \in E'(T_r)$ as either flipping or non-flipping;
- For each stable vertex $v \in V(T_r)$, a point $r_v \in \mathcal{R}(\mathbf{L}_v, \phi)$;
- For each internal edge e, a length parameter $l_e \in [0, \infty)$.

See Figure 2.6.2.1 for a picture of a flipping pearly tree. We also allow one special case: if $\mathbf{L} = (L', L')$, then we permit T_r to have no vertices, just a single edge with both sides labeled L'.

Now, given a flipping pearly tree $r \in \mathcal{R}_3(L)$, we define an associated topological space S_r . There are a few special cases first:

Definition 2.6.2.3. If L = (L', L'), and T_r is the tree with a single edge, then we define $S_r := \mathbb{R}$. If |L| = 2 but $L \neq (L', L')$, then $S_r := \mathbb{R} \times [0, 1]$.

Now we define S_r in the remaining cases:

Definition 2.6.2.4. Given a flipping pearly tree $r \in \mathcal{R}_3(L)$, we define a topological space S_r as follows:



Figure 2.6.2.1: A flipping pearly tree S. Observe that all edges have label L' on either side.

- For each semi-stable vertex $v \in V(T_r)$ with both sides labeled L', we define S_v to be a disk with two boundary marked points, corresponding to the edges incident to v.
- For each stable vertex $v \in V(T_r)$, we define S_v to be the boundary-marked disk with modulus r_v , with all marked points punctured except for those corresponding to edges in $E'(T_r)$ (they remain as marked points). These are the '**pearls**'.
- We define

$$S^p := \coprod_{v \in V(T_r)} S_v.$$

- For each internal edge e, we define $S_e := [0, l_e]$. For each external edge e in $E'(T_r)$, we define $S_e := \mathbb{R}^{\pm}$, with the + or - depending on the orientation of the edge.
- We define

$$S^e := \coprod_{e \in E(r)} S_e.$$

- For each flag f = (v, e) ∈ F'(T_r), there is a corresponding marked boundary point m(f) ∈ S_v and boundary point b(f) ∈ S_e.
- We define

$$S_r := (S^p \sqcup S^e) / \sim$$

where

$$m(f) \sim b(f)$$
 for all $f \in F'(T_r)$.

Definition 2.6.2.5. Given $r \in \mathcal{R}_3(L)$, we also define a 'boundary' $(\partial S)_r$ and a continuous map

$$(\partial S)_r \to S_r,$$

as follows:

- For each segment C ∈ C(T_r) adjacent to vertex v ∈ V(T_r), we define (∂S)_C to be the corresponding component of the boundary of S_v. Thus, (∂S)_C is an interval, and its two ends correspond to consecutive marked points on the disk with modulus r_v. If the marked point is punctured in S_v (i.e., if its sides are not both labeled L'), then that end of the interval (∂S)_C is open, and if the marked point remains in S_v (i.e., if its sides are both labeled L'), then that end of the labeled (∂S)_C is closed.
- We define

$$(\partial S)^p := \prod_{C \in C(T_r)} (\partial S)_C$$
, with the obvious map
 $(\partial S)^p \to S^p.$

- For each edge e, we define $(\partial S)_e := S_e \times \{0,1\}$ (two copies of S_e).
- We define

$$(\partial S)^e := \prod_{e \in E(T_r)} (\partial S)^e$$
, with the obvious map
 $(\partial S)^e \to S^e$.

- For each flag f = (v, e) ∈ F'(T_r), there are points m̃_j(f) ∈ (∂S)_v for j = 0, 1, from the boundary components to the right and left of m(f) respectively, and points õ_j(f) = (b(f), j) ∈ (∂S)_e, for j = 0, 1.
- We define

$$(\partial S)_r := ((\partial S)^p \sqcup (\partial S)^e) / \sim,$$

where

$$\tilde{m}_j(f) \sim \tilde{b}_j(f)$$
 for all $f \in F'(r)$, and $j = 0, 1$

(see Figure 2.6.2.2).



Figure 2.6.2.2: Defining the boundary $\partial S \to S$ of a flipping pearly tree S, and attaching a strip (shaded in grey) along it.

• It is clear that there is a continuous map

$$(\partial S)_r \to S_r.$$

Definition 2.6.2.6. An **automorphism** of a flipping pearly tree is a map $S_r \to S_r$ such that each pearl gets sent to itself by a biholomorphism which preserves the marked points, and each edge gets sent to itself by a translation preserving marked points (in particular, edges are fixed by any automorphism, unless they are infinite).

In particular, the possible non-trivial automorphisms of a flipping pearly tree are:

• If L = (L', L') and $S_r = \mathbb{R}$, then automorphisms are translations of \mathbb{R} ;

- If |L| = 2 but L ≠ (L', L'), then S_r = ℝ×[0, 1] and automorphisms are translations in the ℝ-direction;
- If v is a semi-stable vertex of T(r), then S_v is a disk with two marked boundary points, and there is an \mathbb{R} family of automorphisms (translations) of S_v preserving the marked boundary points.

Definition 2.6.2.7. From our universal choice of strip-like ends for the moduli spaces $\mathcal{R}(L, \phi)$, we can define a subset

$$S_{ ext{thin}}^p \subset S^p,$$

called the **thin** region, which consists of the images of strip-like ends under gluing maps (see [11, Remark 9.1]). To clarify: the thin region includes a neighbourhood of each boundary marked point of a pearl, and also **all** of any semi-stable pearl S_v (see Figure 2.6.2.3). We define the corresponding **thick** region

$$S^p_{\text{thick}} := S^p \setminus S^p_{\text{thin}}$$

Definition 2.6.2.8. We define the region

$$S^e_{\text{thin}} \subset S^e$$

to be the set of points on edges which are distance > 1 from the boundary of the edge, and

$$S^e_{\text{thick}} := S^e \setminus S^e_{\text{thin}}$$

(see Figure 2.6.2.3).

As in [1, Section 4.1], we can define a topology on the moduli space $\mathcal{R}_3(L)$. The important point is that thin regions with opposite sides labelled L' can stretch until they 'break', then become an internal edge (see Figure 2.6.2.4). The difference from [1] is that we now allow semi-stable vertices, and this means that $\mathcal{R}_3(L)$ no longer has the



Figure 2.6.2.3: The thick and thin regions of the same flipping pearly tree S illustrated in Figure 2.6.2.2. The thick regions are shown in light grey, and the thin regions in dark grey. Note that the unstable disk (with two marked points) is entirely thin, and also that it is possible for an internal edge to be entirely thick (when it has length ≤ 2).



Figure 2.6.2.4: A thin region with both sides labelled L' (upper left) can stretch until it becomes a thin region (upper right), then break, becoming a thick internal edge (lower right), which then stretches until it has a thin region in its interior (lower left).

structure of a manifold with boundary. All we can say is that it is stratified by manifolds – however we will see later that the space of holomorphic maps of pearly trees into our manifold is a manifold with boundary, which is what we need to define our algebraic structures.

The strata of $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_3(L)$ are indexed by semi-stable directed planar trees T with labels L. Note there is no requirement that internal edges have opposite sides labeled L' here. The tree T corresponds to the codimension-(|V(T)| - 1) stratum

$$\mathcal{R}_3^T(L)\cong \prod_{v\in V(T)}\mathcal{R}_3(L_v).$$

Points in this stratum correspond to flipping pearly trees, where the pearls are allowed to be nodal and the edges are allowed to have infinite length.

Remark 2.6.2.9. The moduli space $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_3(L)$ is not compact, because our flipping pearly trees can have arbitrarily many semi-stable vertices. In practice (see the proof of Proposition 2.6.4.1), we have an a priori upper bound N on the number of semi-stable vertices

that we need consider. We consider the subspace

$$\overline{\mathcal{R}}_3(\boldsymbol{L},N)\subset\overline{\mathcal{R}}_3(\boldsymbol{L}),$$

consisting of stable flipping pearly trees with $\leq N$ semi-stable vertices. This subspace is compact.

2.6.3 Floer and perturbation data

Definition 2.6.3.1. We define

$$\mathcal{H}^e := C^\infty(S^n, \mathbb{R})$$

(think of this as the space of Morse functions on S^n), and

 $\mathcal{H}^p := \{ H \in C^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R}) : H \text{ vanishes, with its first derivatives, along each divisor } D_j \}$

(think of this as the space of Hamiltonians on M), and \mathcal{J} , the space of smooth almostcomplex structures on M which are compatible with ω , and make the divisors D_j almostcomplex submanifolds.

Definition 2.6.3.2. Let $L = (L_0, L_1)$ be a 2-element tuple. For each such tuple, we choose a Floer datum (H_L, J_L) consisting of

$$H_L \in C^{\infty}([0,1], \mathcal{H}^p)$$
 and $J_L \in C^{\infty}([0,1], \mathcal{J})$

such that:

- $H_L = 0$ unless L = (L, L);
- the time-1 Hamiltonian flow of $H_{(L,L)}$ makes L^n transverse to itself;

• $J_{(L',L')} = J_0$ is constant, equal to the standard integrable complex structure.

Now, if $(L_0, L_1) \neq (L', L')$, then we define a **generator** of $CF^*_{\mathcal{F}'}(L_0, L_1)$ to be a path $p : [0,1] \rightarrow M$ which is a flowline of the Hamiltonian vector field of H_L , such that $p(0) \in L_0$ and $p(1) \in L_1$. One defines $CF^*_{\mathcal{F}'}(L_0, L_1)$ to be the R/\mathfrak{m}^2 -module generated by its generators. It is **G**-graded.

Remark 2.6.3.3. The G-grading is defined exactly as in the affine Fukaya category (Section 2.3.3). One might worry that L' intersects the divisors D_j , hence doesn't lie in $M \setminus D$. However, we simply push L' off itself using ∇f (as in the definition of L_{ϵ}^n), and use the pushed-off version of L' for all grading (and index) computations – see [1, Proof of Proposition 5.3]. The point is that the grading of the relative Fukaya category arises from index computations of the relevant Fredholm operators, which are computed purely topologically.

Definition 2.6.3.4. If $(L_0, L_1) = (L', L')$, then we define the Floer datum to contain additional information, namely:

- the Morse function $f: S^n \to \mathbb{R};$
- another Morse function $h: S^n \to \mathbb{R}$, with exactly two critical points.

One defines a **generator** of $CF_{\mathcal{F}'}^*(L',L')$ to be a critical point of one of the Morse functions f or h, and $CF_{\mathcal{F}'}^*(L',L')$ to be the R/\mathfrak{m}^2 -module generated by these critical points. We identify the critical points of f as p_K for $K \subset [n]$ proper and non-empty, and the critical points of h as p_{ϕ} and $p_{[n]}$. Then $CF_{\mathcal{F}'}^*(L',L')$ is G-graded, where p_K has the same grading as the corresponding generator θ^K of A, where A is the G-graded algebra of Definition 2.2.2.12. **Lemma 2.6.3.5.** The G-graded morphism spaces in \mathcal{F}' are as follows:

$$CF_{\mathcal{F}'}^*(L,L) \cong CF_{\mathcal{F}'}^*(L',L')$$
$$\cong A \otimes R/\mathfrak{m}^2$$
$$\cong \bigoplus_{K \subset [n]} R/\mathfrak{m}^2 \cdot p_K,$$

and

$$CF_{\mathcal{F}'}^*(L,L') \cong CF_{\mathcal{F}'}^*(L',L)$$

$$\cong A \otimes R/\mathfrak{m}^2 \oplus CM^*(f) \otimes R/\mathfrak{m}^2$$

$$\cong \bigoplus_{K \subset [n]} R/\mathfrak{m}^2 \cdot p_K \oplus \bigoplus_{K \subset [n], K \neq \phi, [n]} R/\mathfrak{m}^2 \cdot q_K,$$

where $CM^*(f)$ is the Morse complex of the function f. The G-grading of generators labelled by $p_K \in A$ is as in Definition 2.2.2.12. The G-grading of generators labelled by q_K is (|K| - 1, 0) (where |K| - 1 is the Morse index of q_K).

Proof. See [1, Proof of Proposition 5.5].

Definition 2.6.3.6. In each morphism space, we call the generators labelled p_K , where $K \subset [n]$ is not equal to ϕ or [n], the **flipping generators**, and the others (labelled q_K , p_{ϕ} or $p_{[n]}$) the **non-flipping generators**. The terminology comes from the definition of L^n as a perturbation of the double cover $S^n \to \mathbb{RP}^n \hookrightarrow \mathbb{CP}^n$. Flipping generators correspond to paths p from one sheet of the cover to the opposite sheet; non-flipping generators correspond to paths from one sheet to the same sheet.

Definition 2.6.3.7. A perturbation datum for a fixed flipping pearly tree $r \in \mathcal{R}_3(L)$ consists of the data (K^e, K^p, J) , where:

- $K^e \in C^{\infty}(S^e, \mathcal{H}^e);$
- $K^p \in \Omega^1(S^p, \mathcal{H}^p);$

• $J \in C^{\infty}(S^p, \mathcal{J}),$

such that, for each boundary component C of a pearl in S with Lagrangian label L_C ,

$$K^p(\xi)|_{L_C} = 0$$
 for all $\xi \in TC \subset T(\partial S)$.

Definition 2.6.3.8. We say that a perturbation datum is **compatible with the Floer** data if, on each component of the thin regions of S^p and S^e , the perturbation datum agrees with the corresponding (translation-invariant) Floer datum. Explicitly, this means that:

- On each strip-like end of a pearl, (K^p, J) is given by the translation-invariant extension of the Floer datum (H_L, J_L) ;
- In a neighbourhood of each boundary marked point of a pearl, and also on all of each semi-stable pearl with both sides labeled L', we have $(K^p, J) = (0, J_0)$;
- On each thin region of a flipping edge, $K^e = f$;
- On each thin region of a non-flipping edge, $K^e = h$.

Remark 2.6.3.9. Note that, if our perturbation datum is compatible with the Floer data, then it is preserved by any automorphism of the flipping pearly tree.

Definition 2.6.3.10. We define the notion of a compatible universal choice of perturbation data for the moduli spaces $\mathcal{R}(L)$, by analogy with [11, Section 9i].

Definition 2.6.3.11. Let L be a tuple of objects of \mathcal{F}' , and p an associated set of generators. A holomorphic flipping pearly tree u with ends on p consists of the following data:

• A flipping pearly tree $r \in \mathcal{R}_3(L)$;

- For each vertex $v \in V(T(r))$, a smooth map $u_v : S_v \to M$;
- For each edge $e \in E(r)$ with both sides labeled L', a smooth map $u_e : S_e \to S^n$;
- A continuous map $\tilde{u}: \partial S_r \to S^n$.

We impose the following requirements on these maps:

- u is asymptotic to the generators p along the strip-like ends and external edges;
- For each semi-stable vertex v, the map u_v satisfies the perturbed holomorphic curve equation

$$(Du_v - Y)^{0,1} = 0,$$

where, for $\xi \in TS$, $Y(\xi)$ is the Hamiltonian vector field of the function $K^p(\xi)$;

• The maps u_e satisfy the Morse flow equation

$$Du_e - \nabla K^e = 0;$$

• For each boundary component C of a pearl S_v ,

$$L_C \circ \tilde{u}|_C = u_v|_C;$$

• For each edge e with both sides labeled L',

$$\tilde{u}|_{S_e \times \{0\}} = u_e,$$

and

$$\tilde{u}|_{S_e \times \{1\}} = \begin{cases} u_e & \text{if } e \text{ is non-flipping} \\ a \circ u_e & \text{if } e \text{ is flipping} \end{cases}$$

where we recall that $a: S^n \to S^n$ is the antipodal map.

• If $v \in V(T(r))$ is semi-stable, then the map u_v is non-constant.

Definition 2.6.3.12. Two holomorphic flipping pearly trees are **equivalent** if they are related by an automorphism of the domain (recall from Remark 2.6.3.9 that any automorphism of the domain preserves the perturbation datum and hence acts on the space of holomorphic flipping pearly trees).

Definition 2.6.3.13. Given a flipping holomorphic pearly tree u as defined above, one obtains a well-defined homology class $[u] \in H_2(M, L^n)$ as follows (see Figure 2.6.2.2):

- Start with the continuous map $u: S \to \mathbb{CP}^n$ associated with the flipping holomorphic pearly tree.
- Glue a thin strip along the boundary ∂S of the flipping pearly tree;
- If the boundary component or edge has label L, then it already gets mapped to L^n , so we map the strip into \mathbb{CP}^n by making it constant along its width.
- If the boundary component or edge has label L', then by construction, there is a continuous lift \tilde{u} of the boundary of the strip to S^n .
- Thus, we can map the strip into \mathbb{CP}^n by letting it interpolate between the zero section and the graph of ϵdf in the Weinstein neighbourhood $D^*_{\eta}S^n$ used in the construction of L^n . Thus, boundary components of the strip with label L' now lie on L^n .

We now define the intersection number $\boldsymbol{u} \cdot D_j$ to be the topological intersection number of this class $[\boldsymbol{u}] \in H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, L^n)$ with $D_j \in H_{2n-2}(\mathbb{CP}^n)$, and

$$\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{D} := \sum_{j} \left([\boldsymbol{u}] \cdot D_{j} \right) y_{j} \in Y.$$

Definition 2.6.3.14. Let u be a holomorphic flipping pearly tree. For each $v \in V(T(r))$, the map u_v defines a homology class in $H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, \mathbb{RP}^n) \cong \mathbb{Z}$, because its boundary gets mapped to a Weinstein neighbourhood of \mathbb{RP}^n . We denote this homology class by $d_v \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ (it is non-negative because holomorphic disks have non-negative area). We denote the sum of all homology classes d_v by $d_u \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Now we explain how to compute these intersection numbers in a simple way. It helps if the holomorphic flipping pearly trees are in general position, in the following sense:

Definition 2.6.3.15. We say that a holomorphic flipping pearly tree u is in general position if:

- Each boundary component C with label L' is transverse to the real hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}} \subset S^n$;
- No flipping marked points lie on the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$.

Lemma 2.6.3.16. Given a holomorphic flipping pearly tree u, we can perturb the defining equations of the divisors D_j so that

- The intersection numbers $\mathbf{u} \cdot D_j$ do not change;
- **u** is in general position with respect to the perturbed divisors.

Proof. See the proof of [1, Proposition 5.1].

If u is in general position, then we can split the surface defining our homology class [u] into regions $[u_v]$ corresponding to the pearls v, and $[u_e]$ corresponding to the edges e of the pearly tree, in such a way that the boundary of each such region does not intersect the divisors D_j . We cut the pearls off from the strips in the obvious way – since they are joined at boundary marked points, which don't lie on the hypersurfaces $D_j^{\mathbb{R}}$, the cuts we introduce do not intersect the divisors D_j .

Thus, each region defines a class in $H_2(M, M \setminus D)$, and $[\boldsymbol{u}] \cdot \boldsymbol{D}$ is equal to the sum of $[u_v] \cdot \boldsymbol{D}$ and $[u_e] \cdot \boldsymbol{D}$ over all pearls v and edges e of the pearly tree.

Lemma 2.6.3.17. Let u be a holomorphic flipping pearly tree in general position. Then we have:

- For each non-flipping edge e, $[u_e] \cdot D_j = 0$;
- For each flipping edge e, [u_e] · D_j is equal to the topological intersection number of the edge u_e : [0, l_e] → Sⁿ with the hypersurface D^ℝ_j (this is non-negative because the gradient of the function f crosses all hypersurfaces D^ℝ_j positively);
- For each pearl v, [u_v] · D_j is equal to the sum of the number of internal intersections of u_v with D_j (these are counted positively by positivity of intersections), together with +1 for each time a boundary lift ũ|_C with label L' crosses D_j^ℝ in the negative direction (and 0 if the lift crosses in the positive direction).

Proof. See [1, Proposition 5.1].

Corollary 2.6.3.18. If u is a flipping holomorphic pearly tree, then the intersection numbers $u \cdot D_j$ are non-negative.

Definition 2.6.3.19. Let L be a tuple, p an associated set of generators, and $d \in Y_{\geq 0}$. We define $\mathcal{M}_3(p, d)$ to be the moduli space of holomorphic flipping pearly trees u with labels L and ends on p, and such that

$$\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\boldsymbol{D}=\boldsymbol{d},$$

modulo equivalence.

Proposition 2.6.3.20. Let L be a tuple, p an associated set of generators. Suppose that $(p_{K_1}, \ldots, p_{K_k})$ is the tuple obtained from p by keeping only the flipping generators

(see Definition 2.6.3.6). Then we have

$$[\boldsymbol{u}]\cdot \boldsymbol{D} = qy_{[n]} + \sum_{j=1}^k y_{K_j}$$

for some $q \in \mathbb{Z}$, and the homology class of $[u] \in H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, \mathbb{RP}^n) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ is given by the formula

$$[\boldsymbol{u}] = 2q + k.$$

Proof. Follows from [1, Lemma 5.8], and a slight modification of [1, Proposition 5.10].

Definition 2.6.3.21. Let u be a holomorphic flipping pearly tree in general position, all of whose boundary components are labelled L'. For each flag f corresponding to a flipping edge of the tree, we have corresponding marked points in the boundary $(\partial S)_r$, namely

$$\tilde{m}_0(f) \sim \tilde{b}_0(f)$$
 and $\tilde{m}_1(f) \sim \tilde{b}_1(f)$.

The boundary map \tilde{u} sends these points to antipodal regions $S_K^n, S_{\bar{K}}^n$ respectively, for some $K \subset [n]$ (recall that S_K^n is defined to be the region where $x_j < 0$ for $j \in K$ and $x_j > 0$ for $j \notin K$). We attach the labels K and \bar{K} to the marked points $\tilde{m}_0(f)$ and $\tilde{m}_1(f)$, respectively. Figure 2.6.3.1 shows a possible labeling of a flipping holomorphic pearly tree.

Lemma 2.6.3.22. Let u be a holomorphic flipping pearly tree with all sides labelled L', in general position, and equipped with labels as above. We decompose [u] into regions $[u_e]$, corresponding to edges, and $[u_v]$, corresponding to pearls, as before. Then we have:

• For each flipping edge e, the label K₀ at the start of the edge contains the label K₁ at the end of the edge, and

$$[u_e] \cdot \boldsymbol{D} = y_{K_1} - y_{K_0};$$



Figure 2.6.3.1: An example of a legal labeling of a flipping holomorphic pearly tree, which might contribute to the coefficient of p_{ϕ} in the A_{∞} product $\mu^7(p_{\{1\}}, \ldots, p_{\{7\}})$. We have illustrated a simple case, in which all external flowlines are constant because the points $p_{\{j\}}$ are maxima of the Morse function f. The external label '1' means the set $\{1\}$, while ' $\overline{1}$ ' means the complement $\{2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7\}$. The big label '1' in the middle of a pearl means that the pearl has degree 1.

- For each pearl v such that:
 - The homology class is $d_v \in H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, \mathbb{RP}^n) \cong \mathbb{Z};$
 - The points immediately after the flipping marked points of u_v have labels K_1, \ldots, K_{k_v} , if we traverse the boundary in positive direction (in other words, the points $\tilde{m}_1(f)$ for all outgoing flags, and $\tilde{m}_0(f)$ for the incoming flag);

then we have:

- For some $q_v \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$[\boldsymbol{u}] \cdot \boldsymbol{D} = q_v y_{[n]} + \sum_{j=1}^{k_v} y_{K_j};$$

- The homology class d_v satisfies

$$d_v = 2q_v + k_v.$$

We recall that non-flipping edges u_e do not contribute to the intersection numbers.

Proof. For edges, the statement follows from the fact that ∇f only crosses divisors positively, and $[u_e]$ picks up an intersection point with D_j each time u_e crosses D_j

positively (compare [1, Figure 9(b)]). For pearls, the statement follows from Proposition 2.6.3.20.

2.6.4 Transversality and compactness

Proposition 2.6.4.1. For generic choice of Floer and perturbation data, the components of $\mathcal{M}_3(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{d})$ with $|\mathbf{d}| \leq 1$ are regular, and have the structure of topological manifolds of the expected dimension.

Proof. The moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_3(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{d})$ are constructed by gluing together pieces corresponding to the different possible underlying trees (see [1, Section 4.4]). If we are to obtain a topological manifold, we need each piece to be cut out transversely, and also for the 'seams' along which the pieces are glued (corresponding to holomorphic flipping pearly trees with nodal pearls, where a Morse flowline is about to form as in Figure 2.6.2.4) to be regular.

This amounts to checking the following:

- The Cauchy-Riemann operator $(Du^p Y)^{0,1}$ on each stable pearl is surjective;
- For the semi-stable pearls, we require that the moduli space of J_0 -holomorphic disks with two boundary marked points, modulo translation, is regular;
- The Morse flow operator $(Du^e \nabla K^e)$ on each edge is surjective;
- For moduli spaces consisting of a single Morse edge, we require that the moduli space of Morse flowlines of f or h is regular;
- The restriction that marked points on pearls coincide with ends of edges is cut out transversely;

• The restriction that marked points on pearls coincide at a node (with both sides labelled L') is cut out transversely (this is the requirement that the 'seams' are regular).

The Cauchy-Riemann operators on pearls corresponding to stable vertices are generically surjective, by perturbing K^p (as in [11, Section 9k]). The moduli spaces of semi-stable pearls with sides labelled anything other than (L', L') are regular for generic choice of Floer data, by the arguments of [36, 37]. The semi-stable pearls with opposite sides labelled L' are different – we have required that $K^p = 0$ and $J = J_0$ on these pearls, which is not a generic condition. However, the moduli space of such pearls is regular by the 'automatic regularity' result of [40, Proposition 7.4.3] (the automatic regularity result deals with holomorphic spheres in $\mathbb{CP}^n = M$, and our moduli space of holomorphic disks is the real locus of this moduli space, hence also regular).

The Morse flow operators are surjective for generic choice of Floer and perturbation data.

The intersections of marked points on pearls with the endpoints of edges are generically transverse, by perturbing K^e near the end of the edge.

Now we deal with intersections of marked points at a node connecting two pearls, which are necessary to make the 'seams' along which we glue different parts of our moduli space. If one of the pearls involved is stable, then the intersection is transverse, because we can perturb K^p on the stable pearl (see [1, Section 4.6]) to move the marked point in any direction we please. A problem arises if both pearls are semi-stable (with both sides labelled L'). However, this situation does not arise in the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_3(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{d})$ with $|\mathbf{d}| \leq 1$: any semi-stable pearl must contribute at least 1 to one of the intersection numbers $\mathbf{u} \cdot D_j$.

This follows from Lemma 2.6.3.22: if $[u] \cdot D = 0$ for a pearl with two boundary

marked points with labels K_0 and K_1 , then

$$qy_{[n]} + y_{K_0} + y_{K_1} = 0.$$

If $K_0 = \phi$ or [n], then Lemma 2.6.3.22 shows that $d_v = 0$ so the unstable pearl u_v has zero energy and must be constant, which is not allowed. If $K_0 \neq \phi$ or [n], then necessarily q = -1, and Lemma 2.6.3.22 shows that

$$d_v = 2q_v + k_v = 0,$$

so again u_v is constant.

Proposition 2.6.4.2. For generic choice of Floer and perturbation data, the components of $\mathcal{M}_3(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{d})$ of virtual dimension ≤ 1 , and with $|\mathbf{d}| \leq 1$, have the structure of compact topological manifolds with boundary, of the expected dimension. The boundary strata of the one-dimensional moduli spaces correspond to nodal holomorphic flipping pearly trees (see [1, Definition 4.33, 4.34]).

Proof. This essentially follows from Gromov compactness, as outlined in [1, Proposition 4.6]. However, we must do a bit more work in this case: we must check that the number of semi-stable pearls is bounded, so that we are only gluing together finitely many pieces to make our moduli space (see Remark 2.6.2.9). This is true because the homology class d_u of any $u \in \mathcal{M}_3(p, d)$ is fixed, by Proposition 2.6.3.20, and any semi-stable pearl v contributes at least 1 to d_u , because it is required to be non-constant.

Furthermore, we must rule out the possibility of sphere and disk bubbling in our moduli spaces. Sphere bubbling is easy to rule out: any non-constant sphere bubble must intersect each divisor D_j at least once, hence contribute at least n to d. So sphere bubbling does not happen in moduli spaces with $|d| \leq 1$.

Disk bubbling needs a little more work. Suppose a holomorphic disk bubbles off some

pearl in a holomorphic flipping pearly tree. Let us denote by u_1 the disk, and by u_2 the rest of the holomorphic flipping pearly tree. We will assume that u_1 has boundary on L'(the case with boundary on L^n is not very different). We can regard this configuration as a holomorphic flipping pearly tree with a vertex v of valence 1, connected by a Morse edge of length 0 to the rest of the holomorphic flipping pearly tree. We will show that, if u_1 is non-constant, then its virtual dimension (by which we mean the virtual dimension of the moduli space in which it lies) is $\geq n + 1$. This is the same as showing that its Maslov index is at least 3. This will show that disk bubbling generically does not happen, because the rest of the holomorphic flipping pearly tree has virtual dimension < 0.

Firstly, by Lemma 2.6.3.22 (which works exactly the same if there are pearls of valence 1), if the edge is non-flipping then the disk has zero energy, and hence is constant.

So let us assume that the edge is flipping, and the label attached to it is $K \subset [n]$ (as in Definition 2.6.3.21). By Lemma 2.6.3.22, we have

$$[u_1] \cdot \boldsymbol{D} = q y_{[n]} + y_K.$$

Because $|\mathbf{d}| \leq 1$, it must be that $[u_1] \cdot \mathbf{D} = y_j$, q = 0, and $K = \{j\}$ for some $j \in [n]$. It follows, by Lemma 2.6.3.22, that the homology class of u_1 is $d_1 = 1$. Thus, the virtual dimension of u_1 is (by the real analogue of Lemma 2.4.4.3)

v.d.
$$(u_1) = n + d_1(n+1) - 3 + 1 = 2n - 1 \ge n + 1$$

(because $n \geq 2$).

The connect sum formula now says that the virtual dimension of \boldsymbol{u} is

$$v.d.(u) = v.d.(u_1) + v.d.(u_2) + 1 - n \le 1$$

(since we are considering moduli spaces of virtual dimension ≤ 1), and hence

$$v.d.(u_2) \le n - v.d.(u_1) \le -1.$$

We saw in Proposition 2.6.4.1 that moduli spaces of holomorphic flipping pearly trees are generically regular, hence a moduli space of virtual dimension < 0 is generically empty. So we may conclude that no disk bubbling occurs for generic choices of Floer and perturbation data.

2.6.5 Morse-Bott model for the first-order Fukaya category

This section contains the proof of Proposition 2.6.1.2.

We define a G-graded A_{∞} category \mathcal{F}' over R/\mathfrak{m}^2 , with two objects, L and L'. The G-graded morphism spaces $CF^*(L_0, L_1)$ are the R/\mathfrak{m}^2 -module freely generated by their generators, and are described explicitly in Lemma 2.6.3.5. Given a tuple L with associated generators $\boldsymbol{p} = (p_0, p_1, \ldots, p_s)$, the coefficient of $r^d p_0$ in the A_{∞} product $\mu^s(p_s, \ldots, p_1)$ is given by the signed count of holomorphic flipping pearly trees in the zero-dimensional component of the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_3(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{d})$ (by analogy with the usual definition of the Fukaya category). By the standard argument, the composition maps μ^s satisfy the A_{∞} relations.

Furthermore, they are G-graded, by the same argument as for the relative Fukaya category (keeping in mind Remark 2.6.3.3). To see why, recall that the grading depended on the index theory of a Cauchy-Riemann operator coming from a bundle pair (D^2, u^*TM, F) , where $u : D^2 \to M \setminus D$ was some smooth map, and F a lift of ∂u to $\mathcal{G}(M \setminus D)$. Given a holomorphic flipping pearly tree u, we can construct (by a modification of the construction of the smooth surface representing the homology class [u]) a smooth boundary-punctured disk \tilde{u} mapping to $M \setminus D$, with boundary on L^n , such that the index of the associated Cauchy-Riemann operator is equal to the index of the Fredholm operator defining the moduli space of holomorphic flipping pearly trees near u. Note that \tilde{u} will **not** be holomorphic itself: we are simply using it to compute the index topologically.

Lemma 2.6.5.1. For small enough $\epsilon > 0$, the objects L_{ϵ}^{n} and L' are quasi-isomorphic in $\mathcal{F}'/\mathfrak{m}$.

Proof. See [1, Proposition 5.5].

Lemma 2.6.5.2. For appropriate choices of perturbation data, there is a strict isomorphism

$$CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(M,D)/\mathfrak{m}^2}(L^n,L^n) \cong CF^*_{\mathcal{F}'}(L,L).$$

Proof. Suppose that \mathbf{L} is a tuple, all of whose entries are L^n , $|\mathbf{L}| \geq 3$, and ℓ is a labelling such that $\mathbf{d}(\ell) = y_j$ for some j. Then there is a forgetful map $\mathcal{R}(\mathbf{L}, \ell) \to \mathcal{R}_3(\mathbf{L})$, obtained by simply forgetting the internal marked point. Suppose that we choose Floer and perturbation data on the moduli space $\mathcal{R}(\mathbf{L}, \ell)$ by pulling back the corresponding data from $\mathcal{R}_3(\mathbf{L})$.

With these assumptions, if p is a set of generators associated with the tuple L, then there is a forgetful map $\mathcal{M}(p, \ell) \to \mathcal{M}_3(p, e_j)$. This map is clearly bijective: given a holomorphic disk with topological intersection number 1 with the divisor D_j , there exists a unique internal point which gets mapped to D_j (uniqueness follows from positivity of intersections).

If $|\mathbf{L}| = 2$, we choose the perturbation data on the moduli space $\mathcal{R}(\mathbf{L}, \ell)$ to be translation-invariant, like for $\mathcal{R}_3(\mathbf{L}, \ell)$. The definitions of the two moduli spaces now are different: $\mathcal{M}_3(\mathbf{p}, e_j)$ is a quotient of a moduli space of holomorphic strips by translation, whereas $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{p}, \ell)$ is a moduli space of holomorphic strips with an internal marked point getting mapped to D_j . However, this map is still bijective: given a strip with topological

intersection number 1 with divisor D_j , there is a unique internal point which gets mapped to D_j . Introducing this as a marked point defines a class in $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{p}, \ell)$, and the result is independent of translation of the domain in the original strip.

Observe that, because the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}_3(\boldsymbol{p}, e_j)$ are regular, the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}, \ell)$ are regular, even though we have made a non-generic choice of perturbation data. So it is legitimate to compute coefficients in the relative Fukaya category using the moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{p}, \ell)$ defined using these Floer and perturbation data.

Now we recall (Lemma 2.6.3.5) that the underlying G-graded vector space of $CF_{\mathcal{F}'}^*(L',L')$ is A. So $CF_{\mathcal{F}'}^*(L',L')$ has the form (A,μ^*) .

Lemma 2.6.5.3. As a G-graded algebra, we have

$$(A, \mu_0^2) \cong (A, \wedge),$$

where ' \wedge ' denotes the usual product on the exterior algebra.

Proof. See [1, Theorem 5.12].

Now recall from Section 2.2.5 that there is a map

$$\Phi: CC^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A, A \otimes R) \to p^* \left(\mathbb{C}[[U]] \otimes A \otimes R \right).$$

Lemma 2.6.5.4. We have

$$\Phi\left(\mu^{*}\right) = u_{1} \dots u_{n} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} r_{j} u_{j} + \mathfrak{m}^{2}$$

(up to some signs).

Proof. See [1, Proposition 5.15] for the proof that

$$\Phi(\mu_0^*) = \pm u_1 \dots u_n.$$

Our aim now is to calculate the first-order terms in $\Phi(\mu^*)$. By Lemma 2.2.5.11, we know that the degree-2 part of

$$HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}}(A, A \otimes R^1) \cong p^* \left(\mathbb{C}[[U]] \otimes A \otimes R^1 \right)$$

is generated by the elements $r_j u_j$. Thus, the first-order part of $\Phi(\mu^*)$ can be written as

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j r_j u_j$$

for some numbers $c_j \in \mathbb{C}$.

The number c_j is given by the count of holomorphic flipping pearly trees \boldsymbol{u} in the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_3((p_{\phi}, p_{\{j\}}), e_j)$. Such a holomorphic flipping pearly tree must be a chain of semi-stable J_0 -holomorphic pearls (see Definition 2.6.3.8).

By Proposition 2.6.3.20, the homology class of such u is 1. Because semi-stable pearls are not allowed to be constant, this means there can only be a single semi-stable pearl. This pearl is a J_0 -holomorphic disk with boundary on \mathbb{RP}^n ,

$$u_v: (D, \partial D) \to (\mathbb{CP}^n, \mathbb{RP}^n),$$

together with two marked boundary points, considered up to translation. The homology class $[u_v] \in H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, \mathbb{RP}^n)$ is 1. Thus, u_v is one half of a J_0 -holomorphic sphere of degree 1 in \mathbb{CP}^n . That is, it is one half of a complex line in \mathbb{CP}^n , and its boundary is a real line in \mathbb{RP}^n .

The Morse index of the input $p_{\{j\}}$ is n (see [1, Corollary 2.11]), so the corresponding
Morse edge must be constant: this means we just have a point constraint that our real line must pass through the point $L'(p_{\{j\}})$. Similarly, the Morse index of p_{ϕ} is 0, so the corresponding Morse edge must be constant: this means we have a point constraint that our real line must pass through the point $L'(p_{\phi})$. There is a unique real line through the points $L'(p_{\{j\}})$ and $L'(p_{\phi})$, so the pearl must be one half of the corresponding complex line.

Furthermore, the pearl must admit a lift \tilde{u}_v of the boundary to S^n , which changes sheets at $p_{\{j\}}$ but not at p_{ϕ} . Since u_v is one half of a complex line, this lift \tilde{u}_v must be one half of a great circle, from $p_{\{j\}}$ to its antipode $p_{\overline{\{j\}}}$, and passing through the point p_{ϕ} . Clearly, there is exactly one such half-great circle. Furthermore, the orientation of this half-great circle determines uniquely which half of the complex line we must take. Thus, we have uniquely determined our holomorphic flipping pearly tree u.

It follows from Proposition 2.6.3.20 that $[\boldsymbol{u}] \cdot \boldsymbol{D} = y_j$.

We have shown that the moduli space $\mathcal{M}((p_{\{j\}}, p_{\phi}), e_j)$ contains a unique element u. Thus, each coefficient c_j must be ± 1 .

Remark 2.6.5.5. We could also have calculated $[\boldsymbol{u}] \cdot \boldsymbol{D}$ using Lemma 2.6.3.17, and the exercise helps us to get a picture of \boldsymbol{u} : the edges u_e are constant, hence do not contribute to $[\boldsymbol{u}] \cdot \boldsymbol{D}$. The pearl u_v does not intersect any divisor D_i in its interior (it is half of a complex line, hence intersects the divisor D_i exactly once, and that intersection is on the real locus \mathbb{RP}^n). So we get no contributions to $[\boldsymbol{u}] \cdot \boldsymbol{D}$ from interior intersection points. The boundary lift \tilde{u}_v moves along a great circle from $p_{\{j\}}$ to $p_{\overline{\{j\}}}$, hence crosses the divisors D_i positively for $i \neq j$, and the divisor D_j once negatively. Therefore, we have $[\boldsymbol{u}] \cdot \boldsymbol{D} = y_j$. See Figure 2-3(b) for the picture in the one-dimensional case.

This completes the proof of Proposition 2.6.1.2.

Corollary 2.6.5.6. Let us denote

$$\mathcal{A} := CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(\phi)}(L^n, L^n),$$

where $\mathcal{F}(\phi)$ is the category of Proposition 2.5.2.2 and $\phi : (M^n, \mathbf{D}) \to (M, \mathbf{D})$ is the branched cover of Example 2.3.5.10. Then A satisfies all of the conditions required to be of type A, in the sense of Definition 2.2.5.2, except it may not be strictly H-equivariant.

Remark 2.6.5.7. If one is willing to accept that $CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(M,D,a)}(L^n, L^n)$ can be defined to all orders, despite L^n being immersed (compare Remark 2.6.1.1), then we could substitute it for $CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(\phi)}(L^n, L^n)$ in the statement of Corollary 2.6.5.6. We prefer to work with $\mathcal{F}(\phi)$ because it does not require us to assume a general statement of Gromov compactness for immersed Lagrangians.

Proof. It follows from Proposition 2.6.1.2 and Proposition 2.5.2.2 that there is a quasiisomorphism

$$\mathcal{A}/\mathfrak{m} \cong CF^*_{\mathcal{F}'/\mathfrak{m}}(L',L'),$$

because

$$\mathcal{F}(M, \boldsymbol{D}, \boldsymbol{a})/\mathfrak{m} \cong \mathcal{F}(M, \boldsymbol{D})/\mathfrak{m}.$$

It follows that the underlying G-graded vector space of \mathcal{A} is A, and the product μ_0^2 is the exterior product. Furthermore, if $\mathcal{A} = (A, \mu^*)$, it follows that

$$\Phi(\mu^*) = u_1 \dots u_n + \mathfrak{m}$$

(see Definition 2.2.5.1).

Now let $\mathcal{A} := \mathcal{A}/\mathfrak{m}$. We recall from Lemma 2.2.5.8 that the spectral sequence induced by the length filtration on $CC^*(\mathcal{A})$ has E_2 page

$$E_2^{*,*} \cong HH_c^*(A),$$

and converges to $HH^*(\mathcal{A})$. It follows from Proposition 2.6.1.2 that the first-order deformation class of

$$CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(M,D)}(L^n,L^n)$$

is given by

$$[\mu_1] = \sum_{j=1}^n r_j u_j + (\text{higher-order in length filtration}).$$

It follows from Theorem 7, and the fact that the spectral sequence induced by the length filtration respects the multiplication given by the Yoneda product, that the first-order deformation class of

$$CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(M,\boldsymbol{D},\boldsymbol{a})}(L^n,L^n)$$

is given by

$$[\mu_{1,a}] = \sum_{j=1}^{n} r_j u_j^n + (\text{higher-order in length filtration}).$$

It follows that

$$\Phi(\mu^*) = u_1 \dots u_n + \sum_{j=1}^n r_j u_j^n + \mathfrak{m}^2,$$

from which the result follows, by Proposition 2.5.2.2.

We now have to deal with the fact that
$$\mathcal{A}$$
 may not be strictly H -equivariant. It is
clear that H acts on (M, \mathbf{D}) , preserving the anchored Lagrangian brane L^n , because all
of our constructions of (M, \mathbf{D}) and L^n have been symmetric with respect to permuting
the coordinates. However, it may not be possible to choose our perturbation data H -
equivariantly and still achieve transversality, so we may only have H -equivariance 'up
to homotopy'. We can fix this using the arguments of Appendix B, which says that we
can replace \mathcal{A} by a quasi-equivalent algebra which is strictly H -equivariant: essentially,
we just apply the proof of Theorem 6 to this strictly H -equivariant replacement.

Corollary 2.6.5.8. Suppose that \mathcal{B} is a *G*-graded A_{∞} algebra over *R* of type *A*. Then

there exists $\psi \in \operatorname{Aut}(R)$, and an A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism

$$\mathcal{B} \cong \psi \cdot \mathcal{A}.$$

Proof. First, observe that Corollary 2.2.5.7 does not require strict H-equivariance, so there is a quasi-isomorphism

$$\mathcal{A}/\mathfrak{m}\cong \mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{m}=:\mathcal{A}.$$

Now, by a version of Proposition B.0.2.7 the subcategory of $\mathcal{F}(\phi)$ with object L^n embeds, *H*-equivariantly, into a strictly *H*-equivariant A_{∞} category, in such a way that the order-0 component of the embedding is a quasi-equivalence. Now recall that \mathcal{A} is necessarily minimal (by Lemma 2.2.5.9), and it follows easily from the proof of Proposition B.0.2.7 that this strictly *H*-equivariant A_{∞} category can be chosen to be minimal too. Any A_{∞} functor between minimal A_{∞} categories, whose order-0 component is a quasiequivalence, is necessarily a quasi-equivalence. Using the fact that quasi-equivalences of minimal A_{∞} categories can be inverted (Lemma 2.2.3.34), we can apply [9, Lemma 4.3] to prove that \mathcal{A} is quasi-equivalent to a strictly *H*-equivariant A_{∞} algebra of type A. The result now follows from Theorem 6.

Definition 2.6.5.9. We denote

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \subset \mathcal{F}(M^n, D)$$

the full G_n^n -graded subcategory whose objects are the lifts of L^n .

Corollary 2.6.5.10. If \mathcal{B} is any A_{∞} algebra of type A, then there exists $\psi[[T]] \in \operatorname{Aut}(R)$ and an A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism of G_n^n -graded R-linear A_{∞} categories,

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \cong \psi \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_1^* \underline{\mathcal{B}}$$

Proof. Consider the branched cover

$$\phi: (M_n^n, \boldsymbol{D}) \to (M_1^n, \boldsymbol{D})$$

of Example 2.3.5.10. By Proposition 2.5.2.2, there is a fully faithful embedding

$$p_1^*\mathcal{F}(\phi) \to \mathcal{F}(M^n, D),$$

and in particular we have a quasi-equivalence

$$p_1^*\mathcal{A}\cong\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}.$$

The result now follows from Corollary 2.6.5.8.

2.7 The *B*-model

The aim of this section is to prove Theorem 5.

2.7.1 Homological perturbation lemma

We will use a version of the homological perturbation lemma which is not quite the usual one (for which see, for example, [66], [67]), but rather the slightly modified version used in [20], so we feel it is as well to state it.

Suppose we are given:

- An A_{∞} algebra (B, μ^*) (over a \mathbb{C} -algebra R);
- A map $\partial: B \to B$ that is a Maurer-Cartan element for (B, μ^*) , in the sense that

$$\tilde{\mu}^* := (\mu^1 + \partial, \mu^2, \ldots)$$
 is an A_{∞} structure on B ;

- A chain complex (C, d_C) ;
- Chain maps

$$(C, d_C) \stackrel{i}{\underset{p}{\rightleftharpoons}} (B, \mu^1);$$

• A map

$$h: B \to B$$
,

such that

- pi = id;
- h defines a homotopy between ip and the identity, which just means that

$$ip = id - [\mu^1, h];$$

 $\bullet\,$ the side conditions

$$h^2 = 0,$$

 $hi = 0,$ and
 $ph = 0.$

are satisfied;

• there exists some integer N such that $(\partial h)^N = 0$.

Then we construct:

• An A_{∞} structure ν^* on C;

- An A_{∞} morphism I^* from $(B, \tilde{\mu}^*)$ to (C, ν^*) ;
- An A_{∞} morphism P^* from (C, ν^*) to $(B, \tilde{\mu}^*)$,

such that I^* and P^* are mutually inverse A_{∞} quasi-isomorphisms. In fact, we can show that $P^1 \circ I^1 = id$, and we can construct an A_{∞} homotopy H^* such that

$$I^* \circ P^* = \mathrm{id} - [\tilde{\mu}^*, H^*].$$

This result is proved in the case $\partial = 0$ in [66]. The operations ν^*, I^*, P^*, H^* are defined by certain counts over stable directed planar trees (we use the opposite orientation convention from Definition 2.4.2.1, so trees have *s* incoming edges and a single outgoing edge). We attach the operation μ^k to each vertex of arity *k* (arity = number of incoming edges). If $\partial \neq 0$, then we make exactly the same construction, but sum instead over **semistable** directed planar trees, and attach the operation ∂ to each vertex of arity 1. The assumption that $(\partial h)^N = 0$ ensures that we need only sum over a finite number of trees, because a tree with a sufficiently long chain of vertices of arity 1 does not contribute to the sum.

For example, to define ν^s , we sum over semistable directed planar trees with s incoming edges. We attach operations to each vertex and edge of such a tree, as follows (omitting signs):

- to each vertex of arity 1, attach ∂ ;
- to each vertex of arity $k \ge 2$, attach μ^k ;
- to each internal edge, attach h;
- to each incoming edge, attach *i*;
- to each outgoing edge, attach p.

Composing the operations as prescribed by the tree determines a map $C^{\otimes s} \to C$. Summing these maps, over all such trees, defines ν^s .

The modifications in the definitions of I^*, P^*, H^* , and the proofs that ν^* is an A_{∞} structure, that I^* and P^* are A_{∞} morphisms, and that H^* defines an A_{∞} homotopy from $I^* \circ P^*$ to id, should all be clear from [66]. The fact that $P^1 \circ I^1 =$ id follows easily from the side conditions.

2.7.2 Matrix factorization computations

Let k be a field of characteristic 0, and R a commutative k-algebra. Consider the polynomial R-algebra $S := R[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$. Suppose we are given $w \in S$. We consider the differential \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded category of matrix factorizations MF(S, w). Objects are finitelygenerated free \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded S-modules K, equipped with a 'differential' $\delta_K : K \to K$ of odd degree such that $\delta_K^2 = w \cdot id$. Morphisms are S-module homomorphisms, with the standard differential and compositions.

By [68, Theorem 3.9], there is an exact equivalence between Ho(MF(S, w)) (where 'Ho' denotes the homotopy category) and Orlov's 'derived category of singularities' $D_{\text{Sing}}^{b}(w^{-1}(0))$. We consider a matrix factorization (B, δ_{B}) which corresponds to the ideal

$$\mathcal{O}_0 := (x_1, \dots x_n)$$

under this equivalence. Following the method described in [25, Section 2.3], we take B to be the free finitely-generated \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra generated by odd supercommuting variables $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_n$ (with S in even degree). That is,

$$B := S[\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_n].$$

We define the differential on B to be

$$\delta := \delta_0 + \delta_1,$$

where

$$\delta_0 = \sum_{j=1}^n x_j \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_j},$$

$$\delta_1 = \sum_{j=1}^n w_j \theta_j,$$

where $w_j \in S$ are elements chosen such that

$$w = \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_j x_j.$$

Observe that

$$\delta_0^2 = 0,$$

 $\delta_1^2 = 0,$ and
 $[\delta_0, \delta_1] = w.$

It follows that $\delta^2 = w \cdot id$ as required.

Now consider the differential $\mathbb{Z}_2\text{-}\mathsf{graded}$ algebra

$$\mathcal{B} := \operatorname{Hom}^*_{MF(S,w)}(B,B).$$

Again following [25, Section 2.3], we take the underlying vector space to be the algebra of differential operators

$$\mathcal{B} := S\left[\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_n, \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_1}, \ldots, \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_n}\right],\,$$

acting on B in the obvious way, with the natural multiplication and the differential $d := d_0 + d_1$, where $d_j := [\delta_j, -]$. \mathcal{B} is freely generated, as an R-module, by generators $x^{\boldsymbol{b}}\theta^J\partial^K$, where $\boldsymbol{b} = (b_1, \ldots, b_n)$ is a multi-index, $J \subset [n]$, $K \subset [n]$. We will use the shorthand ∂_j for $\partial/\partial\theta_j$.

Now we use the homological perturbation lemma to construct a minimal A_{∞} model for \mathcal{B} .

To put ourselves in the situation of Section 2.7.1, let us consider \mathcal{B} with the A_{∞} (in fact, differential graded) structure given by the differential $\mu^1 = d_0$ and standard multiplication μ^2 , and let $\partial := d_1$. Then $(\mathcal{B}, \tilde{\mu}^*) = \mathcal{B}$. Furthermore, let

so that pi = id. We define

$$\tilde{h}: B \to B,$$

 $\tilde{h}(f\theta^J \partial^K) := \left(\sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_j} \theta_j\right) \theta^J \partial^K.$

One can check that

$$[d_0, \tilde{h}] \left(x^{\mathbf{b}} \theta^J \partial^K \right) = \left(|\mathbf{b}| + |J| \right) \left(x^{\mathbf{b}} \theta^J \partial^K \right).$$

Therefore, if we define

$$h\left(x^{\boldsymbol{b}}\theta^{J}\partial^{K}\right) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \boldsymbol{b} = 0 \text{ and } J = \phi, \\ \frac{1}{|\boldsymbol{b}| + |J|} \tilde{h}\left(x^{\boldsymbol{b}}\theta^{J}\partial^{K}\right) & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

then we have

$$ip = \mathrm{id} - [d_0, h].$$

Furthermore, we can check that the side conditions are satisfied:

 $h^2 = 0$ (for the same reason the exterior derivative squares to 0), hi = 0, and ph = 0.

Finally, observe that $h\partial$ decreases the grading $|x^{b}\theta^{J}\partial^{K}| := |K|$ by 1, so $(h\partial)^{n+1} = 0$.

Thus, we can apply Section 2.7.1 to construct an A_{∞} structure ν^* on C, which is quasi-isomorphic to \mathcal{B} . If w has degree ≥ 3 , then the differential $\nu^1 = 0$ and the product ν^2 is the standard (exterior algebra) product on C. Thus, $\nu^{\geq 3}$ defines a Maurer-Cartan element in the Hochschild cochain complex $CC^*(C)$.

Now we recall, from Definition 2.2.5.1, the Hochschild-Kostant-Rosenberg map from the Hochschild cohain complex to the space of polyvector fields,

$$\Phi: CC^*(C) \to S[\partial_1, \dots, \partial_n],$$

given by

$$\Phi(\alpha) := \sum_{s \ge 0} \alpha^s(\boldsymbol{x}, \dots, \boldsymbol{x}),$$

where we denote

$$\boldsymbol{x} := \sum_{j=1}^n x_j \partial_j.$$



Figure 2.7.2.1: The only trees contributing to the homological perturbation lemma computation.

Proposition 2.7.2.1. (see [21, Proposition 7.1]) The image of the Maurer-Cartan element $\nu^{\geq 3}$ under Φ is exactly the superpotential w.

Proof. We recall the construction of the maps ν^k from Section 2.7.1, by summing over trees. The only trees that give a non-zero contribution to a product $\nu^k(\partial_{i_1},\ldots,\partial_{i_k})$ are those depicted in Figure 2.7.2.1.

Given such a tree, with inputs $\partial_{i_1}, \ldots, \partial_{i_k}$, one easily determines the output: it is the constant term of

$$\partial_{i_k} \ldots \partial_{i_2} w_{i_1},$$

divided by (k-1)! (coming from the terms in the denominator of h). Given a monomial x^{b} in w_{j} , there are |b|!/b! ways of choosing the order of the inputs $\partial_{i_{m}}$ we take from the

 term

$$u^{|\boldsymbol{b}|+1}(\boldsymbol{x},\ldots,\boldsymbol{x})$$

of $\Phi(\nu^{\geq 3})$, in such a way that $j = i_1$ comes first, and the constant term of

$$\partial_{i_k} \dots \partial_{i_2} w_j$$

is non-zero. Thus, each monomial x^{b} of w_{j} contributes a term

$$x_j \frac{1}{|\boldsymbol{b}|!} \frac{|\boldsymbol{b}|!}{\boldsymbol{b}!} \left(\partial^{\boldsymbol{b}} x^{\boldsymbol{b}}\right) x^{\boldsymbol{b}} = x_j x^{\boldsymbol{b}}$$

to $\Phi(\nu^{\geq 3})$, and the result follows.

2.7.3 G-Graded matrix factorizations

For the purposes of this section, let G be a grading datum:

$$\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{f} Y \to X \to 0,$$

with sign morphism σ .

Let S be a G-graded algebra such that σ_*S is concentrated in degree $0 \in \mathbb{Z}_2$, and let $w \in S$ be an element of degree $f(2) \in Y$.

Definition 2.7.3.1. A *G*-graded matrix factorization of $w \in S$ is a *G*-graded finitely-generated free *S*-module *K*, together with a homomorphism

$$\delta_K \in \operatorname{Hom}_S(K, K)$$

of degree $f(1) \in Y$, such that

 $\delta_K^2 = w \cdot \mathrm{id}.$

Definition 2.7.3.2. We define the differential G-graded category of matrix factorizations, $MF^{G}(S, w)$:

- Objects are **G**-graded matrix factorizations of w;
- Morphisms are S-module homomorphisms:

$$\operatorname{Hom}((K, \delta_K), (L, \delta_L)) := \operatorname{Hom}_S(K, L);$$

• Differential on morphism spaces is as usual:

$$\partial(F) := \delta_L \circ F - (-1)^{\sigma(F)} F \circ \delta_K;$$

• Composition is composition of S-module homomorphisms.

We note that the morphism spaces are naturally G-graded S-modules, the differential and composition maps have degrees f(1) and $f(0) \in Y$ respectively, and they satisfy the Leibniz rule. It follows that $MF^{G}(S, w)$ is a G-graded A_{∞} category over S (see Remark 2.2.3.12). In fact it is a differential G-graded category, since all $\mu^{\geq 3}$ are zero.

We observe that ordinary matrix factorizations are nothing more than G_{σ} -graded matrix factorizations. It follows that there is a fully faithful embedding

$$\sigma_*MF^G(S,w) \to MF(S,w).$$

Now let us introduce our main example. We will introduce graded matrix factorizations mirror to the smooth orbifold relative Fukaya category (compare Section 2.6.1). Let $G := G_1^n$ be the grading datum introduced in Example 2.2.1.13. Let

$$R := R_n^n \cong \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \dots, r_n]]$$

be the G-graded power series ring introduced in Definition 2.2.2.13.

Let U be the G-graded vector space of Example 2.2.2.9. We consider the G-graded algebra

$$S := R[U] \cong \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \dots, r_n]][u_1, \dots, u_n].$$

We consider the element

$$w = u_1 \dots u_n + \sum_{j=1}^n r_j u_j^n \in S,$$

which has degree $f(2) \in Y$, hence we can define the **G**-graded category of matrix factorizations $MF^{\mathbf{G}}(S, w)$.

We consider the G-graded S-module

$$K := R[U] \otimes \Lambda (U^{\vee}) \cong \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \dots, r_n]][u_1, \dots, u_n][\theta_1, \dots, \theta_n],$$

where the variables θ_j anti-commute. We introduce the differential

$$\begin{array}{rccc} \delta_K: K & \to & K \\ & \delta_K & = & \displaystyle \sum_{j=1}^n u_j \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_j} + w_j \theta_j, \end{array}$$

where

$$w_j = \frac{u_1 \dots u_n}{nu_j} + r_j u_j^{n-1}.$$

We observe that δ_K has degree $f(1) \in Y$, and that

$$\delta_K^2 = w \cdot \mathrm{id}.$$

Thus, (K, δ_K) is a **G**-graded matrix factorization of w. We denote it by \mathcal{O}_0 . Finally, we observe that δ_K is *H*-invariant, where *H* is the symmetric group acting in the obvious way.

Corollary 2.7.3.3. Let us define the G-graded A_{∞} algebra over R:

$$\mathcal{B} := \operatorname{Hom}_{MF^{G}(S,w)}(\mathcal{O}_{0},\mathcal{O}_{0}).$$

Then \mathcal{B} is of type A, in the sense of Definition 2.2.5.2.

Proof. Follows from Proposition 2.7.2.1. We observe that it is necessary to check that the G-grading and H-equivariance interact appropriately with the homological perturbation lemma construction, but this is clear.

Corollary 2.7.3.4. Let

$$\mathcal{A} := CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(\phi)}(L^n, L^n),$$

where $\mathcal{F}(\phi)$ is the category of Proposition 2.5.2.2 and $\phi : (M^n, \mathbf{D}) \to (M, \mathbf{D})$ is the branched cover of Example 2.3.5.10. Let

$$\mathcal{B} := \operatorname{Hom}_{MF^{\mathbf{G}}(S,w)}(\mathcal{O}_0,\mathcal{O}_0)$$

as above. Both A and B are G-graded A_{∞} algebras over R, and there exists a power series $\psi \in \mathbb{C}[[T]]$, with $\psi(0) = 1$ (recalling $T = r_1 \dots r_n$), and an A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism

$$\mathcal{A} \cong \psi \cdot \mathcal{B}.$$

Proof. Follows from Corollary 2.7.3.3 and Corollary 2.6.5.8.

2.7.4 Equivariant matrix factorizations

Suppose that $p: G' \to G$ is an injective morphism of grading data. Then we consider the G'-graded category

$$\boldsymbol{p}^*MF^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S,w).$$

Remark 2.7.4.1. Objects of $p^*MF^G(S, w)$ are again G-graded matrix factorizations, but the morphism spaces are just the parts whose Y-grading lies in the image of $p: Y' \to Y$. Thus $p^*MF^G(S, w)$ embeds, fully faithfully, in the category of $\operatorname{coker}(p)^*$ -equivariant matrix factorizations.

For example, let $p_1: G_n^n \to G_1^n$ be the morphism defined in Lemma 2.2.1.14.

Definition 2.7.4.2. We denote

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{B}} := \boldsymbol{p}_1^* \underline{\mathcal{B}} \subset \boldsymbol{p}_1^* M F^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S, w).$$

It is the full subcategory whose objects are \mathcal{O}_0 and its shifts by elements $y \in Y$.

We obtain the following:

Corollary 2.7.4.3. There exists a power series $\psi \in \mathbb{C}[[T]]$, $\psi(0) = 1$, and an A_{∞} quasi-isomorphism of G_n^n -graded R-linear A_{∞} categories,

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \cong \psi \cdot \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}.$$

Proof. Follows from Corollary 2.7.3.3 and Corollary 2.6.5.10.

2.7.5 Coherent sheaves

In this section, we will explain how to relate equivariant categories of coherent sheaves on a projective variety to equivariant categories of graded matrix factorizations. We state a result closely related to [59, Proposition 1.2.2] (see also [60, Section 2]), in the language of G-graded matrix factorizations. First, we recall Orlov's **category of graded matrix factorizations** (see [58, Section 3.1]). Let S be a Z-graded ring, and $w \in S$ homogeneous of degree d. Recall from Example 2.2.1.11 the grading datum $G_{MF(d)}$. We define

$$q: \mathbb{Z} \rightarrow \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}/(2, -d)$$

 $q(j) = (0, j),$

so we can equip $S \cong q_*S$ with a $G_{MF(d)}$ -grading. Then w has degree $(0, d) \sim (2, 0) = f(2) \in Y$, so we can define the category of $G_{MF(d)}$ -graded matrix factorizations. Now there is a unique injective morphism of grading data, $p: G_{\mathbb{Z}} \to G_{MF(d)}$. We define

$$\operatorname{GrMF}(S,w) := \boldsymbol{p}^* M F^{\boldsymbol{G}_{MF(d)}}(S,w).$$

It is not hard to see that this definition coincides with Orlov's category of graded matrix factorizations of w (actually Orlov defines graded matrix factorizations to be the homotopy category of this differential graded category). Namely, if we denote

$$\pi: \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}/(2, -d),$$

then given a $G_{MF(d)}$ -graded S-module K, π^*K is a quasi-periodic complex of graded S-modules, as in the usual definition of the category of graded matrix factorizations.

We recall the relationship of GrMF to coherent sheaves. Suppose that k is a field, $S = k[u_1, \ldots, u_n]$ is the Z-graded polynomial ring, and $w \in S$ is homogeneous of degree n. Suppose that the variety

$$X := \{w = 0\} \subset \mathbb{P}_k^{n-1}$$

is smooth. Then, because X is Calabi-Yau, [58, Theorem 3.11] says that there is an equivalence of triangulated categories,

$$D^{b}Coh(X) \cong Ho(GrMF(S, w)).$$

Remark 2.7.5.1. We observe that the matrix factorization \mathcal{O}_0 is always $G_{MF(n)}$ -graded. If $\mathcal{O}_0[j]$ denotes the shift of \mathcal{O}_0 by the integer j (i.e., by f(j)), then we can arrange that the object

$$\bigoplus_{j=0}^{n-1} \mathcal{O}_0[j] \in Ob(\mathrm{GrMF}(S,w))$$

corresponds, under Orlov's equivalence, to the restriction of the Beilinson exceptional collection

$$\bigoplus_{j=0}^{n-1} i^* \Omega^j(j),$$

where $i: X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}_k^{n-1}$ denotes the inclusion. See [69, Remark 5.20], also [70, Section IV.A].

Now let us consider the situation of Section 2.7.4. Recall the commutative square of grading data of Lemma 2.2.1.14. We have

$$R:=\mathbb{C}[[r_1,\ldots,r_n]]$$

and

$$S := R[u_1, \ldots, u_n]$$

are G_1^n -graded rings, and $w \in S$ has degree $f(2) \in Y$. Recall that the Novikov field Λ is an *R*-algebra, via the map

$$\begin{array}{rcl} R & \rightarrow & \Lambda, \\ \\ r_j & \mapsto & r. \end{array}$$

We define

$$S_{nov} := S \otimes_R \Lambda \cong \Lambda[u_1, \ldots, u_n],$$

with the object

$$w_{nov} := w \otimes 1 \in S_{nov}.$$

Equip S_{nov} with the standard \mathbb{Z} -grading (where Λ is concentrated in degree 0, and each u_i has degree 1). Consider the variety

$$\widetilde{N}_{nov}^n := \{ w_{nov} = 0 \} \subset \operatorname{Proj}(S_{nov}) \cong \mathbb{P}^{n-1}_{\Lambda}$$

Define the group Γ_n to be the kernel of the map

$$(\mathbb{Z}_n)^n/y_{[n]} \to \mathbb{Z}_n,$$

and equip \widetilde{N}_{nov}^n with the action of the character group Γ_n^* , acting by multiplying the coordinates u_j by *n*th roots of unity. We denote

$$N_{nov}^n := \widetilde{N}_{nov}^n / \Gamma_n^*$$

We observe that these definitions coincide with those given in the Introduction.

Lemma 2.7.5.2. There is a fully faithful embedding of triangulated categories,

Ho
$$(\boldsymbol{q}_{1*}\boldsymbol{p}_{1}^{*}MF^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S,w))\otimes_{R}\Lambda \to D^{b}Coh\left(N_{nov}^{n}\right).$$

Proof. First, observe that $q_{2*}S$ is a $G_{MF(n)}$ -graded ring. Furthermore, it is easy to check that $q_{2*}R$ is concentrated in degree 0, and u_i has degree (0, 1). This coincides with the $G_{MF(n)}$ -grading of S induced by the standard Z-grading.

There is a fully faithful embedding

$$\boldsymbol{q}_{2*}MF^{\boldsymbol{G}_1^n}(S,w) \to MF^{\boldsymbol{G}_{MF(n)}}(\boldsymbol{q}_{2*}S,w),$$

which sends

 $(K, \delta_K) \mapsto (\boldsymbol{q}_{2*}K, \delta_K).$

Therefore, there is a fully faithful embedding

$$p_2^*q_{2*}MF^G(S,w) \to \operatorname{GrMF}(S,w).$$

Now note that $p_2^*q_{2*}R \cong R$ is concentrated in degree $0 \in \mathbb{Z}$, so the morphism $R \to \Lambda$ respects the \mathbb{Z} -grading, and we obtain a fully faithful embedding of Λ -linear differential graded categories

$$(p_2^*q_{2*}MF^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S,w))\otimes_R\Lambda \to \operatorname{GrMF}(S,w)\otimes_R\Lambda.$$

There is a fully faithful embedding of Λ -linear differential graded categories

$$\operatorname{GrMF}(S, w) \otimes_R \Lambda \to \operatorname{GrMF}(S_{nov}, w_{nov}),$$

which sends

$$K \mapsto K \otimes_R \Lambda$$

on the level of objects (recall that K is by definition a free S-module). By Orlov's theorem [58, Theorem 3.11], there is an equivalence of Λ -linear triangulated categories,

Ho (GrMF(
$$S_{nov}, w_{nov}$$
)) $\cong D^bCoh\left(\widetilde{N}_{nov}^n\right).$

It follows that there is an equivalence of triangulated categories

Ho
$$\left(\operatorname{GrMF}(S_{nov}, w_{nov})^{\Gamma_n^*}\right) \cong D^b Coh^{\Gamma_n^*}\left(\widetilde{N}_{nov}^n\right).$$

Hence, by the argument above, there is a fully faithful embedding

$$\operatorname{Ho}\left(\boldsymbol{p}_{2}^{*}\boldsymbol{q}_{2*}MF^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S,w)^{\Gamma_{n}^{*}}\otimes_{R}\Lambda\right)\to D^{b}Coh^{\Gamma_{n}^{*}}\left(\widetilde{N}_{nov}^{n}\right)\cong D^{b}Coh(N_{nov}^{n}).$$

Now we recall Lemma 2.2.2.14. It shows that there is an isomorphism

$$\boldsymbol{p}_{2}^{*}\boldsymbol{q}_{2*}MF^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S,w)^{\Gamma_{n}^{*}} \cong \boldsymbol{q}_{1*}\boldsymbol{p}_{1}^{*}MF^{\boldsymbol{G}}(S,w),$$

where

$$\Gamma_n := \ker(q_{2,X}) / \operatorname{im}(p_{1,X}).$$

In this case, an examination of Lemma 2.2.1.14 shows that Γ_n is indeed the kernel of the map

$$(\mathbb{Z}_n)^n/y_{[n]} \to \mathbb{Z}_n$$

given by summing the coordinates, and the Γ_n -gradings of morphism spaces correspond under Orlov's equivalence. The result follows.

Corollary 2.7.5.3. There is an equivalence of Λ -linear triangulated categories,

$$\left(\boldsymbol{q}_{1*}\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}\right)\otimes_{R}\Lambda\cong D^{b}Coh\left(N_{nov}^{n}\right).$$

Proof. It follows from Lemma 2.7.5.2 that there is a fully faithful embedding of the lefthand side into the right-hand side. In fact, the embedding is essentially surjective. This follows from Remark 2.7.5.1, together with (the Γ_n^* -equivariant version of) [9, Lemma 5.4], together with (the Γ_n^* -equivariant version of) Beilinson's generation result [71]. \Box

Definition 2.7.5.4. We denote

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov} := q_{1*}\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_R \Lambda.$$

It is a full subcategory of $q_{1*}\mathcal{F}(M^n, D) \otimes_R \Lambda$.

Corollary 2.7.5.5. There exists $\psi \in \mathbb{C}[[r^n]]$, and an equivalence of Λ -linear triangulated categories,

$$\psi \cdot D^b Coh(N_{nov}^n) \cong \operatorname{Ho}\left(Tw\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}\right)\right),$$

where Tw' denotes forming the category of twisted complexes.

Proof. Follows from Corollary 2.7.5.3 and Corollary 2.7.4.3.

2.8 The full Fukaya category

In this Section, we consider the full Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M^n)$. We explain why there is an embedding

$$\mathcal{F}(M^n, \mathbf{D}) \otimes_R \Lambda \to \mathcal{F}(M^n),$$

and prove that the full subcategory

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_R \Lambda \subset \mathcal{F}(M^n)$$

(see Definition 2.6.5.9) split-generates, using the criterion of [54]. This allows us to complete the proof of Theorem 4.

2.8.1 Relating the full and relative Fukaya categories

Let (M, ω) be a compact symplectic manifold, satisfying $c_1(M) = 0$. The Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M)$ is defined in [54]. It depends on the choice of a bulk class $\mathfrak{b} \in H^{even}(M; \Lambda_0)$, and a background class $st \in H^2(M; \mathbb{Z}_2)$. We choose both of these to be 0. The objects of $\mathcal{F}(M)$ are (L, b), where $L \subset M$ is a graded spin Lagrangian submanifold, and $b \in H^1(L; \Lambda_0)$ is a weak bounding cochain. Composition maps are defined by counting holomorphic disks. $\mathcal{F}(M)$ is a \mathbb{Z} -graded A_∞ category.

We would like to relate $\mathcal{F}(M, D)$ to $\mathcal{F}(M)$. First, we observe that there is a canonical morphism of grading data,

$$q: G(M, D) \to G_{\mathbb{Z}},$$

by Remark 2.3.5.7. Thus we can define a $G_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -graded (i.e., \mathbb{Z} -graded) A_{∞} category

$$q_*\mathcal{F}(M, D).$$

 $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ is defined over the coefficient ring $R \cong \mathbb{C}[[r_1, \ldots, r_k]]$. It is a simple task to show that the coefficient ring q_*R has degree $0 \in \mathbb{Z}$. Therefore, the ring homomorphism

$$\begin{array}{rcl} R & \to & \Lambda, \\ \\ r_j & \mapsto & r^{d_j}, \end{array}$$

respects the \mathbb{Z} -grading, because both have degree $0 \in \mathbb{Z}$. This makes Λ into an R-module, and means that we can define the \mathbb{Z} -graded, Λ -linear A_{∞} category

$$\boldsymbol{q}_*\mathcal{F}(M,\boldsymbol{D})\otimes_R\Lambda.$$

We remark that, up until this point, we have given a complete definition of the relative Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ of a Kähler pair (satisfying assumptions as in Definition 2.3.5.1), using explicit domain-dependent perturbations of the holomorphic curve equation. To define the full Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M)$ however, we need virtual perturbations as in [24, 54]. These two categories should be related as follows:

Assumption 2.8.1.1. There is a fully faithful embedding

$$\boldsymbol{q}_*\mathcal{F}(M,\boldsymbol{D})\otimes_R\Lambda\to\mathcal{F}(M)$$

of \mathbb{Z} -graded, Λ -linear A_{∞} categories.

To prove this, we would have to relate the two different perturbation schemes (explicit domain-dependent perturbations versus perturbations of Kuranishi structures), which would take us beyond the scope of this paper. So we leave it as an assumption. We do, however, provide the following justification:

Remark 2.8.1.2. We observe that there is an obvious map on the level of unobstructed objects (Lagrangians with $\mu^0 = 0$):

$$Ob(\boldsymbol{q}_*\mathcal{F}(M,\boldsymbol{D}))_{unob} \rightarrow Ob(\mathcal{F}(M)),$$

 $L \mapsto (L,0),$

and anchored Lagrangian branes automatically come with a grading (recall that taking q_* of a category involves identifying certain objects; in this case, this exactly means that we identify all anchored Lagrangian branes which have the same grading). However, there is no map in the other direction: objects of $\mathcal{F}(M)$ may intersect the divisors D. Suppose now that:

- L is a tuple of exact, transversely-intersecting anchored Lagrangian branes in M \
 D;
- p is an associated set of generators (intersection points) of L;
- the moduli space of rigid, boundary-punctured holomorphic disks in M with boundary on L, asymptotic to p, is regular.

We show that a rigid holomorphic disk in this moduli space contributes the same term to an A_{∞} structure map μ^s in $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}) \otimes_R \Lambda$ and in $\mathcal{F}(M)$. We have

$$\omega(u) = -\alpha(p_0) + \sum_{j=1}^{s} \alpha(p_j) + |u \cdot D|$$

by Stokes' theorem, where $\alpha(p)$ denotes the symplectic action of generator p. In particular, if we define the map

$$CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(M,D)\otimes_R\Lambda}(L_0,L_1) \rightarrow CF^*_{\mathcal{F}(M)}(L_0,L_1),$$

 $p \mapsto r^{\alpha(p)}p,$

then the holomorphic disk u contributes the same term $\pm r^{\omega(u)}$ to μ^s in both categories. Note that, in $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$, we have $(u \cdot \mathbf{D})!$ choices for the labelling of the marked points mapping to the divisors \mathbf{D} , so this disk in fact contributes $(u \cdot \mathbf{D})!$ identical terms to μ^s , each of which is $\pm r^{\omega(u)}/(u \cdot \mathbf{D})!$ (see the definition in Section 2.5.1). Thus its total contribution is exactly $\pm r^{\omega(u)}$.

2.8.2 Split-generation

We recall the subcategory

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov} \subset \boldsymbol{q}_{1*}\mathcal{F}(M^n, \boldsymbol{D}) \otimes_R \Lambda$$

from Definition 2.7.5.4. By abuse of notation, we will identify this category with its image under the embedding of Assumption 2.8.1.1. Our aim in this section is to prove that $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}$ split-generates $D^{\pi}\mathcal{F}(M^n)$.

Definition 2.8.2.1. We define the closed-open string map from the (small) quantum cohomology ring of M (with coefficients in Λ) to the Hochschild cohomology of $\mathcal{F}(M)$,

$$\mathcal{CO}: QH^*(M) \to HH^*(\mathcal{F}(M)),$$

as follows: let $\alpha \in H^{j}(M; \mathbb{C})$ be Poincaré dual to a smooth cycle $A \subset M$. Let L be a tuple of objects with associated generators p. We consider the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{4}(p, A)$, whose objects consist of pairs (r, u), where $r \in \mathcal{R}_{1}(L)$ and $u : S_{r} \to M$ is a smooth map, such that

- *u* satisfies the (perturbed) holomorphic curve equation, with Lagrangian boundary conditions given by the labels *L*;
- u is asymptotic to the generators p at the boundary punctures;

• $u(q) \in A$, where $q \in S_r$ is the internal marked point.

Then each rigid disk $u \in \mathcal{M}_4(\boldsymbol{p}, A)$ contributes a term $\pm r^{\omega(u)}p_0$ to

$$\mathcal{CO}(\alpha)(p_s,\ldots,p_1).$$

We remark that

- When we say 'perturbed' holomorphic curve equation, it really means we must define a Kuranishi structure on M₄(p, A) and introduce virtual perturbations thereof (see [54]);
- The map CO is a homomorphism of Z-graded Λ-algebras, where the product on QH*(M) is quantum cup product *, and the product on HH*(F(M)) is the Yoneda product, and the Z-gradings are the standard ones.

We now aim to apply the following result, which is due to [54]:

Theorem 8. If (M, ω) is a compact 2d-dimensional Calabi-Yau symplectic manifold, \mathcal{L} a full subcategory of $\mathcal{F}(M)$ with some finite set of objects, and the map

$$\mathcal{CO}^{2d}: QH^{2d}(M) \to HH^{2d}(\mathcal{L})$$

is non-zero, then \mathcal{L} split-generates $\mathcal{F}(M)$.

We consider the subcategory $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov} \subset \mathcal{F}(M^n)$ (actually this is not a finite collection of Lagrangians, because we include all shifts, but it will suffice to choose one representative of each geometric lift of L^n to M^n). We aim to understand the map

$$\mathcal{CO}^{2(n-2)}: QH^{2(n-2)}(M^n) \to HH^{2(n-2)}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}\right)$$

by first understanding the degree-2 part of the map, \mathcal{CO}^2 , then using the fact that \mathcal{CO} is a Λ -algebra homomorphism. It is expected that the image of the class of the symplectic form,

$$\mathcal{CO}([\omega]) \in HH^2(\mathcal{F}(M)),$$

should be the class corresponding to the deformation of $\mathcal{F}(M)$ given by scaling the Novikov parameter r. In fact, in our relative setting, we can make a statement with a cleaner proof:

Lemma 2.8.2.2. Let (M, D) be a Kähler pair. Consider the full subcategory

$$\boldsymbol{q}_*\mathcal{F}(M,\boldsymbol{D})\otimes_R\Lambda\subset\mathcal{F}(M)$$

of Assumption 2.8.1.1. Then $\mathcal{CO}([\omega])$ is the image of the class

$$\frac{1}{d_j}\left(r_j\frac{\partial\mu^*}{\partial r_j}\right)\otimes 1\in HH^*(\mathcal{F}(M,\boldsymbol{D}))\otimes_R\Lambda$$

in $HH^*(\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}) \otimes_R \Lambda)$, for any j.

To clarify: $\mu^* \in CC^*(\mathcal{F}(M, D))$ is the A_{∞} structure map, and

$$r_j \frac{\partial \mu^*}{\partial r_j} \in CC^*(\mathcal{F}(M, D))$$

is a Hochschild cochain, as can be seen by applying $r_j \partial / \partial r_j$ to the A_{∞} associativity equation $\mu^* \circ \mu^* = 0$. Thus, it defines a class in $HH^*(\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}))$, and we consider the image of this class under the map

$$HH^*(\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})) \otimes_R \Lambda \to HH^*(\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D}) \otimes_R \Lambda).$$

Proof. Given Lagrangian branes L with associated generators p, each rigid holomorphic

disk u with boundary on L, asymptotic to p, contributes a term

$$\pm r_1^{u \cdot D_1} \dots r_k^{u \cdot D_k}$$

to the coefficient of p_0 in $\mu^s(p_s, \ldots, p_1)$, and hence a term

$$\pm (u \cdot D_j) r_1^{u \cdot D_1} \dots r_k^{u \cdot D_k}$$

to the corresponding coefficient of $r_j \partial \mu^s / \partial r_j$, and hence a term

$$\pm (u \cdot D_j) r^{\omega(u)}$$

to the corresponding coefficient of $(r_j \partial \mu^s / \partial r_j) \otimes_R 1$ (see Remark 2.8.1.2).

On the other hand, recall that D_j is Poincaré dual to $d_j\omega$ by definition of a Kähler pair. So, by definition of the map \mathcal{CO} , each such holomorphic disk u together with an internal marked point q mapping to D_j , contributes a term $\pm r^{\omega(u)}$ to the corresponding coefficient of $\mathcal{CO}(d_j\omega)$. There are $u \cdot D_j$ choices for the internal marked point q, so the total contribution of each such holomorphic disk u is $\pm (u \cdot D_j)r^{\omega(u)}$.

Therefore,

$$\mathcal{CO}(d_j\omega) = \left(r_j \frac{\partial \mu^*}{\partial r_j}\right) \otimes_R 1$$

as required.

Remark 2.8.2.3. Again, Lemma 2.8.2.2 should perhaps be thought of as an assumption, for the same reason that we make Assumption 2.8.1.1.

Proposition 2.8.2.4. Let M^n be the Calabi-Yau Fermat hypersurface of Example 2.3.5.2, and recall the full subcategory $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov} \subset \mathcal{F}(M^n)$. The map

$$\mathcal{CO}^{2(n-2)}: QH^{2(n-2)}(M^n) \to HH^{2(n-2)}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}\right)$$

is non-zero.

Proof. We recall from Lemma 2.2.5.18 that there is an action of $\tilde{\Gamma}_n^*$ on $HH^*(\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov})$, and the $\tilde{\Gamma}_n^*$ -invariant part is

$$HH^*_{\boldsymbol{G}_{\mathbb{Z}}}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov}\right)^{\widetilde{\Gamma}^*_n} \cong \Lambda[\alpha]/\alpha^{n-1}$$

as a \mathbb{Z} -graded Λ -algebra, where α has degree 2.

It follows from Lemma 2.8.2.2 and Lemma 2.2.5.19 that the image of $\mathcal{CO}([\omega])$ under this isomorphism is $g \cdot \alpha$, for some invertible $g \in \Lambda^*$. Therefore, because \mathcal{CO} is a Λ algebra homomorphism, the image of $\mathcal{CO}([\omega]^{n-2})$ under this isomorphism is $g^{n-2}\alpha^{n-2}$, which does not vanish in $\Lambda[\alpha]/\alpha^{n-1}$. Because it has degree 2(n-2), this completes the proof.

Corollary 2.8.2.5. The full subcategory

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{nov} \subset \mathcal{F}(M^n)$$

split-generates the Fukaya category.

Proof. Follows from Proposition 2.8.2.4 and Theorem 8. \Box

Theorem 4 now follows from Corollary 2.7.5.5, Assumption 2.8.1.1, and Corollary 2.8.2.5.

Appendix A

Signs

This Appendix contains the proof of the following, due to [34]:

Proposition A.0.2.6. (Proposition 1.3.4.2) Let $X = (X, \omega, \eta)$ be an exact symplectic manifold with boundary with symplectic form ω , and complex volume form η . Define $X^{op} := (X, -\omega, \bar{\eta})$. Then there is a quasi-isomorphism of A_{∞} -categories

$$\mathcal{G}: \mathcal{F}uk(X)^{op} \to \mathcal{F}uk(X^{op})$$

(where the opposite category of an A_{∞} category was defined in Definition 1.3.4.1).

Proof. We assume the conventions and notation of [11, Sections 8-11] – in particular, the concepts of Lagrangian branes, determinant lines and perturbation data are used with minimal explanation.

Recall that, to define the Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}uk(X)$ as in [11], one must make a choice of universal perturbation data (essentially, a consistent choice of domain-dependent Hamiltonian perturbations and almost-complex structures). Having made such a choice for X, it is clear that we obtain a 'conjugate' choice of universal perturbation data for X^{op} by reversing the sign of all almost-complex structures (because if ω and J are compatible then $-\omega$ and -J are compatible). We will show that there is a strict isomorphism of A_{∞} categories from $\mathcal{F}uk(X)^{op}$, defined with the given perturbation data, to $\mathcal{F}uk(X^{op})$, defined using the conjugate perturbation data. The result then follows from the independence of the Fukaya category of the choice of perturbation data, up to quasi-isomorphism.

On the level of objects, a Lagrangian brane $L^{\#} = (L, \alpha^{\#}, P^{\#})$ (where L is a Lagrangian in X, $\alpha^{\#}$ a grading of L, and $P^{\#}$ a Pin structure on L) gets sent to the brane $\mathcal{G}(L^{\#}) = (L, -\alpha^{\#}, P^{\#})$. Suppose we have a morphism

$$x \in \hom_{\mathcal{F}uk(X,\omega)^{op}}(L_1^{\#}, L_2^{\#}) = \hom_{\mathcal{F}uk(X,\omega)}(L_2^{\#}, L_1^{\#}).$$

We send it to the morphism $\tilde{x} = \mathcal{G}(x)$ corresponding to the same intersection point as x in

$$\hom_{\mathcal{F}uk(X,-\omega)}(\mathcal{G}(L_1^{\#}),\mathcal{G}(L_2^{\#})).$$

We must also define an isomorphism of the orientation lines $o_x \cong o_{\bar{x}}$.

Recall the notion of an orientation operator for a morphism $y \in L_1 \cap L_2$ in the Fukaya category: choose a path in the space $\operatorname{Gr}^{\#}(T_yX)$ of abstract Lagrangian branes at $y, \lambda : [0,1] \to \operatorname{Gr}^{\#}(T_yX)$ from $(L_1^{\#})_y$ to $(L_2^{\#})_y$ (i.e., a path in the ordinary Lagrangian Grassmannian $\operatorname{Gr}(T_yX)$ that is compatible with the grading and Pin structures). Define a Cauchy-Riemann operator D_y on the complex vector bundle $H \times (T_yX, J)$ over the upper half plane H, with boundary values specified by $\lambda(s)$ along the real axis. D_y is called an orientation operator for y, and there is a canonical isomorphism

$$o_y \cong \det(D_y).$$

In our case, we choose the path $\lambda(s)$ from $(L_2^{\#})_x$ to $(L_1^{\#})_x$ and the orientation operator

 D_x is on $H \times (T_x X, J)$ with boundary conditions given by $\lambda(s)$. It is not hard to see that the reverse path $\lambda(1-s)$ runs from $(\mathcal{G}(L_1^{\#}))_{\tilde{x}}$ to $(\mathcal{G}(L_2^{\#}))_{\tilde{x}}$ and gives boundary conditions for the orientation operator $D_{\tilde{x}}$ on the complex vector bundle $H \times (T_x X, -J)$. Our two orientation operators are isomorphic, via reflection about the imaginary axis in H. We define our isomorphism of orientation lines to be the composition of isomorphisms

$$o_x \cong \det(D_x) \cong \det(D_{\tilde{x}}) \cong o_{\tilde{x}}.$$

Now we must check that the composition maps μ^k agree. This amounts to proving that

$$\mathcal{G}\left(\mu_{(X,\omega)}^{k}(x_{k},\ldots,x_{1})\right) = (-1)^{*}\mu_{(X,-\omega)}^{k}\left(\mathcal{G}(x_{1}),\ldots,\mathcal{G}(x_{k})\right).$$

where * is the sign given in the statement of the Proposition. We prove this equality by showing that the holomorphic disks contributing to each product are in bijective correspondence.

Suppose we are given a disk $S = D^2 \setminus \{k + 1 \text{ boundary points}\}$, equipped with a choice of strip-like ends, a map $u : S \to X$ satisfying the perturbed *J*-holomorphic curve equation (according to our perturbation data for X), sending the *j*th boundary component to the Lagrangian L^j , contributing a term x_0 to the product on the left hand side. Then the disk \overline{S} (*S* with the conjugate complex structure), equipped with the same map $u : \overline{S} \to X$, satisfies the perturbed (-J)-holomorphic curve equation (according to the conjugate perturbation data for X^{op}), and contributes to the product on the right hand side. We define the conjugate boundary lift of any boundary component *C* with label L^n (see Section 1.3.1) by $\overline{\tilde{u}}_C = a \circ \tilde{u}_C$, where $a : S^n \to S^n$ is the antipodal map (recall that $\tau \circ L^n = L^n \circ a$ so this is a valid boundary lift).

We just need to show that these disks contribute with the appropriate relative sign. We recall, briefly, how signs are calculated: The linearized J-holomorphic curve equation along u yields a linearized operator

$$D_{S,u}: W^{1,p}(S, u^*TX, u^*TL^j) \to L^p(S, \Omega_S^{0,1} \otimes u^*TX)$$

whose kernel is isomorphic to the tangent space at u of the space of J-holomorphic curves $v: S \to X$ with the same boundary conditions as u.

When defining the Fukaya category, we are concerned with families of *J*-holomorphic curves whose modulus can vary. Let $S^{k+1} \to \mathbb{R}^{k+1}$ denote the universal family of disks with k+1 boundary marked points, and suppose that the modulus of *S* is $r \in \mathbb{R}$. Then we can also define an extended linearized operator (again by linearizing the *J*-holomorphic curve equation)

$$D_{\mathcal{S},r,u}: T_r \mathcal{R}^{k+1} \times W^{1,p}(S, u^*TX, u^*TL^j) \to L^p(S, \Omega_S^{0,1} \otimes u^*TX).$$

The kernel of $D_{\mathcal{S},r,u}$ is isomorphic to the tangent space at u of the space of J-holomorphic curves with the same boundary conditions as u, and possibly varying modulus of the domain. One says that u is **regular** if this operator is surjective, and **rigid** if it is regular and has index 0. Observe that there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\det(D_{\mathcal{S},r,u}) \cong \Lambda^{top}(T_r \mathcal{R}^{k+1}) \otimes \det(D_{S,u})$$

(obtained by deforming $D_{S,r,u}$ to $0 \oplus D_{S,u}$ through Fredholm operators).

The structure coefficients of the A_{∞} maps μ^k are defined to be counts of rigid curves, so we assume that u is rigid and therefore there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\det(D_{\mathcal{S},r,u})\cong\mathbb{R}.$$

We choose an orientation of the moduli space \mathcal{R}^{k+1} by fixing the first three boundary points and taking the induced orientation from the coordinates of the remaining ones. This defines an isomorphism

$$\Lambda^{top}(T_r\mathcal{R}^{k+1}) \cong \mathbb{R},$$

and hence an isomorphism

$$\det(D_{S,u}) \cong \mathbb{R}.$$

One now chooses orientation operators D_{x_j} for each $1 \leq j \leq k$. One then glues the orientation operators D_{x_k}, \ldots, D_{x_1} , in that order, to the operator $D_{S,u}$ to obtain an orientation operator D_{x_0} for x_0 . This gives a canonical isomorphism

$$o_{x_0} \cong \det(D_{x_0}) \cong \det(D_{S,u}) \otimes \det(D_{x_k}) \otimes \ldots \otimes \det(D_{x_1}) \cong o_{x_k} \otimes \ldots \otimes o_{x_1}.$$

This, together with an auxiliary sign

$$i(x_1) + 2i(x_2) + \ldots + ki(x_k)$$

(necessary to realize the correct signs in the A_{∞} associativity equation, see [11, Equation (12.24)]) defines the sign with which u contributes a term x_0 to the product $\mu^k(x_k, \ldots, x_1)$.

We need to explain how this sign changes under \mathcal{G} . The determination of the sign with which the conjugate disk contributes is almost completely isomorphic, except for the following three changes:

Complex conjugation of the domain of u acts on our chosen orientation of the space
 R^{k+1} with a sign

$$1 + \frac{k(k-1)}{2};$$

• We glue the orientation operators D_{x_k}, \ldots, D_{x_1} to $D_{S,u}$ in that order, whereas for the complex conjugate our convention demands that we glue the orientation operators $D_{\mathcal{G}(x_1)}, \ldots, D_{\mathcal{G}(x_k)}$ to $D_{\bar{S},u}$ in that order. This difference in ordering results in a Koszul sign difference

$$\sum_{1 \le j < l} i(x_j) i(x_l)$$

between the corresponding isomorphisms

• The auxiliary signs differ by

$$i(x_1)+2i(x_2)+\ldots+ki(x_k)-i(x_k)-2i(x_{k-1})-\ldots-ki(x_1)=(k+1)(i(x_1)+\ldots+i(x_k)).$$

Combining these three sign differences gives the desired result.
Appendix B

Strict group actions on Fukaya categories

This section is based on the argument of [9, Section 8b]. Suppose that we have a finite group Γ , which acts on a Kähler pair (M, \mathbf{D}) , permuting the divisors \mathbf{D} , and preserving the Liouville one-form α . We consider the relative Fukaya category $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ defined in Section 2.5.1. There is an obvious action of Γ on the objects of the relative Fukaya category. We would like to say that this action extends to an action on the relative Fukaya category, in a suitable sense.

Recall the notion of a strictly Γ -equivariant A_{∞} structure from Definition 2.2.4.14. Naïvely, one might try to argue that Γ acts on the moduli spaces of pseudoholomorphic disks used to define the structure maps of the Fukaya category, and hence the structure maps are strictly Γ -equivariant. However, this does not work: for Γ to act on the moduli spaces of pseudoholomorphic disks, we would have to make a Γ -equivariant choice of perturbation data, which would destroy our chances of achieving transversality. Instead, we have the following:

Proposition B.0.2.7. In the situation described above, there is a fully faithful embedding

of $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ into a strictly Γ -equivariant A_{∞} category. The order-0 part of this embedding is a quasi-equivalence, and respects the action of Γ on objects, in the sense that $F(\gamma \cdot L)$ is quasi-isomorphic to $\gamma \cdot F(L)$.

Proof. We consider a category $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}(M, \mathbf{D})$ with objects (γ, L) , where L is an object of $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$. Think of (γ, L) as representing the object $\gamma \cdot L$ of $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$, but we now have $|\Gamma|$ copies of each object.

We define an action of Γ on these objects, via

$$\gamma_1 \cdot (\gamma_2, L) := (\gamma_1 \cdot \gamma_2, L).$$

Now for each pair of objects $((1, L_0), (\gamma, L_1))$ of $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}(M, \mathbf{D})$, we choose a regular Floer datum for the objects $(L_0, \gamma \cdot L_1)$ of $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$. We then define Floer data for pairs of objects $((\gamma_0, L_0), (\gamma_1, L_1))$ by acting with γ_0 on the Floer data for $((1, L_0), (\gamma_0^{-1} \cdot \gamma_1, L_1))$. We thus define morphism spaces

$$CF^*((\gamma_0, L_0), (\gamma_1, L_1))$$

for all pairs of objects. We define the Floer differential μ_0^1 as before, and note that it is now strictly Γ -equivariant.

Now for each tuple of objects $\boldsymbol{L} := ((1, L_0), (\gamma_1, L_1), \dots, (\gamma_k, L_k))$, with associated generators \boldsymbol{y} , we choose regular, consistent perturbation data on the moduli spaces $\mathcal{R}(\boldsymbol{p}, \ell)$. We then define perturbation data for tuples $\boldsymbol{L} = ((\gamma_0, L_0), \dots, (\gamma_k, L_k))$ by acting with γ_0 on the perturbation data chosen for $((1, L_0), (\gamma_0^{-1} \cdot \gamma_1, L_1), \dots, (\gamma_0^{-1} \cdot \gamma_k, L_k))$. This allows us to define the rest of the Floer products μ^k . Note that they are strictly Γ -equivariant.

Observe now that the full subcategory with objects (1, L) is equivalent to $\mathcal{F}(M, D)$

(making the corresponding choice of perturbation data). Thus, we have an inclusion of $\mathcal{F}(M, \mathbf{D})$ as a full subcategory of $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}(M, \mathbf{D})$. Furthermore, if we restrict to the affine Fukaya category, then this inclusion is a quasi-equivalence, because each object (γ, L) is quasi-isomorphic to the element $(1, \gamma \cdot L)$ of the subcategory. This concludes the proof.

Bibliography

- N. Sheridan, "On the homological mirror symmetry conjecture for pairs of pants," J. Diff. Geom 89 no. 2, (2011) 271-367.
- [2] N. Sheridan, "Homological mirror symmetry for Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces in projective space," arXiv:1111.0632.
- [3] M. Kontsevich, "Homological algebra of mirror symmetry," Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians (Zürich, 1994) (1994) 120–139, arXiv:9411018.
- [4] A. Polishchuk and E. Zaslow, "Categorical mirror symmetry: the elliptic curve," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 443-470, arXiv:math/9801119.
- [5] A. Polishchuk, "Massey and Fukaya products on elliptic curves," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 4 (2000) 1187-1207, arXiv:math.AG/9803017.
- [6] K. Fukaya, "Mirror symmetry of abelian varieties and multi-theta functions," Journal of Algebraic Geometry 11 (2002) 393–512.
- M. Abouzaid and I. Smith, "Homological mirror symmetry for the four-torus," Duke Math. J. 152 no. 3, (2010) 373-440, arXiv:0903.3065.
- [8] M. Kontsevich and Y. Soibelman, "Homological mirror symmetry and torus fibrations," Symplectic geometry and mirror symmetry, World Scientific (2001) 203-263, arXiv:math.SG/0011041.
- [9] P. Seidel, "Homological mirror symmetry for the quartic surface," arXiv:0310414.
- [10] M. Kontsevich, "Lectures at ENS Paris," Notes by J. Bellaiche, J.-F. Dat, I. Marin, G. Racinet and H. Randriambololona (1998).
- [11] P. Seidel, Fukaya categories and Picard-Lefschetz Theory. European Mathematical Society, 2008.
- [12] D. Orlov, "Triangulated categories of singularities and D-branes in Landau-Ginzburg models," Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 246 (2004) 227–248.

- [13] M. Abouzaid, "Homogeneous coordinate rings and mirror symmetry for toric varieties," *Geometry & Topology* 10 (2006) 1097-1157, arXiv:math/0511644.
- [14] M. Abouzaid, "Morse Homology, Tropical Geometry, and Homological Mirror Symmetry for Toric Varieties," Selecta Mathematica 15 no. 2, (2009) 189–270, arXiv:math/0610004.
- [15] B. Fang, C.-c. M. Liu, D. Treumann, and E. Zaslow, "T-duality and homological mirror symmetry of toric varieties," arXiv:0811.1228.
- [16] D. Auroux, L. Katzarkov, and D. Orlov, "Mirror symmetry for del Pezzo surfaces: vanishing cycles and coherent sheaves," *Invent. Math.* **166** no. 3, (2006) 537–582.
- [17] D. Auroux, L. Katzarkov, and D. Orlov, "Mirror symmetry for weighted projective planes and their noncommutative deformations," Ann. of Math. 167 no. 2, (2008) 867-943, arXiv:math/0404281.
- [18] L. Katzarkov, "Birational geometry and homological mirror symmetry," Real and complex singularities (2007) 176–206.
- [19] A. Kapustin, L. Katzarkov, D. Orlov, and M. Yotov, "Homological Mirror Symmetry for Manifolds of General Type," *Cent. Eur. J. Math.* 7 no. 4, (2010) 571–605.
- [20] P. Seidel, "Homological mirror symmetry for the genus two curve," Journal of Algebraic Geometry 20 no. 4, (Dec., 2011) 727-769, arXiv:0812.1171.
- [21] A. Efimov, "Homological mirror symmetry for curves of higher genus," arXiv:0907.3903.
- [22] G. Mikhalkin, "Decomposition into pairs-of-pants for complex algebraic hypersurfaces," *Topology* 43 no. 5, (2004) 1035–1065.
- [23] K. Fukaya, "Morse homotopy, A_{∞} -category, and Floer homologies," Proceedings of GARC Workshop on Geometry and Topology 93 (Seoul, 1993) (1993) 1–102.
- [24] K. Fukaya, Y.-G. Oh, H. Ohta, and K. Ono, Lagrangian intersection Floer theory – anomaly and obstruction. American Mathematical Society, 2007.
- [25] T. Dyckerhoff, "Compact generators in categories of matrix factorizations," Duke Mathematical Journal 159 no. 2, (Apr., 2011) 223-274, arXiv:0904.4713.
- [26] M. Abouzaid and P. Seidel, "An open string analogue of Viterbo functoriality," Geom. Topol. 14 no. 2, (2010) 627–718.
- [27] O. Cornea and F. Lalonde, "Cluster Homology," arXiv:0508345.

- [28] B. Feng, Y.-H. He, K. D. Kennaway, and C. Vafa, "Dimer models from mirror symmetry and quivering amoebae," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 12 no. 3, (2008) 489–545.
- [29] M. Passare and L. Nilsson, "Discriminant Coamoebas in Dimension Two," arXiv:0911.0475.
- [30] A. Hattori, "Topology of Cⁿ minus a finite number of affine hyperplanes," J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Math. 22 no. 2, (1975) 205−219.
- [31] M. Futaki and K. Ueda, "Tropical coamoeba and torus-equivariant homological mirror symmetry for the projective space," arXiv:1001.4858.
- [32] M. Akaho and D. Joyce, "Immersed Lagrangian Floer Theory," arXiv:0803.0717.
- [33] P. Seidel, "Graded Lagrangian Submanifolds," Bull. Soc. Math. France 128 no. 1, (1999) 103–149.
- [34] J. Solomon, "Involutions, obstructions and mirror symmetry." In progress.
- [35] M. Abouzaid, "A topological model for the Fukaya category of plumbings," arXiv:0904.1474.
- [36] A. Floer, H. Hofer, and D. Salamon, "Transversality in elliptic Morse theory for the symplectic action," *Duke Mathematical Journal* 80 no. 1, (1995) 251–292.
- [37] Y.-G. Oh, "On the structure of pseudo-holomorphic discs with totally real boundary conditions," J. Geom. Anal. 7 no. 2, (1997) 305–327.
- [38] M. Schwarz, Morse Homology, vol. 111 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser, 1993.
- [39] U. Frauenfelder, "Gromov convergence of pseudoholomorphic disks," J. Fixed Point Theory Appl. 3 no. 2, (2008) 215–271.
- [40] D. McDuff and D. Salamon, J-holomorphic Curves and Symplectic Topology. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications. American Mathematical Society, 2004.
- [41] S. Piunikhin, D. Salamon, and M. Schwarz, "Symplectic Floer-Donaldson theory and quantum cohomology," *Contact and symplectic geometry* (1996) 171–200.
- [42] R. Ye, "Gromov's compactness theorem for pseudoholomorphic curves," Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 342 (1994) 671–694.
- [43] P. Pansu, "Compactness, in [72].".
- [44] B. Lawson, Minimal Varieties in Real and Complex Geometry, vol. 57 of Sem. Math. Sup. Presses Université de Montréal, 1974.

- [45] K. Fukaya and Y.-G. Oh, "Zero-loop Open Strings in the Cotangent Bundle and Morse Homotopy," Asian Journal of Mathematics 1 (1998) 96–180.
- [46] J. Harris, Algebraic Geometry: A First Course. Springer, 1992.
- [47] G. Hochschild, B. Kostant, and A. Rosenberg, "Differential forms on regular affine algebras," Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 102 (1962) 383–408.
- [48] P. Candelas, X. de la Ossa, P. Green, and L. Parkes, "A pair of Calabi-Yau manifolds as an exactly soluble superconformal theory," *Nuclear Physics B* 359 no. 1, (July, 1991) 21–74.
- [49] A. Givental, "Equivariant Gromov-Witten invariants," International Mathematics Research Notices 1996 no. 13, (1996) 613-663, arXiv:alg-geom/9603021.
- [50] A. Givental, "A mirror theorem for toric complete intersections," Topological field theory, primitive forms and related topics (Kyoto, 1996), Progr. Math. 160 (1998) 141-175.
- [51] M. Kontsevich and Y. Soibelman, "Homological mirror symmetry and torus fibrations," Symplectic geometry and mirror symmetry, World Scientific (2001) 203-263, arXiv:math.SG/0011041.
- [52] Y. Nohara and K. Ueda, "A note on homological mirror symmetry for the quintic 3-fold," arXiv:1103.4956.
- [53] N. Sheridan, "Homological mirror symmetry for Fano hypersurfaces in projective space," *in progress*.
- [54] M. Abouzaid, K. Fukaya, Y.-G. Oh, H. Ohta, and K. Ono, "Quantum cohomology and split generation in Lagrangian Floer theory," *in preparation*.
- [55] K. Fukaya, Y.-g. Oh, H. Ohta, and K. Ono, "Anchored Lagrangian submanifolds and their Floer theory," *Mirror symmetry and tropical geometry, Contemp. Math.* 527 (2010) 15-54, arXiv:0907.2122.
- [56] V. I. Arnold, "Characteristic class entering in quantization conditions," Funkcional. Anal. i Priložen 1 (1967) 1–14.
- [57] P. Seidel, "Fukaya categories and deformations," Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians (Beijing) 2 (2002) 351-360, arXiv:math/0206155.
- [58] D. Orlov, "Derived categories of coherent sheaves and triangulated categories of singularities," Algebra, Arithmetic, and Geometry (2009) 503-531, arXiv:math/0503632.
- [59] A. Polishchuk and A. Vaintrob, "Matrix factorizations and Cohomological Field Theories," arXiv:1105.2903.

- [60] A. Căldăraru and J. Tu, "Curved A-infinity algebras and Landau-Ginzburg models," arXiv:1007.2679.
- [61] C. Weibel, An introduction to homological algebra. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 38, 1994.
- [62] M. Gerstenhaber, "The cohomology structure of an associative ring," Annals of Mathematics 78 no. 2, (1963) 267–288.
- [63] M. Kontsevich, "Deformation quantization of Poisson manifolds," Letters in Mathematical Physics 66 no. 3, (Dec., 2003) 157–216.
- [64] E. Ionel and T. Parker, "Relative Gromov-Witten invariants," Annals of Mathematics 157 no. 1, (Jan., 2003) 45–96.
- [65] K. Cieliebak and K. Mohnke, "Symplectic hypersurfaces and transversality in Gromov-Witten theory," Journal of Symplectic Geometry 5 no. 3, (2007) 281–356, arXiv:math/0702887.
- [66] M. Markl, "Transferring A-infinity (strongly homotopy associative) structures," *Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo* 79 (2006) 139–151, arXiv:math/0401007.
- [67] M. Markl, "Ideal perturbation lemma," Communications in Algebra 29 no. 11, (2001) 5209-5232, arXiv:math/0002130.
- [68] D. Orlov, "Triangulated categories of singularities and D-branes in Landau-Ginzburg models," Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 246 (2004) 227-248, arXiv:math/0302304.
- [69] M. Ballard, D. Favero, and L. Katzarkov, "Orlov spectra: bounds and gaps," arXiv:1012.0864.
- [70] P. S. Aspinwall, "Landau-Ginzburg to Calabi-Yau dictionary for D-branes," Journal of Mathematical Physics 48 (2007), arXiv:math.AG/0503632.
- [71] A. A. Beilinson, "Coherent sheaves on \mathbb{P}^n and problems of linear algebra," *Functional Analysis and its Applications* **12** no. 3, (1978) 68–69.
- [72] M. Audin and F. Lafontaine, eds., *Holomorphic Curves in Symplectic Geometry*, vol. 117 of *Progress in Mathematics*. Birkhäuser, 1994.